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PREFACE

The present volume is the first of two supplements designed to complete
the publication of documents gathered by the American and British prose-
cuting staffs at the International Military Tribunal in Nurnberg. While
most of the documents in this collection were used in cross-examining those
of the major German war criminals who took the witness stand in their own
defense, -this volume, like its predecessors, also incorporates documents not
offered in evidence during the trial but which nevertheless are of general
historie interest. It includes, in addition, the Closing Addresses of the Amer-
ican and British Chief Prosecutors and the Closing Addresses for the United
States on the Indicated Organizations, all of which set forth in bold relief
the main features of the prosecution case.

Because of unavoidable limitations, it has not been possible to realize the
hopes expressed in the Preface to the original series, that these supplemen-
tary volumes might include the documents introduced in evidence by the
prosecuting staffs of France and the Soviet Union. However, in order to pro-
vide at least some indications of the important contributions of these nations
to the total body of prosecution evidence, this volume contains the Closing
Addresses of the French and Soviet Chief Prosecutors, which summarize the
high points.of their evidence and show the emphasis and flavor of their
cases. Moreover, the official transcript of the trial, which the United States
Military Government of Germany is now publishing in English as well as
in French, Russian and German, will contain English translations of ex-
cerpts and in some cases the full text of the French and Soviet documents
as read into the record, as well as the full text of all the prosecution
exhibits in their original language—in most cases German,

For practical reasons the documents in this Supplement are arranged, as
in previous volumes, in numerical order within the various document series.
Although this system has obvious disadvantages, arrangement in chrono-
logical order would be even less satisfactory, and arrangement by subject
matter would either be misleading or involve endless duplication, inasmuch
as many documents deal with several different and unrelated topics. But in
order to assist the reader interested in documents bearing on a given subject,
a careful cross-index at the end of the volume classifies all the documents
under topic headings corresponding to the subjects of the various topical
and individual defendant briefs in Volumes I and II. By grouping the
documents listed at the end of these briefs with the parallel list of references
at the end of the present volume, one may quickly find his way to all the
documents pertinent to his particular interest. For example, all the mate-
rials relative to the Austrian Anschluss may speedily be located by consult-
ing the index following the brief on “Aggression Against Austria” Vol. I
(p. 505), and by reference to the same topic in the cross-index at the end
of the present volume (p. 1333).

Finally, acknowledgement must be made once again to the Department of
State and the War Department for their generous allocation of the funds
to make possible the present volume and its companion, Supplement B, which
is now in the course of preparation.

6 August 1947

Charles A. Horsky
William E. Jackson
Alma F. Soller
Editors
Approved:

Robert H. Jackson
Chief of Counsel
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RULES OF THE INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL

Rule I. Authority to Promulgate Rules.

The present Rules of Procedure of the International Military
Tribunal for the trial of the major war criminals (hereinafter
called “The Tribunal”’) as established by the Charter of the
Tribunal dated August 8th, 1945 (hereinafter called “the Char-
ter’’) are hereby promulgated by the Tribunal in accordance with
the provisions of Article 13 of Charter.

Rule 2. Notice to Defendants and Right to Assistance of Counsel.

a. Each individual Defendant in custody shall receive not less
than 380 days before trial a copy, translated into a language which
he understands, (1) of the Indictment, (2) of the Charter, (38) of
any other documents lodged with the Indictment, and (4) of a
statement of his right to the assistance of counsel as set forth in
d of this Rule, together with a list of counsel. He shall also
receive copies of such rules of procedure as may be adopted by the
Tribunal from time to time.

b. Any individual Defendant not in custbdy shall be informed
of the indictment against him and of his right to receive the
documents specified in a above, by notice in such form and man-
ner as the Tribunal may presecribe.

¢. With respect to any group or organization as to which the
prosecution indicates its intention to request a finding of crim-
inality by the Tribunal, notice shall be given by publication in
such form and manner as the Tribunal may prescribe and such-
pbublication shall include a declaration by the Tribunal that all
members of the named groups or organizations are entitled to
apply to the Tribunal for leave to be heard in accordance with the
provisions of Article 9 of the Charter. Nothing herein contained
shall be construed to confer immunity of any kind upon such
members of said groups or organizations as may appear in answer
to said declaration.

d. Each Defendant has the right to conduct his own defense or
to have the assistance of counsel. Application for particular
counsel shall be filed at once with the General Secretary of the
Tribunal at the Palace of Justice, Nurnberg, Germany. The Tri-
bunal will designate counsel for any Defendant who fails to apply
for particular counsel or, where particular counsel requested is
not within ten days to be found or available, unless the Defendant

_elects in writing to conduct his own defense. If a Defendant has

1



requested particular counsel who is not immediately to be found
cr available, such counsel or a counsel of substitute choice may, if
found and available before trial, be associated with'or substituted
for counsel designated by the Tribunal, provided that (1) only
one counsel shall be permitted to appear at the trial for any
Defendant, unless by special permission of the Tribunal, and
(2) no delay of trial will be allowed for making such substitution
or association.

Rule 3. Service of Additional Documents.

If, before the trial, the Chief Prosecutors offer amendments or
additions to the Indictment, such amendments or additions,
including any accompanying documents shall be lodged with the
Tribunal and copies of the same, translated into a language which
they each understand, shall be furnished to the Defendants in
custody as soon as practicable and notice given in accordance with
Rule 2b to those not in custody.

Rule 4. Producﬁc;n of Evidence for the Defense.

a. The Defense may apply to the Tribunal for the production
of witnesses or of documents by written application to the General
Secretary of the Tribunal. The application shall state where the
withess or document is thought to be located, together with a
statement of their last known location. It shall also state the facts
proposed to be proved by the witness or the document and the
reasons why such facts are relevant to the defense.

b. If the witness or the document is not within the area con-
trolled by the occupation authorities, the Tribunal may request the
Signatory and adhering Governments to arrange for the produc-
tion, if possible, of any such witnesses and any such documents as
the Tribunal may deem necessary to proper presentation of the
Defense.

¢. If the witness or the document is within the area controlled
by the occupation authorities, the General Secretary shall, if the
Tribunal is not in session, communicate the application to the
Chief Prosecutors and, if they make no objection, the General
Secretary shall issue a summons for the attendance of such wit-
ness or the production of such documents, informing the Tribunal
of the action taken. If any Chief Prosecutor objects to the issu-
ance of a summons, or if the Tribunal is in session, the General
Secretary shall submit the application to the Tribunal, which shall
decide whether or not the summons shall issue.

d. A summons shall be served in such manner as may be pro-
vided by the appropriate occupation authority to insure its
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enforcement and the General Secretary shall inform the Tribunal
of the steps taken,

e. Upon application to the General Secretary of the Tribunal, a
Defendant shall be furnished with a copy, translated into a
language which he understands, of all documénts referred to in
the Indictment so far as they may be made available by the Chief
Prosecutors and shall be allowed to inspect copies of any such
documents as are not so available.

Rule 5. Order at the Trial.

In conformity with the provisions of Article 18 of the Charter,
and the disciplinary powers therein set out, the Tribunal, acting
through its President, shall provide for the maintenance of order
at the trial. Any defendant or any other person may be excluded
from open sessions of the Tribunal for failure to observe and
respect the directives and dignity of the Tribunal.

Rule 6. Oaths; Witnesses.
a. Before testifying before the Tribunal, each witness shall
make such oath or declaration as is customary in his own country.

b. Witnesses while not giving evidence shall not be present in
court. The President of the Tribunal shall direct, as circumstances
demand, that witnesses shall not confer among themselves before
giving evidence. :

Rule 7. Applications and Motions before Trial and Rulings during the Trial.

a. All motions, applications, or other requests addressed to the
Tribunal prior to the commencement of trial shall be made in
writing and filed with the General Secretary of the Tribunal at
the Palace of Justice, Nurnberg, Germany.

b. Any such motion, application or other request shall be com-
municated by the General Secretary of the Tribunal to the Chief
Prosecutors and, if they make no objection, the President of the
Tribunal may make the appropriate order on behalf of the Tri-
bunal. If any Chief Prosecutor objects, the President may call a
special session of the Tribunal for the determination of the ques-
tion raised.

¢. The Tribunal, acting through its President, will rule in court
upon all questions arising during the trial, such as questions as to
admissibility of evidence offered during the trial, recesses, and
motions, and before so ruling the Tribunal may, when necessary,
order the closing or clearing of the Tribunal or take any other
steps which to the Tribunal seem just.
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Rule 8. Secretariat of the Tribunal.

a. The Secretariat of the Tribunal shall be composed of a Gen-
eral Secretary, four Secretaries and their Assistants. The Tri-
bunal shall appoint the General Secretary and each Member shall
appoint one Secretary. The General Secretary shall appoint such
clerks, interpreters, stenographers, ushers, and all such other
persons as may be authorized by the Tribunal and each Secretary
may appoint such assistants as may be authorized by the Member
of the Tribunal by whom he was appointed.

b. The General Secretary, in consultation with the Secretaries,
ghall organize and direct the work of the Secretariat, subject to
the approval of the Tribunal in the event of a disagreement by
any Secretary. ‘

¢. The Secretariat shall receive all documents addressed to the
Tribunal, maintain the records of the Tribunal, provide necessary
clerical services to the Tribunal and its Members and perform
such other duties as may be designated by the Tribunal.

d. Communications addressed to the Tribunal shall be delivered
to the General Secretary.

Rule 9. Record, Exhibits and Documents.

a. A stenographic record shall be maintained of all oral pro-
ceedings. Exhibits will be suitably identified and marked with
consecutive numbers. All exhibits and transcripts of the pro-
ceedings and all documents lodged with and produced to the
Tribunal will be filed with the General Secretary of the Tribunal
and will constitute part of the Record. A

b. The term “official documents” as used in Article 25 of the
Charter includes the indictment, rules, written motions, orders
that are reduced to writing, findings, and judgments of the Tri-
bunal. These shall be in the English, French, Russian, and Ger-
man languages. Documentary evidence or exhibits may be
received in the language of the document, but a translation
thereof into German shall be made available to the Defendants.

¢. All exhibits and transcripts of proceedings, all documents
lodged with and produced to the Tribunal and all official acts and
documents of the Tribunal may be certified by the General Secre-
tary of the Tribunal to any Government or to any other Tribunal
or wherever it is appropriate that copies of such documents or
representations as to such acts should be supplied upon a proper
request.



Rule 10. Withdrawal of Exhibits and Documents.

In cases were original documents are submitted by the Prosecu-
"tion or the Defense as evidence, and upon a showing (a) that
because of historical interest or for any other reason one of the
Governments signatory to the Four Power Agreement of 8th
August, 1945, or any other government having received the con-
gent of said four signatory Powers, desires to withdraw from the
records of the Tribunal and preserve any particular original
documents and (b) that no substantial injustice will result, the
Tribunal shall permit photostatic copies of said original docu-
ments, certified by the General Secretary of the Tribunal, to be
substituted for the originals in the records of the court and shall
deliver said original documents to the applicants.

Rule I'l. Effective Date and Powers of Amendment and Addition.

These Rules shall take effect upon their approval by the Tri-
bunal. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent the
Tribunal from, at any time, in the interest of fair and expeditious
trials, departing from, amending, or adding to these Rules, either
by general rules or special orders for particular cases, in such
form and upon such notice as may appear just to the Tribunal.






CLOSING ADDRESS FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
by :
ROBERT H. JACKSON

Representative and Chief of Counsel
for the
United States of America

'MR. PRESIDENT AND MEMBERS OF THE TRIBUNAL:

An advocate can be confronted with few more formidable tasks
than to select his closing arguments where there is great disparity
between his appropriate time and his available material. In eight
months — a short time as state trials go — we have introduced
evidence which embraces as vast and varied a panorama of events
as has ever been compressed within the framework of a litigation.
It is impossible in summation to do more than outline with bold
strokes the vitals of this trial’s mad and melancholy record, which
will live as the historical text of the Twentieth Century’s shame
and depravity. :

It is common to think of our own time as standing at the apex
of civilization, from which the deficiencies of preceding ages may
patronizingly be viewed in thé light of what is assumed to be
“progress.” The reality is that in the long perspective of history
the present century will not hold an admirable position, unless
its second half is to redeem its first. These two-score years in
this Twentieth Century will be recorded in the book of years as
one of the most bloody in all annals. Two World Wars have left
a legacy of dead which number more than all the armies engaged
in any war that made ancient or medieval history. No half-
century ever witnessed slaughter on such a scale, such cruelties
and inhumanities, such wholesale deportations of peoples into
slavery, such annihilations of minorities. The Terror of Tor-
quemada pales before the Nazi Inquisition. These deeds are
the overshadowing historical facts by which generations to come
will remember this decade. If we cannot eliminate the causes
and prevent the repetition of these barbaric events, it is not an
irresponsible prophecy to say that this Twentieth Century may
yet succeed in bringing the doom of civilization.

Goaded by these facts, we have moved to redress the blight
on the record of our era. The defendants complain that our pace
Is too fast. In drawing the Charter of this Tribunal, we thought
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we were recording an accomplished advance in International Law
But they say that we have outrun our times, that we have antici-
pated an advance that should be, but has not yet been made
The Agreement of London, whether it originates or merely re-
cords, at all events marks a transition in International Law
which roughly corresponds to that in the evolution of Iocal law
when men ceased to punish local crime by “hue and ery” and
began to let reason and inquiry govern punishment. The society
of nations has emerged from the primitive “hue and cry,” the
law -of “catech and kill.” It seeks to apply sanctions to enforce
International Law, but to guide their application by evidence,
law, and reason instead of outery. The defendants denounce the
law under which their accounting is asked. Their dislike for the
law which condemns them is not original. It has been remarked
before that—

“No thief ere felt the halter draw

With good opinion of the law.”

I shall not labor the law of this case. The position of the
United States was explained in my opening statement. My dis-
tinguished colleague, the Attorney General of Great Britain, will
reply on behalf of all the Chief Prosecutors to the defendants’
legal attack. At this stage of the proceedings, I shall rest upon
the law of these crimes as laid down in the Charter. The de-
fendants, who except for the Charter would have no right to be
heard at all, now ask that the legal bagis of this trial be nullified.
This Tribunal, of course, is given no power to set aside or to
modify the Agreement between the Four Powers, to which nine-
teen other nations have adhered. The terms of the Charter are
conclusive upon every party to these proceedings.

In interpreting the Charter, however, we should not overlook
the unique and emergent character of this body as an Interna-
tional Military Tribunal. It is no part of the constitutional
mechanism of internal justice of any of the signatory
nations. Germany has unconditionally surrendered, but no peace
treaty has been signed or agreed upon. The Allies are still tech-
nically in a state of war with Germany, although the enemy’s
political and military institutions have collapsed. As a Military
Tribunal, it is a continuation of the war effort of the Allied na-
tions. As an International Tribunal, it is not bound by the pro-
cedural and substantive refinements of our respective judicial or
constitutional systems, nor will its rulinhgs introduce precedents
into any country’s internal system of civil justice. As an Inter-
national Military Tribunal, it rises above the provincial and tran-
sient and seeks guidance not only from International Law but
also from the basic principles of jurisprudence which are as-
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sumptions of civilization and which long have found embodiment
in the codes of all nations.

Of one thing we may be sure. The future will never have to
agk, with misgiving, what could the Nazis have said in their
favor. History will know that whatever could be said, they weére
allowed to say. They have been given the kind of a trial which
they, in the days of their pomp and power, never gave to any
man.

But fairness is not weakness. The extraordinary fairness of
these hearings is an attribute to our strength. The prosecution’s
case, at its close, seemed inherently unassailable because it rested
so heavily on German documents of unguestioned authenticity.
But it. was the weeks upon weeks of pecking at this case by one
after another of the defendants that has demonstrated its true
+ strength. The fact is that the testimony of the defendants has
removed any doubts of guilt which, because of the extraordinary
nature and magnitude of these crimes, may have existed before
they spoke. They have helped write their own judgment of con-
demnation.

But justice in this case has nothing to do with some of the argu-
ments put forth by the defendants or their counsel. We have
not previously and we need not now discuss the merits of all their
chscure and tortuous philosophy. We are not trying them for
possession of obnoxious ideas. It is their right, if they choose to
renounce the Hevraic heritage in the civilization of which Ger-
many was once a part. Nor is it our affair that they repudiated
the Hellenic influence as well. The intellectual bankruptey and
moral perversion of the Nazi regime might have been no concern -
of International Law had it not been utilized to goosestep the
Herrenvolk across international frontiers. It is not their
thoughts, it is their overt acts which we charge to be crimes.
Their creed and teachings are important only as evidence of
motive, purpose, knowledge, and intent.

We charge unlawful aggression but we are not trying the mo-
tives, hopes, or frustrations which may have led Germany to
resort to aggressive war as an instrument of policy. The law,
unlike politics, does not concern itself with the good or evil in
the status quo, nor with the merits of grievances against it. It
merely requires that the sfatus quo be not attacked by violent
means and that policies be not advanced by war. We may admit
that overlapping ethnological and cultural groups, economic bar-
riers, and conflicting national ambitions created in the 1930’s,
as they will continue to create, grave problems for -Germany as
well as for the other peoples of Europe. We may admit too that
the world had failed to provide political or legal remedies which

744400—47—3
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would be honorable and acceptable alternatives to war. We do
not underwrite either the ethics or the wisdom of any country,
including my own, in the face of these problems. But we do say
that it is now, as it was for some time prior to 1939, illegal and
criminal for Germany or any other nation to redress grievances
or seek expansion by resort to aggressive war,

Let me emphasize one cardinal point. The United States has
no interest which would be advanced by the conviction of any
defendant if we have not proved him guilty on at least one of the
counts charged against him in the Indiectment. Any result that
the calm and eritical judgment of posterity would pronounce un-
just, would not be a victory for any of the countries associated
in this prosecution. But in summation we now have before us
the tested evidences of criminality and have heard the flimsy ex-
cuses and paltry evasions of the defendants. The suspended judg-
ment with which we opened this case is no longer appropriate.
The time has come for final judgment and if the case I present
seems hard and uncompromising, it is because the evidence makes
it so.

I perhaps ecan do no better service than to try to lift this case
out of the morass of detail with which the record is full and put
before you only the bold outlines of a case that is impressive in
its simplicity. True, its thousands of documents and more thou-
sands of pages of testimony deal with an epoch and cover a Con-
tinent, and touch almost every branch of human endeavor. They
illuminate specialties, such as diplomacy, naval development and
warfare, land warfare, the genesis of air warfare, the polities of
the Nazi rise to power, the finance and economics of totalitarian
war, sociology, penology, mass psychology, and mass pathology. 1
must leave it to experts to comb the evidence and write volumes
on their specialties, while T picture in broad strokes the offenses
whose acceptance as lawful would threaten the continuity of
civilization. I must, as Kipling put it, “splash at a ten-league can-
vas with brushes of comet’$ hair.”

The Crimes of the Nazi Regime

The strength of the case against these defendants under the
conspiracy count, which it is the duty of the United States to
argue, is in its simplicity. It involves but three ultimate inquiries:
First, have the acts defined by the Charter as, crimes been
committed; second, were they committed pursuant to a common
plan or conspiracy; third, are these defendants among those who
are criminally responsible?

The charge requires examination of a criminal policy, not of
a multitude of isolated, unplanned, or disputed crimes. The sub-
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stantive crimes upon which we rely, either as goals of a common
plan or as means for its accomplishment, are admitted. The pil-
lars which uphold the conspiracy charge may be found in five
groups of overt acts, whose character and magnitude are im-
portant considerations in appraising the proof of conspiracy.

1. THE SEIZURE OF POWER AND SUBJUGATION OF GERMANY
TO A POLICE STATE

The Nazi Party seized control of the German state in 1933.
“Seizure of power” is a eharacterization used by defendants and
defense witnesses, and so apt that it has passed into both history
and every-day speech.!

The Nazi junta in the early days lived in constant fear of
overthrow; Goering, in 1984, pointed out that its enemies were
legion and said: ‘

“Therefore the concentration ecamps have been created, where
we have first confined thousands of Communists and Social

Democrat functionaries.”? ‘

In 1933 Goering forecast the whole program of purposeful
cruelty and oppression when he publicly announced:
“Whoever in the futyre raises a hand against a representa—
tive of the National Socialist movement or of the State, must
know that he will lose his life in a very short while.”’

New political erimes were created to this end. It was made a
treason, punishable with death, to organize or support a political
party other than the Nazi party.t Circulating a false or exag-
gerated statement, or one which would harm the state or even the -
Party, was made a crime.? Laws were enacted of such ambiguity
that they could be used to punish almost any innocent act. It
was, for example, made a crime to provoke “any act contrary to
the public welfare.”s

The doctrine of punishment by analogy was introduced to en-
able conviction for acts which no statute forbade.” Minister
of Justice Guertner explained that National Socialism considered
every violation of the goals of life which the community set up
for itself to be a wrong per se, and that the act could be punished
even though it was not contrary to existing “formal” law.?

The Gestapo and the SD were instrumentalities of an espionage
system ‘which penetrated public and private life.? Goering con-
trolled a personal wire-tapping unit.*® All privacy of communi-
cation was abolished.’* Party blockleiters, appointed over every
50 households, continuously spied on all within their ken.> Upon
the strength of this spying individuals were dragged off to “pro-
ltective custody” and to concentration camps, without legal pro-
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ceedings of any kind,** and without statement of any reason
therefor.’* The partisan political police were exempted from
effective legal responsibility for their acts.'®

With all administrative offices in Nazi control and with the
Reichstag reduced to impotence; the judiciary remained the last
obstacle to this reign of terror.** But its independence was soon
overcome and it was reorganized to dispense a venal justice.'”
Judges were ousted for political or racial reasons and were spied
upon and put under pressure to join the Nazi Party.'®* After the
Supreme Court had acquitted three of the four men whom the
Nazis accused of setting the Reichstag fire, its jurisdiction over
treason cases was transferred to -a newly established ‘“People’s
Court” consisting of two judges and five party officials.®® The
German film of this “People’s Court” in operation, which we
showed in this chamber, revealed its presiding judge pouring
partisan abuse upon speechless defendants.?® Special courts were
created to try political crimes, only party members were ap-
pointed judges,®* and “Judges’ letters” instructed the puppet
judges as to the “general lines” they must follow.?

The result was the removal of all peaceable means either to
resist or to change the government. Having sneaked through the
portals of power, the Nazis slammed the gate in the face of all
others who might also aspire to enter. Since the law was what
the Nazis said it was, every form of opposition was rooted out,
and every dissenting voice throttled. Germany was in the clutch
of a police state, which used the fear of the concentration camp
as a means to enforce non-resistance. The Party was the State,
the State was the Party, and terror by day and death by night
were the policy of both.

2. THE PREPARATION AND WAGING OF WARS OF AGGRESSION.

From the moment the Nazis seized power, they set about fever-
ish but stealthy efforts, in defiance of the Versailles Treaty, to
arm for war. In 1933 they found no airforce. By 1939 they had
21 squadrons, consisting of 240 echelons or about 2,400 first-line
planes, together with trainers and transports. In 1933 they found
an army of 3 infantry and 3 cavalry divisions. By 1939 they had
raised and equipped an army of 51 divisions, four of which were
fully motorized and four of which were panzer divisions. In 1933
they found a navy of one cruiser and 6 light cruisers. By 1939
they had built a navy of 4 battleships, 1 aircraft carrier, 6 cruis-
ers, 22 destroyers, and 54 submarines. They had also built up in
that period an armament industry as efficient as that of any coun-
try in the world.=

These new weapons were put to use, commencing in Septem-
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ber 1939, in a series of undeclared wars against nations with
which Germany had arbitration and non-aggression treaties, and
in violation of repeated assurances.?* In September 1, 1939 this
rearmed Germany attacked Poland. The following April wit-
nessed the invasion and occupation of Denmark and Norway, and
‘May saw the over-running of Belgium, the Netherlands, and Lux-
embourg. Another spring found Yugoslavia and Greece under at-
tack, and in June 1941 came the invasion of Soviet Russia. Then
" Japan, which Germany had embraced as a partner, struck without
warning at Pearl Harbor in December 1941, and four days later
Germany declared war on the United States.

We need not trouble ourselves about the many abstract difficul-
ties that can be conjured up about what constitutes aggression in
doubtful cases. I shall show you, in discussing the conspiracy,
that by any test ever put forward by any responsible authority, by
all the canons of plain sense, these were unlawful wars of ag-
gression in breach of treaties and in violation of assurances.

3. WARFARE IN DISREGARD OF INTERNATIONAL LAW.

It is unnecessary to labor this point on the facts. Goering
asserts that the Rules of Land Warfare were obsolete, that no
' nation could fight a total war within their limits.?* He testified
that the Nazis would have denounced the Conventions to which
Germany was a party, but that General Jodl wanted captured
German soldiers to continue to benefit from their observance by
the Allies.2s

It was, however, against the Soviet people and Soviet prisoners
that Teutonic fury knew no bounds, in spite of a warning by
Admiral Canaris that the treatment was in violation of Inter-
national Law.?”

"We need not, therefore, for purposes of the Conspiracy count,
recite the revolting details of starving, beating, murdering, freez-
ing, and mass extermination admittedly used against the eastern
soldiery. Also, we may take as established or admitted that law-
less conduct such as shooting British and American airmen, mis-
treatment of Western prisoners of war, forcing French prisoners
of war into German war work, and other deliberate violations of
the Hague and Geneva Conventions, did oceur, and in obedience
to highest levels of authority.2?

4. ENSLAVEMENT AND PLUNDER OF POPULATIONS
IN OCCUPIED COUNTRIES.
The defendant Sauckel, Plenipotentiary General for the Utiliza-
tion of Labor,* is authority for the statement that “out of five
million foreign workers who arrived in Germany, not even 200,000
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came voluntarily.”’® It was officially reported to defendant
Rosenberg that in his territory “recruiting methods were used
‘which probably have their origin in the blackest period of the
slave trade.”? Sauckel himself reported that male and female
agents went hunting for men, got them drunk, and “shanghaied”
them to Germany.3? These captives were shipped in trains without
heat, food, or sanitary facilities. The dead were thrown out at
stations, and the newborn were thrown out the windows of moving

trains.ss ’

Sauckel ordered that “all the men must be fed, sheltered and
treated in such a way as to exploit them to the highest possible
extent at the lowest conceivable degree of expenditure.”’?* About
two million of these were employed directly in the manufacture of
armaments and munitions.*® The director of the Krupp Locomo-
tive factory in Essen complained to the company that Russian
forced laborers were so underfed that they were too weakened to
do their work,?*® and the Krupp doctor confirmed their pitiable
condition.®” Soviet workers were put in camps under Gestapo
guards, who were allowed to punish disobedience by confinement:
in a concentration camp or by hanging on the spot.=8

Populations of occupied countries were otherwise exploited and
oppressed unmercifully. Terrorism was the order of the.day.
Civilians were arrested without charges, committed without
counsel, executed without hearing. Villages were destroyed, the
male inhabitants shot or sent to concentration camps, the women
sent to forced labor, and the children scattered abroad.*® The
extent of the slaughter in Poland alone was indicated by Frank,
who reported:

“If T wanted to have a poster put up for every seven Poles
who were shot, the forests of Poland would not suffice for
producing the paper for such posters,’”+

Those who will enslave men cannot be expected to refrain from
plundering them. Boastful reports show how thoroughly and
scientifically the resources of occupied lands were sucked into the
German war economy, inflicting shortage, hunger, and inflation
upon the inhabitants.®* Besides this grand plan to aid the German .
war effort there were the sordid activities of the Rosenberg
Einsatzstab, which pillaged art treasures for Goering and his
fellow-bandits.t? It is hard to say whether the spectacle of Ger-
many’s No. 2 leader urging his people to give up every comfort
and strain every sinew on essential war work while he rushed
around confiseating art by the trainload should be cast as tragedy
or comedy. In either case it was a crime.

International Law at all times before and during this war spoke
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with precision and authority respecting the protection due civil-
ians of an occupied country,*® and the slave trade and plunder of
occupied countries was at all times flagrantly unlawful.

5. PERSECUTION AND EXTERMINATION OF JEWS
AND CHRISTIANS

.The Nazi movement will be of -evil memory in history because
of its persecution of the Jews, the most far-flung and terrible
racial persecution of all time. Although the Nazi party neither
invented nor monopolized anti-Semitism, its leaders from the very
beginning embraced it, incited it, and exploited it. They used it as
“the psychological spark that ignites the mob.” After the seizure
of power, it became an official state policy. The persecution began
in a series of discriminatory laws eliminating the Jews from the
civil service, the professions, and economic life. As it became
more intense it included segregation of Jews in ghettos, and exile.
Riots were organized by party leaders to loot Jewish business
places and to burn synagogues. Jewish property was confiscated
and a collective fine of a billion marks was imposed upon German
Jewry. The program progressed in fury and irresponsibility to
the “final solution.” This consisted of sending all Jews who were
fit to work to concentration camps as slave laborers, and all who
were not fit, which included children under 12 and people over 50,
as well as any others judged unfit by an SS doctor, to concentra-
tion camps for extermination.**

Adolf Eichmann, the sinister figure who had charge of the
extermihation program, has estimated that the anti-Jewish activi-
ties resulted in the killing of six million Jews. Of these, four
million were killed in extermination institutions, and two million
were killed by Einsatzgruppen, mobile units of the Security Police
and SD which pursued Jews in the ghettos and in their homes
and slaughtered them by gas wagons, by mass shooting in anti-
tank ditches, and by every device which Nazi ingenuity could
conceive. So thorough and uncompromising was this program
that the Jews of Europe as a race no longer exist, thus fulfilling
the diabolic “prophecy’” of Adolf Hitler at the beginning of the
war.* . .

Of course, any such program must reckon with the opposition
of the Christian Church. This was recognized from the very
beginning. Defendant Bormann wrote all Gauleiters in 1941 that
“National Socialism and Christian concepts are irreconcilable,”
and that the people must be separated from the Churches and the
influence of the Churches totally removed.* Defendant Rosenberg
even wrote dreary treatises advocating a new and weird Nazi
religion.*”
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The Gestapo appointed *“‘Church specialists” who were
instructed that the ultimate aim was “destruction of the confes-
sional Churches.”** The record is full of specific instances of the
persecution of clergymen,* the confiscation of Church property,®°
interference with religious publications,’ disruption of religious
 education,’* and suppression of religious organizations.s3

The chief instrumentality for persecution and extermination
was the concentration camp, sired by defendant Goering and nur-
tured under the overall authority of defendants Frick and Kalten-
brunner,

The horrors of these iniquitous places have been vividly dis-
closed by documents® and testified to by witnesses.’® The Tri-
bunal must be satiated with ghastly verbal and pictorial por-
trayals. From your records it is clear that the concentration
camps were the first and worst weapons of oppression used by the
National Socialist State, and that they were the primary means
utilized for the persecution of the Christian Church and the
extermination of the Jewish race. This has been admitted to you
by some of the defendants from the witness stand.*® In the words
of defendant Frank:

“A thousand years will pass and this guilt of Germany will
still not be erased.”’s”

These, then, were the five great substantive crimes of the Nazi
regime. Their commission, which cannot be denied, stands
admitted. The defendant Keitel, who is in a position to know the
facts, has given the Tribunal what seems to be a fair summation
of the case on these facts:

“The defendant has declared that he admits the contents of
the general indictment to be proved from the objective and
factual point of view (that is to say, not every individual case)
and this in consideration of the law of procedure governing this
trial. It would be senseless, despite the possibility of refuting
several documents or individual facts to attempt to shake the
indiectment as a whole.”’?8

- I pass now to the inquiry whether these groups of criminal acts
were integrated in a common plan or congpiracy.

THE COMMON PLAN OR CONSPIRACY
The prosecution submits that these five categories of premedi-
tated crimes were not separate and. independent phenomena but
that all were committed pursuant to a common plan or conspiracy.
The defense admits that these classes of crimes were committed
* but denies that they are connected one with another as parts of a
gingle program.
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The central erime in this pattern of crime, the kingpin which
holds them all together, is-the plot for aggressive war. The chief
reason for international cognizance of these crimes lies in this
fact. Have we established the plan or conspiracy to make agres-
sive war?

Certain admitted or clearly proven facts help answer that ques-
tion. First is the fact that such war of aggression did take place.
Second, it is admitted that from the moment the Nazis came to
power, every one of them and every one of the defendants worked
like beavers to prepare for some war. The question therefore
comes to this: Were they preparing for the war which did occur,
or were they preparing for some war which never has happened?
It is probably true that in the early days none of them had in
mind what month of what year war would begin, the exact dispute
which would precipitate it, or whether its first impact would be
Austria, Czechoslovakia, or Poland. But I submit that the defen-
dants either knew or are chargeable with knowledge that the war
for which they were making ready would be a war of German
aggression. This is partly because there was no real expectation
that any power or combination of powers would attack Germany.
But it is chiefly because the inherent nature of the German plans
was such that they were certain sooner or later to meet resistance
and that they could then be accomplished only by aggression.

The plans of Adolf Hitler for aggression were just as secret as
“MEIN KAMPF,” of which over six million copies were published
in Germany. He not only openly advocated overthrowing the
Treaty of Versailles, but made demands which went far beyond
a mere rectification of its alleged injustices.’® He avowed an
intention to attack neighboring states and seize their lands,%°
which he said would have to be won with ‘“the power of a tri-
umphant sword.”®* Here, for every German to hearken to, were
the “ancestral voices prophesying war.”

Goering has testified in this courtroom that at his first meeting
with Hitler long before the seizure of power:

“I noted that Hitler had a definite view of the impotency of
protest and, as a second point, that he was of the opinion that
Germany should be freed of the Peace of Versailles. * * * We
did not say we shall have to have a war and defeat our enemies;
this was the aim and the methods had to be adapted to the
political situation.’”¢?

When asked if this goal were to be accomplished by war if
necessary, Goering did not deny that eventuality but evaded a
direct answer by saying, “We did not even debate about those
things at that time.” He went on to say that the aim to overthrow
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the Treaty of Versailles was open and notorious and that “every
German in my opinion was for its modification, and there was no
doubt that this was a strong inducement for joining the party.”’°s
Thus, there can be no possible excuse for any person who aided
Hitler to get absolute power over the German people, or took a
part in his regime, to fail to know the nature of the demands he
would make on Germany’s neighbors.

Immediately after the seizure of power the Nazis went to work
to implement these aggressive intentions by preparing for war.
They first enlisted German industrialists in a secret rearmament
program. Twenty days after the seizure of power Schacht was
host to Hitler, Goering, and some twenty leading industrialists.
Among them were Krupp von Bohlen of the great Krupp arma-
ment works and representatives of I. G. Farben and other Ruhr
heavy industries. Hitler and Goering explained their program to
the industrialists, who became so enthusiastic that they set about
to raise three million Reichsmarks to strengthen and confirm the
Nazi Party in power.®* Two months later Krupp was working to
bring a reorganized association of German industry into agree-
ment with the political aims of the Nazi government.®® Krupp
later boasted of the success in keeping the German war industries
secretly alive and in readiness despite the disarmament clauses
of the Versailles Treaty, and recalled the industrialists’ enthusias-
tic acceptance of “the great intentions of the Fuehrer in the
rearmament period of 1933-39.76¢

Some two months after Schacht had sponsored this first meeting
to gain the support of the industrialists, the Nazis moved to
harness industrial labor to their aggressive plan. In April 1933
Hitler ordered Dr. Ley “to take over the trade unions,” humbering
some 6 million members. By Party directive Ley seized the
unions, their property, and their funds. Union leaders, taken into
“protective custody” by the SS and SA, were put into concentra-
tion camps.®” The free labor unions were then replaced by a Nazi
organization known as the German Labor Front, with Dr. Ley as
its head. It was expanded until it controlled over 28 million mem-
bers.®® Collective bargaining was eliminated, the voice of labor
could no longer be heard as to working conditions, and the labor
contract was prescribed by ‘‘trustees of labor” appointed by
Hitler.®* The war purpose of this labor program was clearly
acknowledged by Robert Ley five days after war broke out, when
he declared in a speech that:

“We National Socialists have monopolized all resources and
all our energies during the past seven years so as to be able to
be equipped for the supreme effort of battle.”’7
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The Nazis also proceeded at once to adapt the government to
the needs of war. In.April 1933 the Cabinet formed a Defense
Council, the working committee of which met frequently there-
after. In the meeting of 23 May 1933, at which defendant Keitel
presided, the members were instructed that:

“No document must be lost since otherwise the enemy propa-
ganda would make use of it. Matters communicated orally
cannot be proven; they can be denied by us in Geneva.”™

In January 1934, with defendant Jodl present, the Council
planned a mobilization calendar and mobilization order for some
240,000 industrial plants. Again it was agreed that nothing should
be in writing so that “the military purpose may not be trace-
able.”’"?

On May 21, 1935 the top secret Reich Defense Law was enacted.
Defendant Schacht was appointed Plenipotentiary General for
War Economy with the task of secretly preparing all economic
forces for war and, in the event of mobilization, of financing the
war.” Schacht’s secret efforts were supplemented in October
1936 by the appointment of defendant Goering as Commissioner
of the Four-Year Plan, with the duty of putting the entire
economy in a state of readiness for war within four years.™

A secret program for the accumulation of the raw materials and
foreign credits necessary for extensive rearmament, was also set
on foot immediately upon seizure of power. In September of 1934
the Minister of Economics was already complaining that:

“The task of stockpiling is being hampered by the lack of

foreign currency ; the need for secrecy and camouflage also is a

retarding influence.”’s

Foreign curreney controls were at once established.” Financing
was delegated to the wizard Schacht, who conjured up the MEFO
Bill to serve the dual objectives of tapping the short-term money
market for rearmament purposes while concealing the amount of
these expenditures.””

The spirit of the whole Nazi administration was summed up by
Goering at a meeting of the Council of Ministers, which included
Schacht, on 27 May 1936, when he said:

“All measures are to be considered from ithe standpoint of an
assured waging of war.”’?®

The General Staff, of course, also had to be enlisted in the war
plans. Most of the Generals, attracted by the prospect of rebuild-
ing their armies, became willing accomplices. The hold-over
Minister of War von Blomberg and the Chief of Staff General
von Fritsch, however, were not cordial to the increasingly bellig-
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erent policy of the Hitler regime, and by vicious and obscene
plotting they were discredited and removed in January 1938.7
Thereupon, Hitler assumed for himself Supreme Command of the
Armed Forces,.and the positions of von Blomberg and von Fritsch
were filled by others who became, as Blomberg said of Keitel, “a
willing tool in Hitler’s hands for every one of his decisions.’’s?
The Generals did not confine their participation to merely military
matters. They participated in all major diplomatic and political
maneuvers, such as the Obersalzburg meeting where Hitler,
flanked by Keitel and other top Generals, issued his virtual ultima-
tum to Schuschnigg.®

As early as November 5, 1937, the plan to attack had begun to
take definiteness as to time and victim. In a meeting which
included defendants Raeder, Goering, and von Neurath, Hitler
stated the cynical objective:

“The question for Germany is where the greatest possible
conquest could be made at the lowest possible cost.”

He discussed various plans for the invasion of Austria and
Czechoslovakia, indicating clearly that he was thinking of these
territories not as ends in themselves, but as means for further
conquest. He pointed out that considerable military and political
assistance would be afforded by possession of these lands and
discussed the possibility of constituting from them new armies up
to a strength of about 12 divisions. The aim he stated boldly and
baldly as the acquisition of additional living space in Europe, and
recognized that “The German question can be solved only by way
of foree.”s*

Six -months later, emboldened by the bloodless Austrian con-
quest, Hitler, in a secret directive to Keitel, stated his “unalter-
able decision to smash Czechoslovakia by military action in the
near future.”®® On the same day, Jodl noted in his diary that the
Fuehrer had stated his final decision to destroy Czechoslovakia
soon and had initiated military preparations all along the line.%*
By April the plan had been perfected to attack Czechoslovakia
“with lightning swift action as the result of an ‘incident’.”’®®

All along the line preparations became more definite for a war
of expansion on the assumption that it would result in world-wide
conflict. In September 1938 Admiral Carls officially commented
on a “Draft Study of Naval Warfare Against England”:

“There is full agreement with the main theme of the study.

“l. If according to the Fuehrer’s decision Germany is to
acquire a position as a world power, she needs not only sufficient
colonial posssessions but also secure naval communications and
secure access to the ocean.
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“2. Both requirements can only be fulfilled in opposition to
Anglo-French interests and will limit their position as world
powers. It is unlikely that they can be achieved by peaceful
means. The decision to make Germany a world power therefore
forces upon us the necessity of making the corresponding
preparations for war.

“3. War against England means at the same time war against
the Empire, against France, probably against Russia as well,
and a large number of countries overseas; in fact, against one-
half to one-third of the whole world.

“It can only be justified and have a chance of success if it is
prepared economically as well as politically and militarily and
waged with the aim of conquering for Germany an outlet to the
ocean.’’s¢

This Tribunal knows what categorical assurances were given to
an alarmed world after the Anschluss, after Munich, and after the
occupation of Bohemia and Moravia, that German ambitions were
realized and that Hitler had “No further territorial demands to
make in Europe.”8” The record of this trial shows that those
promises were calculated deceptions and that those high in the
bloody brotherhood of Nazidom knew it. ;

As early as April 15, 1938 Goering pointed out to Mussolini and
Ciano that the possession of those territories would make possible
an attack on Poland.®® Ribbentrop wrote on August 26, 1938 that:

“After the liquidation of the Czechoslovakian question, it will
be generally assumed that Poland will be next in turn.”s?

Hitler, after the Polish invasion, boasted that it was the Austrian
and Czechoslovakian triumphs by which “the basis for the action
against Poland was laid.””®® Goering suited the act to the purpose
and gave immediate instructions to exploit for the further
strengthening of Germany the war potential, first of the Sudeten-
land, and then of the whole Protectorate.®

By May of 1939 the Nazi preparations had ripened to the point
that Hitler confided to defendants Goering, Raeder, Keitel, and
others, his readiness “to attack Poland at the first suitable oppor-
tunity,” even though he recognized that “further successes cannot
be attained without the shedding of blood.” The larcenous motives
behind this decision he made plain in words that echoed the
covetous theme of “MEIN KAMPF”:

“Circumstances must be-adapted to aims. This is impossible
without invasion of foreign states or attacks upon foreign
property. Living space, in proportion to the magnitude of the
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state, is the basis of all power — further successes cannot be
attained without expanding our living space in the East * * %792

While a credulous world slumbered, snugly blanketed with
perfidious assurances of peaceful intentions, the Nazis prepared
not merely as before for a war, but now for the war. The defend- -
ants Goering, Keitel, Raeder, Frick, and Funk, with others, met
as the Reich Defense Council in June of 1939. The minutes,
authenticated by Goering, are revealing evidence of the way in
which each step of Nazi planning dovetailed with every other.
These five key defendants, three months before the first panzer
unit had knifed into Poland, were laying plans for “employment
of the population in wartime,” and had gone so far as to classify
industry for priority in labor supply “after five million servicemen
had been called up.” They decided upon measures to avoid “con-
fusion when mobilization takes place,” and declared a purpose
“to gain and maintain the lead in the decisive initial weeks of a
war.” They then planned to use in production prisoners of war,
criminal prisoners, and concentration camp inmates. They then
decided on “compulsory work for women in wartime.” They had
already passed on applications from 1,172,000 specialist workmen
for classification as indispensable, and had approved 727,000 of
them. They boasted that orders to workers to report for duty “are
ready and tied up in bundles at the labor offices.” And they
resolved to increase the industrial manpower supply by bringing
into Germany “hundreds of thousands of workers” from the
Protectorate to be “housed together in hutments.”*s

It is the minutes of this significant conclave of many key
defendants which disclose how the plan to start the war was
coupled with the plan to wage the war through the use of illegal
sources of labor to maintain production. Hitler, in announcing
his plan to attack Poland, had already foreshadowed the slave
labor program as one of its corollaries when he cryptically pointed
. out to defendants Goering, Raeder, Keitel, and others that the
Polish population “will be available as a source of labor.”?* This
was the part of the plan made good by Frank, who, as Governor
General notified Goering that he would supply “at least one million
male and female agricultural and industrial workers to the
Reich,”®® and by Sauckel, whose impressments throughout occu-
pied territory aggregated numbers equal to the total population of
some of the smaller nations of Europe.

Here also comes to the surface the link between war labor and
concentration camps, a manpower source that was increasingly
used and with increasing cruelty. An agreement between
Himmler and the Minister of Justice Thierack in 1942 provided
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for “the delivery of anti-social elements from the execution of
their sentence to the Reichs Fuehrer SS to be worked to death.”?
An S8 directive provided that bedridden prisoners be drafted for
work to be performed in bed.”” The Gestapo ordered 45,000 Jews
arrested to inerease the “recruitment of manpower into the con-
centration eamps.”’®® One hundred thousand Jews were brought
from Hungary to augment the eamps’ manpower.?® On the initia-
tive of the defendant Doenitz, concentration camp labor was used
in the construetion of submarines.**® Concentration camps were
thus geared into war production on the one hand, and into the
administration of justice and the political aims of the Nazis on
the other.

The use of prisoner-of-war labor as here planned also grew with
German needs. At a time when every German soldier was needed
at the front and forces were not available at home, Russian pris-
oners of war were forced to man anti-aircraft guns against Allied
planes. Field Marshal Milch reflected the Nazi merriment at this
flagrant violation of International Law, saying,

“* * * This is an amusing thing, that the Russians must work
the gung.”’101

The orders for the treatment of Soviet prisoners of war were so
ruthless that Admiral Canaris, pointing out that they would
“result in arbitrary mistreatments and killings,” protested to the
OKW against them as breaches of International Law. The reply
of Keitel was unambiguous:

“The objections arise from the military conception of
chivalrous warfare! This is the destruetion of an ideology!
Therefore T approve and back the measures.”102

The Geneva Convention would have been thrown overboard openly
except that Jodl objected because he wanted the benefits of Allied
observance of it while it was not being allowed to hamper the
Germans in any way.»°?

Other crimes in the conduct of warfare were planned with equal
thoroughness as a means of insuring the victory of German arms.
' In October 1938, almost a year before the start of the war, the
large-scale violation of the established rules of warfare was con-
templated as a policy, and the Supreme Command circulated a
Most Secret list of devious explanations to be given by the Propa-
ganda Minister in such cases:’** Even before this time com-
manders of the armed forces were instructed to employ any means
of warfare so long as it facilitated victory.ls After the war was
in progress the orders increased in savagery. A typical Keitel
order, demanding use of the “most brutal means,” provided that
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“% * * Tt ig the duty of the troops to use all means without
restriction, even against women and children so long as it
insures success.”%s

The German naval forces were no more immune from the infec-
tion than the land forces. Raeder ordered violations of the
accepted rules of warfare wherever necessary to gain strategic
successes.’® Doenitz urged his submarine crews not to rescue
survivors of torpedoed enemy ships in order to cripple merchant
shipping of the Allied nations by decimating their crews.*®

Thus, the war crimes against Allied forces and the crimes
against humanity committed in occupied territories are incon-
testably part of the program of making the war becausé, in the
German calculations, they were indispensable to its hope of suc-
cess.

Similarly, the whole group of pre-war crimes, including the
persecutions within Germany, fall into place around the plan for
aggressive war like stones in a finely wrought mosaic. Nowhere
is the whole catalogue of crimes of Nazi oppression and terrorism
within Germany so well integrated with the crime of war as in
that strange mixture of wind and wisdom which makes up the
testimony of Hermann Goering. In describing the aims of the
Nazi program before the seizure of power, Goering said:

“The first question was to achieve and establish a different
political structure for Germany which would enable Germany to
obtain against the Dictate (of Versailles), and not only a pro-
test, but an objection of such a nature that it would actually be
considered.”*0®

With these purposes, Goering admitted that the plan was made to
overthrow the Weimar Republic, to seize power, and to carry out
the Nazi program by whatever means were necessary, whether
legal or illegal.r®

From Goering’s cross-examination we learn how necessarily the
whole program of crime followed.!’* Because they considered a
strong state necessary to get rid of the Versailles Treaty, they
adopted the Fuehrerprinzip. Having seized power, the Nazis
thought it necessary to protect it by abolishing parliamentary
government and suppressing all organized opposition from polit-
ical parties.’*? This was reflected in the philosophy of Goering
that the opera was more imporfant than the Reichstag.’* Even
the “opposition of each individual person was not tolerated unless
it was a matter of unimportance.” To insure the suppression of
opposition a secret political police was necessary. In order to
eliminate incorrigible opponents, it was necessary to establish
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concentration camps and to resort to the device of protective

custody. Protective custody, Goering testified, meant that
“people were arrested and taken into protective custody who
had committed no crime but who one might expect, if they
remained in freedom, would do all sorts of things to damage
the German State.” 1

The same purpose was dominant in the persecution of the Jews.
In the beginning, fanaticism and political opportunism. played a
principal part, for anti-semitism and its allied scapegoat mythol-
ogy was a vehicle on which the Nazis rode to power. It was for
this reason that the filthy Streicher and the blasphemous Rosen-
berg were welcomed to a place at Party rallies and made leaders
and officials of the State or Party. But the Nazis soon regard
the Jews as foremost amongst the opposition to the police state
with which they planned to put forward their plans of military
aggression. Fear of their pacifism and their opposition to stri-
dent nationalism was given as the reason that the Jews had to be
driven from the political and economic life of Germany.**
Accordingly, they were transported like cattle to the concentra-
tion camps, where they were utilized as a source of forced labor
for war purposes.

At a meeting held on 12 November 1938, two days after the
violent anti-Jewish pogroms instigated by Goebbels and carried
out by the Party Leadership Corps and the SA, the program for
the elimination of the Jews from the German economy was
mapped out by Goering, Funk, Heydrich, Goebbels, and other top
Nazis. The measures adopted included confinement of the Jews in
ghettos, cutting off their food supply, “aryanizing’’ their shops,
and restricting their freedom of movement.!’* Here another pur- .
pose behind the Jewish persecutions crept in, for it was the
. wholesale confiscation of their property which helped finance
German rearmament. Although Schacht’s plan to have foreign
money ransom the entire race within Germany was not adopted,
the Jews were stripped to the point where Goering was able to
advise the Reich Defense Council that the critical situation of the
Reich exchequer, due to rearmament, had been relieved ‘“through
the billion Reichsmark fine imposed on Jewry, and through profits
accrued to the Reich in the aryanization of Jewish enterprises.’’*7

A glance over the dock will show that, despite quarrels among
thémselves, each defendant played a part which fitted in with
every other, and that all advanced the common plan. It contra-
dicts experience that men of such diverse backgrounds and talents
should so forward each other’s aims by coincidence.

The lérge and varied role of Goering was half militarist and
74420y—27T—4
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half gangster. He stuck a pudgy finger in every pie. He used his
SA muscle-men to help bring the gang into power. In order to
entrench that power he contrived to have the Reichstag burned,
established the Gestapo, and created the concentration camps. He
was equally adept at massacring opponents and at framing scan-
dals to get rid of stubborn generals. He built up the Luftwaffe
and hurled it at his defenseless neighbors. He was among the
foremost in harrying the Jews out of the land. By mobilizing the
total economic resources of Germany he made possible the waging
of the war which he had taken a large part in planning. He was,
next to Hitler, the man who tied the activities of all the
defendants together in a common effort.

The parts played by the other defendants, although less com-
prehensive and less spectacular than that of the Reichsmarshal;
were nevertheless integral and necessary contributions to the
joint undertaking, without any one of which the success of the
common enterprise would have been in jeopardy. There are many
gpecific deeds of which these men have been proven guilty. No
purpose would be served —nor indeed is time available — to
review all the crimes which the evidence has charged up to their
names. Nevertheless, in viewing the conspiracy as a whole and as
an operating mechanism it may be well to recall briefly the out-
standing services which each of the men in the dock rendered to
the common cause.

The zealot HESS, before succumbing to wanderlust, was the
engineer tending the Party machinery, passing orders and propa-
ganda down to the Leadership Corps, supervising every aspect of
Party activities, and maintaining the organization as a loyal and
-ready instrument of power. When apprehensions abroad threat-
ened the success of the Nazi scheme for conquest, it was the
duplicitous RIBBENTROP, the salesman of deception, who was
detailed to pour wine on the troubled waters of suspicion by
preaching the gospel of limited and peaceful intentions. KEITEL,
weak and willing tool, delivered the armed forces, the instrument
of aggression, over to the Party and directed them in executing its
felonous designs.

KALTENBRUNNER, the grand inquisitor, took up the bloody
mantle of Heydrich to stifle opposition and terrorize compliance,
and buttressed the power of National Socialism on a foundation
of guiltless corpses. It was ROSENBERG, the intellectual high
vriest of the “master race,” who provided the doctrine of hatred
which gave the impetus for the annihilation of Jewry, and put his
infidel theories into practice against the eastern occupied terri-
tories. His wooly philosophy also added boredom to the long list
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of Nazi atrocities. The fanatical FRANK, who solidified Nazi
control by establishing the new order of authority without law, so
that the will of the Party was the only test of legality, proceeded
to export his lawlessness to Poland, which he governed with the
Jash of Caesar and whose population he reduced to sorrowing
remnants. FRICK, the ruthless organizer, helped the Party to
seize power, supervised the police agencies to insure that it stayed
in power, and chained the economy of Bohemia and Moravia to
the German war machine.

STREICHER, the venomous vulgarian, manufactured and dis-
tributed obscene racial libels which incited the populace to accept
and assist the progressively savage operations of “race purifica-
tion.” As Minister of Economies FUNK accelerated the pace of
rearmament, and as Reichsbank president banked for the SS the
gold teeth fillings of concentration camp vietims — probably the
most ghoulish collateral in banking history. It was SCHACHT,
the facade of starched respectability, who in the early days pro-
vided the window dressing, the bait for the hesitant, and whose
wizardry later made it possible for Hitler to finance the colossal
rearmament program, and to do it secretly.

DOENITZ, Hitler’s legatee of defeat, promoted the success of
the Nazi aggressions by instructing his pack of submarine killers
to conduct warfare at sea with the illegal ferocity of the jungle.
RAEDER, the political admiral, stealthily built up the German
navy in defiance of the Versailles Treaty, and then put it to use
n a series of aggressions which he had taken a large part in
planning, VON SCHIRACH, poisoner of a generation, initiated
the German youth in Nazi doctrine, trained them in legions for
service in the SS and Wehrmacht, and delivered them up to the
Party as fanatic, unquestioning executors of its will,

SAUCKEL, the greatest and cruelest slaver since the Pharaohs
of Egypt, produced desperately needed manpower by driving for-
" eign peoples into the land of bondage on a scale unknown even in
the ancient days of tyranny in the kingdom of the Nile. JODL,
betrayer of the traditions of his profession, led the Wehrmacht in
violating its own code of military honor in order to carry out the
barbarous aims of Nazi policy. VON PAPEN, pious agent of an
infidel regime, held the stirrup while Hitler vaulted into the
saddle, lubricated the Austrian annexation, and devoted his diplo-
matic cunning to the service of Nazi objectives abroad.

SEYSS-INQUART, spearhead of the Austrian fifth-column,
took over the government of his own country to make a present
of it to Hitler, and then, moving north, brought terror and oppres-
sion to the Netherlands and pillaged its economy for the benefit of
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the German juggernaut. VON NEURATH, the old-school diplo-
mat, who cast the pearls of his experience before the Nazis,
guided Nazi diplomacy in the early years, soothed the fears of
prospective victims, and as Reich Protector of Bohemia and
_ Moravia, strengthened the German position for the coming attack
on Poland. SPEER, as Minister of Armaments and War Produc-
tion, joined in planning and executing the program to dragoon
prisoners of war and foreign workers into German war indus-
tries which waxed in output while the laborers waned in starva-
tion. FRITZSCHE, radio propaganda chief, by manipulation of
the truth goaded German public opinion into frenzied support
of the regime and anesthetized the independent judgment of the
population so that they did without question their masters’ bid-
ding. And BORMANN, who has not accepted our invitation to
this reunion, sat at the throttle of the vast and powerful engine of
the Party, guiding it in the ruthless execution of Nazi policies,
from the scourging of the Christian Church to the lynching of
captive Allied airmen.

The activities of all these defendants, despite their varied back-
grounds and talents, were joined with the efforts of other con-
gpirators not now in the dock, who played still other essential
roles. They blend together into one consistent and militant pat-
tern animated by a common objective to reshape the map of
Europe by force of arms. Some of these defendants were ardent
members of the Nazi movement from its birth. Others, less fanat-
ical, joined the common enterprise later, after successes had made
participation attractive by the promise of rewards. This group
of latter-day converts remedied a crucial defect in the ranks of
the original true believers, for as Dr. Seimers has pointed out in
his summation:

“***There were no specialists among the National Socialists

for the particular tasks. Most of the National Socialist col-

laborators did not previously follow a trade requiring technical-

education.” 18

It was the fatal weakness of the early Nazi band that it lacked
technical competence. It could not from among its own ranks
make up a government capable of carrying out all the projects
necessary to realize its aims. Therein lies the special crime and
betrayal of men like Schacht and von Neurath, Speer and von
Papen, Raeder and Doenitz, Keitel and Jodl. It is doubtful
whether the Nazi master plan could have succeeded without their
specialized intelligence which they so willingly put at its com-
mand.’® They did so with knowledge of its announced aims and
methods, and continued their services after practice had confirmed
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the direction in which they were tending. Their superiority to
the average run of Nazi mediocrity is not their excuse. It is their
condemnation.

The dominant fact which stands out from all the thousands of
pages of the record of this trial is that the central crime of the
whole group of Nazi erimes—the attack on the peace of the world
was clearly and deliberately planned. The beginning of these
wars of aggression was- not an unprepared and spontaneous
springing to arms by a population excited by some current in-
dignation. A week before the invasion of Poland Hitler told his
military commanders:

“I shall give a propagandist cause for starting war—mnever
mind whether it be plausible or not. The victor shall not be
asked later on whether we told the truth or not. In starting
and making a war, not the right is what matters, but vie-
tory.12°

The propagandist incident was duly provided by dressing conecen-
tration camp inmates in Polish uniforms, in order to create the
appearance of a Polish attack on a German frontier radio sta-
tion.** The plan to oceupy Belgium, Holland, and Luxembourg
first appeared as early as August 1938 in connection with the
plan for attack on Czechoslovakia.?? The intention to attack be-
came a program in ‘May 1939, when Hitler told his commanders
that

“The Dutch and Belgian air bases must be occupied by armed

forces. Declarations of neutrality must be ignored.” 122

Thus, the follow-up wars were planned before the first wag
launched. These were the most carefully plotted wars in all his.
fory. Searcely a step in their terrifying succession and progress
failed to move according to the master blueprint or the subsidiary
schedules and timetables until long after the erimes of aggression
were-consummated.

Nor were the war crimes and the erimes against humanity un-
planned, isolated, or spontaneous offenses. Aside from our un-
deniable evidence of their plotting, it is sufficient to ask whether
six million people could be separated from the population of sev-
eral nations on the basis of their blood and birth, could be de-
stroyed and their bodies disposed of, execept that the operation
fitted into the general scheme of government. Could the enslave-
ment of five millions of laborers, their impressment into service,
their transportation to Germany, their allocation to work where
they would be most useful, their maintenance, if slow starvation
can be called maintenance, and their guarding have been accom-
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plished if it did not fit into the common plan? Could hundreds of
concentration camps located throughout Germany, built to ac-
commodate hundreds of thousands of victims, and each requiring
labor and materials for construction, manpower to operate and
supervise, and close gearing into the economy—could such efforts
have been expended under German autocracy if they had not
suited the plan? Has the Teutonic passion for organization be-
come famous for its toleration of non-conforming activity? Each
part of the plan fitted into every other. The slave labor program
meshed with the needs of industry and agriculture, and these in
turn synchronized with the military machine. The elaborate
propaganda apparatus geared with the program to dominate the
people and incite them to a war their sons would have to fight.
The armament industries were fed by the concentration camps.
The concentration camps were fed by the Gestapo. The Gestapo
was fed by the spy system of the Nazi Party. Nothing was per-
mitted under the Nazi iron rule that was not in accordance with
the program. Everything of consequence that took place in this
regimented society was but a manifestation of a premeditated
and unfolding purpose to secure the Nazi state a place in the sun
by casting all others into darkness.

Common Defenses Agajnst the Charge of Common Responsibility

The defendants meet this overwhelming case, some by admit-
ting a limited responsibility,'2* some by putting the blame on
others,” and some by taking the position, in effect, that while
there have been enormous crimes there are no criminals. Time
will not permit me to examine each individual and peculiar de-
fense, but there are certain lines of defense common to so many
cases that they deserve some consideration.

Counsel for many of the defendants seek to dismiss the con-
spiracy or common planning charge on the ground that the pat-
tern of the Nazi plan does not fit the concept of conspiracy ap-
plicable in German law to the plotting of a highway robbery or
a burglary.’?® Their concept of conspiracy is in the terms of a
stealthy meeting in the dead of night, in a secluded hideout, in
which a group of felons plot every detail of a specific crime. The
Charter forestalls resort to such parochial and narrow concepts
of congpiracy taken from local law by using the additional and
non-technical term, “common plan.” Omitting entirely the al-
ternative term of “conspiracy,” the Charter reads that “leaders,
organizers, instigators, and accomplices participating in the for-
mulation or execution of a common plan to commit” any of the
described crimes “are responsible for all acts performed by any
persons in execution of such plan.”
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The -Charter concept of a common plan really represents the
conspiracy principle in an international context. A common plan
or conspiracy to seize the machinery of a state, to commit erimes
against the peace of the world, to blot a race out of existence, to
enslave millions, and to subjugate and loot whole nations cannot
be thought of in the same terms as the plotting of petty crimes,
although the same underlying principles are applicable. Little
gangsters may plan which will ecarry a pistol and which a stiletto,
who will approach a victim from the front and who from behind,
and where they will waylay him. But in planning a war the pistol
becomes a Wehrmacht, the stiletto a Luftwaffe. Where to strike
is not a choice of dark alleys, but a matter of world geography.
The operation involves the manipulation of public opinion, the
law of the state, the police power, industry, and finance. The
baits and bluffs must be translated into a nation’s foreign policy.
Likewise, the degree of stealth which points to a guilty purpose
in a conspiracy will depend upon its ‘object. The clandestine
preparations of a state against international society, although
camouflaged to those abroad, might be quite open and notorious
among its own people. But stealth is not an essential ingredient
of such planning. Parts of the common plan may be proclaimed
from the housetops, as anti-Semitism was, and parts of it kept
undercover, as rearmament for a long time was. It is a matter
of strategy how much of the preparation shall be made public, as
was Goering’s announcement in 1935 of the creation of an air
force, and how much shall be kept covert, as in the case of the
Nazis’ use of shovels to teach “labor corps’ the manual of arms.'*
The forms of this grand type of conspiracy are amorphous, the
means are opportunistic, and neither can divert the law from get-
ting at the substance of things.

The defendants contend, however, that there could be no con-
spiracy involving aggressive war because (1) none of the Nazis
wanted war!?®; (2) rearmament was only intended to provide the
strength to make Germany’s voice heard in the family of na-
tions??*; and (3) the wars were not in fact aggressive wars but
were defensive against a “Bolshevik menace.” 13°

‘When we analyze the argument that the Nazis did not want
war it comes down, in substance, to this: “The record looks bad
indeed—objectively—but when you consider the state of my mind
—subjectively I hated war. I knew the horrors of war. I wanted
peace.” I am not so sure of this. I am even less willing to ac-
cept Goering’s description of the General Staff as pacifist.”** How-
ever, it will not injure our case to admit that as an abstract prop-
osition none of these defendants liked war.'s> But they wanted
things which they knew they could not get without war. They
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wanted their neighbors’ lands and goods. Their philosophy seems
to be that if the neighbors would not acquiesce, then they are the
aggressors and are to blame for the war. The fact is, however,
that war never became terrible to the Nazis until it came home
to them, until it exposed their deceptive assurances to the Ger-
man people that German cities, like the ruined one in which we
meet, would be invulnerable. From then on war was terrible.

But again the defendants claim, “To be sure we were building
guns. But not to shoot. They were only to give us weight in ne-
gotiating.” At its best this argument amounts to a contention
that the military forces were intended for blackmail, not for bat-
tle. The threat of military invasion which forced the Austrian
Anschluss, the threats which preceded Munich, and Goering’s
threat to bomb the beautiful city of Prague if the President of
Czechoslovakia did not consent to the Protectorate,’®® are exam-
ples of what the defendants have in mind when they talk of arm-
ing to back negotiation.

But from the very nature of German demands, the day was
bound to come when some country would refuse to buy its peace,.
would refuse to pay Dane-geld,—

“For the end of that game is oppression and shame,

And the nation that plays it is lost.”

Did these defendants then intend to withdraw German de-
mands, or was Germany to enforce them and manipulate propa-
ganda so as to place the blame for the war on the nation so un-
reasonable as to resist? Events have answered that question,
and documents such as Admiral Carl’s memorandum, earlier
quoted,'3* leave no doubt that the events occurred as anticipated.

But some of the defendants argue that the wars were not ag-
gressive and were only intended to protect Germany against some
eventual danger from the “menace of Communism,” which was
something of an obsession with many Nazis.

At the outset this argument of self-defense fails because it
completely ignores this damning combination of facts clearly es-
tablished in the record: first, the enormous and rapid German
preparations for war; second, the repeatedly avowed intentions
of the German leaders to attack, which I have previously cited;
and third, the fact that a series of wars occurred in which Ger-
man forces struck the first blows, without warning, across the
borders of other nations.

Even if it could be shown—which it cannot be—that the Rus-
sian war was really defensive, such is demonstrably not the case
with those wars which preceded it.

Tt may also be pointed out that even those who would have you
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believe that Germany was menaced by Communism also compete
with each other in describing their position to the disastrous Rus-
sian venture.’®® Is it reasonable that they would have opposed
that war if it were undertaken in good faith self-defense?

The frivolous character of the seif-defense theory on the facts
it is sought to compensate, as advocates often do, by resort to a
theory of law. Dr. Jahrreiss, in his scholarly argument for the
defense, rightly points out that no treaty provision and no prin-
ciple of law denied Germany, as a sovereign nation, the right of
self-defense. He follows with the assertion, for which there is
authority in classic International Law, that

“* * * gvery state is alone judge of whether in a given

case it is waging a war of self-defense.”” 3¢

It is not necessary to examine the validity of an abstract prin-
ciple which does not apply to the facts of our case. I do not doubt
that if a nation arrived at a judgment that it must resort to war
in self-defense, because of conditions affording reasonable grounds
for such an honest judgment, any Tribunal would accord it great
and perhaps conclusive weight, even if later events proved that
judgment mistaken.

But the facts in this case call for no such deference to honest
judgment because no such judgment was even pretended, much
less honestly made.

* In all the documents which disclose the planning and rationali-
zation of these attacks, not one sentence has been or can be cited
to show a good faith fear of attack. It may be that statesmen of
other nations lacked the courage forthrightly and. full to disarm.
Perhaps they suspected the secret rearmament of Germany. But
if they hesitated to abandon arms, they did not hesitate to neglect
them. Germany well knew that her former enemies had allowed
their armaments to fall into decay, so little did they contemplate
another war. Germany faced a Furope that not only was un-
willing to attack, but was too weak and pacifist even adequately
to defend, and went to the very verge of dishonor, if not beyond,
to buy its peace. The minutes we have shown you of the Nazis’
secret conclaves identify no potential attacker. They bristle with
the spirit of aggression and not of defense. They contemplate
always territorial expansion, not the maintenance of territorial
integrity.

Minister of War von Blomberg, in his 1937 directive prescribing
general principles for the preparation for war of the armed forces,
has given the lie to these feeble claims of self-defense. He stated
at that time:

“The general political situation justifies the supposition that
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Germany need not consider an attack on any side. Grounds
for this are, in addition to the lack of desire for war in almost
all nations, particularly the Western Powers, the deficiencies
in the preparedness for war in a number of states and of Rus-
sia in particular.”

Nevertheless, he recommended
‘“a continuous preparedness for war in order to (a) counter-
attack at any time, and (b) to enable the military exploitation
of politieally favorable opportunities should they occur.” 3

If these defendants may now cynically plead self-defense, al-
though no good faith need of self-defense was asserted or con-
templated by any responsible leader at the time, it reduces non-
aggression treaties to a legal absurdity. They become only addi-
tional instruments of deception in the hands of the aggressor, and
traps for well-meaning nations. If there be in non-aggression
pacts an implied condition that each nation may make a bona fide
judgment as to the necessity for self-defense against imminent
threatened attack, they certainly cannot be invoked to shelter
those who never made any such judgment at all.

In opening this case I ventured to predict that there would be
no serious denial that the crimes charged were committed, and
that the issue would concern the responsibility of particular de-
fendants. The defendants have fulfilled that prophecy. Gener-
ally, they do not deny that these things happened, but it is con-
tended that they “just happened,” and that they were not the
result of a common plan or conspiracy.

One of the chief reasons the defendants say there was no con-
spiracy is the argument that conspiracy was impossible with a
dictator.:*® The argument runs that they all had to obey Hitler’s
orders, which had the force of law in the German State, and
hence obedience cannot be made the basis of a criminal charge.
In this way it is explained that while there have been wholesale
killings, there have been no murderers.

This argument is an effort to evade Article 8 of the Charter,
which provides that the order of the government or of a superior
shall not free a defendant from responsibility but can only be
considered in mitigation. This provision of the Charter corre-
sponds with the justice and with the realities of the situaton, as
indicated in defendant Speer’s description of what he considered
to be the common responsibility of the leaders of the German
nation:

“x¥ % *  with reference to utterly decisive matters, there is

total responsibility. There must be total responsibility insofar

as a person is one of the leaders, because who else could assume
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responsibility for the development of events, if not the im-
mediate associates who work with and around the head of the
state?’? 130

And again he told the Tribunal:
“x * it is impossible after the catastrophe to evade this
total responsibility. If the war had been won, the leaders
would also have assumed total responsibility.” 4

Like much of defense counsel’s abstract arguments, the con-
tention that the absolute power of Hitler precluded a conspiracy
crumbles in face of the facts of record. The Fuehrerprinzip of
absolutism was itself a part of the common plan, as Goering has
pointed out.’*t The defendants may have become slaves of a die-
tator, but he was their dictator. To make him such was, as
Goering has testified, the object of the Nazi movement from the
beginning. Every Nazi took this oath:

“I pledge eternal allegiance to Adolf Hitler. I pledge un-
conditional obedience to him and the fuehrers appointed by

him.” 142

Moreover, they forced everybody else in their power to take it.
This oath was illegal under German law, which made it criminal
to become a member of an organization in which obedience to
“unknown superiors or unconditional obedience to known superiors
is pledged.” :#3 These men destroyed free government in Germany
and now plead to be excused from responsibility because they be-
came slaves. They are in the position of the fictional boy who
murdered his father and mother and then pleaded for leniency be-
cause he was an orphan.

What these men have overlooked is that Adolf Hitler’s acts are
their acts. It was these men among millions of others, and it was
these men leading millions of others, who built up Adolf Hitler
and vested in his psychopathic personality not only innumerable
lesser decisions but the supreme issue of war or peace. They in-
toxicated him with power and adulation. They fed his hates and
aroused his fears. They put a loaded gun in his eager hands. It
was left to Hitler to pull the trigger, and when he did they all at
that time approved. His guilt stands admitted, by some defend-
ants reluctantly, by some vindictively. But his guilt is the guilt
of the whole dock, and of every man in it.

But it is urged that these defendants could not be in agree-
ment on a common plan or in a conspiracy because they were
fighting among themselves or belonged to different factions or
cliques. Of course, it i3 not necessary that men should agree on
everything in order to agree on enough things to make them
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liable for a criminal conspiracy. Unquestionably there were con-
spiracies within the conspiracy, and intrigues and rivalries and
battles for power. Schacht and Goering disagreed, but over which
of them should control the economy, not over whether the econ-
omy should be regimented for war.'** Goering claims to have
departed from the plan because through Dahlerus he conducted
some negotiations with men of influence in England just before
the Polish war. But it is perfectly clear that this was not an
effort to prevent aggression against Poland but to make that ag-
gression successful and safe by obtaining English neutrality.'4
Rosenberg and Goering may have had some differences as to how
stolen art should be distributed but they had none about how it
should be stolen. Jodl and Goebbels may have disagreed about
whether to denounce the Geneva Convention, but they never dis-
agreed about violating it. And so it goes through the whole long
and sordid story. Nowhere do we find an instance where any one
of the defendants stood up against the rest and said, This thing
is wrong and I will not go along with it. Wherever they differed,
their differences were as to method or disputes over jurisdiction,
but always within the framework of the common plan.

Some of the defendants also contend that in any event there
was no congpiracy to commit war crimes or crimes against hu-
manity because cabinet members never met with the military to
plan these acts. But these crimes were only the inevitable and
incidental results of the plan to commit the aggression for Lebens-
raum purposes. Hitler stated, at a conference with his com-
manders, that _

“The main objective in Poland is the destruction of the enemy

and not the reaching of a certain geographical line.” 146

Frank picked up the tune and suggested that when their useful-
ness was exhausted,
“* * *then, for all I care mincemeat can be made of the Poles
and Ukrainians and all the others who run around here— it
does not matter what happens.” 1*7

Reichscommissar Koch in the Ukraine echoed the refrain:
“T will draw the very last out of this country. I did not

come to spread blisg * * *°* 148
This was Lebensraum on its seamy side. Could men of their
practical intelligence expect to get neighboring lands free from
the claims of their tenants without committing crimes against
humanity ?

The last stand of each defendant is that even if there was a
conspiracy, he was not in it. It is therefore important in exam-
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ining their attempts at avoidance of responsibility to know, first
of all, just what it is that a conspiracy charge comprehends and
punishes.

In conspiracy we do not punish one man for another man’s
crime. We seek to punish each for his own crime of joining a
common criminal plan in which others also participated. The
measure of the criminality of the plan and therefore of the guilt
of each participant is, of course, the sum total of crimes com-
mitted by all in executing the plan. But the gist of the offense
is participation in the formulation or execution of the plan. These
are rules which every society has found necessary in order to
reach men, like these defendants, who never get blood on their
own hands but who Iay plans that result in the shedding of blood.
All over Germany today, in every zone of occupation, little men
who carried out these criminal policies under orders are being
convicted and punished. It would present a vast and unforgive-
able caricature of justice if the men who planned these policies
and directed those little men should escape all penalty.*®

These men in this dock, on the face of the record, were not
strangers to this program of crime, nor was their connection with
it remote or obscure. We find them in the very heart of it. The
positions they held show that we have chosen defendants of self-
.evident responsibility. They are the very top surviving author-
ities in their respective fields and in the Nazi State. No one lives
who, at least until the very last moments of the war, outranked
Goering in position, power, and influence. No soldier stood above
Keitel and Jodl, and no sailor above Raeder and Doenitz. Who
can be responsible for the duplicitous diplomacy if not the Foreign
Ministers, von Neurath and Ribbentrop, and the diplomatic handy
man, von Papen? Who should be answerable for the oppressive
administration of occupied countries if Gauleiters, Protectors,
Governors, and Commissars such as Frank, Seyss-Inquart, Frick,
von Schirach, von Neurath, and Rosenberg are not? Where shall
we look for those who mobilized the economy for total war if we
overlook Schacht, and Speer, and Funk? Who was the master of
the great slaving enterprise if it was not Sauckel? Where shall
we find the hand that ran the concentration camps if it is not the
hand of Kaltenbrunner? And who whipped up the hates and
fears of the public, and manipulated the Party organizations to
incite these crimes, if not Hess, von Schirach, Fritzsche, Bor-
mann, and the unspeakable Julius Streicher? The list of defend-
ants is made up of men who played indispensable and reciprocal
barts in this tragedy. The photographs and films show them
again and again together on important occasions. The documents
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show them agreed on policies and on methods, and all working
aggressively for the expansion of Germany by force of arms.

Each of these men made a real contribution to the Nazi plan.
Every man had a key part. Deprive the Nazi regime of the func-
tions performed by a Schacht, a Sauckel, & von Papen, or a Goer-
ing, and you have a different regime. Look down the rows of
fallen men and picture them as the photographic and documentary
evidence shows them to have been in their days of power. Is
there one whose work did not substantially advance the conspiracy
along its bloody path towards its bloody goal? Can we assume
that the great effort of these men’s lives was directed towards
ends they never suspected?

To escape the implications of their positions and the inference
of guilt from their activities, the defendants are almost unani-
mous in one defense. The refrain is heard time and again: these
men were without authority, without knowledge, without influ-
ence, indeed without importance. Funk summed up the general
self-abasement of the dock in his plaintive lament that,

“T always, so to speak, came up to the door. But I was not

permitted to enter.” 250

In the testimony of each defendant, at some point there was
reached the familiar blank wall: nobody knew anything about
what was going on. Time after time we have heard the chorus
from the dock,

“I only heard about these things here for the first time.” 151
These men saw no evil, spoke none, and none was uttered in their
presence. This claim might sound very plausible if made by one
defendant. But when we put all their stories together, the im-
pression which emerges of the Third Reich, which was to last a
thousand years, is ludicrous. If we combine only the stories
from the front bench, this is the ridiculous composite picture of
Hitler's government that emerges. It was composed of:

A No. 2 man who knew nothing of the excesses of the Gestapo
which he created, and never suspected the Jewish extermination
program although he was the signer of over a score of decrees
which instituted the persecutions of that race;

A No. 3 man who was merely an innocent middleman trans-
mitting Hitler’s orders without even reading them, like a postman
or delivery boy; )

A Foreign Minister who knew little of foreign affairs and noth-
ing of foreign policy;

A Field Marshal who issued orders to the armed forces but
had no idea of the results they would have in practice;
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A security chief who was of the impression that the policing
functions of his Gestapo and SD were somewhat on the order of
directing traffic;

A Party philosopher who was interested in historical research,
and had no idea of the violence which his philosophy was inciting
in the Twentieth Century;

A Governor General of Poland who reigned but did not rule;

A Gauleiter of Franconia whose occupation was to pour forth
_ filthy writings about the Jews, but had no idea that anybody
would read them;

A Minister of the Interior who knew not even what went on in
the interior of his own office, much less the interior of his own
department, and nothing at all about the interior of Germany;

A Reichsbank President who was totally ignorant of what went
in and out of the vaults of his bank;

And a Plenipotentiary for the War Economy who secretly
marshaled the entire economy for armament, but had no idea it
had anything to do with war.

This may seem like a fantastic exaggeration, but this is what
you would actually be obliged to conclude if you were to acquit
these defendants.

They do protest too much. They deny knowing what was com-
mon knowledge. They deny knowing plans and programs that
were as public as “MEIN KAMPEF” and the Party program. They
deny even knowing the contents of documents they received and
acted upon. '

Nearly all the defendants take two or more conflicting positions.
Let us illustrate the inconsistencies of their positions by the rec-
ord of one defendant—one who, if pressed, would himself concede
that he is the most intelligent, honorable, and innocent man in
the dock. That is Schacht. And this is the effect of his own
testimony—but let us not forget that I recite it not against him
alone, but because most of its self-contradictions are found in the
testimony of several defendants:

Schacht did not openly join the Nazi movement until it had
won, nor openly desert it until it had lost. He admits that he
never gave it public opposition, but asserts that he never gave it
private loyalty. When we demand of him why he did not stop
the criminal course of the regime in which he was a Minister, he
says he had not a bit of influence. When we ask why he re-
mained a member of the criminal regime, he tells us that by
sticking on he expected to moderate its program. Like a Brahmin
among untouchables, he could not bear to mingle with the Nazis
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socially, but never could he afford to separate from them politi-
cally. Of all the Nazi aggressions by which he now claims to
have been shocked,'s? there is not one that he did not support
before the world with the weight of his name and prestige. Hav-
ing armed Hitler to blackmail a continent, his answer now is to
blame England and France for yielding.

Schacht always fought for his position in a regime he now af-
fects to despise. He sometimes disagreed with his Nazi confeder-
ates about what was expedient in reaching their goal, but he never
dissented from the goal itself. When he did break with them in
the twilight of the regime; it was over tactics, not principles.
From then on he never ceased to urge others to risk their posi-
tions and their necks to forward his plots, but never on any occa-
sion did he hazard either of his own. He now boasts that he per-
sonally would have shot Hitler if he had had the opportunity,
but the German newsreel shows that even after the fall of France,
when he faced the living Hitler, he stepped out of line to grasp the
hand he now claims to loath and hung upon the words of the man
he now says he thought unworthy of belief. Schacht says he
steadily “sabotaged’” the Hitler government.’s* Yet, the most re-
lentless secret service in the world never detected him doing the
regime any harm until long after he knew the war to be lost and
the Nazis doomed. Schacht, who dealt in hedges all his life, al-
-ways kept himself in a position to claim that he was in either
camp. The plea for him is as specious on analysis as it is per-
suasive on first sight. Schacht represents the most dangerous
and reprehensible type of opportunism—that of the man of in-
fluential position who is ready to join a movement that he knows
to be wrong because he thinks it is winning.

These defendants, unable to deny that they were the men in the
very top ranks of power, and unable to deny that the crimes I
have outlined actually happened, know that their own denials are
incredible unless they can suggest someone who is guilty.

The defendants have been unanimous, when pressed, in shifting
the blame on other men, sometimes on one and sometimes on an-
other. But the names they have repeatedly picked are Hitler,
Himmler, Heydrich, Goebbels, and Bormann. All of these are
dead or missing. No matter how hard we have pressed the de-
fendants on the stand, they have never pointed the finger at a
living man as guilty. It is a temptation to ponder the wondrous
workings of a fate which has left only the guilty dead and only
the innocent alive. It is almost too remarkable.

The chief villain on whom blame is placed,—some of the de-
fendants vie with each other in produicing appropriate epithets
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—is Hitler. He is the man at whom nearly every defendant has
pointed an accusing finger.

. I shall not dissent from this consensus, nor do I deny that all
ihese dead or missing men shared the guilt. In crimes so repre-
hensible that degrees of guilt have lost their significance they may
have played the most evil parts. But their guilt cannot exculpate
the defendants. Hitler did not carry all responsibility to the grave
with him. All the guilt is not wrapped in Himmler’s shroud. It
was these dead whom these living chose to be their partners in-
this great conspiratorial brotherhood and the crimes that they
did together they must pay for one by one.

It may well ‘be said that Hitler’s final crime was against the
land that he had ruled. He was a mad messiah who started the
war without cause and prolonged it without reason. If he could
not rule he cared not what happened to Germany. As Fritzsche
has told us from the stand, Hitler tried to use the defeat of Ger-
many for the self-destruction of the German people. ** He con-
tinued the fight when he knew it could not be won, and continu-
ance meant only ruin. Speer, in this courtroom, has described it
as follows: . ‘

“* % * The gacrifices which were made on both sides after Jan-

uary 1945 were without sense. The dead of this period will

be the accusers of the man responsible for the continuation of
that fight, Adolf Hitler, just as much as the destroyed cities,
. destroyed in that last phase, who had lost tremendous cultural
values and tremendous numbers of dwellings * * * The German
people remained faithful to Adolf Hitler until the end. He
has betrayed them knowingly. He has tried to throw it into
the abyss. * * %7185

Hitler ordered every one else to fight to the last and then re-
treated into death by his own hand. But he left life as he
lived it, a deceiver; he left the official report that he had died in
battle. This was the man whom these defendants exalted to a
Fuehrer. It was they who conspired to get him absolute authority
over all Germany. And in the end he and the system they created
for him brought the ruin of them all. As stated by Speer on
cross-examinatjon : ;

“x * % the tremendous danger, however, contained in this to-

talitarian system only became abundantly clear at the moment
when we were approaching the end. It was then that one could
see what the meaning of the principle was, namely, that every
order should be carried out without any criticism. Everything
* * * you have seen in the way of orders which were carried
out without any consideration, did after all turn out to be mis-
744400—47—5
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takes * * * This system—Ilet me put it like this—to the end
of the system it has become clear what tremendous dangers are
contained in any such system, as such, quite apart from Hit-
ler’s principle. The combination of Hitler and this system,
then brought about this tremendous catastrophe to this
world.” 158

But let me for a moment turn devil’s ddvocate. I admit that
Hitler was the chief villain. But for the defendants to put all
blame on him is neither manly nor true. We know that even the
head of a state has the same limits to his senses and to the hours
of his day as do lesser men. He must rely on others to be his eyes
and ears as to most that goes on in a great empire. Others legs
must run his errands; other hands must execute his plans. On
whom did Hitler rely for such things more than upon these men
in the dock? Who led him to believe he had an invincible air
armada if not Goering? Who kept disagreeable facts from him?
Did not Goering forbid Fieldmarshal Milch to warn Hitler that
in his opinion Germany was not equal to the war upon Russia 757
Did not Goering, according to Speer, relieve General Gallant of
his air force command for speaking of the weaknesses and bung-
ling of the air force?® Who led Hitler, utterly untraveled him-
self, to believe in the indecision and timidity of democratic peoples
if not Ribbentrop, von Neurath, and von Papen? Who fed his
illusion of German invineibility if not Keitel, Jod]l, Raeder and
Doenitz? Who kept his hatred of the Jew inflamed more than
Streicher and Rosenberg? Who would Hitler say deceived him
about conditions in concentration camps if not Kaltenbrunner,
even as he would deceive us? These men had access to Hitler,
and often control of the information that reached him and on
which he must base his policy and his orders. They were the
Praetorian Guard, and while they were under Caesar’s orders,
Caesar was always in their hands.

If these dead men could take the witness stand and answer what
has been said against them, we might have a less distorted pic-
ture of the parts played by these defendants. Imagine the stir
that would occur in the dock if it should behold Adolf Hitler ad-
vancing to the witness box, or Himmler with an armful of dos-
siers, or Goebbels, or Bormann with the reports of his Party spies,
or the murdered Roehm or Canaris. The goulish defense that the
world is entitled to retribution only from the cadavers, is an argu-
ment worthy of the crimes at which it is directed.

We have presented this Tribunal an affirmative case based on
incriminating documents which are sufficient, if unexplained, to
require a finding of guilt on Count One against each defendant.
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In the final analysis, the only question is whether the defendants’
own testimony is to be credited as against the documents and
other evidence of their guilt. What, then, is their testimony
worth?

The fact is that the Nazi habit of economizing in the use of
truth pulls the foundations out from under their own defenses.
Lying has always been a highly approved Nazi technique. Hitler,
in “MEIN KAMPFE”, advocated mendacity as a policy. Von Rib-
bentrop admits the use of the “diplomatic lie”.*** Keitel advised
that the facts of rearmament be kept secret so that they could
be denied at Geneva.'®® Raeder deceived about rebuilding the
German navy in violation of Versailles.** Goering urged Ribben-
trop to tell a “legal lie” to the British Foreign Office about the
Anschluss, and in so doing only marshaled him the way he was
going.’®? Goering gave his word of ‘honor to the Czechs and pro-
ceeded to break it.’®* Even Speer proposed to deceive the French
into revealing the specially trained among their prisoners.:s

Nor is the lie direct the only means of falsehood. They all
speak with a Nazi doubletalk with which to deceive the unwary.
In the Nazi dictionary of sardonic euphemisms “Final solution”
of the Jewish problem was a phrase which meant extermination;
“Special treatment” of prisoners of war meant killing; “Protec-
tive custody” meant concentration camp; “Duty labor” meant
slave labor; and an order to “take a firm attitude” or “take posi-
tive measures” meant to act with unrestrained savagery. Before
we accept their word at what seems to be its face, we must always
look for hidden meanings. Goering assured us, on his oath, that
the Reich Defense Council never met “as such”.%® When we pro-
duced the stenographic minutes of a meeting at which he presided
and did most of the talking, he reminded us of the “as such” and
explained this was not a meeting of the Council “as such” be-
cause other persons were present.’®® Goering denies “threaten-
ing” Czechoslovakia—he only told President Hacha that he would
“hate to bomb the beautiful city of Prague.” 7

Besides outright false statements and doubletalk, there are
also other circumventions of truth in the nature of fantastic ex-
_ planations and absurd professions. Streicher has solemnly main-
tained that his only thought with respect to the Jews was to re-
settle them on the Island of Madagascar.**® His reason for de-
stroying synagogues, he blandly said, was only because they
were architecturally offensive.’®® Rosenberg was stated by his
counsel to have always had in mind a “chivalrous solution” to the
Jewish problem.'”™ When it was necessary to remove Schusch-
nigg after the Anschluss, Ribbentrop would have had us believe
that the Austrian Chancellor was resting at a “villa”. It was left
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to cross-examination to reveal that the “villa” was Buchenwald
Concentration Camp.’”* The record is full of other examples of
dissimulations and evasions. Even Schacht showed that he, too,
had adopted the Nazi attitude that truth is any story which sue-
ceeds. Confronted on cross-examination with a long record of
broken vows and false words, he declared in justification—

“T think you can score many more successes when you want
to lead someone if you don’t tell them the truth than if you tell
them the truth.” 172

This was the philosophy of the National Socialists. When for
years .they have deceived the world, and masked falsehood with
plausibilities, can anyone be surprised that they continue the
habits of a lifetime in this dock? Credibility is one of the main
issues of this trial. Only those who have failed to learn the bitter
lessons of the last decade can doubt that men who have always
played on the unsuspecting credulity of generous opponents would
not hesitate to do the same now.

It is against such a background that these defendants now ask
this Tribunal to say that they are not guilty of planning, execut-
ing, or conspiring to commit this long list of crimes and wrongs.
They stand before the record of this trial as blood-stained Glou-
cester stood by the body of his slain King. He begged of the
widow, as they beg of you: “Say I slew them not”. And the
Queen replied, “Then say they were not slain. But dead they
are, * * *” Tf you were to say of these men that they are not
guilty, it would be as true to say there has been no war, there are
no slain, there has been no crime.

NOTES

English transeript, p. 5844. [The transcript references are to the original
mimeographed record prepared for trial purposes.]

*Goering, Reconstruction of a Nation, 1934 (2324-PS, USA-233, Tr. p.
1399).

*Prime Minister Goering’s Press Conference, published in Voelkischer Beo-
bachter, Berlin edition, 23-24 July 1938, p. 1 (2494-PS, Tr. p. 255). Goering
has admitted excesses in connection with the seizure of power (Tr. p. 5838).

“Law about changing rules of Criminal Law and Criminal Procedure of
24 April 1934, 1934 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, p. 34 (2548-PS, Tr. p. 2565 and
6051).

SDecree of the Reich President for protection against treacherous attacks
on the government of the Nationalist movement, 21 March 1933. 1938 Reichs-
gesetzblatt, Part I, p. 135 (1652-PS, Tr. p. 255).

°Decree of the Reich President for the Protection of the People and State,
28 February 1933, 1933 Reichsgesetzblast, Part I, p. 83; (1390-PS, Tr. p.
255) “Sections 114, 115, 117, 118, 123, 124, and 153 of the Constitution
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of the German Reich are suspended until further notice. Thus, restric-
tions on personal liberty, on the right of free expression of opinion, includ-
ing freedom of the press, on the right of assembly and the right of asso-
ciation, and violations of the privacy of postal, telegraphic, and telephonic
communications, and warrants for house-searches, orders for confiscations as
well as restrictions on property, are also permissible beyond the legal limits
otherwise prescribed *** Whoever provokes or incites to an act contrary to
public welfare is to be punished with a penitentiary sentence, under miti-
gating circumstances, with imprisonment of not less than three months.”

"Law to change the Penal Code of 28 June 1935, 1935 Reichsgesetzblatt,
Part I, p. 839. (1962-PS, Tr. p. 255). “Any person -who commits an
act which the law declares to be punishable or which is deserving of
penalty according to the fundamental conceptions of the penal law and sound
popular feeling, shall be punished. If there is no penal law directly cover-
ing an act it shall be punished under that law which most closely fits, in re-
gards to fundamental conception.”

fExtract from “Germany’s Road to Freedom,” as published in Documents
of German Politics, Vol. 3 (2549-PS, Tr. p. 255) ‘“National Socialism
substitutes for the conception of formal wrong the idea of factual wrong,
it considers every attack against the welfare of the people’s community, every
violation of thé requirements of the life of a nation as a wrong. Therefore
wrong may be committed in the future in Germany even in cases when no
law threatens it with punishment. Even without the threat of punishment
every v1olat10n of the goals of life which the community sets up for itself
is a wrong.”

®Affidavit of Dr. Hans Anschuetz, 17 November 1945 (2967-PS, USA-756,
Tr. p. 255). Ten yéars of Security Police and SD. (1680-PS, USA-477,
Tr. p. 1892). ’

WTranscript p. 6073. This bureau was camouflaged under the name of
“Research Office of the Airforce.” (Tr. p. 5880).

“Decree of the Reich President for the Protection of the People and State,
28 February 1933, 1933 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, p. 83 (1890-PS, Tr. p.
255). Supra, Note 5.

2Qrganizationbuch der NSDAP, 1943 edition, pp. 99-104 (1893-PS, USA-
328, Tr. p. 1578).

¥Meaning and Tasks of the Secret State Police, published in The Archives,
January 1936, Vol. 23-24, p. 1342 (1956-PS, Tr. p. 255).

#Qriginal Protective Custody Order served on Dr. R. Kempner, 15 March
1935 (2499-PS, USA-232, Tr. p. 1399). Extract from article “Legislation
and Judiciary in Third Reich” from Journal of the Academy for German
Law, 1936, pp. 141-142 (2533-PS, Tr. p. 255)..

*Law on the Secret State Police of 10 February 1936, Prussian Gesetzamm-
lung, p. 21. “Orders in matters of the Secret State Police are not subject to
review of the administrative courts.” (2107-PS, Tr. p. 1904). Summary of
decisions of the Supreme Administrative Court, 1935 Reichsverwaltungs-
blatt, Vol. 56, No. 29, pp. 577-578, 20 July 1935 (2347-PS, Tr. p. 1904).

“Affidavit of Dr. Hans Anschuetz, 17 November 1945 (2967-PS, USA-7586,
Tr. p. 255).

“Letter from Guertner to Mutschmann, 18 January 1935, concerning
charges against members of camp personnel of protective custody Camp
Hohnstein (783-PS8, USA-731, Tr. p. 255). Letters from Minister of Jus-
tice to Hess and SA Chief of Staff, 5 June 1935, concerning penal proceed-

”

45



ings against merchant and SA Leader and 22 companions because of in-
flicting bodily injury on duty (784-PS, USA-732, Tr. p. 255). Memorandum
of Guertner concerning legal proceedings against the camp personnel of con-
centration camp Hohnstein (785-PS, USA-733, Tr. p. 255). Minister of
Justice memorandum, 29 November 1935, concerning pardon of those sen-
tenced in connection with mistreatment in Hohnstein concentration camp
(786-PS, USA-734, Tr. p. 255).

¥Affidavit of Dr. Hans Anschuetz, 17 November 1945 (2967-PS, USA-756,
Tr. p. 255).

®Affidavit of Dr. Hans Anscheutz, 17 November 1945 (2967-PS, USA-756,
Tr. p. 2565). Law amending regulations of criminal law and eriminal proce-
dure, 24 April 1934, 1934 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, p. 841 (2014-PS, Tr. p
255). Law on People’s Court and on 25th Amendment to Salary Law
of 18 April 1936, 1936 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, p. 169 (2342-PS, Tr. p
255).

2¢The Nazi Plan”, excerpts of script of a motion picture composed of
captured German film. (3054-PS, USA-167, Tr. p. 1264).

“Deeree of the Government concerning formation of Special Courts, 21
March 1933, 1933 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, pp. 136-137. (2076-PS, Tr. p.
255). Decree concerning the extension of the Jurisdiction of Special Courts,
20 November 1938. 1938 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, p. 1632, (2056-PS, Tr. p
255). Affidavit of Dr. Hans Anscheutz, 17 November 1945 (2967-PS,
USA-756, Tr. p. 255).

2Extract from German Justice, a legal periodical, 10th year, Edition A,
No. 42, 16 October 1942, “The judge is therefore not the supervisor of, but
the direct assistant in the Administration of the State. He is responsible to
the leadership of the State (Staatsfuhrung) within his sphere of duty for
the conservation of the national community. By protecting the national
values (Volkische Werte) and eliminating (dangerous elements from the
community of the people) he is, in this respeet akin to the political leader,
the promulgator of national self preservation (Volkische Selbsterhaltung).
This point of view must be decisive for the judge. The judge taking it for
his guiding principle will find many a decision which seemed very difficult to
be solved at first, facilitated.” (2482-PS, Tr. p. 255). Extract from pam-
phlet, “Judges Letters”, concerning judgment of Lower Court, 24, April
1942, on concealment of Jewish identification (D-229, Tr. p. 255).

2Lecture of Major-General Thomas delivered 24 May 1939, at the Forelgn
Office (EC-28, USA-760, Tr. pp. 275, 5124).

“The treaties and assurances applicable to each are specified in Appendix
C of the Indictment and remain uncontradicted.

%English transcript p. 5980. “The Hague Convention was for land war-
fare. When I scanned it over on the eve of the Polish campaign, I was read-
ing the Articles and I was sorry that I had not studied them much sooner.
If T had done so I would have told the Fuehrer that with these rules as they
had been put down, paragraph by paragraph, a modern war could not be
waged, but that in a modern war, with its technical improvements, the stipu-
lations of 1906 and 1907 would have to be changed in order to have a2 new
type of warfare.”

*English transcript p. 6016.

“Memorandum of 15 September 1941, from Canaris to Keitel concerning
an OKW Order regulating the treatment of Soviet prisoners of war (EC-338,
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USSR-366, Tr. p. 4441). “The Geneva Convention for the treatment of
Prisoners of war is not binding in the relationship between Germany and the
USSR, therefore only the principles of general international law on the
treatment of prisoners of war apply. Since the 18th century these have
gradually been established along the lines that war captivity is neither re-
venge nor punishment, but solely protective custody (Sicherheitsschaft) the
only purpose of which is to prevent the prisoners of war from a further
participation in the war. This principle was developed in accordance with
the view held by all arinies that it is contrary to military tradition to kill or
injure helpless people; this is also in the interest of all belligerents in order
to prevent mistreatment of their own soldiers in case of capture ***. The
instructions are very general. But if one considers their basic principles the
expressly approved measures will result in arbitrary mistreatments and kill-
ings, the formal prohibition of arbitrary action notwithstanding.”

ZHitler Commando Order, 18 October 1942 (498-PS, USA-501, Tr. p.
1944, 2173). Night and Fog Decrees, 7 and 12 December 1942 (L-90,
USA-503, Tr. p. 1945). Minister of Labor Order on employment of French
prisoners of war in armament industry, August 1941 (3005-PS, USA-213,
Tr. p. 3010). Himmler Order to protect lynchers of allied fliers, 10 August
1943 (R-110, USA-333, Tr. p. 1624).

*Decree appointing Sauckel General Plenipotentiary for Manpower, 21
March 1942, and decree of Goering conferring certain powers on Sauckel,
27 March 1942. 1942 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, pp. 179-180 (1666-PS,
USA-208, pp. 1337, 4063).

“Speer’s conference minutes of Central Planning Board, 1942-44, concern-
ing labor supply. “Our best new engine is made 88¢: by Russian prisoners
of war and the other 129 by German men and women ***, The list of the
shirkers should be entrusted to Himmler’s trustworthy hands who will make
them work all right.” (Mileh, p. 26) R-124, USA-179, Tr. pp. 1313, 1320.

“Top secret memorandum signed by Brautigam, 25 October 1942, con-
cerning conditions in Russia (294-PS, USA-185, Tr. p. 2293).

#8peer’s conference minutes of Central Planning Board, 1942-44, concern-
ing labor supply. (R-124, p. 22, USA 179, Tr. pp. 1286, 1293, 1309, 2989.)
By an official directive, “Estates of those who refuse to work are to be
burned, their relatives are to be arrested as hostages and to be brought to
forced labor camps”, and the burning of homes in connection with labor con-
scription was therefore not considered culpable. Letter from Rosenberg
Ministry, 12 November 1943, concerning burning of house in Mueller’s dis-

triet. (290-PS, USA-189, Tr. p. 1804). “The burning down of houses was

a method used to force citizens in occupied territories into Reich labor.
Letter from Rabb to Reichminister for Occupied Eastern Territories, 7 June
1944, concerning burning of houses in Wassilkow district. (254-PS,
USA-188, Tr. p. 1300). TForced labor agents caught persons attending
churches and theaters and transported them to the Reich. Lammers report
to Himmler, 12 April 1943, concerhing the situation in the Government
General. (2220-PS, USA-175, Tr. p. 1275).

“Report to Reich Ministry for Occupied Eastern Territories, 7 October
1942, concerning treatment of Ukrainian Specialists (054-PS, USA-198, Tr.
D. 1314). Interdepartmental report of Ministry for Occupied Eastern Terri-
tories, 30 September 1942, concerning status of Eastern laborers. “In this
train women gave birth to babies who were thrown out of the windows dur-
ing the journey, people having tuberculosis and venereal diseases rode in the
same car, dying people lay in freight cars without straw, and one of the dead
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was thrown on the railroad embankment. The same must have oceurred in
other returning transports.” (084-PS, USA-199, Tr. p. 1817).

#Sauckel’s labor Mobilization Program 20 April 1942. “Apart from the
prisoners of war still in the occupied territories, we must, therefore, requisi-
tion skilled or unskilled male and female labor from the Soviet territory
from the age of 15 up for the labor mobilization.” p. 7 (016-PS, USA-168,
Tr. p. 1319). .

*Affidavit of Edward L. Deuss, 1 November 1945, concerning approximate
number of foreign workers for German War Effort in Old Reich (2520-PS,
USA-197, Tr. p. 1812). .

“Memorandum to Mr. Hupe, 14 March 1942, concerning employment of
Russians: (D-316, USA-201, Tr. p. 1320).

“Affidavit of Dr. Wilhelm Jaeger, 15 October 1945. “Conditions in all of
those camps were extremely bad. The camps were greatly overcrowded. In
some camps there were twice as many. people in a barrack as health condi-
tions permitted ***, Camp Humboldstrasse has been inhabitated by Italian
prisoners of war. After it had been destroyed by an air raid, the Italians
were removed and 600 Jewish females from Buchenwald Concentration Camp
were brought in to work at the Krupp factories. Upon my first visit at
Camp Humboldstrasse, I found these females suffering from open festering
wounds and other diseases. I was the first doctor they had seen for at
least a fprtnight. There was no doctor in attendance at the Camp. There
were no medical supplies in the Camp. They had no shoes and went about
in their bare feet. Thé sole clothing of each consisted of a saclk with holes
for their arms and head. Their hair was shorn. The Camp was surrounded
by barbed wire and closely guarded by S8S guards.” pp. 1, 5. (D-288,
USA-202, Tr. p. 1322).

#Secret Order of Reichsfuehrer S8, 20 February 1942, concerning commit-
ment of manpower from the East. “In severe cases, that is in such cases
where the measures at the disposal of the leader of the guard do not suffice,
the state police office has to act with its means. Adeordingly, they will be
treated, as a rule, only with striect measures, that is with transfer to a con-
centration camp or with special treatment ***, Special tretament is hang-
ing.” (3040-PS, USA-207, Tr. p. 1336).

®Qrder signed Christiansen, 19 March 1943, to all group leaders of Secur-
ity Service, and record of telephone conversations signed by Stapj, 11 March
1943 (3012-PS, USA-190, Tr. pp. 1304, 12200). Letter of Terboven to
Goering, dated 1 May 1942, (R-134, Tr. p. 6235). Goering has ad-
mitted the excesses in occupied territories: “I do not in any way wish to
dispute that things took place which may be debated as far as international
law is concerned, and other things occurred which under every circumstance
may be considered and must be considered as excesses.” (Tr. p. 5932).

“Excerpts from Frank’s Diary. (USSR-223) (English translation p. 43).
“Stenographic report on conference between Goering and Reich Commis-
sioners for Occupied Territories, 8 August 1942. (USSR-170, Tr. p. 5720.

“Report to Fuehrer regarding confiscated art treasures, 20 March 1941.
(014-PS, USA-784, Tr. p. 6213). Field Marshal Kesselring, Goering’s
subordinate, testified that his method of punishing the small-scale looting of
common soldiers under his command was by shooting on the spot. (Tr. p.
5775).

“Hague Convention IV, Articles 43, 46, 47, 50, 52.
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“Affidavit of Dr. Rudolf Kastner, former president of the Hungarian
Zionist Organization, 13 September 1945. (2605-PS, USA-242, Tr. pp.
1408, 1409).

“Affidavit of Dr. Wilhelm Hoettl, 26 November 1945. (2738-PS, Tr. p.
1502). Affidavits of Hermann Graebe. “Moennikes and I went direct to the
pits. Nobody bothered us. Now I heard rifie shots in quick succession, from
behind one of the earth mounds. The people who had got off the trucks—
men, women, and children of all ages——_had to undress upon the orders of an
S8-man, who carried a riding or dog whip. They had to put down their
clothes in fixed places, sorted aceording to shoes, top eclothing. I saw a heap
of shoes of about 800 to 1000 pairs, great piles of under-linen and clothing.
Without sereaming or weeping these people undressed, stood around in family
groups, kissed each other, said farewells and waited for a sign from another
S8S-man, who stood near ‘the pit, also with a whip in his hand. During the
15 minutes that I stood near the pit I heard no complaint or plea for mercy.
I watched a family of about 8 persons, a man and woman, both about 50 with
their children of about 1, 8 and 10, and two grown-up daughters of about
20 to 24. An old woman with snow-white hair was holding the one-year old
child in her arms and singing to it, and tickling it. The child was cooing
with delight. The couple were looking on with tears in their eyes. The
father was holding the hand of a boy about 10 years old and speaking to
him softly; the boy was fighting his téars. The father pointed toward the
sky, stroked his head, and seemed to explain something to him. At that
moment the SS-man at the pit shouted something to his comrade. The
latter counted off about 20 persons and instrueted them to go behind the
earth mound. Among them was the family, which I have mentioned. I
well remember a girl, slim and with black hair, who, as she passed close to
me, pointed to herself and said, “28”. I walked around the mound, and
found myself confronted by a tremendous grave. People were closely wedged
together and lying on top of each other so that only their heads were visible.
Nearly all had blood running over their shoulders from -their heads. Some
of the people shot were still moving. Some were lifting their arms and turn-
ing their heads to show that they were still alive. The pit was already 2%
full. I estimated that it already contained about 1000 people. I looked for
the man who did the shooting. , He was an SS-man, who sat at the edge of
the narrow end of the pit, his feet dangling into the pit.” He had a tommy
gun on his knees and was smoking a cigarette. The people, completely
naked, went down some steps which were out in the clay wall of the pit and
clambered over the heads of the people lying there, to the place to which
the SS-man directed them. They lay down in front of the dead or injured
people; some caressed those who were still alive and spoke to them in a low
voice. Then I heard a series of shots. "I looked into the pit and saw that
the bodies were twitching or the heads lying already motionless on top of
the bodies that lay before them. Blood was running from their necks. I
was surprised that I was not ordered away, but I saw that there were two
or three postmen in uniform nearby. The next batch was approaching
already. They went down into the pit, lined themselves up -against the
Pbrevious victims and were shot. When I walked back, round the mound I
noticed another truck-load of people which had just arrived. This time it
included sick and infirm persons. An old, very thin woman with terribly
thin legs was undressed by others who were already naked, while two people
held ‘her up. The woman appeared to be paralyzed. The naked people car-
ried the woman around the mound. I left with MOENNIKES and drove in
‘my car back to Dubno.” (2992-P8S, pp. 2, 3; USA-494, Tr. p. 1922).
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“SD Inspector Bierkamp’s letter, 12 December 1941, to RSHA, enclosing
copy of secret decree signed by Bormann, entitled, “Relationship of National
Sozialism and Christianity.” (D-75, USA-348, Tr. p. 1637).

“Extracts from “The Myth of the 20th Century”, by Alfred Rosenberg,
1941, “A German religious movement which would like to develop into a
folk-church will have to declare that the idea of neighborly love is uncondi-
tionally to be subordinated to the idea of national honor, that no act of a
German church may be approved which does not primarily serve the safe-
guarding of the folkdom.” p. 608. (2349-PS, USA-352, Tr. p. 1642).

“Documents on RSHA meeting concerning the study and treatment of
church nositions. (1815-PS, USA-510, Tr. n. 1853).

*'Secret letter, 21 April 1942, from SS to all cone~ntrat'on can'np com-

“and ‘rg, cone'rning treatment of priests (1164-PS, USA-736, Tr. p. 255).
Report from thz Bavarian Polit'cal Police to the Gestapo, Berlin, 24 August
1924, concern'no Natwenal inourn'no on occasion of death of von H.ndenburg

1521 -PS, USA 740, Tr. p. 255 . Letter from Kerrl to Minister of State,
28 July 1938, with enclosures dealing with persecution of Blshop Sproll
(3:9-PS, USA 351, Tr. p. 1644 . Gestapo telegram {rom Berlin to Nurn-
berg 24 July 1938, dealine w'th demonstrations against Bishop Sproll in
Rottenburg (848-PS, USA-353, Tr. 'p. 1642). Goering has admitted the
policy of sending clergymen to concentration camps. (Tr. p. 5353).

®Gestapo order, 20 January 1938, dissolving and confiscating property of
Catholic Youth Women’s Organizations in Bavaria. (1481-PS, USA-737,
Tr. p. 255. See also Tr. p. 5846.)

“0rder of Frick, 6 November 1934, addressed inter al'os to Prussian
Gestapo, prohibiting publication of Protestant Church announcements.
(1493-PS, USA-739, Tr. p. 255).

#*Bormann’s letter to Rosenberg, enclosing copy of letter, 24 January 1939,
to Minister of Education, requesting restriction of elimination of theologi-
cal faculties. (116-PS, USA-685, Tr. p. 2792). Bormann’s letter to Rosen-
berg, 17 April 1939, enclosing copy of Minister of Education letter 6 April
1939, on elimination of theological faculties in various universities. (122-PS,
USA-362, Tr. p. 1658).

#Secret letter, 20 July 1933, to provincial governments and the Prussian
Gestapo from Frick, concerning Confessional Youth Organizations.
(1482-PS, USA-738, Tr. p. 255). Gestapo order 20 January 1938, dissolv-
ing and confiscating property of Catholic Youth Women’s Organizations in
Bavaria. (1481-PS, USA-737, Tr. p. 255). State Police Order, 28 May
1934 at Dusseldorf, signed Schmid, concerning sanction of denominational
youth and professional associations and distribution of publications in
churches. (R-145, USA-745, Tr. p. 255).

#“Report by Headquarters, Third United States Army, 21 June 1945, con-
cerning Flossenburg Concentration Camp. (2309-PS, USA-245, Tr. pp.
1398, 1412). Affidavit of Hans Marsalak, 8 April 1946, concerning
Mauthausen Concentration Camp and dying statement of Franz Ziereis,
the Commandant. (8870-PS, USA-797, Tr. p. 7699). American concen-
tration camp films (2430-PS, USA-79, Tr. p. 593). Soviet atrocity films
(USSR-81, Tr. p. 4673). Affidavit of Rudolf Franz Ferdinand Hoess, 5
April 1946: “*** [ commanded Auschwitz until 1 December 1943, and esti-
mate that at least 2,500,000 victims were executed and exterminated there by
gassing and burning, and at least another half million succumbed to starva-
tion and disease making a total dead of about 38,000,000. This figure repre-
sents about 709% or 80% of all persons sent to Auschwitz as prisoners, the-
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remainder having been selected and used for slave labor in the concentra-
tion camp industries. Included among the executed and burnt were ap-
proximately 20,000 Russian prisoners of war (previously screened out of
Prisoner of War cages by the Gestapo) who were delivered at Auschwitz in
Wehrmacht transports operated by regular Wehrmacht officers and men.
The remainder of the total number of victims included about 100,000 German
Jews, and great numbers of citizens, mostly Jewish from Holland, France,
Belgium, Poland, Hungary, Czechoslovakia, Greece, or other countries. We
executed about 400,000 Hungarian Jews alone at Auschwitz in the summer
of 1944. *** I visited Treblinka to find out how they carried out their exter-
mination. The Camp Commandant at Treblinka told me that he had liqui-
dated 80,000 in the course of one-half year. He was principally concerned
with liquidating all the Jews from the Warsaw Ghetto. He used monoxide
gas and I did not think that his methods were very efficient. So when I set
up the extermination building at Auschwitz, I used Cyclon B, which was a
crystallized Prussic Acid which we dropped into the death chamber from a
small opening. It took from 3 to 15 minutes to kill the people in the death
chamber depending upon climatic conditions. We knew when thes people
were dead because their secreaming stopped. We usually waited about one-
half ‘hour before we opened the doors and removed the bodies. After the
bodies were removed our special eommandos took off the rings and extracted
the gold from the teeth of the corpses.”

“Another improvement we made over Treblinka was that we built our gas
chambers to accommodate 2,000 people at one time, whereas at Treblinka
their 10 gas chambers only accommodated 200 people each. The way we
selected our victims was as follows: we had two S8 doctors on duty at
Auschwitz to examine the incoming transports of prisoners. The prisoners
would be marched by one of the doctors who would make spot decisions as
they walked by. Those who were fit for work were sent into the Camp.
Others were sent immediately to the extermination plants. Children of
tender years were invariably exterminated since by reason of their youth
they were unable to work. Still another improvement we made over Tre-
blinka was that at Treblinka the victims almost always knew that they were
to be exterminated and at Auschwitz we endeavored to fool the victims into
thinking that they were to go through a delousing process. Of course, fre-
quently they realized our true intentions and we sometimes had riots and
difficulties due to that fact. Very frequently women would hide their chil-
dren under the clothes but of course when we found them we would send
the children to be exterminated. We were required to carry out these ex-
terminations in secrecy but of course the foul and nauseating stench from
the continuous burning of bodies permeated the entire area and all of the
people living in the surrounding communities knew that exterminations were
going on at Auschwitz”. (8868-PS, USA-819, Tr. n. 7810).

®Testimony of Witness Blaha. (Tr. pp. 25{3{2, 2636). Testimony of Wit-
ness Hoess. (Tr. pp. 7785, 7820). ) ’

®Testimony of the Defendant Funk. ‘“*** And when these measures of .
" terror and violence against Jews were put up to me, I suffered a nervous
breakdown because at the moment it came to my mind with all clearness
that from here on the catastrophe took its course all the way up to the ter-
rible and atrocious things about which we have heard here and about which
I knew only in part from the time of my captivity. I felt ashamed and the
feeling of guilt at that moment and I do feel the same way today, but too
late.” (Tr. pp. 9042-3). Von Schirach- has testified that “Hitler’s racial
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policy was a crime” (Tr. p. 10295) and that Auschwitz “is the greatest and
most devilish mass murder of history.” (Tr. p. 10293).

“Testimony of Frank. ‘*** I myself have never installed an extermination
camp for Jews or demanded that they should be installed, but if Adolf Hitler
personally has turned that dreadful responsibility over to these people of
his, then it must be mine too.” (Tr. p. 8099).

®English transeript p. 13116.

®Hitler, “Mein Kampf”. “In regard to this point I should like to make
the following statement: “To demand that the 1914 frontiers should be re-
stored-is a glaring political absurdity that is fraught with such consequences
as to make the claim itself appear criminal. The confines of the Reich as
they existed in 1914 were thoroughly illogical ***. We national Socialists
must stick firmly to the aim that we have set for our foreign policy, namely,
that the German people must be assured the territorial area which is neces-
sary for it to exist on this earth ***. The territory on which one day our
German peasants will be able to bring forth and nourish their sturdy sons
will justify the blood of the sons of the peasants that has to be shed today”.
(GB-128, Tr. pp. 2281-2).

“Hitler, “Mein Kampf” (GB-128, Tr. p. 2285).

“Hitler, “Mein Kampf”. “The soil on which we now live was not a gift
bestowed by Heaven on our forefathers. But they had to conquer it by risk-
ing their lives. So also in the future our people will not obtain territory,
and therewith the means of existence, as a favor from any other people, but
will have to win it by the power of a triumphant sword.” (D-660, GB-128, °
Tr. p. 2278).

“English transecript, pp. 6068-9.

“English transcript, p. 6071.

“Affidavit of Schnitzler, 10 November 1945 (EC-439, USA-618, Tr. pp.
282, 283, 2532,

“Letter from Krupp to Hitler, 25 April 1933, with enclosure (D-157,
USA-765, Tr. pp. 299, 5124). :

“Krupp speech, “Thoughts about the Industrial Enterpriser,” January
1944, “#*** I have already often repeated orally as well as in writing, and
today I also want to restate to this group that, according to the terms of
the Dictate of Versailles (Diktat) Krupp had to destroy and demolish con-
siderable quantities of machines and utensils of all kinds. It is the one
great merit of the entire German war economy that it did not remain idle
during those bad years, even though its activity could not be brought to
light for obvious reasons. Through years of secret work, scientific and basie
ground work was laid, in order to be ready again to work for the German
Armed Forces at the appointed hour, without loss of time or experience.”
(D-317, USA-770, Tr. p. 289).

“The Fifth Day of the Party Congress, from Voelkischer Beobachter,
Munich (Southern German) Edition, Issue 258, 14 September 1936, (2283-PS,
USA-337, Tr. p. 2565). The Social Life of the New Germany with Special
Consideration of the German Labor Front, containing principal parts of two
NSDAP orders directing seizure of unions in 19338, pp. 51-54 (392-PS,
USA-326, Tr. p. 1600). Organization Book of the NSDAP, the NSBO, p.
185 (2271-PS, Tr. p. 255). Affidavits of Josef Simon, Chairman of German
Shoemakers Union in 1933 (2335-PS, USA-~T749, Tr. p. 255). Affidavits
of Lorenz Hagan, Chairman of Local Committee, German Trade Unions,
Nurnberg (2334-PS, USA-238, Tr. p. 1405). Affidavit of Mathias Lex,
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deputy president of the German Shoemakers Union (2928-PS, USA-239,
Tr. pp. 1405, 2258). Affidavit, 17 October 1945, of Gustav Schiefer, Chair-
man of General German Trade Union Association, Local Committee, Munich,
1983 (2277-PS, USA-748, Tr. p. 2565). Death certificate, Flossenburg Con-
centration Camp, concerning union leader Staimer and official letter to his
wife, 22 December 1941 (2332-PS, Tr. p. 255). Death certificate, Flossen-
burg Concentration Camp, concerning union leader Herman, and official let-
ter to his wife, 29 December 1941 (2333-PS, USA-744, Tr. p. 255).

®National Socialist Party Correspondence, release of 2 May 1933, p. 1
(2224-PS, USA-364, Tr. pp. 1662-4). Voelkischer Beobachter (People’s
Observer) Munich edition, 17 May 1933, Fuehrer Edict, p. 1, (1940-PS, Tr.
p. 255). The German Labor Front, Nature, Goal Means—Official publica-
tion of the German Labor Front, footnote on p. 11 (2275-PS, Tr. p. 255).

®Law concerning trustees of labor, 19 May 1933, 1933 Reichsgesetzblatt,
Part.I, p. 285 (405-PS, Tr. n. 255).

“Speech by Ley published in Forge of the Sword, with an introduction By
Marshal Goering, pp. 14-17 (1939-PS Tr. p. 255).

“Minutes of second session of Working Committee of the Reich Defense
held on 26 April 1933 (EC-177, USA-390, Tr. pp. 1699, 1727).

“Minutes of conference of sixth session of Working Committee of Reich
Defense Courcil, held on 23 and 24 January 1934 (EC—404, USA-764, Tr.
pp. 291, 5124).

“Directive from Blomberg to Supreme Commanders of Army, Navy and
Air Forces, 24 June 1935; accompanied by copy of Reich Defense Law of 21
May 1935 and copy of Decision of Reich Cabinet of 12 May 1935 on the
Council for defense of the Reich (2261-PS, USA-24, Tr. pp. 277, 292).

“Memorandum report about the Four Year Plan and preparation of the
war economy, 30 December 1936 (EC-408, USA-579, Tr. pp. 279, 281, 287,
5874, 6083).

“Report on state of preparation .for war economic mobilization as of 30
Septémber 1934. (EC-128, USA-623, Tr. pp. 295, 2537).

“Law against Economic Sabotage, 1936 Reichsgesetzblatt, Part I, p. 999.

"Affidavit of Puhl, 2 November 1945. (EC-436, USA-620, Tr. pp. 255,
2535). -

“Minutes of meeting of council of ministers on 27 May 1936. (1801-PS,
p. 15, USA-128, Tr. p. 299).

®English transeript, p. 8342.

®English transcript, p. 2135.

SExcerpts from Diary kept by General Jodl, January 1937 to August 1939
(1780-PS, USA-72, Tr. pp. 556, 1157).

®2Notes on a conference with Hitler in the Reich. Chancellory, Berlin, 5
November 1937, signed by Hitler’s Adjutant, Hossbach, and dated 10 Novem-
ber 1937 (386-PS, USA-25, Tr. pp. 336, 735, 2137).

“File of papers on Case Green (the plan for the attack on Czechoslovakia)
kept by Schmundt, Hitler’s. Adjutant, April-October 1938 (388-PS, USA-26,
Tr. pp. 735, 741-748, 760-765, 769-776, 793, 789-807).

#Fixcerpts from Diary kept by General Jodl, January 1937 to. August 1989
(1780-PS, USA-72, Tr. pp. 556, 1157).

“File of papers on Case Green (the plan for the attack on Czechoslovakia)
léept by Schmundt, Hitler’s Adjutant, April- October 1938). 388-PS, USA-26,

r. p. 744).
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*Documents found in oficial Navy files containing notes year by year,
from 1927 to 1940, on reconstruction of the German Navy, and dated 18
February 1938, 8 March 1938, September 1938. C-23, USA-49, Tr. p. 449).

S“Germany neither intends or wishes to interfere in the internal affairs of
Austria, to annex Austria, or to unite with Austria.” Berlin, May 21, 1935,
Voelkischer Beobachter, May 22, 1935. “Immediately after the Anschluss,
I informed Yugoslavia that the frontier in common with that country would
henceforth be regarded as unalterable by Germany and that we wished to
live with her in peace and friendship.”  Berlin, Oct. 6, 1939, Voelkischer
Bzobachter, October 7, 1939. “I have given binding declarations to a number
of states. None of these can complain that even a trace of a demand con-
trary thereto has ever been made to them by Germany. None of the Scan-
dinavian statesmen, for example, can contend that the German Government
or that German public opinion has ever made a demand which was incom-
patible with the sovereignty and integrity of their state.” Berlin, April 28,
1939, Voelkischer Beobachter, April 29, 1939. “We have given guarantees
to the states in the West and have guaranteed to all contiguous neighbors
the inviolability of their territory as far as Germany is concerned. That is
not a phrase; that is our sacred will.” Berlin, September 26, 1938, Voel-
kischer Beobachter, September 27, 1938. “Without taking the past into
account, Germany has concluded a non-aggression pact with Poland. This
is more than a valuable contribution to European peace, and we shall ad-
here to it unconditionally. We only hope that it will be renewed and con-
tinued uninterruptedly and that it will deepen the friendly relations between
the two countries. With the understanding and heartfelt friendship of
genuine nationalists, we recoghize Poland as the home of a great and nation-
ally conscious people.” Berlin, May 21, 1935, Voelkischer Beobachter, May
22, 1935. “Germany has steadily given her assurance, and I solemnly re-
peat this assurance here, that between ourselves and France, for example,
there are no grounds for quarrel that are humanly thinkable.” Berlin,
January 380, 1937, Voelkischer Beobachter, January 31, 1937.

®Notes on conference between Goering, Mussolini, and Ciano, 15 April
1939 (1874-P8S, USA-125, Tr. p. 929).

®Note for Reichminister, 26 August 1938 (TC-76, GB-31, Tr. p. 980).

“Speech of Fuehrer at a conference, 23 November 1933, to which all Su-
preme Commanders were ordered (789-PS, USA-23 Tr. pp. 275, 931).

“Minutes of conference with Goering at the Air Ministry, 14 October 1938,
concerning acceleration of rearmament (1301-PS, USA-123, Tr. pp. 295,
296, 299, 300, 2555, 2556, 2558, 2559, 5126). Notes on conference with Goer-
ing in Westerland on 26 July 1939, signed Mueller, dated Berlin, 27 July
1939 (R-133, USA-124, Tr. p. 928).

“Minutes of conference, 23 May 1939 “Indoctrination on the Political Situ-
ation and Future Aims.” (L-79, USA-27, Tr. pp. 359, 408, 930).

“Minutes of Second Meeting of Reich Defense Council, 23 June 1939
3787-PS, USA-782, Tr. pp. 6406, 6167, 12875-12886).

*“Minutes of conference, 23 May 1939, “Indoctrination on the Political Situ-
ation and Future Aims.” (L-79, USA-27, Tr. pp. 359, 408, 930).

%Letter from Frank to Goering, 25 January 1940 (1375-PS, USA-172,
Tr. p. 1273).

“Thierack’s notes, 18 September 1942, on discussion with Himmler con-
cerning delivery of Jews to Himmler for extermination through work
(654-PS, USA-218, Tr. pp. 1350, 1950). Letter from Minister of Justice
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to Prosecutors, 1 April 1944, concerning Poles and Jews who are released
from Penal institutions of Department of Justice (701-PS, USA-497, Tr. p.
1940).

“Directive of 27 April 1943 to Commanders of Concentration Camps, re-
garding executions of prisoners (1933-PS, USA-459, Tr. p. 1844).

®Copy of telegram from Mueller to Himmler, 16 December 1942, concern-
ing recruiting Jewish labor (1472-PS, USA-279, Tr. p. 1454). Mueller’s
order, 17 December 1942, concerning prisoners qualified for work to be sent
to concentration camps (1063-D-PS, USA-219, Tr. p. 1354).

®Speer’s conference minutes of Central Planning Board, 1942-44, concern-
ing labor supply, P. 36 (R-124, USA-179, Tr. pp. 1286, 1293, 1309, 2989).

1Report signed by Doenitz, 1944, giving support to Navy and Merchant
Marine. (C-195, GB-211, Tr. p. 2709).

GSpeer’s conference minutes of Central Planning Board, 1942-44, concern-
ing labor supply (R-124, USA-179, p. 32, Tr. pp. 1293, 1286, 1309).

*Memorandum of 15 September 1941 from Canaris to Keitel concerning
an OKW Order regulating the treatment of Soviet prisoners of war (EC-338,
USSR-356, Tr. p. 4441).

*English transcript, p. 6016.

“Examples of violations of International Law and proposed counter propa-
ganda, issued by OKW, 1 October 1938, (C-2, USA-90, Tr. p. 2959).

WOKW circular entitled Direction of War as Problem of Organization, 19
April 1938 (L-211, GB-161, Tr. p. 2397).

“English transcript p. 5786.

Report by Raeder to Hitler, 16 October 1939 (UK-65, GB-224, Tr. p.
2734).

*“Extract from Befehlshaber der U-bootes; Secret Standing Order No.
154 signed by Doenitz. (D-642, GB-196, Tr. p. 2663). Operation Order
“Atlantic” No. 56 for U-boats in Atlantic, 7 October 1943 (D-663, GB-200,
Tr. p. 2666).

»English transeript, p. 6069.

English transeript, p. 5843.

MEnglish transeript, p. 6650-6052.

Extracts from testimony of Goering: “As soon as we had come into power
we were decided to keep that power under all circumstances * * * we could
not leave this to the play of coincidence by way of elections and parliament-
ary majorities * * * (Tr. p. 5824). “The Laender Parliaments * * * I con-
sidered entirely superfluous * * * I could not understand why so many dif-
ferent authorities should exist which, with their unnecessary frictions, dis-
cussions, arguments, could only prevent constructive work * * * A further
point in the strengthening of power was the elimination of the Reichstag
as a parliament * * * In some cases we suggested to the former parties
they dissolve themselves, because they had no purpose, and those who would
not dissolve themselves were dissolved by us.” (Tr. p. 5228). “* * * To-
wards the further strengthening of power, those laws were establish~d which
* * * did away with the so-called freedoms * ¥ * (Tr. p. 5°29). /S=2c alswo
Tr. pp. 6049, 6051.) Frick accurately predicted the Naz. method of dealing
with political opponents when he declared to an opposing member of the
Reichstag in 1932, “Don’t worry, when we are in power, we shall put all of
you guvs into concentration camps.” (Affidavit of Gerhart H. Seger, L-£3,
USA-234).
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BEnglish transeript, p. 6064.

“English transeript, p. 6054.

“5English transeript, p. 5860.

niStenographic report of the meeting on The Jewish Question, under the
Chairmanship of Fieldmarshal Goering, 12 November 1938, (1816-PS, USA-
261, Tr. p. 1440). .

"Meémorandum, 19 November 1938, concerning meeting of Reich Defense
Council (83575-PS, USA-781, Tr. p. 6406, 6157). See also Tr. p. 5846. For
similar reasons Goering preferred the destruction of Jews rather than of
their property (1816-PS).

English transeript, p. 13706.

“*Qther factors were not overlooked. Onme of the reasons for von Neurath’s
selection as Foreign Minister at the beginning of the Nazi regime was his
excellent connections abroad. (Tr. p. 6024), ’

2Hitler’s speech to Commanders-in-Chief, 22 August 1939 (1014——PS;
USA-30, Tr. p. 377).

wAffidavit of Alfred Helmut Naujocks, 20 November 1945 (2751-PS,
USA-482, Tr. p. 1907). Likewise, Jodl noted in his diary a few weeks be-
fore the planned invasion of Norway that the Fuehrer was still looking for
an excuse for the operation (1809-PS, GB-88, Tr. p. 1088, 2403).

2Case Green with -wider implications, report of Intelligence Division,
Luftwaffe General Staff, 25 August 1988. (375-PS, USA-84, Tr. p. 752).

=Minutes of conference, 28 May 1939, “Indoctrination on the political
situation and future aims.” (L-79, USA-27, Tr. pp. 859, 408, 930).

Goering has accepted responsibility for the Nurnberg Laws, which he
signed (Tr. p. 5871), for the Austrian Anschluss (Tr. p. 5895), and for
the use of prisoners of war in armament industries (Tr. p. 6219). Von
Schirach has admitted responsibility for the training of the Hitler Youth:
“It is my guilt that I educated the German youth for a man who com-
mitted murders million-fold. I believed in that man. That is all that I
can say as an explanation for my attitude. But that guilt is my own, my
personal guilt. I had the responsibility for the youth. I carried the au-
thority of command; and so I alone carry the guilt for that youth.” (Tr.
p. 10295). Frank has admitted, “I feel a terrible guilt within me.” (Tr.
p. 8092).

*Qoering blamed persecution of the churches on Himmler and Bormann.
(Tr. p. 5856.) Schirach blamed extermination of the Jews on Hitler and
Himmler: “The murder was ordered by Adolf Hitler * * * he and Himmler
together committed that crime, which of all times is the darkest spot in
our history. It is a crime which is shameful to every German.” (Tr. p.
10293).

*Final argument of Dr. Stahmer, counsel for Goering. (Tr. pp. 12973, et
seq.)

¥4The Nazi Plan,” excerpt of script of a motion picture composed of
captured German film. (3054-PS, USA-167, Tr. p. 1264).

#Goering testified: “No, I did not want any war * * *” (Tr. p. 6087.)
Ribbentrop testified: “The Fuehrer has—and then I have upon his orders,
and I believe I may be a good witness for it myself—always tried to solve
these problems in a diplomatic way.” (Tr. p. 6826.)

P(Goering testified: “to set aside Versailles, the State had to be strong,
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for a weak State was never listened to; that we know from experience.” (Tr.
p. 6070.)

#Goering testified: “I told the Fuehrer that in spite of this principal
point of view I oversaw a menace threatening from Russia; I still would
ask him to rather let this menace continue to exist and, if it was at all
possible, to try to direct the interests of Russia against England.” (Tr. p.
5957.)

“English transeript, p. 6048.

“2English transeript, pp. 5894-5, 6036, 6069.

WRnglish transeript, p. 5998.

*Other defendants admitted that the wars were aggressive. Schacht
testified: “Q. Well, we found something we agree on, Doctor. You knew
- of the invasion of Poland? A. Yes. Q. As an unqualified act of aggression
on Hitler’s part? A, Absolutely. Q. And of Holland? A. Absolutely. Q.
And of Denmark? A. Absolutely. Q. And of Norway? A. Absolutely. Q.
And of Yugoslavia? A. Absolutely. Q. And of Russia? A. Absolutely, sir;
and Norway and Belgium, which you left out.” (Tr. p. 8910.)

®Goering testified: “I urged him not at that moment or an even short
time thereafter to start any war against Russia.” (Tr. p..5956; see also
Tr.. p. 6056.) Keitel testified that he wrote a memorandum to Hitler op-
posing the attack on Russia. He said: “But I did in that memorandum
most certainly refer to the fact that the Non-aggression Pact existed.” (Tr.
p. 7096.)

W English transeript, p. 12929.

QKW Directive for Unified Preparation for War 1937-1938, with cover-
ing letter from von Blomberg, 24 June 1937. (C-175, USA-69, Tr. p. 547).
Yet it was in this period that Goering was trying out the strength of his
Luftwaffe in the Spanish Civil War (Tr. p. 5871). Goering has admitted
the non-defensive nature of the Luftwaffe (Tr. p. 5869).

“Final argument of 'Dr. Stahmer, counsel for Goering. “Therefore a
conspiracy with a dictator at its head is a contradiction in itself. A dictator
does not enter into a conspiracy with his followers, he does' not make any
agreement with them, he dictates.” (Tr. p. 12970.)

»English transecript, p. 12155.

14 English transcript, p. 12183.

“English transcript, pp. 5854, 6036, 6056 .

“Extracts from Organization Book of the NSDAP, 1943 edition. (1893-
PS, USA-3283, Tr. p. 1578) .

¥Criminal Code, 1871, Sec. 128 (never repealed).

“4Goering testified: “In the case of Schacht he was a very strong person-
ality and whilst not wanting to over-emphasize my importance and disregard-
ing whether we were friends or not, on the basis of the two positions we had
to get into difficulties and one or the other had to cede finally.” (Tr. p. 6082.)

us¢Q. Mr. Dahlerus, will you tell me whether I got all of your last answer
to Dr. Stahmer correctly? Did you say that ‘I then realized that it. was
on the 26th of September, that his, Goering’s aim, had been to split Poland
and grab and occupy Poland with the consent of Great Britain’? Is that
right? A. Yes, it is correct but-I should like to say it was the German Gov-
ernment’s including Goering’s aim.” (Tr. p. 6119.) The Fuehrer informed
Goering -some time before the attack on Poland was launched that the task
was to “eliminate British intervention.” (TC-90, GB-64).

744400—47—6
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“Hitler’s speech to Commanders-in-Chief, 22 August 1939. (1014-PS,
USA-30, Tr. p. 376).

“Frank Diary, Tagebuch, 1 January 1944 to 28 February 1944. Entry
of 14 January, 15 January, 8 February 1944. (2233-BB-PS, USA-295, Tr.
p. 1501).

Note, 11 April 1948, and report of speech of Koch in Kiev on 5 March
1943, concerning treatment of ecivilian population in Ukraine. (1130-PS,
USA-169, Tr. p. 1269). .

“PErank testified: “Q. Did you ever participate in the destruction of |,
Jews? A. I say yes, and the reason why I say yes is because, being under
the impression of these five months of this trial, and particularly under
the impression of the statements made by the witness Hoess, I cahnot allow
it before my conscience that responsibility for all this should be handed -
over to these small people alone. I myself have never installed an extermina-
tion camp for Jews or demanded that they should be installed, but if Adolf
Hitler personally has turned that dreadful responsibility over to these peo-
ple of his, then it must be mine tco. We have fought against Jewry; we have
fought against it for years; and we have allowed ourselves to make utter-
ances, and my own diary has become a witness against me in this connection
—utterances which are terrible. If is my duty—my only duty—therefore, to
answer your question in this connection with Yes. A thousand years will
pass and this guilt of Germany will still not be erased.” (Tr. p. 8099.)

WEunk explained that he did not hold ‘“the positiont of minister as one
would generally think of it.” (Tr. p. 9014).

*Ribbentrop, Tr. p. 6857, 6823; Keitel, Tr. p. 7157; Funk, Tr. p. 9118;
Goering, Tr. p. 6247.

*English transeript, p. 8910, supra note 121.

*English transeript, p. 8809, 8814-17, 8923-25. =

#The fact was that Hitler tried to use this defeat for the self-destruction
of the German people, as Speer has testified and confirmed, in a most terrible
way, and as I could observe in the last phase of the conflict in Berlin when,
under the pretense.of a false hope, fifteen-year-old, fourteen-year-old, and
thirteen-year-old boys were equipped for war with hand firearms and called
into battle, boys who perhaps might have been the hope for the period of
reconstruction. Hitler fled into death, and he left the decree and the order
to keep on fighting. He also left the official report that he had died in battle.
I learned that he had committed suicide, and my last public statement, on 2
May 1945, was the publication of the fact of this suicide, for I wanted to kill
a Hitler legend in the bud.” (Tr. p. 12547). Dahlerus has recorded his im-
pression of Hitler, before the war, as “a completely abnormal person.” (Tr.
p. 6125).

»English transeript, p. 12080.

e English transeript, p. 12117,

¥ Mileh testified: “My offer that I would try to speak to Hitler against war
once more was rejected by the Reichsmarshal as absolutely hopeless.” (Tr.
p. 5576).

HEnglish transeript, p. 12118,

*HFnglish transeript, p. 6881.

wMinutes of second session of Working Committee of the Reich Defense
Council held on 26 April 1938. (EC-177, USA-390, Tr. pp. 1699, 1727).

"Raeder testified: “Thaf is the cirecumvention of the Versailles Treaty
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as far as that was necessary to improve our defenses, which I explained
during the recent days here. It was a matter of honor for every man to do
it.” (Tr. p. 9919).

**Goering testified: “During a conversation which I had with Foreign
Minister von Ribbentrop who was in London at that time, I stressed that
the ultimatum had not been put by ourselves but by Seyss-Inquart. That
was absolutely true. Legally, in fact, of course I put it, but that telephone
conversation was heard on the English side and I had to conduct a diplomatic
conversation, and I have never heard yet that diplomats in such cases say
later how it was in fact, but they always stress how it was de jure, and why
should I be an exception there?” (Tr. p. 5891). But the transcript of the
telephone conversation between Goering and Seyss-Inquart which led to the
capitulation of Austria shows Goering saying: “Now, remember the follow-
ing: You go immediately together with Lt. General Muff and tell the Fed-
eral President that if the conditions which are known to you are not ac-
cepted immediately, the troops who are already stationed in and advancing
to the frontier will march in tonight along the whole line, and Austria will
cease to exist.” Transcript of telephone calls from Air Ministry, 11-14
March 1938. (2949-PS, USA-76, Tr. p. 566).

¥éGerman assurance to Czechoslovakia of 11 March 1938. (TC-27, GB-21,
Tr. p. 962).

““Speer’s conference minutes of Central Planning Board, 1942-44, con-
cerning labor supply. (R-124, USA-179, Tr. pp. 1286, 1293, 1309, 2989).

“English transeript, p. 5878.

“English transeript, p. 6150.

“English transcript, p. 5900; see also Tr. p. 5998.

SEnglish transeript, p. 8527.

@English transeript, pp. 8516-19.

"English transcript, p. 13276.

English transeript, p. 6857.

“Examples of the application of this philosophy may be found in Goering’s
explanation of his art looting: he had intended to put his pictures in a gal-
lery which he intended to construct for the German people—some day (Tr. p.
5934) ; his statement that he had always held that captured enemy airmen
were to be treated as “comrades” (Tr. p. 5979); and his attempt to minimize
his words advocating harsh treatment of the Jews, as the result of conversa-
tional excitement (Tr. p. 6192).
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CLOSING ADDRESS FOR UNITED KINGDOM,
GREAT BRITAIN AND IRELAND
by .
SIR HARTLEY SHAWCROSS

The Purpose of The Trial

That these Defendants participated in and are morally guilty
of crimes so frightful that the imagination staggers and reels
back at their very contemplation-is not in doubt. Let the words
of the Defendant Frank, which were repeated to you this morn-
ing, be well remembered: “thousands of years will pass and this
guilt of Germany will not be erased.” Total and totalitarian war,
waged in defiance of solemn undertakings and in breach of
Treaties; great cities, from Coventry to Stalingrad, reduced to
rubble, the countryside laid waste, and now the inevitable after-
math of war so fought—hunger and disease stalking through the
world: millions of people homeless, maimed, bereaved. And in
their graves, crying out, not for vengeance but that this shall not
‘happen again, ten million who might be living in peace. and happi-
ness at this hour, soldiers, sailors, airmen and civilians killed in
battles that ought never to have been. )

Nor was that the only or the greatest crime. In all our coun-
tries when perhaps.in the heat of passion or for other motives
which impair restraint some individual is killed, the murder be-
comes a sensation, our compassion is aroused, nor do we rest
until the criminal is punished and the rule of law is vindicated.
Shall we do less when not one but on the lowest computation
twelve million men, women, and children are done to death. Not
in battle, not in passion, but in the cold, calculated, deliberate at-
tempt to destroy nations and races, to disintegrate the traditions,
the institutions and the very existence of free and ancient States.
Twelve million murders. Two thirds of the Jews in Europe ex-
terminated, more than six million of them on the killers’ own
figures. Murder conducted like some mass production industry
in the gas chambers and the ovens of Auschwitz, Dachau, Treb-
linka, Buchenwald, Mauthausen, Maidanek and, Oranienburg.
(2738-PS, USA 296)

And is the world to ‘overlook the revival of slavery in Europe,
slavery on a scale which involved 7,000,000 men, women, and chil-
dren taken from their homes, treated as beasts, starved, beaten,
and murdered?

61



It may be that the guilt of Germany will not be erased for the
people of Germany share it in large measure, but it was these
men who, with a handful of others, brought that guilt upon Ger-
many and perverted the German people. “It is my guilt”—-con-
fessed the defendant Schirach—“that I educated the German
youth for a man who committed murders a millionfold.”

For such crimes these men might well have been proceeded
against by summary executive action and had the treatment,
which they had been parties to meting out against so many mil-
lions of innocent people, been meted out to them they could hardly
have complained. But this Tribunal is to adjudge their guilt not
on any moral or ethical basis alone, but according to law. That
natural justice, which demands that these crimes should not go
unpunished, at the same time insists that no individual should be
punished unless patient and careful examination of the facts
shows that he shared the guilt for what has been done. And so,
during these many months, this Tribunal has been investigating
the facts and has now to apply the law in order both that justice
may be done to these individuals as to their countless victims, and
also that the world may know that in the end the predominance
of power will be driven out and law and justice shall govern the
relations between States.

For the effects of this trial will reach out far beyond the pun-
ishment of a score or so of guilty men. Issues are at stake far
greater than their fate, although upon their fate those issues, in
some measure, depend. In the pages of history it will count for
nothing whether this trial lasted for two months or for ten. But
it will count for much that by just and patient examination the
truth has been established about deeds so terrible that their mark
may never be erased, and it will count for much that law and jus-
tice have been vindicated in the end.

Within the space of a year evidence far exceeding that previ-
ously presented to any Tribunal in history has been collected,
sifted, and placed before you. Almost all of that evidence con-
sists of the captured records and documents of the Government to
which these men belonged, and much of it directly implicates each
one of them with knowledge of, and participation in, one or other
aspect of the crimes committed by the Nazi State. This evidence
has not been refuted and it will remain forever to confront those
who may hereafter seek to excuse or mitigate that which has been
done. Yet now that this mass of evidence has been presented to
you, I shall invite you for a little to detach your minds from its
detail to consider the cumulative effect and to review this over-
whelming case as a whole. It is only by chance that their own
captured papers have enabled us to establish these crimes out of
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the very mouths of the criminals. But the case against these
men can be established on a broader basis than that, and must be
looked at in the light of its historical background.

The General Conspiracy
(A) THE NAZI AIMS

When one considers the nature and the immensity of the crimes
committed, the responsibility of those who held the highest posi-
tions of influence and authority in the Nazi State is manifest
beyond doubt. For years, in a world where war had itself been
declared a crime, the German State was organized for war; in a
world where we proclaim the equality of men, for years the Jews
were boycotted, deprived of their elementary rights of property,
liberty, life itself; for years honest citizens lived in fear of de-
nunciation and arrest by one or other of the organizations, crim-
inal as we allege them to be, through which these men ruled
“Germany; for years throughout the German Reich millions of
foreign slaves worked in farm and factory, were moved like cat-
tle on every road, on every railway line.

These men, with Hitler, Himmler, Goebbels, and a few other
confederates were at once the leaders and the drivers of the Ger-
man people; it was when they held the highest positicns of au-
’rhorlty and of influnce that these erimes were planned and per-
petrated. If these men are not responsible, who are? If minions
who did no more than obey their orders, Dostler, Eck, Kramer,
and a hundred others have already paid the supreme penalty, are
these men less responsible? How can it be said that they and the
offices of State which they directed took no part? Lammers, their
own witness, Head of the Reich Chancellory, said in 1938:

“Despite the total basic concentration of power of authority
in the person of the Fuehrer, no excessively strong and unneces-
sary centralization of administration in the hands of the
Fuehrer results in the governmental administration * * *
directed downwards, forbids interference with every individual
order he may issue. This principle is manipulated by the
Fuehrer in his governmental leadership in such a way that, for
example, the position of Reich Ministers is actually much more
independent today than formerly even though today the Reich
Ministers are subordinated to the Fuehrer’s unlimited power of
command. Willingness to bear responsibility, ability to make
decisions, aggressive energy and real authority—these are the
qualities which the Fuehrer demands primarily of his subordin-
ate leaders. Therefore he allows them the greatest freedom
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in the execution of their affairs and in the manner in which they
fulfill their tasks” (8863-PS, GB 320).

Let them now, accused murderers as they are, attempt to be-
little the power and influence they exercised how they will, we
have only to recall their ranting, as they strutted across the stage
of Europe dressed in their brief authority, to see the part they
played. They did not then tell the German people or the world
that they were merely the ignorant, powerless puppets of their
Fuehrer. The Defendant Speer has said:

“Tven in a totalitarian system there must be total responsi-
bility * * * it is impossible after the catastrophe to evade this
total responsibility. If the war had been won, the leaders would
also have assumed total responsibility”.

Had the war been won is it to be supposed that these men would
have retired to the obsciirity and comparative innocence of private
citizenship? That opportunity was denied to them before the
war had they wished to disassociate themselves from what was
taking place. They chose a different path. From small begin-
ning, at a time when resistance instead of participation could
have destroyed this thing, they fostered the Hitler legend, they
helped to build up the Nazi Power and ideology and to direct its
activities until, like some foul octopus, it spread its slime over
Europe and extended its tentacles throughout the world. Were
these men ignorant of the ends sought to be achieved during that
period of the rise to power? Paul Schmidt, Hitlex’s interpreter, a
withess of great knowledge, has testified:

“The general objectives of the Nazi leadership were apparent
from the start—namely, the domination of the European con-
tinent to be achieved first by the incorporation of all German
speaking groups in the Reich, and secondly, by territorial ex-
pansion under the slogan of ‘Lebensraum’” (3208-PS, GB

288)

That slogan “Lebensraum”—that entirely false idea that the very
existence of the German people depended upon territorial ex-
pahsion under the Nazi flag—was from the earliest days an openly
avowed part of the Nazi doctrine—yet any thinking person must
have known that it would lead inevitably to war.

It was the justification Hitler offered to his fellow conspirators
at those secret meetings on the 5th November 1937, 23rd May and
23rd November 1939, at which the fate of s0 many countries was
sealed (886-PS, USA 25; I-79, USA 27; 789-PS, USA 28).

Although less conerete it was no less false than the demand for
a revision of the Treaty of Versailles. The so-called injustice of
Versailles so cunningly exploited to provide a popular rallying
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point under the Nazi banner had succeeded in uniting behind the
Nazis many Germans who would not otherwise have supported
some of the rest of the Nazi program.

And the effect of that propaganda can be judged from the re-
peated efforts here made by the Defense to develop the alleged in-
justice of the Treaty. Unjust or not, it was a Treaty and no Gov-
ernment content to live at peace need have complained of its
provisions. Even if the complaints were justified, there was com-
paratively soon no ground left for them. The provisions of the
Treaty could have been—in some respects they were—revised by
peaceful negotiations. By 1935, four years before the world was
plunged into war, these men had publicly renounced the Treaty,
and by 1939 not only were they free of nearly all the restrictions
of which they had complained, but they had seizéd territory which
had never belonged to Germany in the whole of European his-
tory. The cry of Versailles was a device for rallying men to
wicked and aggressive purposes. But it was a device less
diabolical than the cry of anti-Semitism and racial purity, by
which these men sought both to rally in their own country and
to sow discord and antagonism amongst the people of foreign
lands. Rauschning reports Hitler’s statement:

“Anti-Semitism is a useful revolutionary expedient. Anti-
Semitic propaganda in all countries is an almost indispensable
medium in the extension of our political campaign. You will
see how little time we shall need in order to upset the ideas
and criteria of the whole world simply and solely by attacking
Judaism. It is beyond question the most important weapon in
my propaganda arsenal” (USSR 378)

And as a result of this wicked propaganda, I would remind you
of the words of Bach Zelewski who, when he was asked how Ohlen-
dorf could admit that the men under his command had murdered
90,000 people, replied:

“I am of the opinion that when, for years, for decades, the
doctrine is preached that the Slav race is an inferior race and

Jews not even human, then such outcome is inevitable.”

And so, from the earliest day, the aims of the Nazi movement
were clear and beyond doubt: expansion, European domination,
elimination of the Jews, ultimate aggression, ruthless disregard
of the rights of any people but themselves.

Such were the beginnings. I shall not pause to trace the Nazi
Party’s growth to power; how, as the writer of the History of the
SA has said they found that

“Possession of the streets is the key to power in the State”
'(2168-PS, USA 411) x

65



or how, by the organized terror which the witness Severing has
described the storm troops of Brownshirts terrified the people
whilst the Nazi propaganda, headed by “Der Sturmer”, villified
all opponents and incited people against the Jews.

I shall not examine that period, grave as are the lessons which
democratic peoples ought to learn from it, for it may not be easy
to say exactly at what date each of these Defendants must have
realized, if, indeed, he had not known and gloried in it all from
the beginning, that Hitler’s apparently hysterical outpourings
in Mein Kampf were intended in all seriousness and that they
formed the very basis of the German plan. Some, no doubt, such
as Goering, Hess, Ribbentrop, Rosenberg, Streicher, Frick, Frank,
Schacht, Schirach, and Fritzsche realized it very early. In the
case of one or two, such as Doenitz and Speer, it may have been
comparatively late. Few can have been ighorant after 1933—
all must have been active participants by 1937. When one re-
members the apprehension caused abroad during that period there
can be no doubt, in our submission, that these men, almost all of
whom were the rulers of Germany from 1933 onwards, Hitler’s
intimate associates, admitted to his secret meetings, with full
knowledge of plans and events not only acquiesced in what was
taking place, but were active and willing participants.

May I then examine, in a little more detail, the period of the
“build up”’—the position of domestic government in Germany
between 1933 and 1939 because what happened then makes clear
the criminal involvement of these men in what was done later.
What I say now has some special reference to the first Count in
the Indictment, for it is against this general background that
must be considered the allegation that these men were ¢common
conspirators to commit the crimes (such as crimes against peace
and the crime against humanity), which are more specifically
charged in the later Counts.

(B) THE NAz! BUILD UPS
1933-1939

Totalitarian Government brooks no opposition. Any means
justifies the end and the immediate end was ruthlessly to gain
complete control of the German State and to brutalize and train
its people for war. What stood in the way in January 19337
Firstly, the members of the other political parties; secondly the
democratic system of election and of public assembly, the organi-
zation of trade unions; thirdly the moral standards of the Ger-
man people, and the Churches which fostered them.

Accordingly, the Nazis set out, quite deliberately, to eliminate
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this opposition: the first, by imprisoning or terrorizing their op-
ponents; the second, by declaring illegal all elements of tolerance
and liberalism, outlawing trade unions and opposition parties,
reducing the democratic assembly to a farce and controlling elec-
tions; the third, by systematic discouragement and persecution
of religion, by replacing the ethics of Christianity with the idol-
atry of the Fuehrer and the cult of the blood and by rigidly
controlling education and youth. Youth was systematically pre-
pared for war and taught to hate and persecute the Jews; the
plans for aggression required a nation trained in brutality and
taught that it was both necessary and heroic to invade the peo-
ples of other countries.

It is a measure of the wickedness and effectiveness of this
domestic policy that, after six years of rule, the Nazis found little
difficulty in leading a perverted nation into the greatest criminal
enterprise in history. It is perhaps, worth considering from the
evidence, a few examples of how this policy developed during
these six years. They are examples of what was happening in
every German town and village. It must be remembered here,
that in the need to avoid cumulative evidence you have, in the
result, been deprived of its cumulative effect.

First then, the elimination of political opponents. Within six
weeks of the Nazis coming to power in January 1933, the Ger-
man newspapers were quoting official sources for the statement
that 18,000 Communists-had been imprisoned whilst the 10,000
prisoners in the gaols of Prussia included many Socialists and
intellectuals. The fate of many of these men was described by
Severing, who estimated that at least 1,500 Social Democrats and
a similar number of Communists were murdered in the concen-
tration camps recently established by Goering as Chief of the
Gestapo. (D-911, GB 512)

These camps, controlled by the Party organizations, were de-
liberately so run as to strike terror throughout the country. In
the words of the witness Severing, the concentration camps repre-
sented for the people “the incarnation of all the terrible”.

Goering has said

“We found it necessary that we should permit no opposition
to us.”

and he admitted that there were arrested and taken into protec-
tive custody people who had committed no crime.

It might have been well, if at that time, they had read the
maxim of which they spoke yesterday, nulla poena sine lege.
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Goering added

“if everyone knows that if he acts against the state he will end
up in a concentration camp * * * that is to our advantage”.

The camps were at first run indiscriminately by the SA and
the SS and according to Goering were created

“as an instrument which at all times was the inner politieal
instrument of power.”

Gisevius, who at that time had recently joined the Gestapo,
yvou remember, gave the following deseription:

“I was hardly more than two days in that new police office
when I had discovered already that incredible conditions ex-
isted there. There was no police which interfered against
crimes, against murder, against arrests, against burglary.
There was a police organization which protected just those who
committed such crimes. Those arrested were not those who
weré guilty of such crimes, they arrested those who sent their
cries for help to the police. It was not a police which inter- -
fered for protection but a police whose task, it seemed, was, in
fact, to hide, to cover up, and to sponsor crimes, those com-
mandos of the SA and SS who played police were encouraged
by that so-called Secret State Police and all possible aid was
given to them * * *,

“Special concentration camps for the Gestapo were installed
and their names will remain for a terrible shame in history.
They were Oranienburg and the private prison of the Gestapo,
in the Papenstrasse, the Columbia House, or, as it was called
cynically, the “Columbia Diele” * * * I asked one of my col-
leagues, who was also a professional civil servant * * * ‘Tell
me, please, am I here in a police office or in a robber’s cave?
The answer that I received was: ‘You are in a burglar’s cave
and you can expect that you will see much more yet’ .

Gisevius went on to describe Goering’s order to murder the
National Socialist Strasser and how he gave “blank authority”
for murder to the political police by signing a form granting am-
nesty to the policeman, leaving a blank space for the name of
the murdered person in respect of whom the amnesty had been
granted.

If confirmation of the evidence of these defense witnesses were
required, it is to be found in the period of reports dated May and
June 1933 from the Munich Public Prosecutor to the Minister of
Justice which are in evidence recording a succession of murders
by SS officials in the concentration camp at Dachau (641-PS,
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USA 450; 642-PS, USA 451; 644-PS, USA 452; 645-PS, USA
458).

In 1935, the Reich Minister of Justice in writing to Frick his
protesting against numerous instances of ill treatment in concen-
tration camps including (8751-PS, USA &28) ,

“Beating as a disciplinary punishment * * * ill-treatment

mostly of political internees in order to make them talk * * *

and ill-treatment of internees arising out of sheer fun or
sadistic motives”

went on to complain that

“the beating of the Communists held in custody is regarded as
an indispensable police measure for a more effective suppres-
sion of Communist activities”.

And after citing instances of torture, he concludes:

“These few examples show a degree of cruelty which is an
insult to every German sensibility”.

Frick’s sengibility was apparently not so tender—the very next.
year he received a similar protest from one of his own subordi-
nates and shortly afterwards he issued a decree making all police
forces subordinate to Himmler, the very man whom he knew to be
~ responsible for these atrocities. (775-PS)

These brutalities, well known to Ministers, as we suggest they
were, were not confined to the privacy of concentration camps. It
is perhaps worth quoting one instance from the thousands who
suffered from the policy which was being pursued.

The Tribunal will remember the account by Sollman, a Social
Democrat, and member of the Reichstag from 1919 to 1938. He
spoke of the incident on March 9th of 1933 when, to quote his
own words (8221-PS, USA 422):

“Members of the SS and SA came to my home in Cologne
and destroyed the furniture and my personal records. At that
time I was taken to the Brown House in Cologne, where I was
tortured, being beaten and kicked for several hours. I was then
taken to the regular Government Prison in Cologne where I was
treated by two medical doctors and released the next day. On
March 11, 1938, I left Germany”. .

. The second object, the suppression of all democratic institu-
- tions, was comparatively simple. The necessary laws were passed
to outlaw trade unions: the Reichstag became a farce directly the
opposition parties had been dissolved and their members had
been put in concentration camps. The witness Severing has
Spoken of the treatment of the Reichstag members. In 1932, on
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von Papen’s order he, who was chief of the Prussian Ministry of
the Interior, was forcibly removed from his office. It was not
long after the 30th of January 1933, that the Communist and
Social Democratic parties were decreed illegal and all form of
public expression, other than by the Nazis, was prevented. This
action resulted from deliberate planning. Frick had said as long
before as 1927 (2513-PS, USA 235):

“The National Socialists longed for the day when they could
put an inglorious but well deserved end to this infernal sham
of a Parliament and open the way for a racial dictatorship”.

At this time when democratic Government is seeking to re-
establish itself throughout the world, the Nazi attitude to elec-
tions is not to be forgotten. Free elections could not, of course,
be permitted. Goering had told Schacht in February 1933 when
seeking money for the Party from industry (D-2038, USA 767):

“The sacrifices asked for will surely be so much easier for
industry to bear if it is realized that the election of March 5th
will be the last one for the next ten years, probably for the next
100 years.”

In these circumstances it is not surprising to find that there-
after, as the evidence such as the SD report on the conduct of
the plebiscite at Kappel makes clear, the occasional votes of the
people, always announced as triumphs for the Nazis, were con-
ducted dishonestly. (R—-142, USA 481)

I turn to the third class of opposition, the Churches. Bor-
mann’s memorandum sent in December 1941 to all Gauleiters and
distributed to the SS sums up the Nazi attitude to Christianity
(D75, USA 3}8):

“National Socialist and Christian concepts are irreconcil-
able. * * * If therefore in the future our youth knows noth-
ing more of this Christianity whose doctrines are far below
ours, Christianity will disappear by itself. * * * All influences
which might impair or damage the leadership of the people
exercised by the Fuehrer with the aid of NSDAP must be elim-
inated. More and more the people must be separated from the
churches and their organs, the pastors.”

The persecution of the churches makes a melancholy story. From
the abundance of evidence which has been submitted to the Tribu-
nal it is perhaps permissible to quote from a complaint to Frick
made early in 1936 (775-PS):
“Lately half the political police reports concern clerical mat-
ters. We have untold petitions frem all kinds of cardinals,
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bishops, and dignitaries of the Church. Most of these com-
plaints concern matters under the jurisdiction of the Reich
Ministry of the Interior, although the respective rules were
_not decreed by it * * *7

And then after referring to the chaos resulting from the division
of authority between the various police forces, the report goes on
to refer to the results of the religious struggle:

“Instances of gross disturbances of congregations are mount-
ing terribly fast lately, often necessitating the intervention of
the emergency squad. * * * After discarding the rubber
truncheon, the idea of exposing executive officials to situations
in which, during gross interruption of meetings they may be
forced to use cold steel, is unbearable.”

The diary of the Minister of Justice for 1935 provides ample in-
stances of the sort of behaviour which was being encouraged
by the Hitler Youth under the defendant Schirach and the De-
fendant Rosenberg. The Hitler Jugend, whose membership in-
creased from just under 10,000 in 1932 to nearly 8,000,000 in
1939 was organized on a military basis. The close collaboration
between Keitel and Schirach in their military education has been
described; the special arrangement between Schirach and Himm-
ler by which the Hitler Jugend became the recruiting organiza- .
tion for the SS is in evidence. You will not have forgotten the
words of Schirach’s deputy (3751-PS, USA: 858; 2435-PS; 2396-
PS, USA 673; 1992-PS, USA 439):

“In the course of years we want to insure that a cun feels
just as natural in the hands of a German boy as a pen.”

What a horrible doctrine.

The terrorization, murder, and persecution of political oppo-
nents, the dissolution of all organizations affording opportunity
for opposition, criticism or even free speech, the systematic per-
version of youth and training for war would not, however, have
sufficed without persecution of the Jews. Let no one be misled
by the metaphysical explanations which are put forward for this
most frightful crime. What Hitler himself in this very town de-
scribed as the fanatical combat against the Jews was part and
parcel of the policy of establishing Ein Herrenvolk, which would
dominate Europe and the world, and so persecution of the Jews
was popularized throughout the regime. It gave the youths a
butt to bully and so to acquire practical schooling in brutality.

With the accession to power the persecution of the Jews in-
creased in violence. The final solution of mass murder had then
been conceived. In Mein Kampf of Hitler, the Bible of the Nazis,
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Hitler had regretted that poison gas had not been employed to
exterminate the German Jews during the last war, and as early
as 1925 Streicher said (M-18, GB 165):

“Let us make a new beginning to-day, so that we can anni-
hilate the Jew.”

It may be that he, even before Hitler, Himmler, or the others,
had visualized the annihilation of the Jews, but the Nazis were
not at first ready to completely defy world opinion and they
confined themselves to persecution and to making life in Ger-
many unbearable for Jews. To the never ceasing accompaniment
of the Sturmer and the official Nazi Press the campaign of Jew
baiting was fostered and encouraged. Rosenberg, von Schirach,
Goering, Hess, Funk, Bormann, Frick joined hands with Streicher
and Goebbels. The boycott in April 1933 celebrated the Nazi ac-
cession to power and provided only a taste of what was to follow.
It was accompanied by demonstrations and window smashing—
action “mirror”’ as it has been referred to in this Court. Accounts
of typical incidents are given in the affidavit of the witness Geist
who describes the events in Berlin on March 6th, 1983 (1759-PS,
USA 420):
“Wholesale attacks on the Communists, Jews, and those who
were suspected of being either, mobs of SA men roamed the
streets, beating up, looting, and even killing persons.”

In 1935 followed the infamous Nurnberg Decrees. In 1938 the
so-called spontaneous demonstrations ,ordered throughout Ger:
many resulted in the burning of the synagogues, the throwing of
20,000 Jews into concentration camps with the accompaniment
of penalties, of aryanization of property, and the wearing of a
yellow star.

The cynicism of these men and the merciless character of their
policy towards the Jews appeared at Goering’s meeting of 12th
November 1938, when they vied with each other in suggesting
methods of degrading and persecuting their helpless victims.
Neither Hitler nor Himmler, whom to-day they seek to blame, was
present, but who, reading record of that meeting, can doubt the
end in store for the Jews of Europe? At that meeting Heydrich
reported on the events of the 12th November: 101 synagogues de-
stroyed by fire, 76 demolished, and 7,500 stores ruined throughout
the Reich. The approximate cost of replacing broken glass alone
was estimated at RM 6,000,000 and the damage to one store alone
in Berlin at RM 1,700,000. Heydrich also reported 800 cases of
looting, the killing of 35 Jews, and estimated the total damage
of property, furniture and goods at several hundred million
Reichsmarks (1816-PS, USA 261; 3051-PS, USA 240).
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You will recall Heydrich’s order for the riot, including the ar-
rests of the Jews and their removal to concentration camps. After
referring to the fact that demonstrations were to be expected in
view of the killing of a German Legation official in Paris that
night, he instructs the Police on the prospective burning of syna-
gogues, destruction of business and private apartments of Jews,
and in their duty to refrain from hindering the demonstrators.

“The Police has only to supervise compliance with the in-
structions.”

And finally:

“In all districts as many Jews, especially rich ones, are to
be arrested as ean be accommodated in the existing prisons.
For the time being only healthy men, not too old, are to be
arrested. TUpon their arrest, the appropriate concentration
camps should be contacted immediately in order to confine
them in these camps as fast as possible.”

We now know from the evidence with regard to the seizure of the
houses of Jews by Neurath and Rosenberg why the orders were
to concentrate upon the richest (1759-PS, USA 420).

These events were neither secret nor hidden. Ministers were
writing to each other and discussing them. Long before 1939 they
were common knowledge not only to Germany but to the whole
world. Every one of these defendants must have heard again
and again stories similar to that of Sollman. Almost all of them
have sought to gain credit from helping one or two Jews; and
you will remember the evidence of a special office in Goering’s
Ministry to deal with protests, and his witness Koerner who stated
with pride that Goering had always intervened on behalf of in-
dividuals. Perhaps it afforded them some gratification or eased
their conscience in some way occasionally to demonstrate their
influence by exempting some unhappy individual who sought their
favour from the general horror of the regime which they con-
tinued to uphold. But these men participated in a Government
which was conducted without any regard for human decency or
established law. There is not one of them who, being a member of
the Government during that period, has not got the blood of hun-
dreds of his own countrymen on his hands.

Goering and Frick established the concentration camps; the
withess Severing and the documents quoted testify to the mur-
ders which took place in them at a time when these two were
directly responsible. Even Goering could not defend all the mur-
ders of the 30 June 1934. He shares with Hess and Frick the
responsibility for the Nurnberg Laws. The record of the meet-
ing of the 12 November 1938 and Goering’s.initials on Heydrich’s
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order of the 9th November require no comment (1816-PS, USA
261; 8051-PS, USA 240).

As Ambassador in England, Ribbentrop must have been well
aware of the fact, if only from the English papers, whilst his
delegate Woermann assented to the atrocities reported to the
meeting of the 12th November 1938. The previous owner of his
country house, Herr von Remiz was placed in a concentration
camp, and he expressed his sentiments towards the Jews to M.
Donnet, on the 8th December 1938 in the following terms (1816-
PS, USA 261; L-205, GB 157).

“The German Government had therefore decided to assimi-
late them (the Jews) with the criminal elements of the popula-
tion. The property which they had acquired illegally would be
taken from them. They would be forced to live in districts
frequented by the criminal classes.”

Hess, who set up an office for racial policy in 1983, shares re-
sponsibility for the Nurnberg decrees (1814—PS, USA 328).

At the meeting of 12 November a full report was given of
similar measures against the Jews in Austria and it seems cer-
tain that the defendant Kaltenbrunner as a faithful member of
the Party was giving full support to the necessary measures
(1816-P8S, USA 261). The evidence that Seyss-Inquart was play-
ing his part is before the Tribunal (3460-PS, USA 487; 1816-PS,
USA 261). Rosenberg was writing “The Myth of the Twentieth
Century” and taking his full share in the struggle against the
Church and the Anti-Semitic policy of the Government, whilst
even Raeder on Heroes’ day 1939 was speaking of ‘“the clear and
inspiring summons to fight Bolshevism and International Jewry
whose race-destroying activities we have sufficiently experienced
on our own people” (2349-PS, USA 352; D-653, GB 232).

Frick, as Minister of the Interior, bears a responsibility second
to none for the horrors of the concentration camps and for the
Gestapo, whilst Frank, as Minister of Justice for Bavaria, was
presumably receiving the reports on the murders in Dachau. He
was the leading jurist of the Party, a member of the Central Com-
mittee which carried out the boycott of the Jews in March 1933
and spoke on the wireless in March 1934 justifying racial legisla-
tion and the elimination of hostile political organizations. He also
was present at Goering’s meeting (2156-PS, USA 263; 2536-
PS).

The Tribunal will not require to be reminded of the part played
by Streicher. It was in March 1938 that the Sturmer began con-
sistently to advocate extermination, the first article of a series
which was to continue throughout the next seven years, heginning
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with an article signed by Streicher ending with the words: “We
are aproaching wonderful times—a Greater Germany without
Jews” (D-802, GB 327).

Funk, as Vice President of the Reich Chamber for Culture from
1933 had participated in the policy for the elimination of the
Jews; he wag present and assented to the recommendations at
Goering’s meeting in 1938 at which it will be remembered Goering
suggested that it would have been better to kill 200 Jews, where-
upon Heydrich mentioned that in fact the number was a mere 35
(8505-PS, USA 653; 1816-PS, USA 261).

Schacht himself admitted that as early as the second half of
1934 and the first half of 1935 he found that he was wrong in
thinking that Hitler would bring the ‘“Revolutionary” force of
.the Nazis into a regulated atmosphere, and that he discovered
that Hitler having done nothing to stop the excesses of individual
Party members or Party groups, was pursuing a “policy of
terror”. Nevertheless he remained in office and Schacht accepted
the Golden Party Badge in January 1937 when von Elz refused it
(EC-500).

Schirach has confirmed his part in insuring that the younger
- generation of Germany grew up rabid anti-Semites under his
teaching. He cannot escape responsibility for training the youth
to bully Jews; to persecute the Church; to prepare for war. This
perversion of -children is perhaps the basest crime of all.

‘Sauckel, who had joined the Party in 1921, filled the post of
Gauleiter of Thuringia. He cannot have been ignorant of the
persecution of the Church, of the Trades Unions, of other political
parties and of the Jews, throughout this important Gau, and there
is every reason to suppose that he gave the fullest support to these
policies and thus enhanced his reputation with the Nazis. Papen
and Neurath were in a better position to judge these matters than
any of the other defendants, since it was their political associates
who were being persecuted, whilst, in the case of Papen, some of
his own staff were killed and he himself arrested, he was lucky to
escape with his life (2974-PS, USA 15).

Neurath’s attitude to the Jews is shown by his speech in Sep-
tember 1933 (3893-PS, GB 514):

“The stupid talk about purely internal affairs, as for example
the Jewish question, will quickly be silenced-if one realizes that
the necessary cleaning up of public life must temporarily entail
individual cases of personal hardship but that nevertheless it
only served to establish all the more firmly the authority of
Justice and law in Germany.”

What prostitution of these great words!
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Of the remainder, all were men of intelligence and already
held positions of considerable authority. None of them can have
been ignorant of what the whole world knew, yet not one of them
has suggested that he made any effective protest against this re-
gime of brutality and terror. All of these men continued in their
spheres of government and in the highest positions of responsibil-
ity. Each in his part—and each a vital part—these men built up .
the evil thing, the ultimate purpose of which was so well known
to them, and instilled the evil doctrines which were essential to
the achievement of that purpose. It-was Lord Acton—that great
European—who, 80 years ago, in expressing his conviction of the
sanctity of human life, said

“The greatest crime is homicide. The accomplice is no better
than the Assassin; the theorist is the worst.”

The Crime Against Peace

I shall return if T may, later to the question of conspiracy and
to the part these men played in it, but no conclusion upon the
conspiracy charge in the first count of this Indictment is really
possible until the specific crimes set out in the subsequent counts
have been considered. And first of these is the crime against
Peace, set out in Count 2. 1 say first, first in its place in the In-
dietment. . Moralists may argue which is greatest in moral guilt.
But this perhaps should be said at the very outset. It is said
that there is no such crime as a crime against peace, and those
superficial thinkers who, whether in this Court or in armchairs
elsewhere, have questioned the validity of these proceedings,
have made much of this argument. Of its merits I shall say
something presently. But let it be said plainly now, that these
defendants are charged also as common murderers. That charge
alone merits the imposition of the supreme penalty and the joinder
of this crime against peace in the Indictment can add nothing to
the penalty which may be imposed on these individuals. Is ift,
then, a mere work of supererogation to have included this matter
in the indictment at all? We think not, for the very reason that
maore is at stake here than the fate of these individuals. It is the
crime of war which is at once the object and the parent of the
other crimes; the crimes against humanity, the war crimes, the
common murders. These things occur when men embark on total
war as an instrument of policy for aggressive ends.

Moreover, taking this crime, the crime against peace, in isola-
tion, it was responsible for the deaths in battle of ten million
men, and for bringing to the very edge of ruin the whole moral
and material structure of our civilization. Although it may be
that it may add nothing to.the penalty which may be imposed
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upon these men, it is a fundamental part of these proceedings to
establish for all time that International Law has the power, in-
herent in its very nature, both to declare that a war is eriminal,
and to deal with those who aid and abet their States in its com-
mission. I shall come back to the Law: let me first refer to the
facts.

You have had from defense counsel an elaborate, but a partial
and a highly controversial account of foreign relations leading up
to 1939. I do not propose to follow them in that examination, nor
am I concerned to say that as events have turned out, the policies
pursued -by the democratic powers may not sometimes have been
weak, vacillating, and open to criticism. Defense counsel have
sought to have some argument on the protocol attached to the
German-Soviet Pact. They argue that it was wrong. 1 am not
concerned with that, and of course I do not concede it. But let
them argue that it was wrong. Do two wrongs make a right?
Not in that international law which this Tribunal will administer.

The review which defense counsel have made entirely overlooks
the two basic facts in this case, that from the time of “Mein
Kampf” on, the whole aim of Nazi policy was expansion, aggres-
sion, domination, and that the democratic powers had to deal
with a Germany of which that was, in spite of occasional lip serv-
ice to peace, the fundamental aim. If peace was contemplated at
all, it was peace only at Germany’s price. And knowing that that
price would not be and could not be paid voluntarily, the Germans
were determined to secure it by force.

Whilst the German people were being psychologically prepared
for war, the necessary measures of re-armament were taken si-
multaneously. At his conference on the 28rd November 1939,
Hitler summed up this period of preparation in these words (789-
PS,USA 23):

“I had to reorganize everything beginning with the mass of
the people extending it to the Armed Forces. First internal
reorganization, eradication of appearances of decay and of de-
featist ideas, education to heroism. While reorganizing inter-
nally, I undertook the second task to release Germany from its
international ties * * * secession from the League of Nations
and denunciation of the Disarmament Conference * * * After
that the order for rearmament. In 1935 the introduction of
compulsory armed service. After that militarization of the
Rhineland.” .

The conspirators set out first to get rid of the political restraints
which prevented rearmament. In October 1935 Germany left the
League of Nations and in March 1935 renounced the Armament
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Clauses of Versailles and informed the world of the establishment
of an air force, of a large standing army, and of conseriptior.
Already the Reich Defense Council had been set up and its Work-
ing Committee had had its second meeting as early as 26th April
19383 with representatives from every department. It is difficult,
is it not, to believe that reading the minutes of these meetings, as
they must have done, Neurath, Frick, Schacht, Goering, Raeder,
Keitel, and Jodl, the last two being generally present, can have
supposed that the regime did not intend war (EC-177, USA 390;
(2261-PS, USA 24):

On the economic side Schacht already President of the Reichs-
bank and Minister of Economics, was made General Plenipoten-
tiary for War Economy in May 1935. The appointment was to be
a complete secret. His contribution is best expressed in his own
words (EC-611, USA 622):

“It is possible that no bank of issue in peacetime carried on
such a daring credit policy as the Reichsbank since the seizure
of power by National Socialism. With the aid of this credit
policy, however, Germany created an armament second to none
and this armament in turn made possible the results of our
policy.”

Schacht’s speech on 29th November 1938 is seen to be no boast
when the report of his deputy, which has beén put in evidence, is
considered (EC-258, USA 625).

That report shows that under Schacht’s guidance, 180,000 in-
dustrial plants had been surveyed as to usefulness for war pur-
poses. Keconomic plans for the production of 200 basic materials
had been worked out. A system for the letting of war contracts
had been revised, allocations of coal, motor fuel, and power had
been determined, RM. 248,000,000 had been spent on storage
facilities alone, evacuation plans for skilled workers and war
materials and military zones had been worked out; 80,000,000
wartime ration cards had already been printed and distributed
to local areas and a card index on the skill of some 20,000,000
workers had been prepared.

The most detailed and thorough preparations which that re-
port sets out were not made without the knowledge of every mem-
ber of the government and no more graphic illustration of the
common purpose and awareness of the aim which permeated all
departments of the State is to be found than the second meeting
of the Reich Defense Council itself held on 25th June 1939, under
the presidency of the defendant Goering, the head of the 4-year
plan. The defendants Frick, Funk, Keitel and Raeder were pres-
ent and Hess and Ribbentrop were represented. The methodical
detail in the plans which were being worked out; the preparations
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. in respect of manpower involving the use of concentration camp
workers and the unfortunate slaves of the protectorate are
eloquent testimonies of the size of the struggle upon which these
men know that Germany was about to embark.

The major share in rearmament must be attributed to the de-
fendants Goering, Schacht, Raeder, Keitel, and Jodl, but the
others, too, each in his sphere, played their parts: Rosenberg,
Schirach, and Streicher in education, Doenitz in the preparation
of the U-boat fleet, Neurath and Ribbentrop in the field of foreign
affairs.

Funk and Fritzsche were reorganizing propaganda and news
systems until the former succeeded Schacht and became Minister
of Economics and in September 1938 General Plenipotentiary for
Economics. As Plenipotentiary Funk was charged with insuring
the economic conditions for the production of the armament in-
dustry, according to the requirements of the High Command.
Frick as Plenipotentiary for the Reich administration, with Funk
and Keitel, formed the three-man college planning preparations
and decrees in case of war (2978-PS, USA 8).

It is unnecessary in assessing this work of rearmament to do
more by way of summary than to quote the words of Hitler him-
self in the memorandum which Jodl described as written during
two nights of work by the Fuehrer personally and which he sent
to the defendants Raeder, Goering, and Keitel. In that memoran-
dum of 9th October 1939, Hitler finally disposes of the evidence of
these defendants that Germany was never adequately prepared
for war (L-52, USA 540).

“The military abplication of our people’s strength has been
carried through to such an extent that within a short time at
any rate it cannot be markedly improved upon by any manner
of effort.”

and again:

“The warlike equipment of the German people is at present
larger in quantity and better in quality for a great number of
German divisions, than in the year 1914. The weapons them-
selves, taking a substantial cross section, are more modern than
is the case with any other country in the world at this time.

" They have just proved their supreme war-worthiness in a vic-
torious campaign. In the case of the armaments of other coun-
tries this has yet to be demonstrated. In some arms Germany
today possesses clear indisputable superiority of weapons.”

And then, speaking of the ammunition available after the con-
clusion of the Polish campaign:

“There is no evidence available to show that any country in

79



the world disposes of a better total ammunition stock than the
German Reich. * * * The Air Force at present is numerically
the strongest in the world. * * * The AA artillery is not equalled
by any country in the world.”

That, then, was the practical result of six years of intensive
rearmament carried out at the expense and with the knowledge
of the whole of the German people.

Meanwhile the Youth of Germany was -educated and drilled
in semi-military formations for war and then, on reaching the
age for conscription, was called up for intensive training. This
was going on throughout the Reich, together with the enormous
work of economic preparation. Is it to be believed that any one
of these men did not guess the purpose of this terrific effort?

If, indeed, any of them was in doubt, the successful actions
in which, to use the words of one of Neurath’s witnesses, “the
Nazis were able to reap cheap laurels without war through the
successfully practiced tactics of bluff and sudden surprise,” must
have opened their eyes.

The first step was the Rhineland and the technique became the
model for each subsequent move. On 21st May 1935, Hitler gave
a solemn assurance that the stipulations of Versailles and Locarno
were being observed. Yet three weeks earlier on the very day of
the conclusion of the Franco-Soviet pact, later to become the
official excuse. for the reoccupation of the Rhineland, and the
defense for it, before this Tribunal, the first directive had been
issued to the Service Chiefs. The defendant Jodl having perhaps
noted the significance of the date, has sought to persuade the
Tribunal that his first admission that “Operation Schulung” re-
ferred to the reoccupation of the Rhineland was wrong, and that
it applied to some military excursion in the Tyrol. Yet on 26th
June, he himself was addressing the Working Committee of the
Reich Defense Council on the plans for reoccupation and reveal-
ing that weapons, equipment insignia, and field grey uniforms
were being stored in the zone under conditions of the greatest
secrecy. Can anyone who reads his words doubt that this proc-
ess had been going on at least for seven weeks? (EC-405, GB
160)

Any representative of the innumerable departments who at-
tended that meeting and heard Jodl’'s remarks on the 26th June
1935 or who subsequently read the minutes, knew what to expect.
On 2nd March the final orders were given and passed to the Navy
four days later. The defendants Keitel, Jodl, Raeder, Frick,
Schacht, and Goering were all involved in the necessary exec-
utive action and, if his U-boats complied with the instruction of
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the 6th March, the defendant Doenitz, as well (C-159, USA 54;
C-194, USA_ 55).

From the beginning, at every stage you see the common plan
worked out—and worked out as it eould only be if those men each
played his allotted part. First the period of apparent quiet, dur-
ing which treaties are concluded, assurances given and protesta-
tions of friendship made while beneath the surface the Auslands
organization under Hess and Rosenberg begins to undermine
and disrupt. The victim is deceived by open promises and weak-
ened by underhand methods. Next, the decision to attack is
taken and military preparations are hastened. If the victim
‘shows signs of suspicion, the assurances of friendship are re-
doubled. -

Meanwhile, the finishing touches are put to the work accom-
plished by the Fifth Column. Then when all is prepared, what Hit-
ler called “the propagandist cause for starting the war” is chosen,
frontier incidents are faked, abuse and threats take place of fair
words and everything is done to terrify the vietim into submis-
sion. Finally, the blow is struck without warning.

The plan varies in detail from case to case, but essentially, it is
the same, the perfect example repeated again and again, of
treachery, intimidation, and murder.

The next step was Austria. First, the Nazis arranged the
murder of Dollfuss in 1934. After the evidence in the case of
the defendant Neurath, there can be little doubt as to his as-
sassination being plotted in Berlin and arranged by Habicht and
Hitler some six weeks before. The failure of that putsch made it
necessary to temporize, and accordingly in May 1935 Hitler gave
a complete assurance to Austria. At the same time the defendant
Papen was sent to undermine the Austrian government. With
the occupation of the Rhineland, Austria was next on the pro-
gramme but Hitler was still not yet ready, hence the solemn
agreement of July 1986. By the autumn of 1937 Papen’s reports
showed progress and accordingly the plot was divulged at the
Hossbach meeting., A slight delay was necessary for the removal
of the refractory Army leaders, but in February 1938, Papen
having completed his plotting with Seyss-Inquart, Schuschnigg
was lured to Berchtesgaden and bullied by Hitler, Ribbentrop, and
Keitel. Shortly afterwards, the final scene took place, Goering
playing his part in Berlin. The defendants, Goering, Hess, Keitel,
Jodl, Raeder, Frick, Schacht, Papen, and Neurath were all aware
of this Austrian plot, Neurath and Papen from the very beginning
of it (TC-26, GB 19; TC-22, GB 20; 386—PS, USA 25).

With the exception of Goering, each one of them has attempted
to put forward a defense of ignoranece which cannot be regarded
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as other than ludicrous in the light of the documents. Not one
of them has suggested that he protested, each one of them re-
mained in office thereafter.

Already the plan for Czechoslovakia was ready; it had been
discussed at the Hossbach meeting in November 1937; within
three weeks of the Munich agreement the directive to prepare the
march in had been given and on the 15th of March 1939, Presi-
dent Hacha having been duly bullied by Hitler, Ribbentrop, Goer-
ing, and Keitel, Prague was occupied and the Protectorate estab-
lished by Frick and Neurath. You will remember the astonishing
admission of Goering that although he certainly threatened to
bomb Prague he never really intended to do it. Ribbentrop also
seems to have considered that in diplomacy any lie is permissible.

The stage was now set for Poland. As Jodl explained (L-172,
USA 384): '

“The solution of the Czech conflict and the annexation of

Czechoslovakia rounded off the territory of greater Germany so

that it was possible to consider the Polish problem on a basis

of more or less favourable strategic promises.”

And now the time has come when, to use Hitler’s words (386-PS,
USA 25):
“Germany must reckon with its two hateful enemies, Eng-
land and France.”

And accordingly followed the policy laid down by Ribbentrop in
January, 1938 (TC-75,GRB 28):
“the formation in great secrecy but with wholehearted tenacity
of a coalition against England.”

In the case of Poland, however, the German Foreign Office had
already advised Ribbentrop as long ago as a month before Munich
in the following terms (TC-76,GB 81):

“It is unavoidable that the German departure from the prob-
lems of victories in the southeast and their transfer to the east
and northeast must make the Poles sit up. The fact is that
after the liquidation of the Czech question it will be generally
assumed that Poland will be the next in turn. But the later
this assumption sinks in in international politics as a firm factor
the better. In this sense, however, it is important for the time
being to carry on German policy under the well-known and
proved slogans of the right to autonomy and racial unity. Any-
thing else might be interpreted as pure imperialism on our part
and create resistance to our plan by the Entante at an earlier
date and more energetically than our Forces could stand up to.”

In this case, therefore, the usual assurances were reiterated and
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again and again Hitler and Ribbentrop made the most explicit
statements. Meanwhile the usual steps were taken, and following
the meeting of the 23rd of May 1939, which Raeder described as
an academic lecture on war the final military economic and politi-
cal preparations for war against Poland were taken and in due
time war was commenced; and you get that quotation that you
have heard so often, and it ought to be remembered for all times
(L-79, USA 27)
“The victor shall not be asked later on whether we were tell-
ing the truth or not. In starting and making a war, not the
right is what matters, but victory.”

Those were Hitler’s words, but these men echoed and imple-
mented them at every stage. That was the doctrine underlying
Nazi policy. Step by step the conspirators had reached the cru-
cial stage and had launched Germany upon an attempt to dominate
Europe and involve the world in untold horror. Not one of these
men had turned against the regime. Not one of them except
Schacht—to whose vital contribution to the creation of the Nazi
monster I shall return later—had resigned and even he con-
tinued to lend his name to the Nazi Government (1014-PS, USA
30).

Holland having been overrun, the course of the war soon showed
that Germany’s military aims and the interests'of her strategy
would be improved by further aggression. I do not propose to
take time now by tracing again the various steps. As Hitler
said at the meeting in November 1939 (789-PS, USA 23):

“* * * Breach of the neutrality of Belgium and Holland is

meaningless. No one will question that when we have won we

shall not bring about a breach of neutrality as in 1914.”

Norway and Denmark were invaded. No kind of excuse, then .
or now, has been put forward for the occupation of Denmark, but
a strenuous attempt has been made in the course of this trial to
suggest that Norway was invaded only because the Germans
believed that the Allies were about to take a similar step. Even
if it were true, it would be no answer, but the German documents
completely dispose of the suggestion that it was for such a rea-
son that the Germans violated Norwegian neutrality.

Hitler, Goering, and Raeder had agreed as early as November
1934 that “No war could be carried on if the Navy was not able
to safeguard the ore imports from Scandinavia.” (C—1 90, USA
45).

Accordingly, as the European struggle drew near, a Non-
Aggression Pact was made with Denmark on 31 May 1939 fol-
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lowing the usual assurances to both Norway and Denmark which
had already been given a month earlier. At the outbreak of the
war a further assurance was made to Norway, followed by an-
other on the 6th October. On the 6th September, 4 days after
his assurance, Hitler was discussing with Raeder the Scan-
dinavian problem and his political intentions in regard to the
Nordic States, expressed in Admiral Assman’s diary as—*a north
Germanic community with limited sovereignty in close depend-
ence on Germany.” (TC-24, GB 77; TC-30, GB 78; TC-31, GB
79; TC-32,'GB 80). _

On October 9th, three days after his most recent assurance, in
his memorandum for the information of Raeder, Goering, and
Keitel, Hitler was writing of the great danger of the Allies block-
ing the exits for U-boats between Norway and the Shetlands and
of the consequent importance of “the creation of U-boat strong-
points outside these constricted home bases.” Where outside the
constricted home bases if not in Norway? (L-52, USA 540).

It is significant that the very next day Doenitz submitted a re-
port on the comparative advantages of the different Norwegian
bases, having discussed the matter with Raeder some six days
before. The strategic advantages were apparent to all these men
and the hollowness of the defense that the invasion of Norway
was decided upon because it was believed that the Allies were
going to invade is completely exposed when you consider the state-
ment in Hitler’s memorandum preceding the passage I have Just
quoted that (C-5, GB 83; C-122, GB 82):

“Provided no completely unforeseen factors appear their neu-
trality in the future is also to be assured. The continuation of
German trade with these countries appears possible even in a
war of long duration.”

Hitler saw no threat from the Allies at that time.

Rosenberg and Goering’s deputy, Koerner, had been in touch
with Quisling and Hagelin as early as June and it is clear from
Rosenberg’s subsequent report that Hitler had been kept fully
informed. In December the time for planning had arrived
and the decision to prepare for invasion was accordingly taken at
a meeting between Hitler and Raeder. It was not long before
Keitel and Jodl issued the necessary directives and in due course
as necessary Goering, Doenitz, and Ribbentrop were involved
(004-PS, GB 140, C-66, GB 81).

On the 9th October, as I have already said, Hitler was con-
fident that there would be no danger to the Nordic States from
the Allies. All the alleged intelligence reports contain no in-
formation which comes within miles of justifying an anticipatory
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invasion based—you might think it is laughable—on the doc-
trine of self-preservation. It is true that in February 1940 Rae-
der pointed out to him that if England occupied Norway the whole
Swedish supply of ore to Germany would be endangered but on
the 26th March he advised that the Russo-Finnish conflict having
ceased, the danger of an Allied landing was no longer considered
serious. Nonetheless he went on to suggest that the invasion, for
which all the directives had been issued, should take place at the
next new moon, on the 7th April. It is interesting to note that
Raeder’s own war diary signed by himself and his Chief of
Staff Operations records a similar opinion four days earlier. If
further evidence were needed to show that the actual step was
taken regardless of any risk of interference from the Waest,
it is to be found in telegrams from the German Ministers at both
Oslo and Stockholm and from the German Military Attache at
Stockholm, advising the German Government that, far from be-
ing worried over invasion by the British, the Scandinavian Gov-
ernments were apprehensive that it was the Germans who in-
tended to invade. Perhaps Jodl’s comment in his diary for March
that Hitler “is still looking for an excuse’”’ with Raeder’s lame
explanation that this refers to the text of the diplomatic note
which would have to be sent and Ribbentrop’s assertion that he
was informed of the invasion only a day or so before it was to
" take place are as conclusive as anything else of the dishonesty of
this defense. Once again all these men in their different spheres
were playing their appointed parts. Notably, of course, Rosen-
berg, who paved the way, Goering, Raeder, Keitel, Jodl, and
Ribbentrop who took the necessary executive action. Not one
of them protested: even Fritzsche’s only defense is that he was
not told until a very late stage when he was as usual required to
broadcast. He does not suggest that he protested. Once again,
a completely ruthless invasion of two countries was undertaken
in breach of every treaty and assurance, solely because it was
strategically desirable to have Norwegian bases and to secure
Scandinavian ore (D-848, GB 466; D-844, GB 467; D-845, GB
468).

And so it went on: Yugoslavia, her fate settled before the war,
.Greece, and then Soviet Russia. The German Soviet Pact of the
23rd August 1939 paved the way. Complete worthlessness of a
Ribbentrop signature is made clear by Hitler’s memorandum six
weeks later, where he remarked: “The trifling significance of
treaties of agreement has been proved on all gsides in recent
vears.” (L-52, USA 540).

By the 18th of December 1940 it must have become apparent
that the German hope of overcoming the resistance of Great
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Britain—then and for many months holding the fort of freedom
and democracy alone against an enemy never more powerful than
at that time—were vain, and so the first directive was issued for
an attack in another direction this time—against Soviet Russia.
It is indeed true—and it is interesting—that on this occasion a
number of the Defendants did make some objection. Little Nor-
way might be violated without protest: there was no danger there.
There was happy acquiescence in the rape of the gallant Nether-
lands and Belgium. But here was an enemy which might perhaps
strike fear in the heart of the bully. The Defendants objected,
of course, if at all on purely military grounds, although Raeder
does say that he was influenced by the moral wrong which breach
of the German Soviet treaty would involve., It is for you to say.
These moral scruples which ought so properly to have manifested
themselves on countless other occasions are only previously re-
corded when one of his officers wished to marry a lady of doubtful
reputation. The truth is that some of these men were beginning
to become apprehensive. Great Britain’s resistance had already
begun to make them think. Was Hitler now taking on another
enemy whom he could not defeat? Once the decision was taken,
however, everyone of them set to work to play his part with his
usual disregard for all laws of morality or even decency (446-FS,
USA 31).

In no single case did a declaration of war precede military
action. How many thousands of innocent inoffensive men, women,
and children, sleeping in their beds in the happy belief that their
country was and would remain at peace, were suddenly blown into
eternity by death dropped on them without warning from the
skies? In what respect does the guilt of any one of these men
differ from the common murderer creeping stealthily to do his vie-
tim to death in order that he may rob them of their belongings?

In every single case, as the dotuments make clear, this was the
common plan. The attack must be “blitzartig schnell”—without
warning—with the speed of lightning: Austria, Czechoslovakia;
Poland; Raeder repeating Keitel’'s directive for “heavy blows
struck by surprise”: Denmark, Norway, Belgium, Holland, Russia
(386-PS, USA 25).

As Hitler had said in the presence of a number of these men
(C-126,GB 45):

“Considerations of right or wrong or treaties do not enter
into the matter.”

The killing of combatants in war is justifiable, both in Interna-
national and in Municipal law, only where the war itself is legal.
But where a war is illegal, as a war started not only in breach of
the Pact of Paris but without any sort of warning or declaration
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clearly is, there is nothing to justify the killing, and these murders
are not to be distinguished from those of any other lawless robber
bands.

Everyone of these men knew of these plans at one stage or an-
other in their development. Everyone of these men acquiesced in
this technique, knowing full well what it must represent in terms
of human life. How can anyone of them now say he was not a
party to common murder in its most ruthless form?

Agaressive War: The Legal Position
But I am dealing now not with the murders which alone so well
justify the condemnation of these men, but with their crime
against Peace. Let me say something about the legal aspect of
this matter, for it is one to the firm establishment of which His
Majesty’s Government the United Kingdom, and indeed all the
prosecutors here attach great importance.

The distinguished speech for the defense was free of ambiguity.
The effect was that though the Kellogg-Briand Pact and the other
international declarations and treaties rendered aggressive war
illegal, they did not make it criminal. In support of this conten-
tion it was argued that they could not have done so because any
such attempt to make aggressive war a crime would be contrary
to the sovereignty of states, and that, in any event, the entire
system of prohibition of war had collapsed before the outbreak
of the Second World War and therefore ceased to be law. It was
further argued that these treaties were not taken seriously by
numerous jurists and journalists whose opinions were cited and
were not really entitled to be treated seriously because they con-
tained no provision for coping with the problem of the peaceful
change of the status quo. With regard to the Pact of Paris itself,
counsel contended that there could be no question of a criminal—
or even unlawful—breach of that Pact of Paris because it left
to each State including Germany, the right to determine whether
it was entitled to go to war in self-defense. Finally it was sug-
gested that the State could not become the subject of criminal
responsibility and that, if that proposition were not admitted, the
crime was one of the German State and not of individual mem-
bers of it, because in the German State which launched that war
upon the world there were no individual wills but only one
‘sovereign, uncontrolled and final will—that of the Dictator
Fuehrer.

It might be enough for me to say that this entire line of argu-
ments is beside the point and cannot be heard in this Court since
it is in contradiction to the Charter. For the Charter lays down
expressly that the planning, and I emphasize the word “planning”’,
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preparation, Tnitiation, or waging of a war of aggression or of a
war in violation of international treaties, agreements, or assur-
ances shall be considered crimes coming within the jurisdiction
of the Tribunal. It would appear, therefore, that the only way
in which the accused can escape liability is to show to the satis-
faction of the Tribunal that these wars were not wars of aggres-
sion or in violation of treaties. They have not done that. That
being so one asks what is the purpose of the argument which has
been advanced in their behalf. Is it to deny the jurisdiction of
this Tribunal in this matter? Or what is more probable, is it a
political appeal to some outside audience which may be more
easily impressed by the complaint that the accused are being
made the object of post factum legislation?

Whatever its object, it is important that the argument should
not go unchallenged. I am- anxious not to take up time by re-
peating what I said in my opening statement on the change ef-
fected in the position of war in international law as the result of
the long series of treaties, in particular the General Treaty for
the Renunciation of War. I have submitted that that Treaty, one
of the most generally signed international treaties, established a
rule of international law with a solemnity and clarity which is
often lacking in customary international law; that the profound
change which it produced—and this is important—(although in-
deed the distinction between just and unjust wars had been rec-
ognized in mediaeval times) was reflected in weighty pronounce-
ments of governments and statesmen; I submit that it rendered
illegal recourse to war in violation of the Treaty; and that there
is no difference between illegality and criminality in a breach of
law involving the deaths of millions and a direct attack on the
very foundations of civilized life. Nor do I propose to take time
by answering in detail the strange chain of legal argument put
forward by the defense such as that the Treaty had no effect at-
tributed to it by its signatories on the ground that it was received
in some quarters with disbelief or cynicism.

Even more curious to ordinary legal thinking is the reasoning
that in any case that Treaty—and the other Treaties and assur-
ances which followed it—had ceased to be legally binding by 1939
because by that time the entire system of collective security had
collapsed. The fact that the United States declared its neutrality
in 1939 was cited as an example of the collapse of the system as
if the United States had been under any legal obligation to aet
otherwise. But what is the relevance of the fact that the system
devised to enforce these treaties and to prevent and to penalize
criminal recourse to war failed to work? Did the aggressions of
Japan and Italy and the other States involved in the Axis con-
spiracy, followed by the German aggressions, against Austria and
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Czechoslovakia, deprive these obligations of their binding effect
simply because those crimes achieved a temporary success? Since
when has the civilized world accepted the principle that the tem-
porary impunity of the criminal not only deprives the law of its
pinding force but legalizes his crime?

And you will notice, incidentally, that in the case both of the
Japanese and Italian aggressions, the Council and the Assembly
of the League of Nations denounced these acts as violations both
of the Covenant and of the General Treaty for the Renunciation
of War and that in both cases sanctions were decreed. It may be
that the policemen did not act as effectively as one could have
wished them to act. But that was a failure of the policemen,
not of the Iaw.

But not content with the remarkable suggestion that by their
very aggressions, because of the reluctance of the peace loving
States to take arms against the blackmail and the bullying which
was directed against them, the aggressors had abrogated the law
against aggression, the Defendants have introduced some ques-
tion of self-defense. They have not indeed, really suggested that
these wars were defensive wars. Not even Goebbels in his wild-
est extravagances went quite so far as that. It appears that what
they seek to say is not that their wars were wars in self-defense,
but that since the Pact of Paris not only left intact the right of
States to defend themselves but also the sovereign right of each
State to determine whether recourse to war in self-defense was
justified in the circumstances, it did not in fact contain any legal
obligation at all. That is a wholly fallacious argument. It is
true that in the declarations preceding and accompanying the
signature and the ratification of the Pact of Paris, self-defense
was not only recognized as an inherent and inalienable right of
the parties to the Treaty, but its signatories reserved for them-
selves the exclusive right of judging whether circumstances called
for the exercise of that right.

The question is whether this reservation of self-defense de-
stroyed the purpose and the legal value of the Treaty? If Ger-
many was entitled to have recourse to war-in self-defense and if
she was free to determine in what circumstances she was per-
mitted to exercise the right of self-defense, can she ever be con-
sidered to have violated the solemn obligation of the Treaty?
That question Counsel for the Defense sought to answer in the
negative. But that answer amounts to an assertion that that
solemn Treaty subscribed to by more than sixty nations is a scrap
of paper devoid of any meaning at all, and it would result in this
—that every prohibition or limitation of the right of war is a
nullity if it expressly provides for the right of self-defense, and
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I iavite the Tribunal emphatically to consign that parody of legal
reasoning to where it properly belongs.

Neither the Pact of Paris nor any other treaty was intended to
—or could—take away the right of self-defense. Nor did it de-
prive its signatories of the right to determine, in the first instance,
whether there was danger in delay and whether immediate action
to defend themselvs was imperative; and that only is the meaning
of the express proviso that each State judges whether action in
self-defense is necessary. But that does not mean that the State
thus acting is the ultimate judge of the propriety and of the
legality of its conduct. It acts at its peril. Just as the individual
is answerable for the exercise of his common law right of defense,
so the State is answerable if it abuses its discretion, if it trans-
forms “self-defense” into an Instrument of conquest and law-
lessness, if it twists the natural right of self-defense into a weapon
of predatory aggrandizement and lust. The ultimate decision as
to the lawfulness of action claimed to be taken in self-defense does
not lie with the State concerned, and for that reason, the right of
self-defense, whether expressly reserved or implied, does not
impair the capacity of a treaty to create legal obligations against
war.

Under the Covenant of the League, Japan was entitled to de-
cide in the first instance, whether events in Manchuria justified
resort to force in self-defense. But it was left to an impartial
body of inquiry to find, as it did find, that there was in fact no
justification for action in self-defense, and to mention a more
recent example, Article 51 of the Charter of the United Nations
lays down that nothing in the Charter shall impair the inherent
right of individual or collective self-defense in case of armed
attack. But it expressly leaves to the Security Council the
power of ultimate action and determination. It is to be hoped
that the judgment of this Tribunal will discourage, and discour-
age with appropriate finality, any future reliance on the argu-
ment that because a treaty reserved for the signatories the right
of action in self-defense, it becomes, for that reason, incapable
of- imposing upon the signatories any effective legal obligation
against war.

Sovereignty and the State

I will now turn to the argument that the notion of eriminal re-
sponsibility is incompatible with the idea of national sovereignty.
A state may, and Professor Jahrreiss conceded, commit an offense
against International Law, but he contends that to make it
criminally responsible and punishable would be to deny the
sovereignty of the State.

It is strange to see the accused, who, in their capacity as the
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German Government overran most of the States of Europe, who
trampled brutally upon their sovereign independence, and who,
with boastful and swaggering cynicism, made the sovereignty of
the conquered States subservient to the new conception of the
“Grossraumsordnung”’—it is strange to see these defendants ap-
pealing to the mystic virtues of the sanctity of State sovereignty,
and perhaps it is not less remarkable to find them invoking ortho-
dox international law to protect the defeated German State and
its rulers from just punishment at the hands of the victorious
Powers. But there is no rule of international law which they can
call in aid to this regard.

In a sense these proceedings are not concerned with punishing
the German State. They are concerned with the punishment of
individuals. But it might seem strange if individuals were
criminally responsible for the acts of the State if such acts by
the State were not themselves crimes. There is no substance at
all in the view that international law rules out the criminal re-
sponsibility of States and that, since, because of their sovereignty,
States cannot be coerced, all their acts are legal. Legal purists
may contend that nothing is law which is not imposed from above
by a sovereign body having the power to compel obedience. That
idea of the analytical jurists has never been applicable to inter-
national law. If it had, the undoubted obligation of States in
matters of contract and tort could not exist.

It may be true that in international relationships prior to the
war, there was no super sovereign body which at the same time
imposed international laws and enforced them. But, at least in
the international field, the existence of law has never been de-
pendent on the existence of a correlated sanction external to
the law itself. International Law has always been based on the
element of common consent and where you have a body of rules
which, whether by common consent or treaty are obligatory upon
the members of the international community these rules are the
laws of that community although the consent has not been ob-
tained by force, and although there may be no direct or external
sanction to secure obedience. The fact is, that absolute sover-
eignty in the old sense is, very fortunately, a thing of the past.
It is a conception which is quite inconsistent with the binding
force of any international treaty. ,

In the course of the work of the Permanent Court of Inter-
national Justice, it became a stock argument to rely on State
Sovereignty in support of the opinion that, as States are sover-
eign, treaty obligations entered into by them ought to be at least
interpreted restrictively. The Court consistently discouraged that
view. In its very first judgment—a judgment given against Ger-
many in the Wimbledon case—it rejected the plea of sovereignty
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as a reason for the restrictive interpretation of obligations in
treaties. The Court declined to see in a treaty, by which a State
undertook to observe a definite line of conduct, an abandonment
of its sovereignty and the Court reminded Germany that the very
right to enter into international agreement is an attribute of
State sovereignty. As a philosophical proposition the right to
contract and the right to freedom of action do present an eternal
antimony. But just as individuals secure freedom by adherence
to laws, so may sovereign States maintain their own individual
status; the view that since States are sovereign they cannot be
coerced, has long since been abandoned. The Covenant of the
League of Nations made provision, in Article 16, for sanctions
against sovereign States—sanctions being only amother name for
coercion, probably coercion of a punitive character. The Charter
of the United Nations has followed suit—much more decisively.
It is'true that, because of the absence of a competent compulsory
jurisdiction, there is no judicial precedent for States being ar-
raigned before a Criminal Tribunal. But that is equally true of
the undoubted ecivil responsibilities of States, for apart from
treaty there is no compulsory jurisdiction in any international
tribunal to adjudicate upon them. :

The first man tried for murder may have complained that no
Court had tried such a case before. The methods of procedure,
the specific punishments, the appropriate Courts ean always be
defined by subsequent proclamation. The only innovation which
this Charter has introduced is to provide machinery, long overdue,
to carry out the existing law, and there is no substance in the
complaint that the Charter is a piece of post factum legislation
either in declaring wars of aggression to be criminal, or in as-
suming that the State is not immune from criminal responsibility.

But then it is argued, even if the State is liable, it is only the
State and not the individual who can be made responsible under
international law. That argument is put in several ways. States
only, it is said, and not individuals, are the subject of interna-
tional law. But there is no such principle of international law.
One need only mention the case of Piracy or Breach of Blockade,
or the case of Spies to see that there are numerous examples of
duties being imposed by International Law directly upon indi-
viduals. War Crimes have always been recognized as bringing
individuals within the scope of International Law. In England
and the United States our Courts have invariably acted on the
view that the accepted customary rules of the Law of Nations
are binding upon the subject and the citizen, and the position is
essentially the same in most countries. In Germany itself, Article
4 of the Weimar constitution laid it down that generally recog-
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nized rules of international law must be regarded as an integral
part of German Federal Law and what can it mean in effect, save
{hat the rules of international law are binding upon individuals?
Shall we depart from that principle merely because we are here
concerned with the gravest offense of all—crimes against the
peace of Nations and crimes against humanity. The law is a liv-
ing, growing thing. In no other sphere is it more necessary to
affirm that the rights and duties of States are the rights and
duties of men and that unless they bind individuals they bind no
one. Itis a startling proposition that those who aid and abet, who
counsel and procure the commission of a crime are themselves
immune from responsibility. The international crime does not
differ from the municipal offense in this respect.

The argument is then put in another way. Where the act con-
cerned is an act of State those who carry it out as the instruments
of the State are not personally responsible and they are entitled,
it is claimed, to shelter themselves behind the sovereignty of the
State. ¥ is not suggested of course that this argument has any
application to war erimes and as we submit each of these men to
be guilty of countless war erimes it might be enough to brush the
matter aside as academic. But that course perhaps would di-
minish the value which these proceedings will have on the subse-
quent development of international law. Now it is true that there
is a series of decisions in which Courts have affirmed that one
State has no authority over another sovereign State or over its
Head or Representative. Those decisions have been based on the
precepts of the comity of nations and of peaceful and sinooth in-
ternational intereourse: they do not in truth depend upon any
sacrosanctity of foreign sovereignty except in so far as the recog-
nition of sovereignty in itself promotes international relations.
They really afford no authority for the proposition that those
who constitute the organs, those who are behind the State, are
entitled to rely on the metaphysical entity which they create and
control when, by their directions that State sets out to destroy
that very comity on which the rules of international law depends.
Suppose a State were to send a body of persons into the territory
of another State with instruections to murder and to rob. Would
those persons carrying out these orders be immune because in
the fulfillment of their criminal design they were acting as the
organs of another State? Suppose the individuals who had or-
dered the predatory expedition were to fall into the hands of the
State attacked—could they plead immunity? In my submission
clearly not. Yet the case put is exactly the case which occurred
here. The truth is that this attempt to clothe crime with im-
punity because the motive was political rather than personal in-
vokes no principle of law but is based on arbitrary political doc-
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trines more appropriate to the sphere of power politics than to
that in which the rule of law prevails.

And finally it is said that these wretched men were powerless’
instruments in Hitler’s hands, ordered to do that which relue-
tantly, or so they say, they did. The defense of superior orders is
excluded by the Charter although Article 8 provides that it may
in appropriate cases be considered in mitigation of punishment,
if the Tribunal thinks that justice so requires. But the Charter
no more than declares the law. There is no rule of International
Law which provides immunity for those who obey orders which—
whether legal or not in the country where they are issued—are
manifestly contrary to the very law of nature from which inter-
national law has grown. If international law is to be applied at
all, it must be superior to municipal law in this respect, that it
must consider the legality of what is done by international and
not by municipal tests. By every test of international law, of
common conscience, of elementary humanity, these orders—if in-
deed it was in obedience to orders that these men acte8—were
illegal. Are they then to be excused?

The dictatorship behind which these men seek to shelter was
of their own creation. In the desire to secure power and position
for themselves they built up the system under which they re-
ceived their orders. The continuance of that system depended
on-their continued support. Even if it were true that—as Jodi
suggested—these men might have been dismissed, perhaps im-
prisoned, had they disobeyed the orders which were given, would
not any fate have been better than that they should have lent
themselves to these things. But it was not true. These were the
men in the inner councils, the men who planned as well as car-
ried out; of all people the ones who might have advised, re-
strained, halted Hitler instead of encouraging him in his satanie
courses. The principle of collective responsibility of the mem-
bers of a government is not an artificial doctrine of constitutional
law. It is an essential protection of the rights of man and the
community of nations; international law is fully entitled to pro-
tect its own existence by giving effect to it.

Let me now pass to Counts 3 and 4 of the Indictment, the
Counts dealing with war crimes and what we have described as
in fact they are, as crimes against humanity.

War Crimes: The Legal Position
And as to these, may I first make some comment on the legal
position. About the law as to war crimes, little indeed need be
said, because the law is clear enough and not in doubt. Here are
crimes more terrible indeed in their extent than anything which
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had hitherto been known, but none the less well recognizable un-
der the preexisting rules of International Law and clearly within
the legitimate jurisdiction either of a National or of an Interna-
tional Tribunal. There is no element of retroactivity here, no
question of post factum law making, nor is there any shadow of
novelty in the decision of the Charter that those who shared the
ultimate responsibility for these frightful deeds should bear in-
dividual responsibility. It is true that the lawyers and the states-
men who at The Hague and elsewhere in days gone by built up
the code of rules, and the established customs by which the world
has sought to mitigate the brutality of war and to protect from
its most extreme harshness those who were passive noncombat-
ants, never dreamed of such wholesale and widespread slaughter.
But murder does not cease to be murder merely because the vie-
tims are multiplied ten million fold. Crimes do not cease to be
criminal because they have a political motive. These crimes were
many and manifold. It is not useful to catalogue them here. They
vary most considerably in the numbers of victims. There are the
fifty murdered prisoners of war who escaped from Stalag Luft
IIT; the hundreds of Commandos and Airmen who were extermi-
nated; there are the thousands of civilian hostages put to death;
the tens of thousands of sailors and passengers who perished in
a piratical campaign of terror; there are the hundreds of thou-
sands of prisoners of war, especially Russians, and of civilians
who met their death because of the rigors and cruelties to which
they were exposed, if not by outright murder, and there are the
many millions murdered outright, or by the slower method of de-
liberate starvation, six millions of them for no better reason than
that they were of Jewish race or faith.

The mere number of victims is not the real criterion of the
criminality of an act. The majesty of death, the compassion for
the innocent, the horror and detestation of the ignominy inflicted
upon man—man created in the image of God—these are not the
subjects of mathematical calculation. None the less, somehow,
numbers are relevant. For we are not dealing here with the oc-
casional atrocities which are perhaps an incident in any war. It
may be that war develops the good things in man; it certainly
brings out the worst. It is not a game of cricket. In any war,
~ in this war no doubt there have been—and no doubt on both sides

—numbers of brutalities and atrocities. They must have seemed
terrible enough to those against whom they were committed. I
do not excuse or belittle them. But they were casual, unorgan-
ized individual acts. We are dealing here with something entirely
different. With systematic, wholesale, consistent action, taken
as a matter of deliberate calculation—calculation of the highest
level. And so the principal war crime in extent as in intensity
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with which these men are charged is the violation of the firmly
established and least controversial of all the rules of warfars,
namely, that noncombatants must not be made the direct object
of hostile operations. What a mockery the Germans sought to
make of the IV Hague Convention on the laws and customs of
war—Convention which merely formulated what was already a
fundamental rule:
“Family honor and rights, the lives of persons and private
property, as well as religious convictions and practices, must
be respected.”

The murdering on the orders of the German Government whose
members are here in the Dock, in the territory occupied by its
military forces of millions of civilians, whether it was done in
pursuance of a policy of racial extermination, as the resuit of or
in connection with the deportation of slave labor, in consequence
of the desire to do away with the intellectual and political leaders
of the countries which had been occupied or was part of the gen-
eral application terror through collective reprisals upon the in-
nocent population and upon hostages—this murdering of mil-
lions of noncombatants is a war crime. It may indeed be a crime
against humanity as well. Both imagination and intellect, shat-
tered by the horror of these things, recoil from putting the great-
est crime in history into the cold formula already described in the
text books as a war crime. Yet it is important to remember that
that is what these crimes were. Irrespective, in the main of where
they were committed or of the race or nationality of the victims,
these were offenses upon the civiliah population, contrary to the
laws of war in general and to those of belligerent occupation in
particulayr. The truth is that murder, wholesale, planned and sys-
tematic became part and parcel of a firmly entrenched and ap-
parently secure belligerent occupation. That that was a war crime
no one has sought to dispute.

But some attempt has been made to canvass the illegality of
three other classes of action with which also these men stand
charged. Deportation to Germany for forced labor, the crimes
at sea in connection with submarine warfare, and the shooting of
Commandos. And let me shortly examine these matters.

Deportation
The deportation of the civilian population for forced labor is,
of course, a crime both according to internmational custom and to
conventional international law as expressed in the Hague Con-
vention. Article 46 of Hague Convention No. IV enjoins the oc-
cupying powers to respect “family honor and rights” and “the
lives of persons.” Article 52 of the same Convention lays down
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that “services shall not be demanded from municipalities or in-
habitants except for the needs of the army of occupation” and
that “they shall be in proportion to the resources of the country
and of such a nature as not to involve the population in the obli-
gation of taking part in the operations of war against the coun-
try.” With these simple and categorical .provisions we have to
contrast the staggering dimensions of the operation which the
defendant Sauckel directed and in which other defendants par-
ticipated, the ruthlessness with which peaceful citizens were torn
from their families, surroundings and employment, the manner
in which they were transported, the treatment which they re-
ceived on arrival, the conditions in which they worked and died
in thousands and tens of thousands, and the kind of work which
they were compelled to perform as direct helpers in the produec-
tion of arms, munitions, and other instruments of war against
their own country, and against their own people. How can all
that be reconciled with the law?

It seems to have been suggested that the prohibition of the Law
of Nations had in some way become obsolete in the face of the
modern development of totalitarian war requiring the vastest
possible use and exploitation of the material and labor resources
of the occupied territory. I confess I do not understand how the
extent of the activities a belligerent imposes on himself, the size
of the effort he needs to make in order to avoid defeat, can enlarge
his rights against peaceful noncombatants or enable him to brush
aside the rules of war. We cannot make these post factum repeals
of accepted International Law in favour of the law breakers.

Sea Warfare

Now is there a shadow of a right to invoke any material change
in conditions as a justification for their crimes at sea — crimes
which cost the lives of thirty thousand British seamen alone. We
heed not base our case here solely on the mere violation of the
customary rules of warfare as embodied in the London Protocols
of 1930 and 1936, fully subscribed to as they were by Germany
fmd prohibiting sinking without warning, or even with warning
if proper provision had not been made for the safety of pas-
sengers and crew. We need not concern ourselves with the niceties
of argument whether the practice of arming merchantmen affects
the position. .

Nor need we take time to examine the astonishing proposition
that the sinking of neutral shipping was legalized by the process
of making a paper order excluding such ships not from some
definite war zone over which Germany exercised control but from
Vvast areas of the seven seas. For there is one matter at least about
which nobody questions the law.
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If you are satisfied that orders were given that survivors should
not be rescued, that steps should be taken to prevent the ship-
wrecked from surviving, for the use of such weapons that there
could be no question of survivors, you will have no doubt that
what was done was contrary to law. It is no answer that to allow
noncombatants to survive entailed greater risk to the attackers.
The murderer is not excused because he says that it was necessary
to kill the vietim he had violated lest he should subsequently
identify him.

So also in regard to the orders for the execution of Commandos.
New methods of warfare, new forms of attack, do not in them-
selves repeal existing established rules of law. The sanctity of
the life of the soldier in uniform, who surrenders after the
accomplishment of his mission and who committed no war crime
prior to his capture, is and I ask you to say, must remain an
absolute principle of International Law. Those who, for whatever
motive, trample upon it in disregard of law, in disregard of
humanity, in disregard of chivalry, must pay the penalty when at
last the law is vindicated.

I shall not examine this matter further or detail the other types
of war crimes charged in the Indictment. For that these matters,
various in their kind or method, were crimes under established
law is not in doubt. The Tribunal will be concerned only to affirm
the law and to decide upon the measure of these Prisoners involve-
ment in its breach.

Crimes Against Humanity: The Legal Position

Let me, however, before I turn to questions of fact refer to the
Fourth Count of the Indictment, the crimes against humanity. It
is convenient, I think, to deal with these matters together for,
insofar as they were committed during the war, to some extent
they overlap and in any case they are interconnected. The war
crimes were in their very enormity crimes against humanity. The
crimes against humanity were writ larger still. Moreover, the
crimes against humanity with which this Tribunal has jurisdic-
tion to deal are limited to this extent — they must be crimes the
commission of which was in some way connected with, in antici-
pation of or in furtherance of the crimes against the peace or the
war crimes stricto sensu with which the Defendants are indicted.
That is the qualification which Article 6 (¢) of the Charter intro-
duces. The considerations which apply here are, however, differ-
ent to those affecting the other classes of offense, the crime
against Peace or the ordinary war erime. You have to be satisfied
not only that what was done was a crime against humanity but
also that it was not purely a domestic matter but that directly or
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indirectly it was associated with crimes against other nations or

other nationals, in that, for instance, it was undertaken in order

to strengthen the Nazi Party in carrying out its policy of domina-

tion by aggression, or to remove elements such as political oppo-
nents, the aged, the Jews, the existence of which would have

hindered the carrying out of the total war policy.

Pursuing that for a moment the racial policy against the Jews
was as I have said simply one facet of the Herrenvolk doctrine.
In “Mein Kampf,” Hitler had said that the most decisive factor in
the German collapse in 1918 was “the failure to recognize * * *
the racial problem and the Jewish menace.” The attack on the
Jews was at once a secret weapon — an enduring fifth 'column
weapon — to split and weaken the democracies and a device for
unifying the Germany people for war. Himmler made it clear in
his speech on October 4, 1943, that the treatment meted out to
German Jews was closely connected with the war policy. He said:

“For we know how difficult we should have made it for our-
gelves if * * * we still had Jews today in every town as secret
saboteurs, agitators, and trouble mongers.”

So the crime against the Jews, insofar as it is a crime against
humanity and not a war crime, is one which we indict because of
its association with the crime against the peace. That it is of
course a very important qualification, and is not always appre-
ciated by these who have questioned the exercise of this jurisdic-
tion. But subject to that qualification we have thought it right to
deal with matters which the criminal law of all countries would
normally stigmatize as crimes: Murder, extermination, enslave-
ment, persecution on political, racial or economic grounds. These
things done against belligerent nationals, or for that matter, done
against German nationals in belligerent occupied territory would
be ordinary war crimes the prosecution of which would form no
novelty. Done against others they would be crimes against munic-
ipal law except insofar as German law, departing from all the
canons of civilized procedure, may have authorized them to be
done by the State or by persons acting on behalf of the State.
Although so to do does not in any way place those Defendants in
greater jeopardy than they would otherwise be, the nations adher-
ing to the Charter of this Tribunal have felt it proper and neces--
sary in the interest of civilization to say that those things even if
done in accordance with the laws of the German State, as created
and ruled by these men and their ringleader, were, when com- -
mitted with the intention of affecting the international commu-
nity — that is in connection with the other crimes charged — not
Mere matters of domestic concern but crimes against the law of
Nations. I do not minimize the significance for the future of the
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political and jurisprudential doctrine which is here implied,
Normally international law concedes that it is for the State to
decide how it shall treat its own nationals; it is a matter of
domestic jurisdiction. And although the Social and Economic
Council of the United Nations Organization is seeking to formu-
late a charter of the Rights of Man the Covenant of the League
of Nations and the Charter of the United Nations Organization
does recognize that general position. Yet International Law has
in the past made some claim that there is a limit to the omnipo-
tence of the State and that the individual human being, the
ultimate unit of all law, is not disentitled to the protection of
mankind when the State tramples upon his rights in a manner
which outrages the conscience of mankind. Grotius, the founder
of International Law, had some notion of that principle when —
at a time when the distinction between the just and the unjust
war was more clearly accepted than was the case in the 19th
century — he described as just a war undertaken for the purpose
of defending the subjects of a foreign state from injuries inflicted
by their ruler. He affirmed, with reference to atrocities committed
by tyrants against their subjects, that intervention is justified for
“the right of social connection is not cut off in such a case.” The
same idea was expressed by John Westlake, the most distinguished
of British International Lawyers, when he said:

“Tt is idle to argue in such cases that the duty of neighboring
peoples is to look quietly on. Laws are made for men and not
creatures of the imagination and they must not create or
tolerate for them situations which are beyond endurance.”’

The same view was acted upon by the European Powers which in
time past intervened in order to protect the Christian subjects of
Turkey against cruel persecution. The fact is that the right of
humanitarian intervention by war is not a novelty in International
Law — can intervention by judicial process then be illegal? The
Charter .of this Tribunal embodies a beneficent principle — much
more limited than some would like it to be — and it gives warning
for the future to dictators and tyrants masquerading as a State
that if, in order to strengthen or further their crimes against the
community of nations they debase the sanctity of man in their
own country they act at their peril for they affront the inter-
national law of mankind. '

As for the criticism which is made of retroactive law, that it
makes that criminal which men did not know te be wrong when
they committed it — what application can that have here? You
will not disregard it even if these defendants time after time dis-
regard it, the countless warnings that were given by foreign
states and foreign statesmen on the counts which was being
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pursued by Germany before the War. No doubt these men
counted on victory and little thought that they would be brought
to account. But can any one of them be heard to say that if he
knew about these things at all he did not know them to be wrongs
crying out to High Heaven for vengeance?

Facts: Treatment of Prisoners of War

Let me deal with what they did to prisoners of war, for this
alone, the clearest crime of all, demands their conviction and will |
for all time stain the record of German arms.

On the 8th of September 1941, final regulations for the treat-
ment of Soviet prisoners of war in all prisoner of war camps were
issued signed by General Reinecke, the head of the Prisoners of
War Department of the High Command. They were the result of
agreement with the SS and read as follows (1519-PS, GB 525):

“The Bolshevist soldier has therefore lost all claim to treat-
ment as an honorable opponent in accordance with the Geneva
Convention * * * The order for ruthless and energetic action
must be given at the slightest indication of insubordination
especially in the case of Bolshevist fanatics. Insubordination,
active or passive resistance must be broken immediately by
force of arms ‘(bayonets, butts and firearms) * * * anyone
carrying out the order who does not use his weapons or does so
with insufficient energy is punishable * * * prisoners of war
attempting escape are to be fired on without previous chal-
lenge. No warning shot must ever be fired * * * the use of
arms against prisoners of war, is, as a rule, legal * * * camp
police must be formed of suitable Soviet prisoners of war in
the camp * * * within the wire fence the camp police may be
armed with sticks, whips, or other similar weapons to enable
them to carry out their duties effectively.”

The regulations go on to order the segregation of civilians and
politically undesirable prisoners of war taken during the eastern
campaign. After prescribing the importance for the armed forces
‘of ridding themselves of all those elements among the prisoners
of war which could be considered as the driving forces of Bol-
shevism, emphasis is placed on the need for special measures, free
, from bureaucratic administrative influences, and accordingly

their transfer to the security police and the SD is given as the
way to reach the “appointed goal.”
) That Keitel, who is directly responsible for this order, was
Issuing it with full knowledge of its implications is made clear by
the memorandum of Admiral Canaris dated 15th September 1941,
Protesting against it, and correctly stating the legal position, as
follows (EC-338, USSR 3856):
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“The Geneva Convention for the treatment of prisoners of
war is not binding in the relationship between Germany and
the U.S.8.R. Therefore only the principles of General Inter-
national Law on the treatment of prisoners of war apply. Since
the 18th century these have gradually been established along
the lines that war captivity is neither revenge nor punishment
but solely protective custody the only purpose of which is to
prevént the prisoners of war from further participation in the
war. This principle was developed in accordance with the view
held by all armies that it is contrary to military tradition to
kill or injure helpless people * * * The decrees for the treat-
ment of Soviet prisoners of war enclosed are based on a funda-
mentally different viewpoint.”

Canaris went on to point out the shocking nature of the orders
for use of arms by guards and for equipping the camp police with
clubs and whips. On this memorandum, as you were reminded
this morning, Keitel noted :
“The objections arise from the military concept of chivalrous
warfare. This is the destruction of an ideology. Therefore I
approve and back the measures. K.”

Any possible doubt that Keitel knew that transfer to the Secur-
ity Police and SD was intended to mean liquidation can hardly
survive study of that document. Canaris writes of the screening,
as it is called, of the undesirables:

“the decision over their fate is effected by the action detach-
ments of the Security Police and the SD”

on which Keitel, underlining Security Police, comments “very
efficient” whilst on the further criticism by Canaris that the prin-
ciples of their decision are unknown to the Wehrmacht
aythorities, Keitel comments “not at all.”

The parallel instruction to the Security Police and SD recites
the agreement with the High Command and after enjoining the
closest cooperation between the members of the Police teams and
the Commandants of the Camp and listing those to be handed
over, it reads (502-PS, USA 486):

“Executions must not be held in the camp. If the camps in
the Government General are located in the immediate vicinity
of the border the prisoners are to be taken if at all possible to
former Soviet-Russian territory for special treatment.”

It is not necessary to remind you of the volume of evidence with
regard to the numbers of Soviet and Polish prisoners in concen-
tration camps. Their treatment needs no further reminder than
the report by the Commandant of Gross Rosen Concentration
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Camp who on the 28rd October 1941, reports the shooting of
twenty Russian prisoners between five and six o’clock that day
and Mueller’s circular from the same file, which states (1165—PS,
USA 244):

“The commandants of the concentration camps are complain-
ing that five to ten percent of the Soviet Russians destined for
execution are arriving in the camps dead or half dead. There-
fore the impression has arisen that the Stalags are getting rid
of such prisoners in this way.

“It was particularly noted that, when marching, for example
from the railroad station to the camp, a rather large number
of PWs collapsed on the way from exhaustion, either dead or
half dead, and had to be picked up by a truck following the
convoy.

“It cannot be prevented that the German people take notice
of these occurrences.”

-Did any of these defendants take notice of these occurrences
that could not be hidden from the German people?
Igoon: .

“Even if the transportation to the camps is generally taken
care of by the Wehrmacht, the population will still attribute
this situation to the SS.

“In order to prevent, if possible, similar occurrences in the
future, I therefore order that, effective from today on, Soviet
Russians declared definitely suspect and obviously marked by
death (for example with typhus) and who therefore would hot
be able to withstand the exertions of even a short march on
foot, shall in the future, as a matter of basic principle, be
excluded from the transport into the concentration camps for
execution.

“I request that the leaders of the Einsatz Kommandos be
correspondingly informed of this decision without delay.”

On the 2nd March 1944, the Chief of the SIPO and SD for-
warded to his various branch offices a further order of the OKW
for the treatment of prisoners recaptured after attempted escape.
With the exception of British and Americans, who were to be
returned to the camps, the others were to be sent to Mauthausen
and to be dealt with under operation “Kugel” which, as the Tri-
bunal will remember, involved immediate shooting. Inquiries by
relatives, other prisoners, the Protecting Power, and the Inter-
hational Red Cross were to be dealt with in such a way that the
fate of those men, soldiers whose only crime had been to do their
duty, should be forever hidden (L-158, USA 514; 1650-PS,
USA 246). .
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It was shortly after the issue of the “Kugel” order that 80
British officers of the R.A.F. made an attempt to escape from
Stalag Luft ITI at Sagan. The defendants directly connected with
this matter have not denied that the shooting of 50 of these
officers was deliberate murder and were the result of a decision at
the highest level. There can be no question that Goering, Keitel,
and probably Ribbentrop participated in this decision and that.
Jodl and Kaltenbrunner and, if he did not actually participate,
Ribbentrop, were all aware of it at the time. '

Goering’s participation is a matter of inevitable inference from
the following three facts:

First: The order wags given by Hitler:

Second: Westhoff of the Prisoner of War Organization of the
OKW says he was informed by Keitel that Goering had
blamed him for the escape at the meeting at which the order
was decided upon. (UK-48, USSR 418.)

Third: In Goering’s own Ministry which was responsible for
the treatment of R.A.F. prisoners of war, Walde heard of
the order on the 28th March at the meeting of executives and
told General Grosch. Grosch informed Foerster, who went
straight to Milch, Goering’s Chief of Staff, and returned to
inform Grosch that Milch had been told, and had made the
necessary notes (D-781, GB 278.)

You will say whether you do not consider the denials of Goering
and Milch to be mere perjury.

Keitel admits that Hitler ordered transfer to the SD and that
he “was afraid” they might be shot. He told his officers Graeve-
nitz and Westhoff:

“We must set an example. They will be shot—probably
some have been shot already.”

and when Grqevenitz protested, he replied:
“I don’t care a damn.”

On this evidence of his own officers, surely his complicity is clear’
in this matter.

Jodl said that when Himmler was reporting the escape, he was
in the next room telephoning, he heard a very loud discussion and
on going to the curtain to hear what it was, he learned that there
had been an escape from Sagan. It is incredible in these circum-
stances that even if he did not take part in the decision he did
not at any rate know of it from Keitel immediately after the
meeting. And knowing of it, he carried on playing his part in
the conspiracy.

As to Kaltenbrunner’s guilt the meeting at which Walde was
informed of the decision was with Mueller and Nebe, Kaltenbrun-
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ner’s subordinates. Schellenberg’s evidence of the discussion be-
tween Nebe, Mueller and Kaltenbrunner about this time on the
subject of an International Red Cross enquiry about 50 English
or American prisoners of war is conclusive. He heard Kalten-
brunner providing his subordinates with the answer to be given
to this inconvenient enquiry and one cannot doubt his full knowl-
edge of this matter. The reply sent to the Protecting Power and
the International Red Cross by Ribbentrop is now admitted on
all hands to have been a pack of lies. Is it to be believed that he
also was not a party to the decision? (D-731, GB 278).

That any of these men would have been prepared to take such
a decision themselves or to comply with it if taken by Hitler is,
we submit, clear from the correspondence providing for the lynch-
ing or shooting of what were called terror fliers. These docu-
ments show that neither Keitel nor Jodl had any scruples in the
matter while both Goering and Ribbentrop agreed to the draft
order (D-777, GB 310; D-783, GB 3816; D-784, GB 3817).

You will remember the meetings which preceded that corre-
spondence—first a meeting between Goering, Ribbentrop and
Himmler at which it was agreed to modify (735-PS, GB 151):

“the original suggestion made by the Reich Foreign Minister

who wished to include every type of terror attack on the Ger-

man civilian population as justifying action.”

and which concluded that
“lyneh law would have to be the rule.”

At the subsequent meeting between Warlimont and Kaltenbrun-
ner it was agreed that

“these aviators who escaped lynch law would in accordance with

a procedure to be advised, be handed over to the SD for special

treatment.”

Finally Keitel’s note on the file:
“] am against legal procedure. It does not work out.”

Similar evidence is provided when we consider the attitude
taken up in February 1945, when Hitler wished to renounce the
Geneva Convention. Doenitz advised that (C-158, GB 209):

“it would be better to carry out measures considered necessary

without warning and at all costs to save face with the outside

world”—
a decision with which Jodl and Ribbentrop’s representative
agreed. Their defense that this was merely a technical measure
and that they did not in fact intend any concrete action, is dis-
posed of by Jodl’s memorandum on the whole question (D-606,
GB 492): '
744400—47—9
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“Just as it was wrong in 1914 that we ourselves solemnly
declared war on all the states which for a long time had wanted
to wage war against us and through this took the whole guilt
of-the war on our shoulders before the outside world, and just
as it was wrong to admit that the necessary passage through
Belgium in 1914 was our own fault, so it would be wrong now
to repudiate openly the obligations of International Law which
we accepted and thereby to stand again as the guilty party be-
fore the whole world.”

After this remarkable statement he added that there was noth-
ing to prevent them in fact from sinking an English hospital ship
as a reprisal and then expressing regret that it was a mistake.

It remains to consider the question of employment of prison-
ers of war. Under Article 31 of the Geneva Convention it might
have been permissible to employ prisoners on certain work in éon-
nection with the raw materials of the armament industry. But
the statement made by Milch at the Central Planning Board on
the 16th of February 1948 in the presence of Speer and Sauckel
had no legal justification at all (R-124, USA 179):

“We have made a request for an order that a certain percentage

of men in the Ack-Ack artillery must be Russians. 50,000 will be
taken altogether, 80,000 are already employed as gunners. This is
an amusing thing that Russians must work the guns.”
That was obviously flagrantly illegal. Nobody could have had the
faintest doubt about it. The minutes record no protest. It has
not been suggested that Goering or any of the others who must
have read the minutes and known what was going on, regarded
this outrage by the effective head of the German Air Force as in
any way unusual.

Himmler’s cynical words spoken at Posen on the 4th October
19438 on the subject of the Russian prisoners captured in the early
days of the campaign ought again to be put on record for history
(1919-PS, USA 170):

“At that time we did not value the mass of humanity as we
value it today as raw material, as labor. What, after all, think-
ing in terms of generations is not to be regretted but is now de-
plorable by reason of the loss of labor is that the prisoners died
in tens and hundreds of thousands of exhaustion and hunger.”

I turn now to the murder of the Commandos.

The evidence with regard to the Commando Order of 18th Oc-
tober 1942 directly involves Keitel, Jodl, Doenitz, Raeder, Goering
and Kaltenbrunner. By article 30 of the Hague Rules (498-PS,
USA 501):

“A spy taken in the act shall not be punished without previous

trial.”
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Whilst even the regulations printed in the book of every German
soldier provide:

“No enemy can be killed who gives up, not even a partisan or
a spy. These will be brought to punishment by the Courts.”
These men were not spies: they were soldiers in uniform. It is
not suggested that any man dealt with under this Order was ever
given a trial before he was shot. Legally there can be no answer
to the guilt of any of these deféndants who passed on or who ap-
plied this wicked order, an order which Jodl admitted to be mur-
der and in respect of which Keitel, confessing his shame, admit-
ted its illegality. Raeder admitted that it was an improper order.
Even Doenitz stated that now he knew the true facts he no longer
regarded it as correct. The only defense put forward have been
that the individual in question did not personally carry it out,
that they regarded the statement the first paragraph of the order
as justifying the action by way of reprisal, that they did their
best to minimize its effect and that it was not up to the individual
to question the directives of a superior. But no one has seriously
disputed that handing over to the SD in the context here meant
shooting without a trial.

The answer to these defenses, in so far as the defenses are not
purely dishonest, is that the security precautions provided in the
order itself were the plainest indication that the facts stated in
the first paragraph did not constitute any justification which
would bear the light of day. No higher degree of precaution ac-
companied the Kugel Order, Nacht und Nebel Order, or any other
of their brutal orders. That the shackling incident at Dieppe had
nothing to do with it appears from Jodl’s staff memorandum of
the 14th October 1942 which states in terms that the Fuehrer’s
aim was to prevent the Commando method of waging war by
dropping small detachments who did great damage by demolitions,
. ete,, and then surrendered (1266—PS, GB 486).

~ The cancellation of the order in 1934 is further evidence that
those responsible for it recognized their guilt, guilt which was
perhaps best summarized by the entry in the War Diary of the
Naval War Staff with regard to the shooting of the Commandos
taken in uniform at Bordeaux; “Something new in International
Law.” Yet Raeder and his Chief of Staff were prepared to initial
that entry. Kaltenbrunner’s knowledge is clearly shown by his
letter to the Armed Forces Planning Staff of the 23rd January
1.945 referring to it in detail and disputing its application to par-
ticular categories (D-649, GB 208; D-658, GB 229).

Other men have already been sentenced to death for execution
of this order, men whose only defense was that they obeyed an
order from their superiors. I refer to the members of the SD
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who were executed for the murder of the crew of Motor Torpedo -
Boat 345 in Norway and General Dostler in Italy. Innumerable in- -
stances from their own records have been proved against these
defendants. Shall they escape? You will remember the attitude
of the Nazi People’s Court, in 1944 to the plea of superior orders
(3881-PS, GB 527). ,

The Commando Order cannot compare in wickedness or brutal-
ity with the Nacht und Nebel Order (Night and Fog Order) of
the 7th December 1941. The Hitler directive signed by Keitel,
after prescribing the death penalty for offenses endangering the
security or state of readiness of the occupying powers, orders
the removal to Germany of offenders, other than those whose
execution could be completed in a very short time, under circum-
stances which would deny any information with regard to their
fate. And Keitel’s covering letter of the 12th December gives the
reason (L-90, USA 503):

“Efficient and enduring intimidation can only be achieved either
by capital punishment or by measures by which the relatives of
the criminals and the population do not know the fate of the
criminal. This aim is achieved when the criminal is transferred
to- Germany.”

It is interesting to contrast that statement written when Keitel
thought that Germany was winning the war with his evidence
before the Tribunal. He said, you will remember:

“Penal servitude would be considered dishonorable by these
patriots. By going to Germany they would suffer no dishonor.”

This decree was still being enforced in February 1944 when the
Commanders of some 18 concentration camps were being re-
minded of its purpose and how to dispose of the bodies of the
“Night and Fog” prisoners without revealing the place of death.
The treatment of these prisoners was described by the Norwegian
witness, Cappelen, and members of the Tribunal will not have
forgotten his account of the transport of between 2500 and 2800 -
Nacht and Nebel prisoners from one concentration camp to an-
other in 1945 when 1,347 died on the way (D-569, GB 277):

‘“Feeble as we were, we could not walk fast enough and when
they took their guns, the line of five, the line just before us—
they took their guns and smashed in the heads of all five of them
and they said:

‘If you don’t walk in an intelligent way see what will happen
to you.” But at last after six to eight hours we came to a railway .
station. It was very cold and we had only such striped prison
clothes on and bad boots, naturally but we said, ‘Oh, we are glad
that we have come to a railway station.” It is better to stand in
a cow truck than to walk in the middle of winter. It was very
cold, ten to twelve degrees I suppose, very cold. There was a long
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train with open trucks. In Norway we call them sand trucks and
we were kicked onto those trucks about 80 on each truck * * *
In this truck we sat for about five days without food—cold—with-
out water. When it was snowing we made like this (indicating)
just to get some water in the mouth and naturally after a long
long time, it seemed to me like years, we came to a place which .
I afterwards learnt was Dora which is in the neighborhood of
Buchenwald. We came there. They kicked us down from the
trucks, but many were dead. The man who sat by me, he was
dead, but I had no right to get away. I had to sit with a dead
man for the last day, and I didn’t see the cyphers myself, nat-
urally, but about half of us were dead, getting stiff, and they told
that—I heard the cipher afterwards in Dora—that the cipher of
dead on our train was 1,347. Well, from Dora I don’t remember
'so much, because I was more or less dead. I have always been a
man of good humor and high spirited, to help first and my
friends, but I had nearly given up. And then at the end of our
sufferings we were rescued and brought to Neuengamme by Ham-
burg, and when we arrived there were some of my old friends, the
student from Norway who had been deported to Germany, other
prisoners who came from Sachsenhausen and other camps and
the few, comparatively few, Norwegian Night and Fog prisoners
who were living in 'very bad conditions. Many of my friends are
still in hospital in Norway, some died after coming home.”

In July 1944 a yet more drastic order followed the Night and
Fog. On the 80th of that month Hitler issued the Terror and
Sabotage decree providing that all acts of violence by non-German
civilians in occupied territories should be combatted as acts of
terrorism and sabotage. Those not overcome on the spot were to
be handed over to the SD, women put to work, only children
spared. Within a month Keitel extended the order to cover per-
sons endangering security or war preparedness by any means
cher than acts of terrorism or sabotage, the usual secrecy re-
quirements were laid down, restricting distribution in writing to
a minimum. He then ordered that the Terror and Sabotage de-
cree was to form the subject of regular emphatic instruction to
all personnel of the armed forces, SS and Police. It was to be
extended to crimes affecting German interests, but not imperil-
ling the security or war preparedness of the occupying power.
New regulations could be made by the agreement of particular
commanders and higher SS Chiefs. In other words an offense by
any person in the occupied territories could be dealt with under
this decree (D-762, GB 298; D-763, GB 800; D-764, GB 299).

On the 9th September 1944, a meeting was solemnly held be-
tween representatives of the High Command and SS to discuss
the relationship of the Night and Fog Order to the Terror ana

109



Sabotage decree. It was considered that the Night and Fog or-
der had become superfluous and the meeting went on to consider
the transfer of the 24,000 non-German civilians held under it by
the SS to the SD. The meeting discussed the problem of certain
neutrals who had been “turned into fog” by mistake. The Ger-
man word “Vernebelt” justifies the statement of the withess
Blaha that the special and technical expressions used in concen-
tration camps can only be said in German and cannot really be
translated into any other language. It is perhaps superfluous to
remind the Tribunal that when the Luftwaffe General in Holland
asked for authority to shoot striking railwaymen, since the pro-
cedure of handing over to the SD under the decree was too round-
about, Keitel, in a reply, copies of which were sent both to the
Admiralty and to the Air Ministry as well as to the principal .
commanders in occupied territories, agreed at once that if there
was any difficulty in handing over to the SD (D-767, GB 303;
D-769, GB 304):

“Other effective measures are to be taken ruthlessly and in-
dependently.” (D-770, GB 305) "
In other words, General Christianson could shoot the railway-

men if he thought fit.

It is not easy for anyone who has not had to live in territory
occupied by the Germans to realize the suffering and the state of
terror and constant apprehension in which the peoples of Europe
lived through the long years of subjection. It was Frank, who,
writing on the 16th December 1941, said (USSR-223):

“As a matter of principle we shall have pity only for the
German people—and for no one else in the world.”

Save that they had no pity even for their own people, how
faithfully these men carried out that principle.

I turn now to the attack on the Partisans. If any doubt re-
mained that the German armed forces were directed not by hon-
orable soldiers but by callous murderers, it must be dissolved by
the evidence as to the appalling ruthlessness with which it was
sought to put down the Partisans. The witness Ohlendorf said
that the direction of anti-Partisan warfare was the subject of a
written agreement between the German War Office, the High
Command, and the SS. As a result of that agreement an Einsatz
Group was attached to each Army Group H.Q. and directed the
work of the Einsatz Commandos allotted to the group in coordi-
nation and agreement with the Military authorities. If confirma-
tion of the Army’s support, knowledge and approval were needed,
one has only to look at the report of the Einsatz Group A on
its activities during the first three months of the campaign
against the Soviet Union (L-180, USA 276).
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“QOur task was to establish hurriedly personal contact with the
Commanders of the Armies and with the Commander of the Army
of the rear area. It must be stressed from the beginning that
cooperation with the armed forces was generally good, in some
cases * * * it was very close, almost cordial.”

And again, speaking of the difficulty of dealing with the parti-
sans in a particular area,

“After the failure of purely military activities such as the
placing of sentries and combing through the newly occupied ter-
ritories with whole divisions, even the armed forces had to look
out for new methods. The Action group undertook to search for
new methods. Soon therefore the armed forces adopted the ex-
periences of the security police and their methods of combatting
the partisans.”

One of these methods is described in the same report in these
words: “After a village had been surrounded, all the inhabitants
were forcibly shepherded into the main square. The persons sus-
pected on account of confidential information and the other vil-
lagers were interrogated and thus it was possible in most cases
to find the people who helped the partisans. Those were either
shot offhand, or, if further interrogations promised useful -infor-
mation, taken to Headquarters. After the interrogation they
were shot. In order to get a deterring effect the houses of those
who had helped the partisans were burnt down on several occa-
sions.”

And then, after stating that villagers were always threatened
with the burning of the whole village, the report adds:

“The tactics to put terror against terror succeeded marvel-
lously.”

The Einsatz Commandos were, as Ohlendorf stated, under Kal-
tenbrunner’s command, but the orders under which they were
acting cannot have exceeded in severity those which were issued
by Keitel. The Fuehrer order issued by him on 16th December
1942 on the combatting of partisans states (UK-66, GB 274):

“If the fight against the partisans in the east as well as in the
Balkans is not waged with the most brutal means, we will shortly
reach the point when the available forces are insufficient to con-
trol this area. It is therefore not only justifiable but it is the
duty of the troops to use all means without restriction—even
against women and children so long as it ensures success.”

Three days later he and Ribbentrop were informing their Italian
opposite numbers at breakfast that (D-735, GB 295):

“The Fuehrer had declared that the Serbian conspirators were
to be turned out and that no gentle methods might be used in do-
ing this.” '
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Keitel interjected:

“HEvery village in which partisans were found had to be burnt
down.”

Two months later Ribbentrop was urging the Italian Ambas-
sador in Berlin to greater brutality in dealing with the partisans
in Croatia (D-741, GB 296):

“The gangs had to be exterminated and that included men,
women and children as their continued existence imperilled the
lives of German and Italian men, women and children.”

Goering appears to have assisted Himmler in recruiting the
necessary personnel for anti-partisan work and he is recorded by
a Cabinet Councillor on the 24th of September 1942 as stating
that he was looking for daring fellows for employment in the
East as Special Purpose Units and that he was considering con-
viets and poachers for the purpose. His idea was (638-PS, USA
788):

“Tn the regions assigned for their operations these bands, whose
first task should be to destroy the communications of the partisan
groups, could murder, burn and ravish. In Germany they would
once again come under strict supervision.”

A month later he gave the Duce a desecription of Germany’s
method in combatting the partisans in the following terms (D-
729, GB 281) :

“To begin with the entire livestock and all foodstuff is taken
away from the areas concerned so as to deny the partisans all
sources of food. Men and women are taken away to Labor camps,
children to children’s camps and the villages burnt down * * *
Should attacks occur, then the entire male population of villages
would be lined up one side and the women on the other side.
The women would be told that all men would be shot unless they
(the women) indicated which of the men did not belong to the
village. In order to save their men the women always pointed out
the stranger.”

These methods were not confined to the East. They were going
on throughout the length and breadth of every occupied territory.
Wherever the slightest resistance was offered the German an-
swer was to attempt to stamp it out with the utmost brutality.
It would not be difficult to rival the events of- Lidice and Oradour
sur Glane by a hundred other instances.

One of the most brutal expedients—the taking of hostages
was the subject of an order by the German High Command on
16th September 1941. Keitel ordered (C-148, USA 555):

“It should be inferred in every case of resistance to the German
occupying forces no matter what the 1nd1v1dua1 circumstances that
it is of Communist origin.”
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“Tn order to nip these machinations in the bud the most drastic
measures should be taken immediately on the first indication so
that the authority of the occupying forces may be maintained and
further spreading prevented. In this connection it should be re-
membered that a human life in unsettled countries frequently
counts for nothing and a deterrent effect can be attained only by
unusual severity. The death penalty for 50 to 100 Communists
should generally be regarded in these cases as suitable atonement
for one German soldier’s life. The way in which sentence is car-
ried out should still further increase the deterrent, effect.” .

We may compare the wording of the Einsatz Commando Re-
port (L-180; USA 276):

“In the knowledge that the Russian has been accustomed from
old to ruthless measures on the part of the authorities, the most
severe measures were applied.”

There is no difference in outlook between- Keitel and Kalten-
brunner: The German soldier was being ordered to emulate the
SS.

A fortnight after issuing that order, Keitel, whose only defense
was-that he had pressed for 5 to 10 hostages for one German in
place of 50 to 100, had had a further idea, and on the 1st October
1941 he suggested that it is advisable that military commanders
should always have at their disposal a number of hostages of dif-
ferent political tendencies, Nationalist, democratic-bourgeois, or
Communist, adding (1590-PS, RF 1433):

“It is important that among them shall be well known leading
personalities of members of their families whose names are to be
made public. Depending on the membership of the culprit, hos-
tages of the corresponding group are to be shot in case of attacks.”

The original document bears the ominous note: “Complied with
in France and Belgium.”

The effect of these orders throughout the German Army is well
seen from three instances of the action taken by a local com-
mander.

In Yugoslavia, a month after Keitel’s original order a station
commander reported that in revenge for the killing of ten German
soldiers and the wounding of another twenty-six; a total of 2,300
" people had been shot, 100 for each killed and 50 for each wounded
German soldier (USSR-74).
~ On the 11th July 1944 the Commander of the District of Kovolo
In Ttaly was, in a public poster, threatening to kill 50 men for
every member of the German Armed Forces whether military or
civilian, who was wounded, and a hundred if a German was killed.
In the event of more than one soldier or civilian being killed or
wounded, all the men of the district would be shot, the houses set
on fire, the women interned, and the cattle confiscated immedi-
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ately. In June of the same year 560 persons, including 250 men,
were reported by Kesselring as having been taken into custody
under threat of shooting within 48 hours, some German colonel
having been captured by bandits (UK-66, GB 274; D-39, GB
275).

The men directly implicated in these brutalities are Goering,
Ribbentrop, Keitel, Jod]l, and Kaltenbrunner, but who can doubt
" that every man in that dock knew of the orders and of the way
in which the German Armed Forces were being taught to murder
men, women and children, and were doing so throughout the
length and breadth of Europe? Raeder, who says he disapproved
of this sort of policy in Norway, states that he tried to dissuade
‘Hitler, yet he continued to hold his post and to lend his name to
the regime under which these things were being done.

I pass on to matters with which he, and Doenitz were more
immediately responsible. The conduct of the war at sea reveals
exactly the same pattern of utter disregard for law and for de-
cency. There can seldom have been an occasion when the minds
of two naval commanders have been so clearly read from their
documents as those of the defendants Raeder and Doenitz that
can be read in the present case.

As early as the 3rd September 1939 the German Navy, in a
memorandum to the Foreign Office, were seeking agreement to
a policy of sinking without warning both enemy and neutral mer-
chant ships in disregard of the London Submarine Rules, their
own Prize Ordinance and of International Law. A series of docu-
ments during the following six weeks reveals constant pressure
on the Foreign Office by Raeder to consent to this policy.

On the 16th October 1939 Raeder produced a memorandum on
the intensification of naval war against England. In this docu-
ment, having proclaimed the “utmost ruthlessness” as necessary
and the intention to destroy Britain’s fighting spirit within the
shortest possible time, Raeder went on to say (D-857, GB 471):

“The principal target is the merchant ship, not only the en-
emy’s but in general every merchant ship which sails the seas in
order to supply the enemy’s war industry both for imports and
exports.” (UK-65, GB 224)

It is that document which contains the infamous passage:

“It is desirable to base all military measures taken on existing
international law; however measures which are considered nec-
essary from a military point of view, provided a decisive success
can be expected from them, will have to be carried out even if
they are not covered by existing international law. In principle,
therefore, any means of war which is effective in breaking enemy
resistance should be used on some legal conception, even if this
entails the creation of a new code of naval warfare.”
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In another memorandum on the 30th December he went on to
urge further intensification, particularly with regard to neutrals
(C-100, GB 463):

“Without binding ourselves to any conceptions of warning,”
and he suggested that as they were going to invade neutral States
it really did not matter if they went a little far at sea.

“The intensified measures of the war at sea will in their polit-
ical effect only play a small part in the general intensification of
the war.”

You will have noted that these memoranda on the ‘conduct of
the war at sea echo the High Command’s view on the future war -
which had been written eighteen months earlier (L-211, GB 161):

“The normal rules of war towards neutral nations may be con-
sidered to apply only on the basis of whether the operation of
these rules will create greater advantages or disadvantages for
the warring nations.”

Was that a mere coincidence: At all events, such was the pat-

" tern laid down by Raeder and followed by Doenitz. From the very
first the Naval War Staff never had any intention of observing
the laws of war at sea.

The defense that the sinking of Allied merchant ships without
warning was justified by Allied measures is as untenable as the
suggestion that the sinking at sight of neutral merchant ships
was preceded by warning which complied with the requirements
of International L.aw. You have seen the very vague and general
warnings given to the neutrals and the memorandum of the Naval
War Staff revealing that these were deliberately given in the most
general terms because Raeder knew that the action he intended
against neutrals was utterly illegal. I need not remind you of the
document which suggests that orders should be given by word of
mouth and a false entry made in the log book, the very practice
followed in the case of the “Athenia,” or of the entries in Raeder’s
own war diary revealing that carefully selected neutrals should
be sunk wherever the use of electric torpedoes might enable the
Germans to maintain that the ship had really struck a mine. You
have confirmation in the bland denials prepared by Raeder to an-
swer the protests of the Norwegian and Greek Governments on
the sinking of the “Thomas Walton’’ and “Garufalia” and the re-
luctant admission in the case of the “Deptford,” all three ships
sunk in December 1939 by the same U-boat. Nothing reveals
more of the cynicism or opportunism with which Raeder and
Doenitz treated International Law than the contrast between
their attitude towards the sinking of a Spanish ship in 1940 and
that in September 1942. In 1940 Spain did not matter to Ger-
many ; in 1942 she did.

115



Details with regard to the various successive measures taken
in the course of putting into effect the policy of sink at sight do
not require recapitulation but there are two features of the con-
duct of naval warfare by these two defendants which I emphasize.
First, they continued to put out to the world that they were obey-
ing the London Rules and their own Prize Ordinance. The reason
for that appears in Raeder’s memorandum of the 30th December
1939 where he says (C-100, GB 463):

“A public announcement of intensified measures for the war
at sea must be urgently advised against in order not to burden
the Navy again in the eyes of history with the odium of un-
restricted U-boat warfare.”

And that, you see, is the common plan—the very argument put
forward by Jodl and Doenitz in February 1945, in favour of
simply breaking the regulations of the Geneva Convention rather
than announcing Germany’s renunciation of it to the world. And
here, once again, is the doctrine of military expediency: If it
will pay Germany to break a particular law she is entirely justi-
fied in breaking it, provided always it can be done in such a way
as to avoid detection and the condemnation of world opinion
(D-606, GB 492).

It must not be thought that in initiating this policy of sink at
sight and in disregarding the rules of the war at sea Raeder
was any more drastic than Doenitz. In his defense Doenitz made
a great effort to explain away his order of 17th September, 1942,
I ask the Tribunal to remember its terms:

“No attempt of any kind must be made at rescuing members
of ships sunk * * *  Rescue runs counter to the rudi-
mentary demands of warfare for the destruction of enemy
ships and crews.” (D-630, GB 199)

His diary entry of the same date, which confirms that order,
starts:

“The attention of all C.0.s is again drawn to the fact that
all efforts to rescue * * * run counter to the rudimen-
tary demands of warfare * * *2

Well, the defendant denied that this means that crews were to
be destroyed or annihilated. But the previous history makes it
abundantly clear that this was an invitation to U-boat command-
ers to destroy the crews of ship-wrecked merchantmen, while
preserving an argument for Doenitz to make, should—as has in-
deed happened—occasion arise. That, after all, was the pattern
laid down by Hitler when on the 3rd January 1942, he told
Oshima that (D-423, GB 197):
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“He must give the order that in case foreign seamen could
not be taken prisoner * * * U-boats were to surface
after torpedoing and shoot up the lifeboats.”

The evidence shows constant pressure by Hitler from then on
for the issue of this order. It is admitted that he demanded it
at a meeting with both Doenitz and Raeder on the 14th May and
that he raised the question again on the 5th September. Doeriitz
himself referred to pressure by Hitler during the “Laconia” inci-
dent. You have confirmation that the order issued on the 17th
September was intended to bear the construction put upon it
by the Prosecution in the evidence of the witness Heisig and that
of Moehle. Is it conceivable that a senior officer would have been
allowed to go on from the 17th September 1942 until the end of
the war briefing the hundreds of U-boats which set out from Kiel
that this was an order to annihilate unless that was what the
Naval War Staff intended? You have the evidence that Doenitz
himself saw every U-boat commander before and after his cruise,
his own admissions with regard to the comments made by his
staff officers at the time he drafted the order and his general atti-
tude revealed by the order of October 1939, which he admits
was a non-rescue order—an utterly indefensible order in itself in
the submission of the Prosecution. There is further the coinci-
dence that the very argument which Hitler advanced to Oshima,
namely, the importance of preventing the Allies finding the crews
for the immense American construction programme, was the ar-
gument Doenitz himself admits putting forward on the 14th May,
was the argument which Heisig reports hearing, and is the reason
given for the subsequent order to give priority in attacking con-
voys to sinking rescue ships. You have the instances of the
“Antonice”’, the “Noreen Mary’’, and the “Peleus’’ whilst the man
who expressed horror at the idea that he should issue such an
order admittedly saw the log of the U-boat which sank the “Sheaf
Mead” with its brutal entry describing the sufferings of those
left in the water. Doenitz’ own statement was that “to issue
such a directive could only be justified if a decisive military suc-
cess could be achieved by it.” Was it not because, as his own
document shows, the percentage of ships being sunk outside con-
voys in September 1942, was so -high that a decisive military
success might have been gained that this order was issued,
whereas in April 1943; when almost all sinkings were in con-
voy, it was not necessary to issue a further order yet more ex-
plicit in its terms?

The Prosecution firmly and strongly submit that the defendant
Doenitz intended by that order to encourage and procure as many
submarine commanders as possible to destroy the crews of tor-
pedoed merchant ships but deliberately couched the order in its
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present language so that he could argue the contrary if circum-
stances required it. On the evidence of Admiral Wagner that the
Naval War Staff approved the order of 17th September 1942 with
respect to survivors, Raeder cannot escape responsibility and, in-
deed, since he was present at the meeting with Hitler in May of
that year and received the Fuehrer order of the 5th September
1942 to issue instructions to kill survivors, there can be little
doubt that he was fully involved in his.subordinate’s Policy.

Although within a few months Allied air power made it im-
possible for U-boats in most areas to risk surfacing at all after
they had discharged their torpedo, and the question became one
of less importance, it is interesting to note that when the order
against rescue ships was issued on the 7th of October the follow-
ing year the same phrase “destruction of ship’s crews” recurred
(D-663, GB 200).

Despite the denial of Kapitan Leutnant Eck, there can really
be no real doubt that, briefed by Hoehle, he did what his superior
Officers intended him te do. Why should it be supposed that a
man, who a month later received Hitler’'s Commando Order with-
out protest, should shrink from ordering the destruction of sea-
men on rafts or clinging to wreckage, when Hitler had explained
its military necessity. Eck, who obeyed the orders of Raeder
and Doenitz, has paid the supreme penalty. Are they to escape
with less?

Belligerent Occupation

(a) SLAVE LABOR

I turn now to yet another war crime—the use of slave labour.
Its importance for the German war machine had been appreci-
ated by these Defendants long before the outbreak of war. Hit-
ler had mentioned it in “Mein Kampf” and emphasized it at the
meeting in May 1989. A few weeks later in June the Reich De-
fense Council, Goering, Frick, Funk and Raeder and representa-
tives of every other Ministry of State were planning to employ
20,000 concentration camp inmates and hundreds of thousands
of workers from the Protectorate in the coming war (L-79, USA
27: 3387-PS, USA 566).

Hitler’s plan for Poland, revealed to Schirach and Frank, was
as follows (USSR 172):

“The ideal picture is-this—a Pole may possess only small
holdings in the Government General which will to a certain
extent provide him and his family with food. - The money re-
quired by him for clothes, ete., he must earn in Germany by
work. The Government General must become a centre for
supplying unskilled labour, particularly agricultural labour.
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The subsistence of these workmen will be fully guaranteed be-
cause they can always be made use of for cheap labor.”

That policy, was, of course, a short-term policy, the real aim
being the elimination of the Eastern peoples. Sauckel was ap-
pointed Plenipotentiary with the task of replacing two million
German workers who had been called to service with the Wehr-
macht, and he, himself says that after Hitler had emphasized
that it was a war necessity he had no scruples and within a month
of his appointment he had sent his first labour mobilization pro-
gramme to Rosenberg (016-PS, USA 168).

“Should we not succeed in obtaining the necessary labour
on a voluntary basis we must immediately institute conscrip-
tion of forced labour * * * a gigantic number of new
foreign slave workers * * * men and women * * *
an indisputable necessity.”

‘This programme he was to carry out (017-PS, USA 180)

“with every possible pressure and a ruthless commitment of
all our resources.”

It is unnecessary to refer to the voluminous evidence of the
execution of this policy for the recruitment of workers. It is
sufficient to quote Sauckel again addressing the Central Planning
Board in March of 1944 (R-124, USA 179):

“Trained male and female agents who shanghaied men for
labour in Germany * * * | Out of five million foreign
workers who arrived in Germany not even 200,000 came
voluntarily.”

The methods employed in their forced deportations are hideous
in their brutality and must have been known to every one of
these defendants. In April of 1941 Himmler was addressing the
officers of the SS Leibstandarte Adolf Hitler (1918-PS, USA
- 804):

“Very frequently a member of the Waffen SS thinks about
the deportation of this people, here. These thoughts come to
me today watching the very difficult work performed by the
Security Police and supported by your men who help them a
great deal. Exactly the same thing happened in Poland in
weather 40 degrees below zero where we had to haul away
thousands, tens of thousands, hundreds of thousands.”

And again (1919-PS, USA 170):

“Whether 10,000 Russian females fall down from exhaustion
while digging an anti-tank ditch interests me only in so far
as the anti-tank ditch for Germany is finished * * *, When
somebody comes to me and says, ‘I can’t dig the anti-tank ditch
with women and clr{ildren, it is inhuman, for it would kill

119



them’, then I have to say that you are a murderer of your own
blood because if the anti-tank ditch is not dug, German soldiers
will die and they are the sons of German mothers * * #,
We must realize that we have 6-7 million foreigners in Ger-
many. * * * Perhaps it is even eight million now. We have
prisoners in Germany. They are none of them dangerous so
long as we take severe measures at the merest trifle.”

- By August 1943 the need for workers was even greater. Himm-
ler ordered (744—PS, USA 455):

“That all young female persons capable of work are to be
sent to Germany for work through the agency of Reich Com-
missioner Sauckel. Children, old women and men are to be
collected and employed in women’s and children’s camps.”

The orders issued to Group Leaders of the SD, active in the
Ukraine, showed the same urgency (8012-PS, USA 190):

“The activity of the Labour Office * * * is to be sup-
ported to the greatest extent possible. It will not be possible
always to refrain from using force * * * When search-
ing villages, especially when it has become necessary to burn
down a village, the whole population will be put at the disposal
of the Commissioner by force. As a rule, no more children
will be shot * * % If we limit our harsh measures through
the above orders for the time being, it is only done for the
following reason. The most important thing is the recruit-
ment of workers.”

Speer admitted—how could he deny it—the knowledge and
approval of the way the workers were enrolled and brought to
Germany against their will; there was Kaltenbrunner’s letter to
his friend Blaschke (8803-PS, USA 802):

“For special reasons I have in the meantime given orders
to ship several evacuation transports to Vienna, at present four
shipments with approximately 12,000 Jews are pending. They
should reach Vienna within the next few days * * *,
Women unable to work and children of those Jews who are all
kept in readiness for special action and therefore one day will
be removed again, have to stay in the guarded camp also dur-
ing the day.”

That sinister phrase again—the meaning of which they all knew
so well—“special treatment”, “special action”. Murder remains
murder by whatever euphemism murderers may seek to describe
it.

The need for labour became so urgent that not only were even
Jews spared the gas chambers so long as they were fit for em-
ployment but children were seized and put to work.
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So much for their deportation to Germany. What was to be
their lot on their arrival? As early as March 1941 instruetions
had been issued to the Kreis Farmers Association on the treat-
ment Polish farm workers were to receive. They were to have
no rights to complain. They were forbidden to visit churches, all
forms of entertainment, public transport were barred. Their em-
ployers were given the right to inflict corporal punishment and
were “not to be held accountable in any case by any official
agency” (EC-68, USA 205). And lastly, it was ordered:

“Farm workers of Polish nationality should if possible be
removed from the community of the home, they can be quar-
tered in stables, etc. No remorse whatever should restrict such
action.”

The treatment of those employed in industry was even worse.
You will remember the affidavit of the Polish doctor in Essen who
did his best to attend to the Russian prisoners of war (D-813,
USA 901):

“The men were thrown together in such a catastrophic man-
ner that no medical treatment was possible * * *. It
seemed to me unworthy of human beings that people should
find themselves in such a position * * *. Every day at
least ten men were brought to me whose bodies were covered
with bruises on account of the continual beatings with rubber
tubes, steel switches or sticks. The people were often writhing
with agony and it was impossible for me to give them even a
little medical aid * * *. It was difficult for me to watch
how such suffering people could be directed to do heavy work
* % % Dead people often lay for two or three days on the
palliasses until their bodies stank so badly that fellow prisoners
took them outside and buried them somewhere * * * I
was a witness during a conversation with some Russian women,
who told me personally that they were employed in Krupp’s fac-
tory and that they were beaten daily in a most bestial manner

- % x % Beating was the order of the day.”

By the end of 1943 more than five million men, women and chil-
dren were working in the Reich and if we include prisoners of
war the total of those working in Germany was at this date just
under 7,000,000. To these must be added the hundreds of thou-
sands brought in during 1944. Millions of men and women taken
from their homes by the most brutal methods, transported in all
weathers in ecattle-trucks from every quarter of Europe, employed
on farms and in factories throughout the Reich, frequently under
abominable conditions. Children taken from their parents, many
to remain for their lives, orphans, not knowing their identity or
true names; taken away before they were old enough to remem-

744400—47—10
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ber the place from which they came. What is the measure of this
crime? No man in that dock can dispute his knowledge or his
complicity. The minutes of the Central Planning Board must
have been read in every department of the State. You have seen
the mass of evidence connecting the military leaders and every
other branch of the Government with this colossal programme of
slavery. None of these men can be acquitted of this crime. None
of them can have been ignorant of the scale and brutality with
which it was perpetrated (D-524, GB 532).

I pass now to a connected matter, but one even more terrible.
The general manner in which the Defendants conducted the bellig-
erent occupation of the territories which they had overrun.

(B) EXTERMINATION

The evidence that these territories were the scene of murder,
slavery, terrorism and spoliation on a scale without precedent in
history, in breach of the elementary rules as to belligerent occupa-
tion has not really been seriously challenged. These crimes were
in no sense sporadic or isolated depending on the sadism of a Koch
here or cruelty by a Frank there. They were part and parcel of a
deliberate and systematic plan of which their action in regard to
slave labour was a lust symptom. In order to establish the ‘““1,000-
year Reich”, they set out to accomplish the extermination or per-
manent weakening of the racial and national groups of Europe or
of those sections, such as the intelligentsia, on which the survival.
of those groups must largely depend.

The origin of this terrible attempt upon the existence of free
and ancient nations goes back to the whole Nazi doctrine of total
war which rejected war as being merely against States and their
armies, as international law provides. Nazi total war was also
a war against civilian populations, against whole peoples. Hitler
told Keitel at the end of the Polish campaign (864-PS, USA
609): .
“Shrewdness and severity must be the maxims in this racial
struggle in order to spare us from going to battle on account
of Poland again.”

The aims of genocide were formulated by Hitler in the follow-
ing words in his conversation with Hermann Rauschning (USSR
378):

“The French complained after the war that there were
twenty million Germans too many. We accept the ecriticism.
We favor the planned control of population movements. But
our friends will have to excuse us if we subtract the twenty
millions elsewhere. After all these centuries of whining about
the protection of the poor and lowly, it is about time we decided
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to protect the strong against the inferior. It will be one of the
chief tasks of German statesmanship for all time to prevent, by
every means in our power, the increase of the Slav races. Nat-
ural instincts bid all living beings not merely to conquer their
enemies, but also destroy them. In former days, it was the
vietor’s prerogative to destroy entire tribes, entire peoples. By
doing this gradually and without bloodshed, we demonstrate
our humanity.”
Himmler’s vision was similar (L-70, USA 308):

“For us the end of this war will mean an open road to the
East, the creation of the Germanic Reich in this way or that
* * *the fetching home of 30 million human beings of our
blood, so that still during our lifetime we shall be a people of
120 million Germanic souls. That means that we shall be the
sole decisive power in Europe. That means that we shall then
be able to tackle the peace, during which we shall be willing
for the first twenty years to rebuild and spread out our villages
and towns, and that we shall push the borders of our German
race 500 kilometers farther out to the East.”

Their aims went beyond mere Germanization, the imposing of the
German cultural pattern upon other peoples. Hitler was resolved
to expel non-Germans from the soil he required, but that they
owned, and colonize it by Germans. This is plainly stated in
“Mein Kampf” (D-660, GB 128).

“* % % The Polish policy in the sense of a Germanization
of the East, demanded by so many, was rooted unfortunately
almost always in the same wrong conclusion. Here too it was
believed that one could bring about a Germanization of the
Polish element by a purely linguistic integration into the Ger-
man nationality. Here too the result would have been an un-
fortunate one; people of an alien race, expressing its alien
thought in the German language, compromising the height and
dignity of our own nationality by its own inferiority.”

Himmler put it even more clearly (2915-PS, USA 306):

“It is not our task to Germanize the East in the old sense,
that is to teach the people there the German language and the
German law, but to see to it that only people of purely Ger-
manic blood live in the East.”

The defendants were careful to conceal their true aims from
their victims. In January 1940 a captured report reads (661-PS,
US4 300):

“In order to relieve the living space of Poles in the Govern-
ment -General as well as in the liberated East, one should re-
move cheap labor temporarily by hundreds of thousands, em-
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ploy them for a few years in the old Reich, and thereby hamper
their native biological propagation.”

and it concludes:

“Strictest care is to be taken that secret circulars, memo-
randa and official correspondence which contain instructions
detrimental to the Poles are kept rigidly under lock and key so
that they will not some day fill the White Books printed in
Paris or the U.S.A.”

Again, the day before the appointment of Rosenberg as Minister
for the East, Hitler told him in the presence of Keitel, Goering
and Bormann (L-221, USA 317):

“We ought to act here in exactly the same way as we did in
the case of Norway, Denmark, Holland and Belgium. In these
cases too we did not publish our aims and it is only sensible to
continue in the same way. Therefore we shall emphasize again
that we were forced to occupy, administer or secure a certain
area. It was in the interests of the inhabitants that we pro-
vided order, food, communications, etc. Hence our measures.
Nobody shall be able to recognize that it initiates a final settle-
ment. This need not prevent our taking all necessary measures
—-shooting at sight, ete., and we shall take them.”

Having given these words of caution to his confederates, you
will remember how Hitler went on to elaborate his plans for the
destruction of the Soviet peoples. The Crimea, he said, must be
evacuated of all foreigners and settled by Germans only.

“We now have to face the task of cutting up the giant cake ac-
cording to our needs in order to be able
Firstly, to dominate it,
* secondly, to administer it,
thirdly, to exploit it.”

The pattern was exemplified in the infamous plan of Neurath
and Frank for Bohemia and Moravia—the same Neurath whose
Counsel the day before yesterday asked you to respect the holiness
of the individual. The pattern, I say, was exemplified in their plan
for Bohemia and Moravia. No more terrible document has been
put in evidence in this trial nor one which more completely ex-
poses the falsity of the slogan “Lebensraum”, which constituted
the excuse for the rape of Czechoslovakia (3859-PS, GB 520).
That plan required the elimination of the intelligentsia, the bear-
ers of Czechoslovakia history and tradition, and since the long
term solution of evacuating all Czechs completely from the coun-
try and replacing them by Germans could not be affected imme-
diately because of shortage of Germans, a short term solution of
Germanising the remainder of the population. This was to be done
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by rendering their language a dialect, by abolition of ‘higher edu-
cation, by instituting a stringent marriage policy after previous
racial examination. You will remember Frank’s summary :
“Apart from the continuance of the propaganda for Ger-
manization and the granting of advantages as an inducement,
severest police methods with exile and special treatment for all
saboteurs. Principle:
‘Pastry and Whip’ ”.

You will remember too the plan for Poland discussed in Hitler’s
train on 12th September 1939 by Rippentrop, Keitel and Jodl as
described in the evidence of the witness Lahousen and the discus-
sion between Hitler, Schirach and Frank three weeks later after
dinner in the Fuehrer’s apartment (864-PS, USSR 172).

“There should be one master only for the Poles— the Ger-
man; two masters side by side cannot and must not exist and
therefore all representatives of Polish intelligentsia are to be
exterminated. This sounds cruel but such is the law of life.”

Such were the plans for the Soviet Union, for Poland and for
Czechoslovakia. Genocide was not restricted to extermination of
the Jewish people or of the gypsies. It was applied in different
forms to Yugoslavia, to the non-German inhabitants of Alsace-
Lorraine, to the people of the Low Countries and of Norway. The
technique varied from nation to nation, from people to people. The
long term aim was the same in all cases.

The methods followed a similar pattern: first a deliberate pro-
gramme of murder, of outright annihilation. This was the method
applied to the Polish intelligentsia, to gypsies and to Jews. The
killing of millions, even by the gas chambers and mass shootings,
employed was no easy matter. The defendants and their con-
federates also used methods of protracted annihilation, the favour-
ite being to work their victims to death, hence Himmler’s bond
with the Minister of Justice in September 1942 under which anti-
social elements were handed over to the SS “to be worked to
death”. On the 14th of the same month Goebbels was recommend-
ing this method in terms (682-PS):

“With regard to the destruction of social life Dr. Goebbels has
the opinion that the following groups should be exterminated:
Jews and gypsies unconditionally, Poles who have to serve 3-4
Years of penal servitude, and Czechs and Germans who are sen-
tenced to death or penal servitude for life or to security custody
for life. The idea of exterminating them by labour is the best.”

.Another favourite technique of extermination was by starva-
tion. Rosenberg, the great architect of this policy of national
murder, told his collaborators in June 1941 (1058—PS, USA 147):
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“The object of feeding the German people stands this year
without a doubt at the top of the list of German’s claims on the
East, and there the southern territories and the Norther Cau-
casus will have to serve as a balance for the feeding of the Ger-
man people. We see absolutely no reason for any obligation on
our part to feed also the Russian people with the products of
that surplus territory. We know that this is a harsh necessity
bare of any feelings. A very extensive evacuation will be neces-
sary without any doubt and it is sure that the future will hold
very hard years in store for the Russians.”

The method applied in Alsace was deportation. A captured re-
port reads (R-114, USA 314):

“The first expulsion action was carried out in Alsace in the
period from July to December, 1940: in the course of it, 105,000
persons were either expelled or prevented from returning. They
were in the main Jews, gypsies and other foreign racial ele-
ments, criminals, anti-social and incurably insane persons, and
in addition Frenchmen, and Francophiles. The Patois-speaking
population was combed out by these series of deportations in the
same way as the other Alsatians.”

The report goes on to state that new deportations are being pre-
pared and after reciting the categories affected, sums up the meas-
ures being taken:

“The problem of race will be given first consideration and this
in such a manner that persons of racial value will be deported to
Germany proper and racially inferior persons to France.”

The Nazis also used various biological devices, as they have been
called, to achieve genocide. They deliberately decreased the birth-
rate in the occupied countries by sterilization, castration and
abortion, by separating husband from wife and men from women
and obstructing marriage.

“We are obliged to depopulate”’, said Hitler to Rauschning,
“as part of our mission of preserving the German population.
We shall have to develop a technique of depopulation. If you
ask me what I mean by depopulation, I mean the removal of
entire racial units. And that is what I intend to carry out—
that, roughly, is my task. Nature is cruel; therefore, we, too,
must be cruel. If I can send the flower of the German nation
into the hell of war without the smallest pity for the spilling of
precious German blood, then surely I have the right to remove
millions of an inferior race that breeds like vermin.”

You have seen Neurath’s use of this biological device in his plan
for Czechoslovakia. Listen to Boermann’s directives for the East-
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ern Territory summarized by one of Rosenberg’s subordinates
(R-36, USA 699)-

“The Slavs are to work for us. In so far as we don’t need
them, they may die. Therefore, compulsory vaccination and
German Health services are superfluous. The fertility of the
Slavs is undesirable. They may use contraceptives or practise
abortion; the more the better. Education is dangerous. It is
enough if they can count up to a hundred. At best an edu-
cation which produces useful stooges for us is admissible.”

Himmler speaks with the same voice (1919-PS, USA 170):

“We must be honest, decent, loyal and comradely to members
of our own blood, to nobody else. What happens to a Russian,
a Czech, does not interest me in the slightest. What the na-
tions can offer in the way of good blood of our type we will take.
If necessary by kidnapping their children and raising them
here with us. Whether nations live in prosperity or starve to
death interests me only in so far as we need them as slaves for
our Kultur; otherwise it is of no interest to me.”

The converse to methods designed to decrease the birthrate in
occupied territories was the artificial increase in the birthrate
of Germans. In February, 1941, the defendant Seyss-Inquart o=-
ganized a system of giving away Dutch girls to German soldiers.
In violation of Article 48 of the Hague Convention, he ordered
changes in the law of the Netherlands so that he could assume
parental and guardianship rights over girls, substituting himself
for their parents if the parents refused their daughters permis-
sion to marry German soldiers.

This policy of Seyss-Inquart’s was later confirmed by the su-
Preme authorities of thé German Reich, Hitler, Keitel and Lam-
mers on July 28th, 1942. A decree was issued granting subsidies
and employment privileges for Dutch and Norwegian women
bearing children to members of the German Armed Forces. And
they ‘have the impudence to talk now about the holiness of the
individual. This was simply a plan to transfer, as if it were some
mercantile commodity, the biological resources of Holland and
Norway to the use of the German people. Himmler was one of
the advocates of stealing children: as he said on the 14th Octo-
ber 1948 (L-70, USA 308):

“Obviously in such a mixture of peoples there will always be
~ some racially good types. Therefore I think that it is our duty
to take their children with us to remove them from their en-

vironment, if necessary by robbing or stealing them * * *

Either we win over any good blood that we can use for our-
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selves and give it a place in our people or * * * we destroy
this blood.”

In the case of Russia, Keitel who had learned the phrase
“Shrewdness and severity” as the maxim for the exploitation of
Poland, paved the way by his orders of the 13th May and 23rd
July, 1941. I guote from the latter, drafted on his own admission
by Jodl (C-50, USA 554; C-52, GB 485):

“Tn view of the vast size of the occupied areas in the East the
forces available for establishing security in these areas will be
sufficient only if all resistance is punished not by legal prose-
cution of the guilty but by the spreading of such terror by the
armed forces as is appropriate to eradicate every inclination
to resist among the population. Commanders must find the
means of keeping order * * * not by demanding more security
forces but by applying suitable draconic methods.”

The immediate needs of the war machine no doubt saved the
Western Territories from similar destruction but the Tribunal
have ample evidence of the plunder of France, the Low Countries
and the other territories which these men exploited to the utmost
possible extent. In view of the nature of their murderous policy,
it is not surprising that the men charged by the defendants to
carry it out were brutes. In Rosenberg’s domain, for instance,
there was Koch, who was recommended by Rosenberg for the
post of Commissar in Moscow because of the very fact of his
“absolute ruthlessness.” It was Koch who caused the slaughter
of several hundred innocent human beings in the Zuman wood
area so that he could have a private hunting reserve. Another
of Rosenberg’s agents was Kube, who wrote (38428-PS, USA
827):

“We have liquidated in the last ten weeks about 55,000 Jews
in White Ruthenia. In the territory Minskland, Jewry has been
eliminated without endangering the manpower demands: in
the pre-eminently Polish territory Lida 16,000 Jews, in Klin
8,000 Jews and so forth have been liquidated.”

As to Poland, the orders given to Frank were as follows (EC-
844, USA 297):
“Ruthless expansion * * * reduction of entire Polish economy

to absolute minimum necessary for bare existence * * * The
Poles shall be the slaves of the greater German World Empire.”

And we know how he carried it out. In January 1940 he records
(2233-P8S):
“Cheap labour must be removed from the General Govern-
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ment by hundreds of thousands. This will hamper the native
biological propagation.”

In May he speaks of:
“taking advantage of the focussing of world interest on the
Western Front by wholesale liquidations of thousands of the
Poles, first the leading representatives of the Polish intelli-
gentsia.”

and in December:
“Poles must feel they have only one duty; to work and to
behave. We must carry out all measures ruthlessly: rely on
me.”

We who try to understand the problems of Eastern Europe
must try to understand this: The details of the martyrdom of
Poland cannot be described: A third of the people murdered;
millions left impoverished, sick, maimed and helpless; liberation
was just in time to save this ancient people from the terrible ful-
filment of the programme which these men had plotted.

The Extermination of the Jews

There is one group to which the method of annihilation was ap-
plied on a scale so immense that it is my duty to refer separately
to the evidence. I mean the extermination of the Jews. If there
were no other erime against these men, this one alone, in which all
of them were implicated, would suffice. History holds no parallel
to these horrors,

As soon as the prospects of a Second World War became a cer-
tainty, Streicher, who had preached this infamous doctrine as far
back as 1925, began in earnest to advocate annihilation as he, on
his own admission, had been instrumental in effecting the Nurn-
berg Decrees by years of propaganda in favour of racial laws, so
now, in January 1989, anticipating the war which was to come, he
began, in articles published in the Sturmer with “the full support
of the highest Reich authority”, to demand with all vehemence the
physical extinction of the Jewish race. Unless words have com-
pletely lost their meaning, what do these mean but murder:

“They must be exterminated root and branch” (D-811, GB

“Then will the criminal race be forever eradicated” (D-831,
GB 357). ,

“Then will they slay the Jews in masses” (D-817, GB 340.)

“Prepare a grave from which there can be no resurrection” (M-
148, GB 3841).

Almost immediately after the war had started the organized
extermination of the Jewish race began. Hoess has told you:
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“The final solution of the Jewish question means the complete

extermination of all Jews in Europe. I was ordered to establish

" extermination faéilities in Auschwitz in June 1941. At that time

there were already in the General Government 8 other exter-
mination camps, Belzek, Treblinka and Wolzek.”

Already the Jews in Germany and Poland had been concen-
trated in the ghettos of the Government General. Over dinner in
the Fuehrer’s apartment in October 1940, Frank had explained
and I quote (864-PS, USSR 172):

“The activities in the Government General could be termed very
successful. . The Jews in Warsaw and other cities were now locked
up in ghettos, Krakow would very shortly be cleared of them.
Reichsleiter von Schirach remarked that he still had more than
50,000 Jews in Vienna when Dr. Frank would have to take over
from him.”

When the order actually came, therefore, the preparatory
measures, so far as they affected Poland and Germany, had al-
ready been taken. Of the destruction of the ghettos and the
slaughter of their populations General Stroop’s report on the War-
saw action is eloquent evidence. But the fate of the Jews in War-
saw was only typical of the fate of the Jews in every other ghetto
in Poland (1061-PS, USA 275).

When they were not slaughtered in the ghettos themselves they
were transported to the gas chambers. Hoess, Commandant of
Auschwitz, described the procedure:

I visited Treblinka to find out how they carried out their ex-
terminations. The Camp Commandant at Treblinka told me that
he had liquidated 80,000 in the course of one half-year. He was
principally concerned with the liquidation of the Jews from the
Warsaw ghetto.” Hoess desceribes the improvements that he made
at Auschwitz. He infroduced the new gas, Cyclone B which

“took from 8 to 15 minutes to kill the people in the death cham-
ber, dependent upon climatic conditions. We knew when the peo-
ple were dead because screaming stopped * * * Another im-
provement we made over Treblinka was that we built our gas
chambers to accommodate 2,000 people at a time, whereas at
Treblinka their 10 gas chambers only accommodated 200 people
each”. And he describes the selection of the victims from the

daily transports that arrived:

“Those who were fit for work were sent into a camp. Others
were sent immediately to the extermination plant. Children of
tender years were invariably exterminated since, by reason of
their youth, they were unable to work. Still another improvement
we made over Treblinka was that at Treblinka the victims almost
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always knew they were to be exterminated and at Auschwitz we
endeavored to fool the vietims into thinking that they were going
through a delousing process. Of course, frequently they realized
our true intentions. Very frequently the women would hide their
children under their clothes but of course when we found them
we would send the children in to be exterminated. We were re-
guired to carry out these exterminations in great secrecy, but of
course the foul and nauseating stench from the continuous burn-
ing of bodies permeated the entire area and all the people living in
the surrounding communities knew that exterminations were go-
ing on at Auschwitz.” So also must they have known in the dis-
tricts surrounding Belzek, Treblinka, Wolzek, Mauthausen, Sach-
senhausen, Flossenburg, Neuengamme, Gusen, Natzweiler, Lub-
lin, Buchenwald and Dachau.

I do not repeat these things in order to make the blood run cold.
It is right that a few of these typical matters should be extracted
from the great mass of the evidence which is accumulated here so
that one may see this thing in its true perspective and appreciate
the cumulative effect of what has been proved.

Whilst the German Armies surged into Russia and the Baltic
States, the Einsatz Commandos followed in their wake. Their
dreadful work had been planned and prepared in advance. In the
file describing the operations of the Task Force A there is a map
of the Baltic countries showing the number of Jews that were liv-
ing in each State who were to be hounded out and killed. Another
map shows the results achieved after those two or three months’
work—a total of 135,567 Jews destroyed. In another report on
their operations during October 1941 it is proudly stated that they
continued “‘on the march with the advancing troops into the seec-
tors which have been assigned to them” (L-180, USA 276; 2273-
PS, USA 487).

These actions were not only the work of the SS and Himmler.
They were carried out in co-operation with the Army Command-
ers with the full knowledge of Keitel and Jodl and, indeed, be-
cause every soldier fighting in the East must have known about
them, with the knowledge also of every member of the Govern-
;nent and  of the commanders of its Armed Forces (L.-180, USA
276)

“Our task”, so states the report of the Task Force A, “was hur-
riedly to establish personal contact with the commanders of the
armies and with the commander of the rear army. It must be
Stressed from the beginning that cooperation with the armed
forces was generally good. In some cases, for instance, with
Panzer Group 4 under Col. Gen. Hoeppner, it was very close, al-
most cordial.”
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The German Generals were “almost cordial” as they weltered
in the blood of hundreds of thousands of helpless, innocent men,
women and children. Perhaps they enjoyed this work in the same
way as the members of the Einsatz Commandos themselves ap-
parently enjoyed it.

“It should be mentioned”, states the report, “that the leaders
of the armed SS and of the uniformed police who are reserves,
have declared their wish to stay on with the Security Police and
the SD.”

Again and again in the reports of the Einsatz Commandog’
progress, co-operation with the army authorities is emphasized.
After describing how thousands of Lithuanian Jews had been
made harmless during a particular pogrom in June, it is stated:

“These selt-cleansing actions went smoothly because the army
authorities who had been informed showed understanding for
this procedure.” Nor was it only cordiality and understanding
that the army authorities showed. In some cases they themselves
took the initiative. After describing the murder of inmates of
lunatie asylums that had fallen into their hands, the Einsatz Com-
mando report continues:

“Sometimes authorities of the Armed Forces asked us to clear
out in a similar way other institutions which were wanted as
billets. However, as the interests of the Security Police did not
require any intervention, it was left to the authorities of the
Armed Forces to take the necessary action with their own forces.”
And again:

“The advance of the forces of Action Group A which were in-
tended to be used for Leningrad was effected in agreement with
and on the express wish of Panzer Group 4.”

How can operations of this kind, extending for months and
vears over vast territories, carried out with the cooperation of the
Armed Forces as they advanced and in the rear areas that they
administered have remained unknown to the leaders in Germany?
Bven their own Commissioners in the occupied territories pro-
tested. In October 1941 the Commissioner for White Ruthenia
was forwarding to the Reich Commissioner for Eastern Terri-
tories at Riga a report on the operations in his district. Some
idea of the horror of those operations ean be seen from the report
(1104-PS, USA 483).

“Regardless of the fact that the Jewish people, among whom
were also tradesmen, were mistreated in a terribly barbarous way
in the face of the White Ruthenian people, the White Ruthenians
themselves were also worked over with rubber clubs and rifle
butts * * * the whole picture was generally more than ghastly

132



# * * T was not present at the shooting before the town. There-
fore 1 cannot make a statement on its brutality. But it should
suffice if I point out that persons shot have worked themselves
out of their graves some time after they had been covered.”

But protests such of this kind were of no avail; the slaughter con-
tinued with unabated ghastliness. -

In February 1942, in Heydrich’s activity and situation report
on the Einsatz Commandos in the U. S. S. R. of which a copy
was addressed to Kaltenbrunner personally, it was stated (3876-
PS, USA 808):

“We are aiming at cleansing the Eastern countries completely
of Jews * * * Estonia has already been cleared of Jews. In Lat-
via the number of Jews in Riga, of which there were 29,500 has
now been reduced to 2,500.”

By June 1943, the Commissioner for White Ruthenia was again
protesting. After referring to 4,500 enemy dead, he says:

“The political effect of this large scale operation upon the
peaceful population is simply dreadful in view of the many shoot-
ings of women and children.”

The Reich Commissar for Eastern Territories, forwarding that
protest to Rosenberg, the Reich Minister for Occupied Eastern
Territories in Berlin, added (R-135, USA 289):

“The fact that Jews receive special treatment requires no fur-
ther discussions. However, it appears hardly believable that this
is done in the way described in the report of the General Com-
missar. What is Katyn against that? Imagine only that these
occurrences would become known to the other side and exploited
by them. Most likely such propaganda would have no effect if
only because people who read and heard about it simply would not
be ready to believe it.”

How true that comment is. Are we ready even now to believe it?
Describing the difficulty of distinguishing between friend and foe,
he says:

“Nevertheless, it should be possible to avoid atrocities and to
bury those who have been liquidated. To lock men, women and
children into barns and set fire to them does not appear to be a
Suitable method of combatting bands, even if it is desired to ex-
terminate the population. This method is not worthy of the Ger-
Mman cause and hurts our reputation severely.”

Of those Jews murdered in White Ruthenia, over 11,000 were
SI_athtered in the district of Libau, and 7,000 of them had been
killed in the naval port itself (L-180, USA 276; D-841, GB 474).
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How can any of these Defendants plead ignorance of these
things? When Himmler was speaking of these actions openly
amongst his SS Generals and all the officers of his SS Divisions
in April 1943, he told them (1918-PS, USA 804):

“Anti-semitism is exactly the same as delousing. Getting rid
of lice is not a question of ideology: It is a matter of cleanliness.
In just the same way, anti-semitism for us has not been a ques-
tion of ideology but a matter of cleanliness which now will soon
have been dealt with. We shall soon be deloused. We have only
20,000 lice left, and then the matter is finished off within the
whole of Germany.”

And again in October of that yéar (1919-PS, USA 170):

“Most of you must know what it means when 100 corpses are
lying side by side, or 500, or 1,000.”

Meanwhile, the mass murder of the Jews at Auschwitz and the
other extermination centres was becoming a State industry with
many by-products. Bales of hair, some of it, as you will remem-
ber, still plaited as it had been shorn off the girls’ heads, tons of
tlothing, toys, spectacles and other articles went back to the Reich
to stuff the chairs and clothe the people of the Nazi State. The
gold from their victims’ teeth, 72 transports full, went to fill
the coffers of Funk’s Reichsbank. On occasion, even the bodies
of their victims were used to make good the wartime shortage
of soap (USSR 272).

The victims came from all over Europe. Jews from Austria,
Czechoslovakia, Hungary, Rumania, Holland, Soviet Russia,
France, Belgium, Poland and Greece were being herded together
to be deported to the extermination centers or to be slaughtered on
the spot.

In April 1943, Hitler and Ribbentrop were pressing the Regent
Horthy to take action against the Jews in Hungary. Horthy asked
(D-786, GB 283):

“What should he do with the Jews now that he had deprived
them of almost all possibilities of livelihood; he could not kill
them off. The Reich Foreign Minister declared that the Jews
must be either exterminated or taken to concentration camps.
There was no other possibility.”

Hitler explained:

“In Poland the state of affairs had been fundamentally
cleared up. If the Jews there did not want to work they were
shot. If they could not work they had to succumb. They had to
be treated like tuberculosis baccillae. This was not cruel if one
remembered that even innocent creatures of nature, such as
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hares and deer, have to be killed so that no harm is caused by
them.”

In September 1942, Ribbentrop’s State Secretary, Luther, was
writing (3688-PS) '

“The Reich Foreign Minister has instructed me today by
telephone to hasten as much as possible the evacuation of the
Jews from different countries * * * After a short lecture on
the evacuation now in progress in Slovenia, Croatia, Rumania
and the Occupied Territories, the Reich Foreign Minister has
ordered that we are to approach the Bulgarian, Hungarian and
Danish Governments with the goal of getting evacuation started

. in these countries.”

By the end of 1944, 400,000 Jews from Hungary alone had
been executed in Auschwitz. In the German Embassy in
Bucharest, the files contained a memorandum (8319-PS, GB
287:

“110,000 Jews are being evacuated from Bukovina and Bess-

arabia into two forests in the area of the river Bug * * *

The purpose of the action is the liquidation of these Jews.”

Day by day, over years, women were holding their children in
their arms and pointing to the sky while they waited to take their
place in blood-soaked, communal graves. 12,000,000 men, women
and children have died thus, murdered in cold blood ; millions upon
millions more today mourn their fathers and mothers, their hus-
bands, their wives and their children. What rights has any man
to mercy who has played -a part—however indirectly—in such a
crime?

Let Graebe speak again of Dubno (2992-PS, USA 494):

“On 5th October 1942, when I visited the building office at
Dubno my foreman told me that in the vicinity of the site, Jews
from Dubno had been shot in three large pits, each about 30
metres long and 3 metres deep. About 1,500 persons had been
killed daily. All of the 5,000 Jews who had still been living in
Dubno before the pogrom were to be liquidated. As the shoot-
ing had taken place in his presence, he was still much upset.

Thereupon I drove to the site, accompanied by my foreman
and saw near it great mounds of earth, about 30 metres long
and 2 metres high. Several trucks stood in front of the mounds.
Armed Ukrainian militia drove the people off the trucks under

. the supervision of an S.S. man. The militia men acted as guards
on the trucks and drove them to and from the pit. All these
beople had the regulation yellow patches on the front and
back of their clothes and thus could be recoghized as Jews.

My foreman and I went directly to the pits. Nobody both-
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ered us. Now I heard rifle shots in quick succession -from
behind one of the earth mounds. The people who had got off
the trucks—men, women and children of all ages—had to un-
dress upon the orders of an S.S. man, who carried a riding or
dog whip. They had to put down their clothes in fixed places,
sorted according to shoes, top clothing and underclothing. 1
saw a heap of shoes of about 800 to 1,000 pairs, great piles of
under linen and clothing. Without screaming or weeping
these people undressed, stood around in family groups, kissed
each other, said farewells, and waited for a sign from another
S.S. man, who stood near the pit, also with a whip in his hand.
During the 15 minutes that I stood near I heard no complaint
or plea for mercy. I watched a family of about 8 persons, a
man and a woman both about 50 with their children of about. 1,
8 and 10, and two grown up daughters of about 20 to 24. An
old woman with snow-white hair was holding the one year old
child in her arms and singing to it and tickling it. The child was
cooing with delight. The couple were looking on with tears in
their eyes. The father was holding the hand of a boy about 10
years old and speaking to him softly; the boy was fighting his
tears. The father pointed to the sky, stroked his head and
seemed to explain something to him. At that moment the SS
man at the pit shouted something to his comrade. The latter
counted off about 20 persons and instructed them to go behind
the earth mound. Among them was the family which I have
mentioned. I well remember a girl, slim and with black hair
who, as she passed close to me, pointed to herself and said, “23”.
I walked around the mound and found myself confronted by a
tremendous grave. People were closely ‘wedged together and
lying on top of each other so that only their heads were visible.
Nearly all had blood running over their shoulders from their
heads. Some of the people shot were still moving. Some were
lifting their arms and turning their heads to show that they
were ‘still alive. The pit was already two thirds full. I esti-
mated that it already contained about 1,000 people. I looked
for the man who did the shooting. He was an SS man, who sat
at the edge of the narrow end of the pit, his feet dangling into
the pit. He had a tommy gun on his knees and was smoking a -
‘cigarette. The people, completely naked, went down some steps
which were cut in the clay wall of the pit and clambered over
the heads of the people lying there, to the place to which the SS
man directed them. They laid down in front of the dead or in-
jured people; some caressed these who were still alive and spoke
to them in a low voice. Then I heard a series of shots. I looked’
into the pit and saw that the bodies were twitching or the heads
lying motionless on top of the bodies which lay before them.
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Blood was running away from their necks. I was surprised that
I was not ordered away but I saw that there were two or three
postmen in uniform nearby. The next batch was approaching
already. They went down into the pit, lined themselves up
against the previous victims and were shot. When I walked
back round the mound I noticed another truck load of people
which had just arrived. This time it included sick and infirm
persons. An old, very thin woman with terribly thin legs was
undressed by others who were already naked, while two people
held her up. The woman appeared to be paralysed. The naked
people carried the woman around the mound. I left with my
foreman and drove in my car back to Dubno.

On the morning of the next day, when T again visited the site,
I saw about 30 naked people lying near the pit—about 30-50
metres away from it. Some of them were still alive; they looked
straight in front of them with a fixed stare and seemed to notice
neither the chilliness of the morning nor the workers of my firm
who stood around. A girl of about 20 spoke to me and asked me
to give her clothes and help her escape. At that moment we
heard a fast car approach and I noticed that it was an SS de-
tail. I moved away to my site. Ten minutes later we heard
shots from the vicinity of the pit. The Jews still alive had been
ordered to throw the corpses into the pit; then they had them-
selves to lie down in this to be shot in the neck.”

That no man in that dock can have remained ignorant of the
horrors perpetrated to support the Nazi war machine and the
policy of genocide becomes the more clear when you consider the
evidence with regard to another great crime little heard of during
the course of this trial but which, as clearly as any other, illus-
trates the wickedness of these men and of their regime—the mur-
der of some 275,000 persons by so-called mercy killing. To
- what base uses that beautiful word was put! (1556-PS, USA
716.)

Some time in the summer of 1940 Hitler secretly ordered the
murder of ill and aged people in Germany who were no longer
of productive value for the German war machine. Frick, more
than any other man in Germany, was responsible for what took
* place as a result of that decree. Of his knowledge and of the
knowledge of a great many people in Germany there is abundant
evidence. In July, 1940, Bishop Wurm was writing to Frick
(M-152, GB 530):

“For some months past, insane, feeble-minded and epileptic
Patients of State and private medical -establishments have been
transferred to another institution on the orders of the Reich
Defense Council. Their relatives, even when the patient was
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kept at their cost, are not informed of the transfer until after
it has taken place. Mostly they are informed a few weeks
after that the patient concerned has died of an illness and that
owing to the danger of infection the body has had to be cre-
mated. At a superficial estimate several hundred patients of
an institution in Wurttemberg alone must have met their death
in this way * * * Owing to numerous enquiries from town and
country and from the most variegated circles, I consider it my
duty to point out to the Reich Government that this fact is caus-
ing a particular stir in our small province. Transports of sick
people who are unloaded at the small railway station of Mar-
bach, the buses with opaque windows which bring sick persons
from more distant railway stations or directly from the insti-
tutions, the smoke which rises from the crematorium and which
can be noticed even from a considerable distance * * * all this
gives rise to speculation as no one is allowed into the Castle
* * * Wyverybody is convinced that the causes of death which are -
published officially are selected at random. When, to crown
everything, regret is expressed in the obittary notice that all
endeavors to preserve the patients’ life were in vain, this is
felt as a mockery. But it is above all the air of mystery which
gives rise to the thought that something is happening which is
contrary to justice and ethics and cannot therefore be defended
by the Government. This point is continually stressed by sim-
ple people as well as in the numerous oral and written state-
ments which come to us.”

Frick’s ears were deaf to pleas for justice and ethics such as
that. A year later, in August 1941, the Bishop of Limbourg wrote
to the Reich Ministries of the Interior, of Justice, and Church
Affairs (615-PS, USA 717):

“About 8 km. from Limbourg in the little town of Hadamar,
on a hill overlooking the town there is an institution which’
had formerly served various purposes and of late has been used
as a nursing home. This institution was renovated and fur-
nished as a place in which, by consensus of opinion, the above
mentioned euthenasia had been systematically practiced for
months, approximately since February 1941. The fact has
become known beyond the administrative district of Weisbaden
* * * Soveral times a week buses arrive in Hadamar with a
considerable number of such victims. School children of the
vicinity know this vehicle and say: ‘There comes the murder
box again.” After the arrival of the vehicle citizens of Hada-
mar watch the smoke rise out of the chimney and are tortured
with the thoughts of the misery of the victims, especially when
repulsive odours annoy them. The effect of the principles at
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work here are that children call each other names and say:
“You’re crazy, you .will be sent to the baking ovens in Hadamar.’
.Those who do not want to marry or find no opportunity say:
‘Marry, never! Bring children into the world so that they can
be put into the bottling machine!” You hear old folks say:
‘Don’t send me to a State Hospital: after the feeble minded have
been finished off the next useless eaters whose turn it will be
are the old people’ * * * QOfficials of the Secret State Police, it
is said are trying to suppress discussion of the Hadamar oc-
currences by means of severe threats. In the interests of pub-
lic peace this may be well intended, but the knowledge and the
conviction and the indignation of the population cannot be
changed by it. The conviction will be increased with the real-
isation that discussion is prohibited with threats but that the
actions themselves are not prosecuted under penal law. Facta
loquantur.” -

If the common people of Germany knew and were complaining
of these relatively insignificant murders, when the Ministries of
Justice, of the Interior and of Church Affairs were receiving pro-
tests from the Bishops of two districts far removed from each
other, on what was common knowledge in their dioceses, how
much greater were the security problems of the Einsatz Com-
mandos in the East. In May 1942 an SS leader reporting to Ber-
lin on a tour of inspection of the progress of the extermination
drive wrote of the gas vans (501-PS, USA 288):

“By having small windows introduced, one on each side of
the smaller van and two on each side of the bigger van, such
as one sees often on peasant’s houses in the country, I have
had the vehicles in group D disguised to look like vans for
living in. The cars are so well known that not only the authori-
ties but also the civilian population allude to it as the ‘Death
Car’ as soon as one of these vehicles appear. In my opinion
even with the camouflage it cannot be kept secret for any
length of time.”

Can these defendants have remained in ignorance? What pecu-
liar dispensation of providence was there that protected them
from knowledge of these matters, matters which were their con-
cern? .

This slaughter of the aged and imbeciles—the subject of gossip
throughout Germany and of articles in the world press—must
have been known to every one of these men. How much more
then must they have known of the concentration camps which,
during those years, covered like a rash the whole of Germany
and the occupied territories. If only they could acquiesce in the
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mercy killings, with what favour they must have regarded the ex-
termination of the Jews.

In 1939 there had been six main concentration camps—Dachau,
Sachsenhausen, Buchenwald, Mauthausen, Flossenburg and Rav-
ensbruck. Frick’s budget for the Ministry of the Interior for
that year includes a sum of RMS. 21,155,000 for armed SS and
concentration camps—no less than a fifth of the total budget.
By April 1942 there had been added to those six camps nine
more, and more were to follow afterwards (3873-PS, GB 326).

But these were only the core of the system. Like planets, each
of them had its attendant satellites. Ziereis has given you some
idea of the extent of this system. He describes the subsidiary
camps that were based on Manthausen alone., 33 of them he men-
tioned by name, giving the numbers of prisoners at each—a total
of over 102,000. Besides those 33, there were another 45, also
all under the authority of the Manthausen Commandant (D-626,
USA 810).

“You have seen the map of Europe showing the location of as
many of these main subsidiary concentration camps as are known.
Over 300 of them are marked on that map (RF 331).

By August, 1944, there was a total of 1,136,000 prisoners, which
included 90,000 from Hungary, 60,000 from the police prison and
ghetto of Litzmannstadt, 15,000 Poles from the Government Gen-
eral, 10,000 convicts from eastern territories, 17,000 former
Polish officers, 400,000 Poles from Warsaw and between 15,000-
20,000 continually arriving from France (1166-PS, USA 458).

These were only the physically fit and therefore permanent
residents—permanent, at least until through physical exhaustion
their productive capacity was no longer worth the nuisance that
their continued existence meant. Then they took their place in
the daily detail for the gas chambers.

Day after day the chimneys of the crematoria belched their
nauseating stench over the countryside. When the Bishop of
Limbourg could write to Frick of the repulsive odours from the
comparatively insignificant ovens at Hadamar, can we doubt the
evidence of Hoess that I mentioned?

“The foul and nauseating stench from the continuous burning
of bodies permeated the entire area and all the people living in
the surrounding communities knew that exterminations were go-
ing on at Auschwitz.”

Day after day trainloads of victims travelled over the railroads
of the whole Reich on their way to the extermination centers or
their own slavery. Many arrived dying and even dead through
the appalling conditions under which they journeyed. An offi-
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cial at the railway station at Essen has described the arrival of
workers from Poland Galicia and the Ukraine (D-321, USA 895):

“They came in goods wagons in which potatoes, building ma-
terials and also cattle had been transported. The trucks were
jammed full with people. My personal view was that it was in-
human to transport people in such a manner. The people were
squashed closely together and they had no room for free move-

ment. It was enraging to every decent German to see how the
people were beaten and kicked and generally maltreated in a
brutal manner. In the very beginning, as the first transports ar-
rived, we could see how inhumanly these people were treated.
Every wagon was so overfull that it was incredible that such a
number could be jammed into one wagon * * *. The cloth-
ing of prisoners of war and civilian workers was catastrophic.
It was ragged and ripped and the footwear was the same. In
some cases they had to go to work with rags round their feet.

“Even in the worst weather and bitterest cold I have never seen
that any of the wagons were heated.”

Those men were not destined for concentration camps that was
certain. How much worse the conditions of these who were.
Great columns, too, trekked on foot along the highways of the
" Reich. They walked until they could walk no more; then they
died by the side of the road. Ziereis, Commandant of Mau-
thausen, in his dying confession said (D-626, USA 810).:

“In. the presence of Baldur von Schirach and others I received
the following order from Himmler:

“All Jews of localities in the southeast, working on the so-
called fortification-commands, are to be sent on foot to Mau-
thausen.”

“In consequence of this order we were expecting to receive
60,000 Jews at Mauthausen, but in fact only a small fraction of
this number arrived. I remember that out of one convoy of 4,500
Jews which started out from somewhere in the country, only
- 180 arrived. The women and children had been without shoes
~and clothes and were very verminous. In that convoy complete

families had started out together but an immense number had
died on the way from exposure, weakness, ete.”

Now whatever may have been hidden from view behind the
stockades of the concentration camps, these things were open for
all to see. Every one of these defendants must have seen them
and the thousands of concentration camp prisoners working in
the fields and factories adorned in their striped pyjamas—a uni-
form that was as familiar as any other in Germany.

How possibly could any one of these defendants, had he even
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a spark of human pity, have continued to take active part in sup-
port of a system that was responsible for such suffering? But
they had no pity—and by their ideology and teaching they had
deprived the German people of pity.

Ziereis describes the frightful end that Kaltenbrunner con-
templated for the concentration camps and their inmates when
the advancing Allied Armies brought with them the danger of
capturing these camps and of disclosing the guilt of the Nazi
Government (8870-PS, USA 797):

“Prisoners were to be led into the tunnels of the factory
Berdkristall and the only entrance was to be blown up by the
use of explosive and the death of the prisoners was to be
effected in this manner.”

Even Ziereis, murderer of Mauthausen’s 65,000 dead, shied
and refused that order.

That evidence is corroborated beyond question by the written
order issued by the Commandant of the Sipo and SD in the Gov-
ernment General, which has been put in as evidence (L-53, USA
291):

“Should the situation at the front necessitate it, early prepa-
rations are to be made for the total clearance of prisoners.
Should the situation develop suddenly, in such a way that it is
impossible to evacuate the prisoners the present inmates are
to be liquidated and their bodies disposed of as far as possible
(burning, blowing up the building, etc.). If necessary, Jews
still employed in the armament industry or on other work are
to be dealt with in the same way. The liberation of prisoners
or Jews by the enemy, be it the Western enemies or the Red
Army, must be avoided under all circumstances. Nor may they
fall into their hands alive.”

And Kaltenbrunner himself saw to it that these orders should
be carried out. With this evidence before us, there can be only
one meaning to that teleprint message which was found amongst
his papers on his arrest (2519-PS, USA 530) :

“Please inform the Reichsfuehrer SS and report to the
Fuehrer that all arrangements against Jews, political and con-
centration camp internees in the Protectorate have been taken
care of by me personally today.”

The proposition which you are asked to accept is that a man
who was either a Minister or a leading executive in a State which,
within the space of six years, transported in horrible conditions
some 7,000,000 men, women and children for labour, exterminated
275,000 of its own aged and mentally infirm and annihilated in
the gas chambers or by shooting what must at the lowest com-

142



putation be 12,000,000 people, remained ignorant of or irrespon-
sible for these crimes. You are asked to accept that the horrors
of the transports, of the conditions of this slave labour, deployed
as it was in labour camps throughout the country, the sme]l of
the burning bodies, all of which were known to the world, were
not known to these 21 men by whose orders such things were
done. When they spoke or wrote in support of this horrible policy
of genocide you are asked to accept that their utterances were
made in ignorance of the facts, as part of their general duty to
support the policy of their Government, or finally, should be re-
garded merely ags tactical—that is to'say, that only by talking or
writing in such a way could they divert Hitler from cruelty or
aggression. It is for you to decide. Goering, Hess, Ribbentrop,
Keitel, Kaltenbrunner, Rosenberg, Frank, Frick, Streicher, Funk,
Schacht, Doenitz, Raeder, Schirach, Sauckel, Jodl, VonPapen,
Seyss-Inquart, Speer, Von Neurath, Fritzsche, Bormann—these
are the guilty men.

Let me make brief comments upon each one of them but in
particular upon those whose close complicity in the most sordid
crimes of all, the bestial murders, has possibly been less manifest.

Goering’s responsibility in all these matters is scarcely to be
denied. Behind his spurious air of bon homme, he was as great
an architect as any in this satanic system. Who, apart from
Hitler, had more knowledge of what went on, or greater influgence

"to affect its course? The conduct of government in the Nazi
State, the gradual build-up of the organization for war, the cal-
culated aggression, the atrocities—these things do not occur spon-
taneously or without the closest cooperation between the holders
of the various offices of State. Men do not advance into foreign
territory, pull the trigger, drop their bombs, build the gas cham-
bers, collect the victims, unless they are organized and ordered

" to'do it. Crimes on the national and systematic scale which oc-

curred here must involve anyone who forms a part of the neces-
sary chain, since without that participation, plans for aggression
here, mass murder there, would become quite impossible. The

Fuehrer principle by which the Nazis placed their bodies and
their very souls at the disposal of their leader was the creation

of the Nazi Party, and of these men. When I addressed yon at
the opening of this trial, I remarked that there comes a time

When a man must choose between his conscience and his leader.

No one who chose, as these men did, to abdicate their consciences

in favour of this monster of their own creation can complain now

Eféthey are held responsible for complicity in what their monster
id.

And least of all, Hess. The role Hess played in the Nazi Party
is well establlshed But not content with creating the monster,

he aided it in every aspect of its monstrous work.
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I mention only one instance. You will recall, in connectionl with
the extermination of the Eastern peoples, his direction to Party
Officials to support recruitment for the Waffen SS. He said
(3245-PS, GB 267):

“It consists of National Socialists who are more suitable than
other armed units for the specific tasks to be solved in the
occupied eastern territories, owing to their intensive National
Socialist training in regard to questions of race and nation-
ality.”

Ribbentrop’s part, also, is.clear. No one in history has so de-
bauched diplomacy : no one been guilty of meaner treachery. But
he, like the rest of them, is just a common murderer. Ribbentrop
it was who, since 1940, had been directing the minions in his
embassy and legations throughout Europe to accelerate the exe-
cution of such “political measures” that is, measures of racial
extermination. It was not Himmler, but the Reich Foreign Min-
ister who proudly reported to the Duce in February, 1943, that
(EC-265; 3688-PS; D-73}):

“All Jews had been transported from Germany and from the
territories occupied by her to reserves in the East.”

His bald recommendations to Horthy two months later and the
record of the conference called by Steengracht, his permanent
Under Secretary of State, betray the meaning of these ghastly
euphonisms (D-736, GB 283; 3319-PS, GB 287): '

No one was more insistent on merciless action in the occupied
territories than Ribbentrop. You will remember his advice to the
Italians on how to deal with strikes (D-740, GB 297):

“In such a case only merciless action is any good. In the
occupied territories we would not get anywhere with soft meas-
ures in the endeavour to reach an agreement.”

Advice which he proceeded to reinforce by referring with pride
to the successes of “brutal measures” in Norway, “brutal action”
in Greece, and in France and Poland the success of ‘“Draconian”
measures.

Were Keitel and Jodl less involved in murder than their con-
federates? They cannot deny knowledge or responsibility for the
operations of the Einsatz Commandos with whom their own Com-
manders were working in close and cordial cooperation. The atti-
tude of the High Command to the whole question is typified by
Jodl’s remark about the evacuation of Danish Jews (D-547, GB
488):

“I know nothing of this. If a political measure is to be car-
ried out by the Commander, Denmark, the OKW must be noti-
fied by the Foreign Office.”
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You cannot disguise murder by calling it a political measure.

Kaltenbrunner, as chief of the RSHA, must be guilty. The Re-
ports of the Einsatz Commandos were sent to him monthly. You
will remember the words of Gisevius, a witness for the defence
(3876-PS, USA 808):

“We asked ourselves whether it was possible that an even
worse man could possibly be found after such a monster as
Heydrich * * * Kaltenbrunner came * * * and things
got worse every day * * *. We had the experience that
perhaps the impulsive actions of a murderer like Heydrich were
not as bad as the cold legal logic of a lawyer who was handling
such a dangerous instrument as the Gestapo.”

You will remember his deseription of those horrible luncheon
parties at which Kaltenbrunner discussed every detail of the gas
chambers and of the technique of mass murder.

Rosenberg’s guilt as the philosopher and theorist who made the
ground fertile for the seeds of Nazi policy is not in doubt, and it
is beyond belief that he, as Reich Minister for Eastern Occupied
‘Territories, did not know of and support the destruction of the
ghettos and the operations of the Einsatz Commandos. In Octo-
ber, 1941, when the operations of those Commandos were at their
height, one of Rosenberg’s ministerial departmental chiefs was
writing to the Reich Commissioner for the East in Riga inform-
ing him that the Reich Security Main Office had ecomplained that
he had forbidden the executions of the Jews in Libau and asking
for a report upon the matter. On 15th November, the report
‘comes back addressed to the Reich Minister for Occupied Eastern
Territories (3663-PS, USA 825):

“I have forbidden the wild execution of Jews in Liepaja be-
cause they were not justifiable in the manner in which they
were carried out. I should like to be informed whether your
enquiry of 81st October is to be regarded as a directive to liqui-
date all Jews in the East? Shall this take place without re-
gard to age and sex and economic interests? * * * Of
course, the cleansing of the East of Jews is a necessary task;
its solution, however, must be harmonized with the necessities
of war production.”

Frank—if it is not sufficient to convict him that he was re-
sponsible for the administration of the Government General and
for one of the bloodiest and most brutal chapters in Nazi his-
tory—has himself stated (2233-C-PS, USA 271):

“One cannot kill all lice and all Jews in one Year.”
It is no coincidence that that was exactly Hitler’s language. And
again (2238-D-PS, USA 281): '
“As far as the Jews are concerned, I want to tell you quite
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frankly that they must be done away with in one way or another
¥ % %  (Gentlemen, I must ask you to rid yourselves of all
feeling of pity. We must annihilate the Jews wherever we
find them and whenever it is possible in order to maintain the
structure of the Reich as a whole * * * We cannot shoot
or poison 3,500,000 Jews, but we shall nevertheless be able to
take measures which will lead to their annihilation.”

Can Frick, as Minister of the Interior, have been unaware of
the policy to exterminate the Jews? In 1941 one of his subordi-
nates, Heydrich, was writing to another—the Minister of Justice
(R-96, GB 268):

“It may safely be assumed that in the future there will be
no more Jews in the annexed Eastern territories.”

Can he, as Reich Protector for Bohemia and Moravia deny re-
sponsibility for the deportations of thousands of Jews from his
territory to the gas chambers of Auschwitz, only a few miles
across the frontier ?

Of Streicher one need say nothing. Here is a man more re-
sponsible, perhaps, than any, for the most frightful crime the
world has ever known. For 25 years the extermination of the
Jews had been his terrible ambition. For 25 years he had edu-
cated the German people in the philosophy of hate, of brutality,
of murder. He had incited and prepared them to support the
Nazi policy, to accept and participate in the brutal persecution
and slaughter of millions of his fellow men. Without him these
things could not have been. It is long since he forfeited all right
to live.

The fact that the defendants Schacht and Funk dealt chiefly
with economics ought not blind the Tribunal to their important
part in the general plan. Schacht says that he had clean hands
in this matter. It is for you to say. Schacht played his part in
bringing Hitler to power. He says he thought that Hitler was
“a man with whom one could co-operate”, and assured Hitler that
he could always count on him ‘“as your reliable assistant.” He
helped to consolidate the Nazi position and he was the main figure
in collecting election funds from the industrialists (EC-457, USA
619). It then became his task to provide the economic plan and
machinery necessary to launch and maintain aggression. He knew
the policy about the Jews, he knew the methods Hitler was using
to build up his power, he knew the ultimate aim was aggression.
But he continued t.o play his part. Messersmith has summed up
his work (EC-451, USA 626):

“Yet by Schacht’s resourcefulness, his complete financial
ruthlessness and his absolute cynicism Schacht was able to
maintain and to establish the situation for the Nazis. Unques-
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tionably, without this complete lending of his capacities to the
Nazi Government, and all of its ambitions it would have been
impossible for Hitler and the Nazis to develop an armed force
sufficient to permit Germany to launch an aggressive war.”

The fact that that was in Schacht’s mind was shown at a very
early date most clearly in a secret report issued by his Ministry of
Economices on 30th September 1934. I have already referred to
his Deputy’s report showing the amazing detail in which plans
and preparations for the management of German economy in time
of war had been worked out before Schacht resigned in 1937
(EC-128, USA 623; EC-258, USA 625).

It is not surprising that on Schacht’s 60th birthday the then
German Minister of War, von Blomberg, said to him:

“Without your help, my dear Schaéht, none of this armament
could have taken place.”

In the witness box Schacht says that as early as the second half
of 1934 and the first half of 1935 he found he was “wrong in think-
ing” that Hitler would bring the “revolutionary forces” of Nazism
into the regular atmosphere and he discovered that Hitler did
nothing to stop the excesses of individual Party Members or Party
Groups. He was pursuing a “policy of terror”.

That accords very closely with Schacht’s statement to the
American Ambassador in September 1934 (EC-451, USA 626):

“* * % the Hitler Party is absolutely committed to war
and the people too are ready and willing. Only a few Govern-
ment officials are aware of the danger and are opposed.”

" Schacht’s further suggestions that his purpose in the Govern-
ment was to be critical and was to act as a brake are as we sub-
mit, impossible to reconcile with his own actions. He need not
have become Minister of Economics according to his own account,
but he did so nonetheless. In May 1935, the month in which he
undertook his task as General Plenipotentiary for War Economy,
“to put all economic forces in the service of carrying on the war
and to secure the life of the German people economically”, he
wrote to Hitler (1168-PS, USA 37):

“All expenditures which are not urgently needed in other
matters must stop and the entire, in itself small, financial power
.Of Germany must be concentrated toward the one goal—to
arm-n -

In May 1936 he told a secret meeting of Nazi Ministers that his
brogramme of financing armaments had meant “the commitment
O_f the last reserve from the beginning”. He said he would con-
tinue to work since he stood “with unswerving loyalty to the
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Fuehrer because he fully recognises the basic idea of National
Soeialism™ (1801-PS, USA 123).
In 1987, when Hitler bestowed the Golden Party badge upon
him, Schacht appealed to all his-colleagues (EC-500) :
“Further to devote with all their hearts their entire strength
to the Fuehrer and the Reich. The German future lies in the
hands of our Fuehrer.”

The mercy killings; the persecution of the Jews. These things
must have been known at that time. Were his hands so clean?

In the light of these quotations it is not unexpected to find Am-
bassador Dodd, whom Schacht counted among his friends, recall-
ing in his diary on 21.12.37 (EC-461, USA 58):

“Much as he dislikes Hitler’s dictatorship he (Schacht) as
most other eminent Germans wishes annexation, without war if
possible, with war if the United States will keep hands off.”

These quotations, in our submission, make it clear that Schacht
knew well that Hitler’s aim was war very much earlier than he
himself admits. He does admit, however, that he knew that the
plot to discredit General von Fritsch meant war. Despite that
knowledge, on 9.8.88, he aceepted the appointment as Reichsbank
President for an additional four years. He joyously took part in
the acquisition of the former Austrian National Bank on 21.3.38
and on 7.6.39 wrote to Hitler (EC-869, USA 631):

“From the beginning the Reichsbank has been aware of the
fact that a successful foreign policy could be attained only by
the reconstruction of the German Armed Forces. It therefore
assumed to a very great extent the responsibility to finance the
rearmament in spite of the inherent dangers to the currency.
The justification thereof was the necessity—which pushed all
other considerations into the background—to carry through the
armament at once, out of nothing and furthermore under
camouflage which made a respect-commanding foreign policy
possible.”

These words, and others like them, are merely putting in fine
phrases Schacht’s knowledge that, if the proposed vietims resisted,
Hitler was prepared and would be able to plunge into war condi-
tions to achieve his aims. Schacht’s intelleet and international
position only increased the cynical immorality of his crimes.

Moreover Schacht must face these facts. The Tribunal has seen
evidenece of the film which showed his sycophantic trotting beside
Hitler and swarming over him in 1940. Long before 1943 he must
have known of the treatment of the Jews and the reign of terror
in occupied countries. Yet until 1948 Schacht remained a Minister
without Portfolio and at all events lent his name and weight to
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this regime of horror. Should anyone be left to boast that he did
this with impunity?

Funk carried on Schacht’s work. He had already rendered in-
valuable service to the conspirators by his organization of the
Ministry of Propaganda. From 1938 on he was Minister of
Economics, President of the Reichsbank and Chief Plenipotentiary
for Eeconomics, mobilising economy for aggressive war well know-
ing the Nazi plans for aggression. We find him in every field;
attending Goering’s conference on 12 November 1938, the meeting
of the Reich Defense Council in June 1939, advising on decrees to
be issued against the Jews at the former and the employment of
concentration camp and slave labor at the latter. The final proof
of the welcome with which he viewed aggression is found in his
letter to Hitler on the 25th August 1939, the day before the in-
vasion of Poland had been said to begin; he said (699-PS, GB 49):

“How happy and how grateful we must be to you to be
favored to experience these colossal and world-moving times,
and that we can contribute to the tremendous events of those
days. General Field Marshal Goering informed me last night
that you—my Fuehrer—have approved in principle the meas-
ures prepared by me for financing the war, for setting up the
wage and price system and for carrying out the plan for an
emergency contribution.

With the proposals worked out by me regarding a.ruthless
choking of any unessential consumption and any public expendi-
ture and project not necessary for war, we will be able to meet
all financial and economic demands without any serious rever-
berations.”

His part during the war needs no further mention than refer-
ence to the minutes of the Central Planning Board and to his ar-
rangement with Himmler for the exploitation of the S.S. loot
which, as he knew, came in truckloads from Auschwitz and the
other concentration camps to the vaults of the Reichsbank. The
Tribunal will also remember the document which shows that his
Ministry of Economics received enormous quantities of civilian
clothing from these unhappy vietims (1166-PS, USA 458).

Was Doenitz ignorant, when he addressed to a Navy of some
600,000 men, a speech on the “spreading poison of Jewry”? Doe-
nitz, who thought fit to circuldte to the Naval War Staff Hitler’s
directive for dealing with the general strike at Copenhagen—‘“tf’r'
ror should be met by terror”—and asked for 12,000 concentrat19n
camp workers for the shipyards, recommending collective repris-
als for Scandinavian workers in view of the efficacy of similar
methods in France (2878-PS, GB 187; C-171, GB 210; C-195, GB
211).
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Are Raeder’s hands unstained with the blood of murder? As
early as 1933, to use his own words (C-185, GB 213):

“Hitler had made a clear political request to build up by the
1st April 1938 armed forces which he could put in the balance
as an instrument of political power.”

When, therefore, he received successive orders to fight if war
resulted from Hitler’s foreign policy, he knew very well that war
was a certain rigk if that policy went awry. Again and again he
had this warning, first when Germany left the Disarmament Con-
ference, again at the time of the negotiations for the Naval Agree-
ment in 19385, at the time of the Rhineland and later when he at-
tended the famous Hossbach conference. He has tried to persuade
this Tribunal that he regarded. Hitler’s speeches at these meet-
ings as mere talk, yet we know that they gave Neurath a heart
attack. His old Service comrades, von Blomberg and von Fritsch,
who were unwise enough to object at the Conference which sealéd
the fate of Austria and Czechoslovakia, were dealt with in a man-
ner which, in his own words, shook his confidence not only in
Goering but in Hitler as well.

Can Raeder have been ignorant of the murder of thousands of
Jews at Libau in the Baltic? You will remember the evidence
that many were killed in the naval port and the facts reported by
his naval officers at the Local Headquarters to Kiel. We now
know from the report of the Commando which dealt with the
Jews of Libau that at the end of January 1942 they had ac-
counted for 11,860 in that district alone. Raeder who, on Heroes
Day, 1939, spoke of the clear and inspiring summons to fight
international Jewry. Do you really believe, when he was always
helping individual Jews, he had never heard of the horrors of
concentration camps or the murder of millions? Yet he still went
on (D-841, GB 474; L-180, USA 276; D-653, GB 232).

Von Schirach. What need one say of him? That it were bet-
ter that a millstone had been placed round his neck * * *7 Tt
was this wretched man who perverted millions of innocent Ger-
man children so that they might grow up and become what they
did become—the blind instruments of that policy of murder and
domination which these men carried out.

The infamous “Heu Aktion” by which between forty and fifty
thousand Soviet children were kidnapped into slavery was a
produet of his work. You will remember the weekly S.S. reports
on the extermination of the Jews found in his office. (031-PS,
USA 171; 845-PS, USA 869)

What is the crime of Sauckel whose Gau contained the infamous
camp of Buchenwald? Sauckel may now seek to put a gloss on
his order to shanghai Frenchmen, to deny that he advocated the
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ﬁanging of a Prefect or a mayor to.crush opposition, to say that
references to ruthless action referred to interdepartmental dis-
putes and that reformatory labor camps were purely educational
institutions. You who have seen the documents which attest the
horrors perpetrated in what we are now told was the produce of
an emergency—the urgent need for workers to feed the Nazi ma-
chine, you who have heard and read of the conditions in which 7
million men, women and children torn from their homes were
dragged into slavery at his orders can need no further proof of
guilt.

Papen and, if mercy can survive his record in Czechoslovakia,
Neurath, are in like case with Raeder. Like him they professed
old family and professional integrity, factors which carry with
them a great responsibility from which men like Ribbentrop and
Kaltenbrunner are free.

Within 18 months of putting Hitler in power Papen knew that
Hitler’'s Government meant oppression of opponents, ill-treatment
of the Jews and persecution of the Churches including his own.
His recent political friends had been sent to concentration camps
or killed, including men like von Schleicher and von Bredow. He
had himself been arrested, two members of his staff killed and
another compelled to witness killing. None of these things were
hidden from von Neurath, yet he remained in office.
~In 1934 Papen was writing sycophantic letters to Hitler and
shortly afterwards we find him in Austria working for a man he
knows to be a murderer undermining a regime for which he pro-
fessed outward friendship. Even after the Anschluss he was
still working for a regime which he knew used murder as an in-
strument of policy and after losing yet another secretary by mur-
der he was ready to accept a post in Turkey. The Concordat with
his own Church which he had himself negotiated is treated as
“a serap of paper” to use his own words, and Catholics from Arch-
bishops to simple believers were outraged. He has said

“Hitler was the greatest crook that ever lived”.
The case for the Prosecution in a sentence is that, knowing this
only too well, von Papen gave Hitler his support and co-operation
because his greed for power and office made it “better to reign in
Hell than to serve in Heaven.”

Defense Counsel has sought to portray Papen as an advocate
of Peace. If he preferred to attain the objects of the conspiracy
by the methods of assassination, bullying and blackmail rather
than open war, the reason may be that provided by him in his own
evidence, namely that he feared that: “If a World war were to
break out, Germany’s situation would be hopeless”.

As to Seyss-Inquart, you will remember Goering’s instructions
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to him on the 26th March, 1938, to institute anti-semitic measures
in Austria, followed by the Progress Report on 12th November
by one of his officials. As far as concerns the Jews in the Nether-
lands, he admits that he knew they were being deported but says
he was powerless to stop it as it was ordered from Berlin.. He
has further said that he knew they went to Auschwitz but he says
he was sent there to enquire about them, was told they were well
off and arranged for them to send mail from Auschwitz to Holland
(8460-PS, USA 437; 1816-PS, USA 261). It is likely that Seyss-
Inquart who admits knowledge of large-scale crimes against the
Jews in the Netherlands, for example

“a drive to force the Jews to be sterilised”,

who admits that many and grave excesses occurred in the Nether-
lands concentration camps and indeed that in wartime he

“considered that almost inevitable”,

who pleads that in comparison with camps elsewhere
“it was perhaps not quite so bad in the Netherlands”,

is it possible that he was really deceived as he says into thinking
the people in Auschwitz were

“comparatively well off” ?

One comes next to the defendants Speer and Fritzsche who have
appeared in this trial as experts. Speer has admitted that his
responsibility for conscription of labour helped to bring up the
total number of workers under him to 14,000,000. He stated that
when he took over office in February 1942 all the perpetrations or
violations of International Law of which he could be accused had
already been realised. Nevertheless he went on to say

“The workers were brought into Germany against their will. I
had no objection to their being brought to Germany against their -
will. On the contrary during the first period until autumn of 1942
I certainly used my energy that as many workers as possible
should be brought to Germany in this manner.” Further, workers
were placed at his disposal by Sauckel and he was responsible
for their allocation priorities.

He acknowledged the receipt of 1,000,000 Soviet labourers in
August 1942. On 4-1-44 he demanded 1,300,000 workers for the
coming year. Speer produced no defense of this conscription of
labour but he did assert that from 1948 he had supported the re-
tention of French workers in France, which is a mere matter of
mitigation. The moderation of Speer’s manner ought not hide the
fact that this policy, which he cheerfully adopted and applied was
one that meant the most appalling misery and suffering for mil-
lions of Soviet and other families. (R-124, USA 179; 1292-PS,
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USA 225) It displays once again the complete disregard of the
fate of other people which runs like a sordid thread through the
evidence in this trial, and no moral awakening regarding the in-
terest of the German people (I repeat “the German People”) at
the end of the war, can offset the participation in this horrible
action.

With regard. to the treatment of foreign workers Speer’s general
point was that the evidence for the Prosecution is simply that of
individual bad instances and should not be taken as the general
condition. If it were the general condition he would accept re-
sponsibility. The Prosecution submit that their evidence, viewed
as a whole, is conclusive evidence of general bad conditions.

Neurath who has told the Tribunal that he joined Hitler’s Gov-
ernment to keep it peace-loving and respectable, knew within a few
weeks that the Jews were being persecuted, that reputable for-
eign papers and reputable German papers too for that matter were
quoting official figures of ten to twenty thousand internees. He
knew that the opposition, the Communists, the Trade-Unionists
and Social Democrats were being destroyed as political forces.
The Blood Purge followed yet he went on and seconded Hitler in
his breaches of the Treaty of Versailles. We have the evidence of
Paul Schmidt that the murder of Dollfuss and the attempted
Putsch in Austria seriously disturbed the career personnel of the
Foreign Office whilst they regarded the Mutual Assistance Pact
between France and the Soviet Union as a further very serious
warning as to the potential consequences of German foreign policy.

“At this time the career officials at least expressed their reser-
vation to the Foreign Minister Neurath. I do not know whether
or not Neurath in turn related these expressions of concern to
Hitler.” (3308-PS, GB 288) Yet when Raeder was issuing or-
ders about the danger of showing “enthusiasm for war”, von
Neurath would have you believe that he had failed to realise its
growth. He, as much as Raeder, saw and took part in the events
which followed the secret meetings, the treatment of von Blom-
berg and von Fritsch, he it was at the time of the Anschluss who,
though no longer Foreign Minister, gave the support of a name,
not yet notably tarnished, to Hitler's action by transmitting un-
truths in denijal of the British Note and by reassuring the Czechs.
That reassurance ought never be forgotten—there can be few
things more grimly cynical than von Neurath who had listened
to the Hossbach speech solemnly telling M. Mastny that Hitler
would stand by the Arbitration Treaty with Czechoslovakia. As
soon ag Hitler had marched into Prague, he it was who became
protector of Bohemia and Moravia. You have heard his admis-
sion that he applied all decrees for the treatment of the Jews

744400—47—12
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which had appeared in Gefmany between 1933 and 1939. (C-194,
USA 55)

Fritzsche’s work was to organise the entire German Press so
that it became “a permanent instrument of the Propaganda Min-
istry”. Propaganda was a most potent factor in all Nazi strategy.
Here in turn that factor made all the press its most potent weapon.
The fact that he knew and participated in the use of his organisa-
tion is shown by his attempt to whitewash the successive propa-
ganda actions which led up to each of the various aggressions
mentioned in his affidavit. As he said (8469-PS, USA 721):

“All news checked by me was full of tendency while not in-

vented”. .

It is incredible that when he was called upon time after time to
conduct what was specifically referred to as actions and when
each time he saw the practical results he did not realise the dis-
honesty with which the German policy was being conducted or
that the aim of the Nazi Government was aggressive war. Higs
personal ability as a broadcaster caused him to become virtually
an official commentator. To quote his own words:
“May I add that it is known to me that in-the far corners of
German colonies abroad my radio speeches were, shall we say,
the political comments.”

He has emphasized that in these comments he had a free hand.
Is it to be doubted that this was because he was prepared to broad-
cast whatever lie Goebbels wanted? He himself says, in dealing
with the uses to which his influence was put:

“Again and again I was requested to awaken hatred against
individuals and against systems.”

You have seen a sample in his broadcast on the Athenia. As
early as 1940 he broke far enough away from the restraint which
he tried to picture in the witnhess box to call the Poles “under
people” and “beasts in human form” (D-912, GB 526).

On the 18th December 1941 he referred to the fate of European
Jews in the following words (8064-PS, USA 723):

“The fate of Jewry in Europe has turned out to be as un-
pleasant as the Fuehrer predicted it would be in the event of a
European war. After the extension of the war instigated by
the Jews, this unpleasant fate may also spread to the New
World, for you can hardly assume that the nations of the New
World will pardon the Jews for the misery of which the na-
tions of the Old World did not absolve them.”

There were few more dreadful or hate-provoking accusations
among the whole miasma of Nazi lies against the Jews, than that
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of instigating the war which brought such misery to humanity,
yet this educated and thoughtful defendant deliberately made it.
It is difficult to imagine any more fulsome or callous adulation
of Hitler’s aggression than his speech on 9th October 1941 which
contained the words (8064-PS, USA 728):

“x * % gnd we are particularly grateful for those light-
ning victories because—as the Fuehrer emphasized last Friday
—they gave us the possibility of embarking on the organization
of Europe and of lifting the treasures of this old continent even
in the middle of a war, without having to keep millions and
millions of German soldiers on guard * * *”

Perhaps the key to the concealment of war crimes by Fritzsche
ig the basic principle of his propaganda. '

“But decisive for us for such a news machine is not the de-
tail but the final fundamental basis on which propaganda is
built. Decisive is the belief in the purity of the leaders of the
State on which every journalist must rely.”

Fritzsche maintained until practically the very end the most
excellent relations with Dr. Goebbels. When the Tribunal consider
the picture of total extremism and violent anti-semitism which
the other defendants have painted of Goeébbels it is difficult to
imagine that the worship of his closest collaborator could have
been based on innocent ignorance.

The prosecution submit that it is laughable that such a man
should try and persuade you that it was in ignorance of these
horrors that he went on exhorting and persuading the German
people to tread the path to their doom. Fritzsche shares with
Streicher, Rosenberg, Schirach the responsibility for the utter
degradation of the German people so that “they shut the gates of
mercy on mankind.” It was because of them that such scenes as
that in the Jewish cemetery at Schwertz on that Sunday morning
in October 19389 occurred, when 200 of Keitel's decent Wehrmacht
soldiers watched without a murmur the murder of that lorry-load
of women and children. You will remember the story as three
of them have told it (UK-38):

“On Saturday evening I heard from a comrade in my com-
pany that on that day a number of Poles had been shot in the
Jewish Cemetery. The talk about these facts went through the
whole Company like lightning. On the following morning
* % % T went to the cemetery at 8 o’clock with two of my
comrades from my Company. There I found a great number of
soldiers belonging to the Companies of our Battalion and also
from troops who were stationed in- Schwetz. There were
roughly 200 to 800 soldiers at the cemetery * * *, At 9:30
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hours the bus arrived loaded with women and children. I stood
near the mass graves which had been prepared beforehand and
I saw a woman holding one little boy by the right hand and one
or two girls by the other, walking from the bus to the grave. I
then saw a few seconds later how the woman stood in the grave
and one of the boys was handed down to her by the SS men. We
then turned round and left because I did not want, nor could,
witness the shooting of these children. Immediately after that
I heard the shots * * *. Shortly after that another bus
arrived, loaded with Poles. An SS mian shouted to the soldiers
who stood around “Now you can all come in and watch.” Then
I went in once more and saw a group of four men step into the
same mass grave in which the woman had been shot previously.
They were ordered to lie down and then they were liquidated by
shooting through the back of their heads from a very short dis-
tance. Flesh, brains and sand were flung around over the grave
and dirtied the uniforms of the soldiers who were watching.
About eighty soldiers stood too close to the edge of the grave.
These happenings could also be seen by the civilian population
from the windows of their houses opposite the Jewish ceme-
tery.”

You are asked fo believe that these 21 Ministers and loading
officers of State did not know about these matters—were not re-
sponsible. It is for you to decide.

Years ago Goethe said of the German people that some day fate
would strike them * * *

“would strike them because they betrayed themselves and did

not want to be what they are. It is said that they do not know

the charm of truth, detestable that mist smoke and berserk im-

moderation are so dear to them, pathetic that they ingenuously

submit to any mad scoundrel who appeals to their lowest ifi-
stinets, who confirms them in their vices and teaches them to
conceive nationalism as isolation and brutality.”

With what a voice of prophecy he spoke—for these are the mad
scoundrels who did those very things.

Some it may be are more guilty than others ; some played a more
direct and active part than others in these frightful crimes. But
when these crimes are such as you have to deal with here—slavery,
mass murder and world war, when the consequences of the crimes
are the deaths of over 20,000,000 of our fellow men, the devasta-
tion of a continent, the spread of untold tragedy and suffering
throughout the world, what mitigation is it that some fook less
part than others, that some were principals and others mere ac-
cessories. What matters it if some forfeited their lives only a
thousand times whilst others deserved a million deaths?
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In one way the fate of these men means little: their personal
power for evil lies forever broken; they have convicted and dis-
credited each other and finally destroyed the legend they created
round the figure of their leader. But on their fate great issues
must still depend, for the ways of truth and righteousness between
the Nations of the world, the hope of future international coopera-
tion in the administration of law and justice are in your hands.
This trial must form a milestone in the history of civilization, not
only bringing retribution to those guilty men, not only marking
that right shall in the end triumph over evil, but also that the
ordinary people of the world (and I make no distinction now be-
tween friend or foe) are now determined that the individual must
transcend the State. The State and the law are made for man,
that through them he may achieve a fuller life, a higher purpose
and a greater dignity. States may be great and powerful. Ulti-
mately the rights of men, made as all men are made in the image
of God, are fundamental. When the State, either because as here
its leaders have lusted for power and place, or under some spe-
cious pretext that the end may justify the means, affronts these
things, they may for a time become obscured and submerged. But
they are imminent and ultimately they will assert themselves more
strongly still, their imminence more manifest. And so, after this
ordeal to which mankind has been submitted, mankind itself—
.struggling now to reestablish in all the countries of the world the
common simple things—Iliberty, love, understanding—comes to
this Court and cries “These are our laws—Ilet them prevail.”

Then shall those other words of Goethe be translated into fact,
not only, as we must hope, of the German people but of the whole
community of man:

“Thus ought the German people to behave * * * giving
and receiving from the world, their hearts open to every fruitful
source of wonder, great through understanding and love,
through mediation and the spirit—thus ought they to be; that

" is ?:heir destiny.”

You will remember when you come to give your decision the
story of Gruber, but not in vengeance—in a determination that
these things shall not oecur again.

“The Father”’—do you remember ?—pointed to the sky, “and
Seemed to say something to his boy”.
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CLOSING ARGUMENT FOR THE PROVISIONAL GOVERN.-
MENT OF THE FRENCH REPUBLIC

by
M. DUBOST, DEPUTY CHIEF PROSECUTOR

with introduction by M. Champetier de Ribes, Chief Prosecutor

Introduction

For the last nine months more than fifteen years of history have
been evoked at this bar. Germany’s archives, those the Nazis
were unable to burn before their defeat, have yielded us their
secrets. We have heard numerous witnesses, whose recollections
would have been lost to history but for the present trial.

All the facts have been submitted with the strictest objectivity,
leaving no room for passion nor even for sensibility. The Court
has excluded from the debate anything that, in its opinion, seemed
insufficiently demonstrated, anything that might have appeared
dictated by a spirit of vengeance.

For the interesting point of these trials is above all that of
historical truth. Thanks to them, the historian of the future, -as
well as the chronicler of today, will know the truth about the
political, diplomatic and military events of the most tragic period
" of our history; he will know the crimes of Nazism as well as the
hesitancies, the weaknesses, the omissions of the pacific democra-
cies. He will know that the result of twenty centuries of civiliza-
tion, which believed itself to be eternal, nearly collapsed before
the renewed onslaught of a new form of the ancient barbarism, all
the more savage for being more scientific.

He will know that technical progress, that the modern means of
propaganda, that the devilish processes of a police defying the
most elementary rules of humanity, have enabled a small minority
of eriminals to distort within a few years the collective conscience
of a great people, and to transform the nation, which Dr. Sauter
alluded to at the end of his speech in favor of von Schirach stat-
ing that it was faithful, fair, and full of virtue, to transform the
nation into that of Hitler, of Himmler and of Goebbels, to men-
tion only the dead. A

He will know the crime of these men has been to have con-
ceived the most gigantic plan of world domination and to have
Wished to realize it by all and every means. By every means,
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that is to say without a doubt by the breaking of the given word
and by the unleashing of the very worst kind of war of aggression,
but particularly by the methodical, scientific extermination of
millions of human beings and specifically of certain national or
religious groups, the existence of which hampered the hegemony
of the Germanic race.

This erime is so monstrous, so unknown in history up to the
birth of Hitlerism, that the neologism of “genocide” had to be
created to define it, that it required an accumulation of documents
and testimonies to make it believable.

That, to the shame of the times we live in, this erime was pos-
sible, the perfect collaboration of the four Public Prosecutors
has permitted the proof to be given, and, within the limits of the
counts of the indictment she reserved for herself, France be-
lieves she has done her part in the common task.

While the defendants and their defense counsels have spoken
much before the Tribunal regarding the protection which the
innocent civilian population is entitled to, as of an obvious
prineiple, it has been established by us that the defendants have
deliberately violated this principle by treating these civilian
populations with utter disregard for human life. Is it necessary
to evoke the terrible sentence pronounced by the defendant Keitel
“human life is worth less than nothing in the occupied territories.”

Renewing a tradition which symbolizes the most primitive
practices of warfare, the defendants reinstated the system of hos-
tages. They put their signatures to general orders to capture and
execute thousands of martyrs. In France alone 29,000 hostages
were shot. We know that the fighters of the resistance, whose
patriotism is now being admired by the defendants, have been
massacred, tortured, interned for the purpose of their slow ex-
termination; that, under the pretext of reprisals, by the carrying
out of orders or by the committing of individual cruelties which
were covered by the complicity of the authorities, civilians chosen
absolutely at random have been executed, that entire villages were
burnt down: Oradoursur-Glane, Maille in France, Putten in Hol-
land have not yet risen from their ruins.

We all have in mind the atrocious orders issued in the opera-
tional sector of Marshal Kesselring to combat partisan activity
by terror. We saw there one officer order as a reprisal the ex-
ecution of fifty, of one hundred, or even of all the men of a region
as a reply to isolated acts directed against the German army. The-
carrying out of that order was authorized on the basis of instruec-
tions by the commander of the theater of operations, who himself
acted on more general instructions issued by the defendant Keitel.
This example illustrates the perfect collaboration of the National
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Socialist Cadre and the State and pleads, if it is still necessary, for
the joint responsibility of the leading personalities of the regime.

We know that thousands of men have been torn away from
their homes and forced to produce arms against their own coun-
try.

The bad treatment given to the soldiers hurt us even more,
because Germany, be it the traditional Germany, the Nazi Ger-
many in power, or the same Germany now presenting the poor
argument of its defense in the prisoners’ docks, has always claimed
to adhere to the universal rules of military honor and to the re-
spect due to all soldiers. And, in spite of this, we have seen Keitel
himself, the champion of these ideas to a point that he brought
it up again at the conclusion of his testimony in the witness box,
urge the Wilhelmstrasse and the co-defendant Goering to approve
his criminal propositions concerning the treatment of aviators
who fell into their hands.

Documents like the testimony of Grunner admit of no doubt
that the criminal orders to exterminate and lynch aviators had
been issued in the regular manner and been transmitted to the
agencies charged with their execution.

No doubt is possible as to the principles involved in the drawing
of the order concerning the commandos, nor as to the execution
of this order in the various theaters of operations. The Pros-
ecution has furnished a striking collectlon of evidence on this
point.

‘Our concern became even stronger when we acquired the cer-
titude that cruel orders had been issued to execute or intern for
. the purpose of their extermination men who had already been re-
duced to a state of helplessness by their detention in a prisoner of
war camp.

We have in mind the sinister affair of Sagan, often evoked in
the course of this trial. The defendants themselves attempt only
to evade their personal responsibility without denying the atrocity
nor the truth of the facts. We have shown how the refractory es-
caped officers and non-commissioned officers, whose past records
and attitude demonstrated their moral force, had been extermi-
nated by the “action” Kugel.

Finally, Nazi Germany has unveiled her plan of expansion and
world domination by systematically organizing the extermlnatlon
of the populations whose territories she occupied.

This action was carried out at first, as we have proved, by the
bolitical economic and moral destruction of the occupied coun-
tries. The means used for that purpose were the brutal or grad-
ual seizure of sovereignty, or the carefully worked out interfer-

161



ence of the German authorities in all domains, the creation and
implacable execution of a program of economic pillage in order
to achieve the exhaustion of the occupied country and to put it
at the absolute mercy of the occupant, and as a result of the
Nazification of the State and the people, together, with the de-
struction of cultural and moral values.

But the methodical extermination was also carried out in the
material domain of the systematic massacring of people.

Is it necessary to evoke the gigantic extermination of groups
supposedly impossible of assimilation with the National-Socialist
world, the immense graveyard of the concentration camps, where
15,000,000 people perished, the abominable achievements of the
“Einsatzgruppen” (groups for special commitment) desecribed
with irrefutable exactness by General Ohlendorf.

We think we have also established the proof of those pernicious
extermination attempts which upon examination, prove to be one
of the most perfect expressions of the policy followed by the de-
fendants. I am referring to the deliberate under-nourishment to
which these non-Germans were subjected who fell under Nazi
authority under whatever circumstance entire nations starved
out in reprisals, civilians in occupied territories ruthlessly ra-
tioned in the framework of the pillage of the territory. The Tri-
bunal recalls what Goering says to the Gauleiters, Number 170
USSR, “It is absolutely immaterial to me if you tell me that your
people are collapsing for hunger. Let them collapse, so long
as no German starves.” And again with reference to Holland:
“It is not our mission to feed a nation which spiritually rejects
us. If its people are so weak that they cannot as much as raise
a hand where they are not employed to work for us, so much the
better * * *»

Famine, physiological misery and the resulting reduction of
vital potential, all this, as well as the slow exhaustion of political
internees and prisoners-of-war, is included in the plan of exter-
mination of populations to clear German vital space.

The same idea governs the detention in captivity or semicap-
tivity in the case of labor deportees, of young healthy men whose
presence at home was necessary to the future of the country.

All this has been confirmed to us by the latest census results.

These reveal to us that every German occupied country has
registered a decrease in population of 5 to 25 per cent whereas
Germany is the only country in Europe which shows an increase
in population.

We have proved all these crimes. After the submission of our
documents the hearing of the witnesses, after the projection of
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films which the defendants themselves could not behold without
a shudder of horror, nobody in the world can possibly claim that
the extermination camps, the executed prisoners, the slaughtered
populations, the mounds of corpses, the human herds maimed in
flesh and soul, the instruments of torture, gas chambers and cre-
matories, that all these crimes existed only in the imagination of
anti-German propagandists.

. Indeed, none of the defendants have challenged the truth of the
facts we have reported. Since they cannot deny them, they
merely try to clear their responsibility by burdening the memory
of those of their accomplices who committed suicide.

- “We knew nothing of those horrors”, they say, or again: “we
did everything we could to prevent them but Hitler, who was all-
powerful, commanded and did not allow disobedience or even
resignation from office”.

What a poor defense! Whom can they possibly persuade that
they alone were ignorant'of that which the whole world knew and
that their monitoring stations never reported to them the sol-
emn warnings which the heads of the United Nations gave to the
war criminals by radio.

They could not disobey Hitler’s orders, they could not even
resign from office? Indeed! Hitler could doubtless govern their
bodies but not their minds; by disobeying they would perhaps
have lost their lives but they would have saved their honor at
‘least. Cowardice has never been an excuse, nor even an extenu-
ating circumstance.

~ The truth is that all knew perfectly—from having taken part
at its elaboration—the doctrines of National Socialism and its
will for universal domination, that they well knew to what mon-
strous crimes it led its adepts and its performers with disastrous
results, that they had accepted its responsibilities as they profited
by the material and moral advantages which it lavished upon
them.

But they thought themselves sure of immunity because they
were certain of victory, and that before the triumph of force, the
question would not be asked: was the cause just? They per-
§uaded themselves as they had done after the war of 1914, that no
international jurisdiction could ever pursue them. They thought
that Pascal’s pessimistic judgment on human justice in interna-
tional relations would always be true: “Justice is liable to argu-
ment. Force is easily recognizable without argument. So being
utnable to make strong what is right, one has made right what is
Strong.”

They are mistaken. Since Pascal, slowly but surely, the notion
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of Moral and of Justice is born, and has taken shape in the inter-
national custom of civilized nations and, in order to preserve
the world from barbary, the victory of the United Nations was
cause that, today strength runs together with justice, which is
referred to in the Charter establishing your Tribunal and that
your sentence will sanction.

The Court will no doubt remember that in conclusion of its
enumeration of the charges of the Prosecution, the French Pros-
ecution has stated precisely the responsibility of all the defend-
ants, “guilty of having, in their capacity of principal Hitlerite
leaders of the German people, conceived, desired, ordered or only
tolerated by their silence that murders or other inhuman actions
be systematically committed, that violence be systematically ex-
erted on prisoners-of-war or civilians, that devastation without
justification be systematically committed as a deliberate means
of accomplishing their design to dominate Europe and the world
by terror, and to exterminate entire populations, so as to extend
the living space of the German people.”

It is only left to us to demonstrate that the debates which have
taken place before you, have only confirmed and reinforced the.
accusations and the qualifications, that at the beginning of the
proceedings we already formulated against the big criminals,
whom, in execution of the Charter and to satisfy the exigencies
of Justice the United Nations have deferred to your Court.

Personal Responsibility of the Defendants

I am recalling the facts set forth by the French Delegation.
This reminder was needed to establish our contribution to the
trial. We do not intend, however, to disjoin our work from the
whole work of the trial, such as results from the expositions of
the other three Delegations and the debates. It is on the basis
of this work as a whole that we shall proceed with our indictment
and examine the personal responsibility of the defendants.

Reviewing the deeds charged against them one by one, they
are found to be murder, indictable theft, and other seriqus offenses
against persons and their property which are always punishable
in civilized countries. M. de Menthon has in his introductory ad-
dress shown this already. :

The defendants did not actually commit the crimes, they were
satisfled with ordering them. In the technical sense of our
French law, they are therefore accomplices. Making allowance
for certain differences, mostly differences of form only, in most
countries the perpetrators of serious offences and their accom-
plices are punished by capital punishment or very severe penalties,
forced labor, solitary confinement. That is the Anglo-Saxon prac-
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tice. This also follows in France from application of Articles
291 ff, 879 ff, 59 ff of the French Penal Code. In Germany
Article 211 punishes homicide, Article 212 murder, Articles 223
to 226 tortures, Article 229 poisoning and murder by gas. Article
‘984 covers slavery subjection to serfdom, incorporation with a
view to military service in a foreign country; Articles 242 and
248 cover theft and pillage; Article 130 provoking the population
to violence. The case of accomplices and of co-ordinators is
covered by Articles 47 and 49.

Similar arrangements exist in Soviet legislation.

That, as the leaders of the Reich, as the accomplices of the
Fuehrer, these men are all responsible for the crimes perpetrated
under their rule, that before the universal conscience their re-
sponsibility is heavier than that of the common executioners, two
defendants: Frank and Schirach have admitted-it:

Frank said:

“I never created extermination camps for Jews. I never
favored the existence of these camps either, but if Adolf Hitler
placed this terrible responsibility on the shoulders of his people,
this responsibility rests also on me, for we fought the Jews for
years, we made all kinds of statements against them * * *7

and these last words of Frank condemn, with him, all those who
pursued the campaign of instigation against the Jews in Ger-
many or elsewhere. Let us remember Frank’s answer to the ques-
tion, put to him by his Defense Counsel regarding the charges
stated in the indietment. It holds good against all the defendants
and still more against those who were closer to Hitler than he
. was:

“Regarding the charges I will only say this: I requeést the
Tribunal to decide as to the extent of my culpability at the end
of this trial, but I should like to say personally that from all
that I saw in the course of these five months of trial, which has

" given me a general survey of all the horrible things that have
been committed, I feel thoroughly guilty.”

Von Schirach on his part stated:

“Here is my fault for which I am answerable before God and
the German people. I brought up our youth for a man whom
In the course of many long years I considered, as the chief of
our country. For him I trained our youth that considered him
as I myself did. It is my fault for having trained our youth
for a man who was an assassin, who killed millions of.people
* * % Any German who after Auschwitz still adheres to the
social policy is guilty * * * I consider it my duty to say so”.
Such cries of conscience were rare in the course of this trial
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and more frequently, copying Goering’s quibbling vanity, the de-
fendants tried to justify themselves in the name of a policy of
Neo-Machiavellism which would free the leaders of the State of
all personal responsibilty. Let us note only that no such provisions
are made anywhere in the laws in any of the civilized countries,
and that on the contrary the arbitrary and aggressive acts aimed
at individual liberty, at Civie rights or at the constitution are
more severely punished when they have been committed by a
public functionary, a Government official of higher rank, and that
the severest punishment is meted out to the Ministers themselves
(Articles 114 and 115 of the French Penal Code).

But let us limit ourselves on this point. Our only aim is to re-
call that the main facts charged against the defendants may be
analysed separately as violations of the criminal laws of any one
of the positive internal laws of all civilized countries, or else of
that common international law which M. de Menthon has already
interpreted and which has been submitted here as the root of in-
ternational custom, and that thus the punishment of each of these
facts is not without a foundation, but that on the contrary, even
restricting one’s self to this analytical preview, the gravest penal-
ties have already been incurred.

It is, however, necessary to go beyond that, for while it does
not omit any culpable fact as such, the analysis of the defendant’s
guilt in the light of internal laws is only a first approximation
which would enable us to prosecute the defendants merely as
accomplices and not as principal perpetrators. And we are
.anxious to demonstrate that indeed they were the principal cul-
prits. ’

We hope to succeed in this by developing the following three
propositions:

1. The acts of the defendants are the elements of a criminal
political plan.

2. The coordination of the various departments which were
headed by these men implies a close cooperation between them for
the realization of their criminal policy.

3. They must be judged as acting in behalf of this criminal
policy.

The Acts of the Defendants Are the Elements of a Criminal Political Plan

The defendants have practised widely different activities. As
politicians, diplomats, soldiers, sailors, economists, financiers,
jurists, or propagandists, they represent practically all the forms
of liberal activity. Without any hesitation, however, one is able
to recognize the tie that binds them together. All have placed the
best—or the worst of themselves—at the service of the Hitlerite
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State. To a certain extent they represent the brains of that state.
By themselves alone they did not represent it entirely. Never-
theless, nobody can doubt that they were an important part of it.
They conceived the policy of that state. They wanted their
thought to become action and all in scarcely differing degrees have
contributed toward its realization. This is true whether it applies
{o Hess, to Goering, professional politicians who admit never hav-
ing practised any other profession than that of agitator or states-
man, or to Ribbentrop, to Neurath, to Papen, the diplomats of the
regimes, or to Keitel, to Jodl or Doenitz or Raeder the military men
to Rosenberg, to Streicher, to Frank, to Frick, the thinkers (if
that term can be applied to them) of the ideology of the system;
to Schacht, to Funk, the financiers without-whom the system
would have failed and collapsed before it was. able to rearm, to
jurists like Frank, to publicists and propagandists like Fritzsche,
and, again, Streicher, devoted to the diffusion of the common idea
or again to technicians like Speer or Sauckel, without whom the
idea never could have been developed into action as it has been, to
policemen such as Kaltenbrunner who subdued minds by terror,
or simply Gauleiters like Seyss-Inquart, Schirach or, again,
Sauckel, administrators, officials of high authority as well as
politicians, who shaped into a concrete whole the common policy
conceived for the sum-total of the State and of party machinery.

I know full well that the shadow of the absent ones towers
over this machine, and today’s defendants are always reminding
us: “Hitler wanted this, Himmler wanted this, Bormann wanted
this”, they say. “I only obeyed”, and their defense counsels stress
the point. Hitler the prodigious tryant, the fanatic visionary im-
posing his will with an irresistible magnetic power. This is too
simple. This is too sketchy. No man is entirely non-receptive to
suggestions, to insinuations, to influence, and Hitler could escape
that law no more than any other man. We have had irrefutable
proof of this in all that these proceedings have permitted us to
guess concerning the struggle for influence which was waged
in the “great man’s” entourage. The treacherous, underhanded
slanders were unrolled, the intrigues which reminded us at certain
times during the proceedings of the small courts of the Italian
Renaissance. Everything was included, even up to murder. Is
it not true that Goering, before he himself fell into disgrace, got
rid of Roehm and Ernst, who had not plotted against their master,
but against him, as Gisevius told us. So much imagination, such
perseverance in evil, but also such efficiency, show us that Hitler
was not insensible to the actions and intrigues of the men around
him. ‘What a pity that these intrigues were not trained in the
right direction!” But of Hitler’s receptiveness to influences we
have direct evidence, and it is given us by Schacht who thereby

167



apart from these men involves the German masses, the good sense
of which these men had contributed to warp and in which they
roused the worst of passions.

Did not Schacht say of Hitler in Court:

“T believe that in the beginning he did not have only evil
tendencies without a doubt he believed he wished only good,
but little by little he became the victim of the charm he exerted
over the masses, for he who begins by seducing the masses is
in the end seduced by them, so that this relation between chief
and disciple helped to lead him into the erroneous ways of mass
instinects, which any political chief should strive to avoid.”

What was then the great idea of them all?

Incontestably it was that of the conquest of vital space by any
and all means, even the most eriminal.

At a time when Germany is still disarmed, when prudence is
still required, Schacht, who is on Hitler’s side, asks for colonies;
we remember Hirschfeld’s testimony, but he dissembles, he partly
disguises the great idea of the State machine to which he belongs,
and this idea we would be less easy in our mind in denouncing
it without the disconcerting artlessness of ‘“‘the great man”, who
ten years previously had revealed the whole of his plans of battle
for all the world to see.

“MEIN KAMPF” (French text)

“The German people cannot consider its future otherwise
than as that of a world power. During nearly two thousand
years the stewardship of our people’s interest, as we must call
our more or less successful foreign political activity was an
integral part of world history. We have even witnessed it;
for the gigantic conflict between nations from 1914 to 1918
was nothing else than the struggle of the German people for
its existence on the terrestrial globe and we even call that
event the World War. The German people went in the fight
as a so-called world power. I say ‘so-called’ for in reality it -
was not. If in 1914 there had been a different proportion be- _
tween its superficial area and the number of its population,
Germany would have been a world power and apart from
the other factors might have found a successful issue” * * *,

This is the next quotation:

“TI would rather say this: The claim for the reestablish-
ment of the frontiers of 1914 is a political insanity through its
proportions and its consequences, which reveal it to be an actual
crime, this without taking into account that ‘the frontiers of
the Reich were anything but logical. In reality they did not
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inelude all the men of German nationality and neither were
they more rational from a strategic point of view. They were
not the result of a calculated political plan, but rather tem-
porary frontiers; in the course of a struggle by no means
ended, they were even partly the result of a gamble.”

“The frontiers of the year 1914 have absolutely no value for
the future of the German nation. They constituted neither a
safeguard for the past nor a power for the future. They will
not enable the German people to maintain its inner unity nor
to assure its subsistence. Regarded from the military point of
view, these boundaries appear neither well chosen nor reassur-
ing and, finally, they cannot improve the situation in which
we actually find ourselves in relation to the other world powers
or to be more correct, in relation to the real world powers.”

Here is another quotation:

“But we, we other National-Socialists, must hold immovably
to the goal of our foreign policy: to secure for the German peo-
ple the territory to which it is entitled in this world. And this
is the only action which before God and before Germany’s fu-
ture generations justifies the shedding of blood before God, be-
cause we were placed upon this earth to gain our daily bread
through perpetual striving, as creatures to whom nothing has
been given without an equivalent, and who owe their position as
masters of the earth to their intelligence only, and to the cour-
age with which they know how to conquer it and to conserve it
for our German posterity, provided that the blood of a single
German citizen will not be shed unless this should give to future
Germany thousands of new citizens. The territory upon which
the robust children of generations of German peasants will
some day be able to multiply, will justify the sacrifice of our
children and will absolve the statesmen who by their genera-
tion are being held responsible, even persecuted because of the
blood and the sacrifice imposed upon our people.”

A further quotation:
“A State which in an age of racial contamination keeps jeal-
ous watch over the conservation of its best elements, is bound
some day to become the master of the earth * * *”

The last quotation: -

“A stronger race will drive away the weaker races, since the
final rush towards life will break the ridiculous restraints of a
so-called individualistic humanity to replace it by a humanity
true to the nature which annihilated the feeble in order to give
their place to thé strong * * *.”” (page 135).

744400—47—13
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And then the strength of the State machinery and of the Party
grow. The recognized army was soon powerful enough to permit
Germany to arm openly. Who, at that time, would dare to in-
terrupt the monstrous development of this biological materialism? -
Hitler specified his ideas in a smaller circle, and those who heard
his words were not all Nazis. Enlightened as to the master’s pur-
poses, they will yet stay by his side, and that is what condemns
them. Is it notso Raeder?

“The question is not of conduering populations, but of con-
quering territories suitable for cultivation * * *.”

Hitler said in conference with von Blomberg, von Fritsch, and
Raeder on 5 November 1937,
“Expansion cannot be made a reality except by breaking ex-
istences to pieces and running the risks * * *»

That comes from the same speech.

After von Fritsch and von Blomberg had fallen into disfavor,
Keitel and Jodl, picked because of their servility to the system,
had a solid war-tool in their hands. On the evening before the
outbreak of the conflict, Hitler recalled his thoughts (L-79, USA
27):

“Circumstances must be adapted to goals which are to be
attained. This is impossible without invasion of foreign States,
or attack against foreign property.

“Vital space proportionate to the greatness of the State is the
basis of all power. For a time one can refuse to face the prob-
lem, but in the end it must be solved, one way or another. The
choice is between progress or decline. Fifteen or twenty years
hence we will be forced to find a solution. No German states-
man could evade that question any longer. We are, at this
moment, filled with a patriotic fervor which is shared by two
other nations, Italy and Japan.

“The period which is behind us was well utilized. All meas-
ures were taken concretely and in harmony without aims.

“After six years, the situation today is as follows: National
political unity of the Germans has been accomplished except
for a few details. The ultimate success cannot be obtained
without the shedding of blood.

“Danzig is in no case a subject of dispute. It is a question
of expansion in the East, of space needed for our existence
(Lebensraum) and of assuring our food supplies.

“The peoples of non-German territories will not be called for
military service, but will be available as a labor reserve.
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“The Polish problem is inseparable fromn a conflict in the

West.”

And the war came, which in a few months time made all Ger-
many believe that her force was irresistable and that she could
proceed to conquer the world. All that was meant by this cruel,
monstrous phrase of Hitler: ,

“We must keep firmly to the aim of our foreign policy: secure

“for the German people the territory to which it is entitled in

this world. And this act is the sole act which, before God and

our German posterity, justifies bloodshed * * ”

All this monstrous phrase was thus developed:

“We claim to have been compelled to carry out occupation,
administration ete. * * * Nobody will realize it is the question
of a permanent settlement. It will not prevent us from taking
the necessary measures: executions, deportations * * * ete.”

And further on:
“Partisan warfare will have one advantage for us. It will
enable us to exterminate all those who oppose us. * * * ”

The same theme was taken up and .cynically proclaimed by the
spokesman of the State.
This Trial has brought you echoes thereof. And in a speech by
Himmler (1919-PS): N
“Whatever the nations of category A blood can offer us we
shall take, if necessary by taking their children away from
them and bringing them up among us”.
“Whether nations thrive or starve only interests. me in the
measure that we use them as slaves for our civilization”.
* * * * * * *
“That 10,000 Russian women should die of exhaustion in
digging an anti-tank ditch only interests me to the extent
whether the anti-tank ditch has been completed for Germany”.
* * B % * * *
“When somebody comes and says to me: ‘I cannot have the
anti-tank ditch dug by women and children because it is in-
human and would kill them’, I reply: You are a murderer of
your own kin, for if the ditch is not finished German soldiers
will fall and they are the sons of German mothers.”

And from the same speech, and concerning the extermination
of the Jews (1919-PS):

“We have exterminated microbes. We did not wish to be con-
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taminated and die. We have fulfilled this duty for the sake
of our people. Our spirit and character have not suffered
from it”.

The conquest of vital space, i. e., of Territories emptied of their
population by every method, extermination included, that was,
gentlemen, the great idea of the Party, of the system, of the State .
and thus of all men who are at the head of the main administra-
tion both of the State and of the Party. .

That is the great idea in the service of which they united, for
which they have been working. To realize this all measures were
good enough, violation of treaties, invasions and enslavement of
weak and peaceful neighbors in peacetime, wars of aggression,
total wars with all the atrocities the words imply. Goering and
Ribbentrop cynically admitted that they participated in it spir-
itually and materially, and the generals and the admirals helped
as hard as they could.

Speer exploited labor to starvation and to death, labor re-
cruited for him by Sauckel, Kaltenbrunner, the regional leaders
of the NSDAP (the Gauleiters), and the Generals. Kaltenbrun-
ner exploited the gas chambers which Frick, Schirach, Seyss-
Inquart, Frank, Jodl, Keitel and the others furnished with vic-
tims. But the creation of the gas chambers themselves had been
made possible because a favorable political ideology had been
developed. and there each overlapping the other, you find the
responsibility of all, of Goering, Hess, Rosenberg, Streicher, Frick,
Frank, Fritzsche, even of Schacht himself, the pro-Jewish Schacht
included. Did he not say to Hirschfeld:

“I want the greatness of Germany, and to accomplish it I
am ready to ally myself with the devil himself.”

He entered into this alliance with the devil and with hell.
Papen included, who sees his secretaries and friends killed around
him and continues to accept official missions in Ankara, in Vienna,
because he believes he can appease Hitler by serving him.

Not all are there, there are those who are dead, and those who
are living ; for example the industrialists who exploited the work-
ers of the enslaved countries after having carried Hitler and his
system to power by prividing the money without which nothing
could have been done; who carried them to power by national-
istic fanaticism as well because they expected from Nazidom the
guarantee of their privileges.

Everything was connected, everything was indissolubly united
because the totalitarianism policy, the total war, preparation and
conduct of the plan of extermination of the peoples for the con-
quest of space, implied a co-ordination, a close liaison between
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 211 government administrations: Police and Army, Foreign Af-
fairs, and Police and Army, Justice and Police, economics and
justice, Universities and Propaganda and Police. And now we
- come to the second proposition which we have to demonstrate.

The Coordination of the various departments at the head of
which these men stood, implies close cooperation between them.

The Defense strives to establish watertight partitions between
the different. elements of the German state.

According to him, there is supposed to be a parallel without a
horizontal bond between the various State and Party departments,
petween individual ministerial administrations and between indi-
vidual National-Socialist organizations. The only connecting link.
would be the person of the Chief, at the head. According to the
defense, the dominating principle of German structure would be
- personal union, not coordination and cooperation.

-This is false. This is contrary to the principles of the Nazi
State and requirements of a State in which every force strives
toward the same goal and towards the actual reality of German
life as revealed by the debates.

According to National Socialist conception, the Party must take
the place of Democracy. The Party is the political expression of
the Nation, which materialises in the political action of the
State carried out by the activity of its administrations. The
1 December 1933 Act proclaims, for the purpose of ensuring
the unity of the Party and State, that the Party is the exclusive
support of the State conception, and indissolubly unites the Party
and the State.

At the Party Congress in 1934, Hitler says:

“It is not the State that created us. We create the State for
ourselves. To some it may appear as the Party, to others as
an organization, for yet others as something dlﬁ'erent but actu-
ally we are what we are.

The aim pursued by the Party is therefore to achieve a more
and more complete union between the State and the Party. This
explains the legislation which makes it compulsory for the chief
of the Party Chancery to be consulted in the appointment of rank-
ing officials; which incorporates Party chiefs in municipal admin-
istration, integrates the SS into the Police, and assimilates the
SS to police officers; makes the direction of the Hitler Youth a
State department, integrates the direction of Party headquarters
abroad into the Foreign Department and merges together to an
increasing extent the military personnel of the Party and those of
the State. General von Brodowsky’s war diary, which we have
submitted to the Tribunal, shows that this merger was a fact at
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the time of the landing in France. Hitler, however, continued to
maintain the system of parallel State and Party administration,
because they control and supervise each other. But he compelled
both parties to cooperate closely to be certain of the effectiveness
of the control.

All the defendants moreover, excepting Hess, are representa-
tives of State departments. They cannot hide behind the might
of the Party, since Party and State shared the power. The Party
expresses a doctrine which must direct the action of the State,
but the State in its turn alters the Party doctrine to suit itself.
Many items of the Party Program dated 24 February 1920, were
“never carried out and fell completely into oblivion after a certain
experience of power. Income other than that from labor was not
abolished (item II); the trusts were not nationalized (item 13);
land reform was not earried out according to the provisions of
item 17 (I); property interest and land speculations remained.

Ultimately, the whole of German life was subjected to the com-
bined effect of State and Party forces. All the State departments
and Party departments contributed to the creation of its com-
ponents.

Examples are plentiful and are to be found in every State de-
partment.

Let us take Foreign Affairs. It is one of the State admin-
istrations which, in its correct conception, should remain the
farthest removed from any political doctrine. Not so in Nazi
Germany. For the purpose of the extermination of the Jews,
headquarters abroad cooperate with the RSHA by the inter-
mediary of the Wilhelmstrasse, as evidenced by Documents RF
1206, 1220, 1502, 1210 and USA 433. Wilhelmstrasse officials are
called upon to advise the military police and Secret State Police
(Document RF 1061). It is Best, Ribbentrop’s representative in
Denmark, who transmits the order for deportation of the Jews to
the Chief of the German Police, Mildner (RF 1503). Document
RT 1501 shows Ribbentrop vindicating anti-Semitism to Musso-
lini and requesting Italian cooperation.

Ribbentrop and Kaltenbrunner are implicated in all the ter-
rorist measures against the elites; the SD and the Wilhelmstrasse
are also involved in the organization of the aggression against
the broadcast station of Gleixitz in order to furnish the pretext of
a Polish attack. The report of the German military adminis-
tration concerning the pillage of art treasures in France incrimi-
nates at the same time the special staff of Rosenberg and the Ger-
man Embassy in Paris (EF 1505). The Wilhelmstrasse and the
army are involved with the police in the question of hostages,
reprisals, and deportations. The examples could be multiplied.
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We do not pretend to exhaust the subject, but only to illustrate
an opinion.

Let us now examine the activities of the organization Rosen-
berg. Rosenberg, by virtue of his function, already coordinates
geveral branches of the German State. His service of foreign
policy has been incorporated in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
He is furthermore the philosopher of the regime, Minister for the
Eastern Territories and chief of the special Staff entrusted with
the control of art treasures. The SD and the secret police work
in liaison with him (L-188 and 946-PS).

The same liaison, the same coordination must be noted in the
order of the State machinery in matters concerning forced labor.
All the Ministers and all the higher functionaries, like the Gaulei-
ters, are involved in it, be it that they conceived or prepared the
operation, or still more simply that they gave it a helping hand or
that they benefited by it.

We remember the inter-ministerial meetings in Berlin on this
subject, and the conference between Sauckel, Kaltenbrunner,
Speer, Funk and the representatives of the OKW, which is the
subject of document 3819-PS in the meeting in Paris presided
over by Sauckel which was attended by representatives of the
army, the police and the Embassy (RF 1517).

Feonomy is no longer independent. During the war there ex-
ists under Funk a close cooperation between the economic and
administrative services of the army and-those of economic affairs.
The Ministry of Economy appeals to the police to develop plans for
the germanization of economy, (RF 808 and 814). The Ministry
of Finance subsidized the SS to carry out scientific research on
the internees, involuntary subjects of abominable experiments
(602-PS). Long before the war and under Schacht, the same
bonds, first secret, later on publie, and closer than any other
country in the world, unite politics, finance and economy with the
army. Schacht, in a speech on 29 November 1938 pronounced
the following opinion on his achievement:

“It is possible that no other issuing bank has followed in
peace time such an audacious credit policy as the Reichsbank
since the assumption of power by National Socialism. With
the aid of this policy, however, Germany has created an arma-
ment which is the first in the world, and this armament has

_ made possible the results of our policy * * * | ”

The judicial system is no longer independent. We find it asso-
ciated with the police in the most criminal enterprises. Document
654-PS gives an account of a discussion between Thierack, Himm-
ler and others, at the end of which it was decided that the anti-
social elements and the internees of the concentration camps, the
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Jews, Gypsies, Russians, Ukrainians, Poles sentenced to more
than three years in prison should be turned over to Himmler by
the administration, to be exterminated by work, and that in the
future individuals.belonging to the same categories should not
be judged by ordinary tribunals but handed over immediately to
Himmler’s administration.

Finally during the war the terrorist activities of the army and
the police, of the State and the Party merge together. Sometimes
the police is made subordinate to the army, though acting with
a certain autonomy according to the orders of the RSHA. This
is the case in Belgium. In France, in spite of being detached from
the army, the police maintains close cooperation with it. The
army participates with the SIPO, (Security Police) and the SD
in the Persecution of the Jews, in the administration of the in-
ternment camp of Compiegne and in the designation of hostages
(RF 1212 and 1212 bis) and in their execution (RF 1244). As
we have seen the army and the police were accomplices in the
terrorist actions against the population. The navy and the Police
are also accomplices in the massacre of the commandos, and it is
the police which massacres certain categories of War Prisoners,
although all the prisoners without exception come under the
authority of the OKW (1165-PS).

One might multiply examples of the close association of Party
machinery with the State services of their coordination which
at times goes so far as to result in a symbiosis. Realization of the
common Dpolitical idea: the conquest of space by all possible
methods, is the path pursued by all, one way or another.

The cooperation of the defendants is an evident result. Apart
from the definite facts of co-operation which we allege, what we
know of the general functioning of this totalitarian State, bound
to the destiny of the Party, its vigour against the heretics for
whom camps with their gas chambers waited all that leads us to
affirm that the defendants, be they Ministers or dignitaries or high
functionaries with State or Party authority, together with others
who are not there—dead or held for trial in other Courts, formed
an entity. And this, taken altogether, was the Government of the
Reich; this was the State-Party or Party-State; an entity, per-
haps, but a conscious and criminal entity which caused the
massacre of millions of human beings in order to enlarge the
Reich beyond all measure. '

The acts of the defendants are not only the particular ones
which we analysed just a minute ago in the light of the national
penal codes of their and our countries, respectively. They com-
prise also in their entirety those of the German State for which
they acted, of that German State to which they gave life, con-
science, thought, will, and of which they must now assume the
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responsibility for the consequences, even the most extreme ones,
pecause they could not personally disentangle themselves from
these erimes.

And this brings us to our third proposition:

The Defendants must be judged on the basis of their functions
performed in that criminal policy of which they were the pro-
moters and instruments.

Was it not Dr. Seidl who, in defending Frank, has said:

“This is an acknowledged principle and it derives from the
penal code of all civilized nations that a uniform and natural
action must be appraised in its totality, and that all circum-
stances-which might possibly enter into consideration must be

. examined in order to form a basis at the time of the working
out of the verdict.”

It is in the political life that all the crimes of the defendants
lie. They are, as we know the elements of a criminal State policy.
To consider the defendants as offenders of the common law, tc
forget that they have acted in the name of the German State and
for the account of that State, to apply a standard to them the
same as that applied to hooligans or to assassins, would narrow
the amplitude of the trial, would misinterpret the character of
their crimes. Crimes which the Courts of our countries ordinar-
ily adjudicate show the criminal in opposition to the social order.
These are individual deeds; their range is limited; their conse-
quences are circumscribed. Their crimes never strike more than
a few victims, and it is impossible to find in the annals of our
countries an example of murder methodically perpetrated by
terror organizations whose victims would run higher than a few
hundred people.

- That is the highest price of a criminal plot within the bosom
of our national Communities.

Organized, highly hierarchichal, endowed with an armed force
and judicial institutions, our national communities can eliminate
delinquents before they can do all the harm they are capable of.

These defendants, on the contrary, developed their criminal
activity within the community of States, an unorganized world
which is just beginning to be conscious of its own existence and
had then neither armed power nor judges.

These defendants seized the German State and turned it into a
gangster State, putting at the service of their criminal plans all
the executive might of the State. They acted as chiefs or leaders
of political, diplomatic, juridical, military, economic and financial
staffs. The activity of these staffs is normally coordinated in any
country since they serve a common purpose, indisputably a com-
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mon political idea. But in National Socialist Germany, as we
know, such coordination was reinforced by the interpretation of
party and administrative agencies. Private crimes became com-
munity crimes when committed by the State. Indeed, they were
bred by the political thought of each individual: “Conquest of
space at any price”.

State erimes committed by any one of those who controlled a
major department were made possible only because all those who
controlied every other major department contributed their share.
Should some of them and their departments default, it meant
the collapse of the State, the annihilation of its criminal power,
which was tantamount to the end of the gas chambers or to the
technical impossibility of creating them. But none had either
the will or the wish to default, since gas chambers and exter-
mination to make space were the paramount idea of the system—
indeed were the system.

Is not the evidence of this unity in crime furnished by the
very statements of the defendants, their constant efforts and
those of their counsels to prove the autonomy of their depart-
ments and cast the Army’s responsibility upon the Police, that
of the Foreign Office upon the head of the Government, that of
the- Labor Department upon the Four-Year Plan, that of the
Gauleiters upon the Generals; in short, by their attempt to per-
suade us that everything in Germany was run in tight compart-
ments, whereas the interdependence of the administration and
Party and multiplicity of connecting and controlling links be-
tween the State and Party prove the contrary by their clever
overlapping. All French people who have lived in occupied
France remember having seen on the walls of local Kommand-
anturs a poster depicting the bricks of a wall with the words:

“Teneo quia Teneor”

printed over the picture. It was the whole motto of the system.
A few bricks taken away were enough to make the wall crumble.
None of these men have done that. On the contrary, they all
contributed a brick to the edifice.

Thus by facts, apart from any legal notion of conspiracy, of
complicity which may perhaps be subject to discussion according
to the different characterisation of the jurists, we shall furnish
proof of the solidarity in erime and of the equal culpability of all.

To have perpetrated the crime, it suffices for them being chiefs
or high officials of the Party or one of the main State depart-
ments and acting on the State’s account, to have with the object
of extending by all possible means German living space conceived,
to have been willing, to have ordered or merely tolerated by their
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gilence that treaties ensuring the independence of other countries
be violated, that wars of aggression be prepared or declared, that
mass murders and other atrocities be systematically carried out,
that demolitions and lootings without justification be systemati-
cally committed.

This is the crime of the German Reich, and all the defendants
have conspired to commit it.

We will prove this for each of the defendants by means of
examples drawn from the trial. For each defendant, the three
principal propositions of this demonstration will be the follow-
ing:

(1) the defendant occupied an eminent position in the ma-
chinery of the state and the party which granted him authority
over one entire office or several.

(2) the defendant acquiesced in, if he did not conceive, the
idea of the government: “conquest of space by any means”.

(3) he has personally taken part in the development of this
idea by his own activity.

As to Goering and Hess, the Court will undoubtedly excuse
me from going into them at length. They were the designated
successors of the Fuehrer: They belonged to the movement from
the beginning. Hess took the responsibility for the racial laws.
Both contributed to the government’s political ideas of which in
the eyes of the masses they were the living representatives. By
their speeches, their lectures, they made this idea penetrate into
all circles.

Goering actively contributed and in an essential way in the
military and economy preparation of wars of aggression.

Goering is the creator of the Gestapo and the concentration
camps where millions of supposed enemies of the government
found their death, where genocide was finally and completely con-
summated.

A large part of his criminal activity is connected with the im-
plementation of the 4 Years Plan, which, proof has been offered,
was entirely directed towards the preparation for war. With
others he is responsible for the deportation of workers, the
brutalities exerted against them, of their allocation to sectors of
production aimed against their own country. Furthermore he
has taken part in the allocation of prisoners of war and political
internees to works directly connected with the war effort of the
Reich. He has organized the destruction of the economy and the
looting of the occupied nations, .

He has also organized, with the help of the Einsatzstab Rosen-
berg, the looting of works of art on a large scale, often with the
aim of enriching his own collections.
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By decree of the Fuehrer of 21 April 1933, Hess had received
full powers to decide about all questions concerning the manage-
ment of the party. He participated in the preparation of laws
and decrees in general, and even in the preparation of the orders
of the Fuehrer. He participated in the appointment of govern-
ment officials and labor office chiefs. He strengthened the hold
of the party on the internal life of Germany. He had a direct in-
fluence on the army and on foreign policy. The part which he
played in the development of anti-semitism implicates him in the
criminal consequences of the movement,

Ribbentrop was one of the king-pins of the party and state
machine. Placed in the Wilhelmstrasse by Hitler who distrusted
“old-fashioned” diplomats he worked with all his might to create
diplomatic conditions favourable to the war of aggression, the es-
sential means for realizing the conquest of space.

We recall the document submitted by our British colleagues
and which establishes that Ribbentrop assured Ciano in August
1939 that Germany would make war even if Danzig and the cor-
ridor were ceded to her. As it has already been shown, he and
his offices are involved in acts of terrorism and extermination in
the occupied countries. ‘

Concerning Keitel, my explanation will be equally short. The
condition under which he agreed to be chosen by Hitler instead
of von Fritsch and von Blomberg, to be placed at the head of the
High Command of the Army and introduced into the councils of
the government, his political activity in these posts, expressed by
his presence at the side of the Fuehrer in Godesberg, later on dur-
ing the discussions with Petain and Horthy, expressed again by
the orders he signed and of which the order for implementation of
the N.N. decree is not the least famous, show that it is not just
a question of a mere soldier, but a politician general. His part
in the arrests and massacres of patriots condemn him. Without
any possible doubt he has participated in the exterminations, if
only by abandoning to the police, for special treatment, certain
classes of prisoners of war. Moreover, we recall the connections
of his offices with the police and the armed force of the party.

In the year 1932 Kaltenbrunner became a member of the
Party and of the SS in Austria. He became Secretary of State
of the Security and the Police in Austria, afterwards Chief of
Police in Vienna and Chief of RSHA (Reich Regent’s Office) from
30 January up to the capitulation. During this last period he was
responsible for the Gestapo, the Police, the Security Service and
the concentration camps.

He was one of the most important heads of the criminal organ-
ization in realization of the policy of extermination and in ac-
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complishing the annihilation of a race (genocide). His responsi-
pility for the mass-murders has been established. He issued the
orders of internment and execution.

“The measures of protective custody’’, he says, “were measures
justified by the war”.

He also tries to make us believe he made a stand against the
application of these measures. It is impossible to believe him.
We have proof that he had full power over the camps.

We are aware of Rosenberg’s important position in the 3rd
Reich. A Department bore his name. Moreover, he was Minie-
ter of the BEastern Territories and Propagandist. In “Blood and
Honor” (Blut und Ehre) he resumed and developed the thesis
of the space due to the so-called German race. He starts from
the unfounded affirmations that “the irradiation of Nordism gives
its entire meaning to the evolution of humanity’”” and that “there
is decadence wherever the Nordic culture, instead of condemning
the Asiatics and the Jews to a permanent enslavement, mingles
with these impure elements. . . He concluded by saying that the
continent must be subjected to the concept of the German race
“Blood and Honour”. To bring Germany back by all possible
means to her racial purity was the subject of his speech at Nurn-
berg in 1933. He extolled the extermination of the Jews, and we
know that it was not an oratorical phrase. Besides, he wrote in
a report to the Fuehrer on 11 August 1942 (042-PS):

“Instructions aiming at keeping down the number of the
population of the Ukraine and at the non-application of Article
218 of the German penal Code were studied last year and resumed
on the occasion of a trip of the Director of the Ministry of Health
* % * Tpn the Ukraine measures have been taken with a view to
preventing epidemics not in the interest of other races, but ex-
clusively for the protection of the German occupation forces and
for maintaining labour in the service of the German war indus-
try ?”

Finally he was implicated in the attack on Norway, and thanks
to his special staff he proceeded to a methodical plundering of the-
artistic riches of Europe.

Frank is one of the very first adherents of the Party. He was
its legal adviser and took part in the elaboration of the program.
He was also the Fuehrer’s advisor. He was Minister of Justice in
Bavaria, then Minister of State charged with the coordinating of
Reich Justice, and lastly Governor General of Poland. It is he
who tried to give a legal shape to the State’s and the Party’s
terroristic program of persecution and extermination. He de-
fended the institution of concentration camps in the German
“Legal Gazette” in 1936, and he proclaimed that the second fun-
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damental law of the Hitlerite Reich was racial legislation. His
personal activity in Poland contributed to the extermination of
numerous Poles. He boasted about it all in his paper.

Frick was a Party member from 1925 on. He became a Reich
Leader and afterwards Reich Director for the elections from 30
January 1938 up to 20 August 1943. He was Chief of the service
for the annexation of Austria to Germany, for the incorporation
of the Sudetenland, Memel, Danzig, the Eastern Territories,
Eupen Malmedy and Moresnet. Moreover, he was Director of the
Central Office for the Protectorate of Bohemia-Moravia, the Gov-
ernment-General Lower Styria, Upper Carinthia, Norway, Al-
sace, Lorraine and all the other occupied countries. He was Pro-
tector of Bohemia-Moravia for more than one year. He was
Reich Minister of the Interior since the assumption of power, a
member of the Defense Council. Being elected to the Reichstag
in 1924, he posed anti-Jewish laws. Strictly obedient, he be-
came several times the spokesman for the political thought of the
organization. He declared among other things:

“In National Socialist Germany, the direction is in the hands
of an organized community, viz. the National Socialist Party.
This latter represents the will of the nation. The policy adopted
by the Party in keeping with the vital interests of the nation is
at the same timeé the policy adopted by the country.” (3255-PS)

It is he who appointed Himmler. He is responsible for the
anti-Jewish legislation and finally he had sterilization applied to
the descendants of colored soldiers. Moreover he caused the
lunaties reputed to be incurable to be killed.

Streicher entered the party practically as soon as it was formed.
He engaged in unrestrained propaganda against the Jews in his
speeches as well as in his writings and he incited the German
people to persecute and to exterminate them. He has been a
Gauleiter. He does not reject anything that has been done.
He stated: ‘

“When one has known the Fuehrer as I have known him in
his deepest personality as I have, and when I later learned from
his testament that he knowingly gave the order to execute the
Jews, well I declare that this man has a right to do so.”

Funk entered the party in 1931. He had the golden badge be-
stowed on him. He was the head of the Reich’s press, Secretary
of State for propaganda. Finally he suceeeded Schacht in the
Ministry of the Interior in 1937. He became Plenipotentiary
General for Economy and President of the Reichsbank in 1941.
In 1982 he was acting as middleman between the Fuehrer and
certain heads of the German industry. He took part in the meet-
ing of the industrialists on 20 February 1933 organized by Goer-
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ing in order to obtain the political and financial support of in-
dustry for the realization of the Nazi program. He stated on
4 May 1946:

“As State Secretary for propaganda I have a formal responsi-
pility. I have of course favoured propaganda as did all those who
found themselves in a position of importance in Germany, for
propaganda filled and permeated the nation’s spiritual life.”

He asked that the Jews be excluded from important positions.
He issued decrees for the realization of that idea. He has re-
ceived the deposits made by the SS of gold and valuables taken
from the victims of mass exterminations. Finally, he built up the
war economy and signed the secret law of 4 September 1938.

Doenitz was Commander-in-Chief of the Germany navy. He
succeeded Hitler with Seyss-Inquart as Foreign Minister. He was
a recipient of the golden party badge. His adherence to the crim-
inal policy of the system is indisputable. In a speech he said:

“The officer is a representative of the state. The ridiculous
babble about a non-political officer is plain nonsense.” -

He recommended the use of labor from the extermination
camps in order, he said, to increase output by 100 per cent. He
proclaimed submarine warfare without restrictions and ordered
his sailors “to be hard”, and not to effect any more rescues. He
approved and extolled massacres of communists.

Raeder was Commander-in-Chief of the German navy before
Doenitz. He was present at Hitler’s conferences in which the
latter revealed his plans. The texts were noted down in passing.
He placed the navy at the Nazi regime’s service. He conducted
the clandestine rearming and contributed in preparing the aggres-
sion against Poland, against Norway.

His contempt for international Law is well known. It is enough
to quote the memorandum of 15 October. (UK-65.)

Schirach was a party member from the age of 18 years on. He
joined it in 1925; leader of the Hitler Youth from 1931 to 1940,
Gauleiter of Vienna up to the capitulation, he was one of the
essential parts of the machine. He admits that as Gauleiter of
Vienna he united in himself the powers of the State, of the city
and of the party. It was he who shaped the German youth in ac-
cordance with the party’s ideology and he has claimed the re-
sponsibility for the consequences of this exclusive formation. He
allowed Himmler to recruit SS among the Hitler Youth.

From 1943, as he himself admits, he knew of the treatment in-
flicted on the Jews, but long before that he had taken a quite
clearly defined stand as to this question and had conducted an
active anti-semitic propaganda.
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Sauckel joined the party in 1925. As Gauleiter of Thuringia,
and Plenipotentiary General for labor commitment, and honorary
Obergruppen-fuehrer SS, he held a quite select situation in the
State-Party machine.

A fiery propagandist, he delivered more than five hundred
speeches all of them devoted to the development of Nazi ideology.
He approved the idea of extermination and said:

“Concerning the extermination of asocial element, Goebbels
finds that the idea to exterminate them by work is far the best.”
(682-PS)

Again he stated :

“ # % * The Fuehrer stated that we had to revise our school

conception about the migration of people * * * it is the

Fuehrer’s wish that a hundred years from now 250 million

people of germanic language be settled in Europe.” (025-PS)

He took personally an active part in the preparations for the
exterminations and he declared the following on this subject the
28 May 1946:

“One can only obtain results in production by employing
labor economically.”

Not counting the millions of citizens of other countries, he
forced nearly two million Frenchmen to collaborate in the war
by their toil. To recruit them he used force and the interven-
tion of the police, the SS and the Army. In document 827-PS
he states:

“I have charged a few ‘intelligent men with special execu-
tive missions for the workers under the direction of the su-
preme chief of the SS and of the police. I have armed and
trained a certain number of them, and I must ask the Arma-

ment Ministry for the necessary munitions for these men
® ok %k 99

Such a declaration reduces to zero the insinuation of Speer’s
counsel that the French population accepted willingly their forced
labor in Germany. .

Alfred Jodl was chief of the operations staff of the OKW. He
had the entire confidence of the Fuehrer to the same extent as
Keitel. He participated in the drafting of the successive plans
of aggression. Encouraged to serve Hitler by the presence of
such conservatives as Neurath, Papen, Schacht, at Hitler’s side,
he transmitted the 22 March 1943 order concerning the expulsions
of the Jews from Denmark and their internment in Germany.
He also insured the execution of Hitler’s order concerning the
annihilation of commandos of 18 October 1942.

He participated in the discussions which led to the measures
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against flyers who had been forced down. He signed the notice
of the High Command of the Army concerning the fight against
the guerillas, notice which contained regulations contrary to the
rules of humanity.

Von Papen prepared Hitler’s accession to power. The con-
stitution of his Cabinet on 30 May 1942 was contrary to the nor-
mal procedures of parliamentary institutions. On 2 June he
ordered the dissolution of the Reichstag and at the same time
gave free course to Hitler’s terrorism. On the occasion of an
interview with Hitler in June 1932 he said:

“I have accepted the demands of Hitler—Namely the right
of the SS and SA to wear uniforms.” ‘

At the same time Papen had no illusions as to the consequences
for his party of the Hitlerian disturbances which he had himself
released. But he preferred Hitler to democracy. After the elec-
tions of 80 July he endeavored to induce Hindenburg to tolerate
- Hitler and he succeeded in doing so during the month of Novem-
ber. v
He permitted the invasion of the public functions by Nazis.
Sir David Maxwell Fyfe reminded us of Von Papen’s vindica-
tion of National Socialism in Essen in November 1933.
With regard to the racial problem, Von Papen took a very
favorable attitude in his speech at Gleiwitz in 1934. I quote:
“Surely nothing can be said against racial research or
against the care given to the race all of which has tended to

safeguard the characteristics of a people as much as possible
PR

We all know what this care consisted of.

Papen served the Party-State administration with utter. ser-
vility until the capitulation, and his activity was not interrupted,
neither by the assassination nor the imprisonment of his collab-
orators and friends, of which the State and Party were guilty.

Seyss-Inquart became a member of the National Socialist Party
on 13 March 1938. He occupied various positions within the core
of the party or in the state civil service, and finally became As-
sistant Governor of Poland, then Reich Commissar for the Neth-
erlands.

He declared, and I quote from document 2219-PS:

“I attach myself with indomitable tenacity to the goal in
which T believe: the greatest Germany and the Fuehrer.”
(Excerpt from a letter of Seyss-Inquart to Goering on 14 July
1939, 2219-PS)

In a speech of January 23, 1939, he said :
744400—47—14
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s % % % the task of a generation, that is to say the vital
force of a people, is considered by us as the creation and the
security of the Lebensraum of the cultural and economic blood
of that nation * * * 7
And he algo said in a letter to Bormann of 20 July:

“ % % * g9 the task of a whole generation, the entire territory

of the Vistula and not only the present gain in the East should

be settled by Germans * * * the present Slovakia, the present

Hungary, the present Roumania, must be reorganized. The

situation appears to me to be ripe * * * I helieve that we

should obtain in a short time a single German administration
for thig éntire territory.”

Seyss-Inquart endeavored to realize the great political idea
of the party: conquest of space at any price. He used all his
resources for the annexation of Austria, of which he was a native.
He admits that he worked for 20 years to realize the idea of the
Anschluss. And we have the proof of his collusion with Konrad
Henlein for the reunion of the Sudeten territory with Germany.,
Finally, in Holland he bound that country politically and eco-
nomically to the Reich. Furthermore, he is personally respon-
sible for the systematic pillage suffered by Holland, for the depor-
tation of part of the population and for measures which provoked
famine.

Speer became a member of the Party in 1933. He was ap-
pointed by Hitler’s personal architect, and in this capacity he
came into very close contact with the Fuehrer. As chief of the
Todt Organization from February 1942 on, munitions Chief in
the Four Years Plan since March 1942, Minister of Munitions
since September 1943, he was one of the high ranking officials
both in the State and in the Party. Speer exploited more than a
million men in the Todt Organization, and in 1943 more than
50,000 deported Frenchmen in the territory of the Ruhr alone.
He is responsible for the maltreatment of foreign workers in
German factories, particularly in the Krupp plants. He employed
more than 400,000 war prisoners in the armament industry. His
delegates were authorized by the OKW to go to the ecamps and to
gelect skilled workmen. He exploited the labor of the concentra-
tion camps, more than 32,000 men, as he himself admitted.
He visited Mauthausen and shared the responsibility for the
deportation of Jews into special working camps, as well as the
100,000 Hungarian Jews who were assigned to aircraft factories.

Von Neurath, who had been Minister for Foreign Affairs since
1932, remained in this office when the Nazis seized power in 1933.
He continued occupying this post until 1939 and was, together
with his services, gradually absorbed in the growing State Party
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Machiné. As a member of the government from the very out-
set, he was familiar with the political ideology of the movement.
If he claims to have been radically upset in 1937 when he learned
that Hitler was planning aggression, he nonetheless remained in
his office and did nothing to dissuade Hitler. On the contrary,
it was his favourable opinion that encouraged Hitler to militarize
the left bank of the Rhine, which constituted the first stage in
the war of aggression for the conquest of space. He remained
Minister -of the Reich up to the end * * * His presence en-
couraged conservative Germany to cooperate with Hitler. King pin
of the Party State machine, von Neurath was closely connected
with this machine in the crimes of extermination of which he had
full knowledge.

On 31 August 1940 von Neurath transmitted to Dr. Lammers
two Notes Verbales, the one drawn up by him, and the other by
his Secretary of State Frank, both of which advised the total
Germanization of Bohemia-Moravia and the elimination of the
Czech intelligentsia. One of the two reports contains the fol-
lowing lines, and Von Neurath accepts the full responsibility for
it since he transmitted it:

“As regards the future organization of Bohemia-Moravia, all
considerations should be based on the goal set for this terri-
tory, from the political and national-political angle. From
the political angle there can be but one goal: the total in-
corporation into the Greater German Reich; from the na-
tional political angle, the settling these territories completely
with Germans. A brief survey of the actual position as it
presents itself from observations and experience gained since
the annexation in regard to the political and national-po-
litical angle, indicates the path to be Tollowed in order to
reach ‘the clear and unequivocal goal; * * * Things present
themselves in such fashion that a decision must be taken on the
fate of the Czech people so that the objective, which is incor-
poration of the country and populating it with Germans,
might be achieved quickly and as completely as possible.”
(8859-PS)

Fritzsche served the Party before it came to power, but he did
not join until 1933 and quickly turned into a remarkable propa-
gandist. In the course of the war he became the head of the
Radio Service, of the Reich. Expressing the great idea of the
system, he incited to the massacre of the Jews.

Moreover, his repeated speeches endeavored to implant into
the German people’s minds the idea that the Jews and Democ-
racy endangered its very life, and that it was to yield itself with-
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out reserve to the men whom Providence had sent to govern
them.

Schacht’s position is something special. On his case I shall go
into greater details. He presents himself here as the victim of
the System and pretends to be surprised to find himself here at
the side of Kaltenbrunner, who was his gaoler. Schacht told
us that the program of the Party did not appeal to him. Still,
during the Session of 21 May, 1946, former Minister Severing
declared that he had learned from a communication of the Berlin
Police that Schacht had been holding conversations with the Nazi
Chiefs. He added that Schacht’s relations with plutocracy and
with militarism impressed him as most compromising, and that
he himself would not have wished to join the same Cabinet as
Schacht.‘

We know that as early as 1930 Schacht had established contact
with Hitler bringing to him his credit both in Germany and
abroad. National Socialism benefited from this in a considerable
measure.

At the rally of the National Front at Harzburg, in October of
1931, Schacht took his seat by the side of Hitler, Hugenberg and
Seldte. He had already attempted to bring Hitler into the Bruen-
ing Government. Schacht organized the financing of the decisive
elections of March 1933 (USA 874) in the course of a reunion of
the leading industrialists in Goering’s home, on which occasion
Hitler delivered a speech. From the moment of the seizure of
power, Schacht played an outstanding role in the machinery of
the Party and of the State. He became President of the Reichs-
bank and Minister of Economy. On 19 January 1939 he left the
Reichsbank, but he became Minister of State and held that post
until 21 January 1943. Clever, subtle and knowing how to hide
his thoughts behind irony or insolence, he never committed him-
self completely, but it is also established that he persistently de-
manded extension of vital space for Germany. When he fried
to put people in the wrong scent by speaking of colonial claims
and the remark was made by his interlocutors that considering
world conditions no possession of colonies could assist Germany
in solving her domestic problems, he neglected to answer. He
knew how to use threats towards democracies and even resorted to
blackmail when remarking on a Party success during a visit to
America. He stated: i

“I warned in the clearest possible language by saying: if you
in foreign countries do not change your policy towards Germany,
there will very soon be many more members and adherents to
Hitler’s Party.”

He also said:
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 “This is all quite clear: we ask for more space in order to feed
our people”. " '

What part did he play in the development of this criminal
policy ? ’

As soon as he came to the Reichsbank, a huge program for
financing public works was launched ; new railroads, motor high-
ways, all of them works of strategic interest. Moreover, an im-
portant portion of the credits was secretly used for purely mili-
tary purposes.

From 1935 on, rearmament was speeded up under the vigorous
impulse of new financial measures devised by him. The academic
and upright economist turned into an adventurer in order to carry
into being the grand idea of the party. By means of accommoda-
tion drafts: the MEFO drafts, rearmament was financed. Issued
on a drawee who had provided no cover, a Society created to
serve the purpose, the drafts had blank endorsement by a second
similar Society * * * When issuing the first draft the drawer
annexed extension drafts calculated in such a way that the last
became due in January or March 1942. When looking back, the
selection of that date attains full significance. The year 1942
was the time appointed by Schacht for the term of his swindle.
He hoped that by then the war would help him to solve the prob-
lem. The original draft was discounted by the Reichsbank. The
bills were not subject to fiscal law in order to prevent the evalua-
. tion of the volume in circulation by means of the modifications in
the yield of the taxes. The operations were veiled in the utmost
secrecy. All the available credits in marks were engaged by the
Reichsbank in these armament drafts as far back as 1935. At
the end of 1938 there were 6 million MEFO drafts in the assets
of the Reichsbank and 6 million to discount, of which 8 million
were short term. At the due date, Schacht could not but be
aware that there were only three possible solutions:

(1) Consolidation of the debt by foreign loans, but these
would be refused of course to a nazified and overarmed Germany;

(2) an inflation comparable to that of 1923 but this would have
meant the end of the regime;

(3) War.

The importance of the re-armament financed by Schacht up to
31 December 1938 is shown by the calculation made by us and
Mr. Gerthofer of our delegation in particular. Let us not forget
that Hitler, in his letter of 19 January 1939 to Schacht, wrote to
the latter: “Your name will above all and forever be connected
with the first period of national re-armament”. From 1 April
1935 to 81 December 1938 the expenditures for Germany’s re-
armament which we can now discover although part. of them
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are missing, amounted to three hundred forty-five milliard four
hundred and fifteen million francs. During the same period
France spent only thirty-five milliard nine hundred and sixty-
four million franecs. This was Schacht’s work and only his work.
Such a discrepancy shows quite clearly what Schacht’s aim was.
In 1940 the same proportion was found again on the battlefields
of France: ten German armored divisions against one French.

The retirement of Schacht from the Reichsbank or from the
Ministry of Economics can in no way militate in his favor.
Difficulties arose between Goering and him in regard to the car-
rying out of the Four-Year Plan. Schacht did not wish to be sub-
ordinate to Goering. He resigned from the Ministry of Economy
on 26 November 1937, but remained President of the Reichsbank
and Minister without Portfolio. On 7 January 1939 he handed
Hitler a memorandum in which he established that the volume of
the MEFO drafts in circulation through his own fault was becom-
ing a menace to the currency. Technically his position at the
Reichsbank had become impossible. The causes therefore under-
lying his departure were questions of economic organization, not
political reasons. He, however, remained Minister without Port-
folio. He resigned this post only in January 1943 at the time of
the Stalingrad defeat, when the Party-State machinery as well as
the Reich were beginning to break down. Evidently he was of no
more use to them, but it is equally evident that he might have
become useful again later on as negotiator of peace. '

Is the balance of his political descent due to the intrigues we
can now guess at of Hitler’s advisers. Was it machiavelism on
his part or was it bad luck? It is of little importance. This
nefarious man who succeeded in rounding up and in handing over
to Hitler all the financial and industrial pangermanist powers,
who helped Hitler to seize power, who by his presence inspired
confidence in Nazi Germany, who suceceeded through his financial
wizardry in providing Germany with the most powerful war ma-
chine of the time, and who did all this to enable the Party-State
machine to rush to the conquest of space, this man was one of
those mainly responsible for the criminal activities of the Party-
State machine. His financial cleverness was that of the Nazi, his
participation in the crime of that State is beyond doubt. It is
capital. His guilt, his responsibility are complete.

With regard to the last of Hitler’s confidents, Bormann, we
know that he assumed the responsibility of the liquidation of the
Jdews. There is no need to say anything further.

I am now through with the demonstration of each defendant’s
guilt, not that the subject is exhausted, but the time allotted by
the Court for each Prosecution expound his address to the Court
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only allows us to prepare the draft of a working plan, deserving
of systematic execution. The example illustrating our thesis
could be multiplied. All the facts submitted during the last nine
months by the four delegations fit without any effort within our
plan, and this single fact proves that our logic is unimpeachable
and conforms strictly to reality.

Thus we consider that the proof has been furnished that all
‘these men have been a party to the crime of the German State.
That all these men were, in fact, united in the pursuit of the
same political purpose and that all of them have in one way or
another participated in the greatest crime of all: genocide, the
extermination of the races or people from which they intended
to conquer the space they deemed necessary for the so-called
Germanic race.

We have all heard the objections raised by the defense counsels.
Dr. Seidl stated them most foreibly:

“The law in force starts from the fundamental principle
that the subject of International Law is solely the sovereign
state and not the single individual * * *.”

In conclusion he denies you the right of sentencing these men.
First let us say that not one of the defendants was the “single
individual” that Dr. Seidl speaks about. We think that we have
demonstrated their cooperation and their solidarity, strengthened
by the Party system beyond the usual intercourse between the
Ministers:- and the principal administrators of any democratic
country.

Let us yet observe that it seems intolerable for any sensitive
conscience to assure immunity to the men who have lent their in-
telligence, their good will to the “State” entity, to slaughter as is
the case, millions of human beings in the execution of a eriminal
policy long since decided on. The principle of State sovereignty
which might cover these men seems to be only a mask. Remove
this mask, and the man’s responsibility reappears! Maitre
Seidl knows it as we do. But he states “Such is the International
Law in force”. What a respect on his part for the law in force,
and how surprising in his mouth the words which follow. A
few moments later, examining the Hague Conventions of 1907,
which, let us remember, have not been denounced by any of the
signatories, not even by Germany, he satisfies, under stress, that,
inspired by the experiences of the wars of XIXth century, they
are no longer valid in the XXth. Modern wars would have broken
through the limitations foreseen by the Hague Conventions, and
he states further:

“One cannot make use of modalities of the Hague Conven-
tion regarding land warfare—even in the widest sense and
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with an adequate adaptation to found thereon a personal penal

responsibility.”

Thus for Dr. Seidl, International Law is static when he believes
_he can draw favorable conclusions therefrom, but this law is also
in the process of evolution when it condemns his client.

Such dialectics are very weak, which make use of paralogism
and are fallacious. Maitre Seidl is well versed in the art of.
sophism ; but he convinces no one.

The immunity of the Chiefs of State and of their associates was
hardly conceivable when they accepted the principle of the sub-
mission of wars to the restrictions and rules of common law, con-
ventions and the rights of people.
~ This immunity becomes intolerable, as soon as they free them-
selves of every rule, and under pressure of the universal con-
science an evolution of international custom takes shape against
it. I have already shown in concluding my statement in Febru-
ary last, I will not revert to that point. It should be enough to
add that the Charter of 8 August 1945, considering the work of
the different commissions of war crimes of 1940 at the capitula-
tion, maintained the conclusions of a2 Frenchman M. de Lapradelle
at the 1919 War Guilt Commission. It is because of their acts
committed on behalf of the German State that the defendants are
arraigned before you—and if it is necessary that law should rein-
force the authority of custom, the Statute of London, drawn up
in accordance with the significance of the evolution of common
law in course of formation, justifies still more our study of the
defendants’ responsibility in regard to the crimes committed for
such a State. Article 6 of the Charter concerns only with crimes
committed for such a State.

The impression from the final pleadings is given that most of
the Defense Counsels put all their hopes on a narrow juridical
or pseudo-juridical reasoning.

Numerous questions were debated. Are there just and unjust
wars, defensive wars and wars of aggression, is there, yes or no,
a world-wide juridical conscience, are there unequivocal criterions
of aggression? This is what makes the defense anxious, nhot
knowing to what extent it is expedient to punish those who have
collaborated in the machinery of extermination.

When the Defense Counsels speak of “law in force” it is to
deny to this Tribunal the right to condemn, and Dr. Jahrreiss de-
nied all authority to the law “such as it should be conceived” in
the light of morality and progress. All forget that the law in
force is not only the law of the past, the only one which they in-
voke, but that the law in force is also the one that the judges in-
voke in a concrete manner from the Bench. All forget that juris-

192



prudence evolves with the times. There where there is no written
law, one can only speak of the preceding tendencies and find out
if they are still valid and can be invoked. In any case, the Charter

must be applied.
But let us not follow this any further. We would ourselves

confuse the issue.

The sole fact of this trial, the fact that dominates all others, is
the one of the methodical, systematic extermination of all the
men who occupied the space coveted by Germany.

Other crimes have not certainly been committed, but only
as means to the end. One is tempted to say secondarily and ac-
cessorily, so much is one overwhelmed to such an extent by the
atrocity of the final crime.

One should be impressed by this atrocity, one should under-
stand well the danger that such a precedent is created for
‘humanity and therefore demand adequate punishment.

Atrocity of the State-Committed Crime

These men’s crime is not a simple one, we have already shown
that. The common criminal knows his victim, he sees it. He
strikes him himself and knows the effect of his blow. Even if he
is only an accomplice he is never, morally and psychologically,
sufficiently far removed from the chief perpetrator not to share
to a certain extent his apprehension and reactions when the blow
is delivered and the victim falls.

Committed by the State machine, murder, or any other crime,
becomes anonymous. Nobody bears the chief responsibility.
Everybody shares it, those who, by their presence maintain and
support the administration, those who conceived it, those who
willed it, as well as he who issues the order. As for the executioner,
he repeats to himself: “Befehl ist Befehl”, “An order is an order”
and he carries out his killer’s task.

Those who decide do it without shuddering. They have pere®
haps, not an accurate, concrete idea of the consequences of their
orders. Thus the amazement of some of the accused in the few
minutes after the showing of the film about the camps must be
understood. As for those who promote the execution of the crime
by their general cooperation in the work of the Party and State,
these have the feeling of being passive witnesses of a scene in
which they are not concerned. Indeed, there is no punishment
to be feared. In the German scheme the State and the Party are
strong, and determined to remain so for a thousand years. They
have destroyed Justice.

In the International scheme, too, the prevailing code ensures
lmmunlty or at least is believed to ensure it. Moreover, there exists
No permanent international jurisdiction that can stand up against
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gangster States. As for the possibility of a military failure, no-
body stops to consider it in view of the seemingly thorough pre-
cautions taken. It is in fact remarkable that the culmination of
the massacres coincided with due consideration for the delay
necessary for the operation of the gas chambers, with the period
in which the State and regime believe in the certitude of victory,
or have not yet taken the omens of defeat seriously. It is really
the perfect anonymous crime as imagined by the French moralist
when he propounded the case of the mandarin as a test of moral
conscience. And conditions were all in favor of absence of re-
action. The facts have demonstrated that none of these men felt
a decisive recoil in these conditions.

Most of them, indeed, feel that they had played a part in the
tragedy. They have, I think, been more intent on relieving their
conscience than on attempting to deceive their judges by casting
their guilt on their neighbors. Few of them have had the courage
to acknowledge, as did Schirach and Frank, that they were com-
ponents and part of the whole system, and as such could not evade
their responsibility. At the risk of letting the guilt fall upon the
German people which proved incapable of rejecting their evil
master, the others excused themselves. They attempt, in the ex-
pesition of their case, to minimize responsibilities in the hope
of conjuring them away, but since it is true, as was stated by
Severing and previously by the Mayor of Oranienberg, and the
Mayor of Buchenwald and was confirmed by Frank, that it was
whispered all over Germany that people died in camps as every-
body now knows, do they hope to make us believe that they alone
were in ignorance thereof ?

The less guilty among them, if one can establish a hierarchy
among “major criminals”, did not dare to object, but their crim-
inal cowardice had such appalling consequences that there can-
Dot possibly be any extenuation of penalty.

As we see now, State-committed crime in a regime where State
and Party are one, and where there is no popular control through
lack of freedom of thought, freedom of expression and lack of
free elections, State-committed crime is of all erimes the easiest .
to commit subjectively speaking. Moreover, the technical prog-
ress made the world over has put almost every natural force at
man’s service. His capacity for evil has been considerably in-
creased thereby.

Moral restraint has meanwhile been slackened by the pursuit
of materialistic gratification which is also the corrupt fruit of
material progress unbridled by intellect.

In general, criminality seems to increase in every state despite
the highly improved methods of repression. In the international
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scheme the process is similar. It is only on a larger scale, be-
cause so far there have been no means of repression on an inter-
national scale. Industrial revolution and the development of nat-
ural sciences have multiplied the virtual power of States. If the
State concentrates in its hands natural wealth in its exploitation,
if it accentuates its grip upon credit by monetary manipulations,
increase of taxation multiplication of free or forced loans; and
still further bind the populations to its fate by the development
of public charity: control thought by radio propaganda; use to this
end eloquent propagandists capable of stirring blind mob passions
within the most scattered and the most peaceful of men; if this
State at the same time annihilates in its opponents every mode of
expression, prevents all popular control, all, including private,
criticism it becomes a despotic ruler holding in his hands tre-
mendous means of action for better or worse. Every criminal
technicality is within its reach and it can make use of them with-
out restraint, unless, Gentlemen, you insert the element of sanc-
tions in International Law. It must henceforth be possible to
put an end to the criminal activity of a gangster State through the
power of a super-State organization directed by a legal institution
of the same kind, otherwise the freedom of nations is doomed.
The weapons of revolt fell from their hands the day when States
and States alone could possess methods of destruction against
which the courage of citizens remains helpless. Operated by a
small number of men devoted to the criminal regime, these arms
which are the property of the States can drown in blood the
slightest attempts at resistance, and if revolt against tyranny re-
maing the most sacred of duties, such revolt is now hopeless. This
is the danger, and Germany succumbed to it. It is true that fa-
vourable conditions were present there all at the same time. Un-
_ der the impulse of the-industrial revolution which ever since 1850
was more violent in this country than in any other, a sweeping
change in social standards has taken place, the population mean-
while changing from rural and agricultural to urban and indus-
trial. From this, there resulted-in a lowering of the spiritual
level with disastrous consequences, since the bourgeoisie had re-
ceived no political education under the Empire. Deliberately kept
away from public affairs by their past rulers, the German masses,
Where the industrialist upper class and proletariat are concerned,
were interested only in the economic development of the Reich,
and where the middle class is concerned, only in the Army and in
the future of the Reich. When, after the first war, the Germans
were forced to suffer the disillusionments of defeat; when, in a
common and embittered environment all the rancour and resent-
ment as described by defendant Goering at the beginning of his
testimony was added thereto as well as the bitter feeling of ma-
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terial and social downfall; when in particular youth strove to
materialize its hopes into a concrete reality, Pangermanism then
. awoke, was spread, popularised and came within the reach of all
the dissatisfied. At the same time, the old antithesis between
vitalism and intellectualism, between culture and civilization,
healthy eagerness and decadent lassitude, the cult of life and the
cult of intellect has been awoken and crystallized for the use of
simple and puerile brains in the form of the dynamic antithesis
between the Nordic Aryan and the Semitic Jew. Appropriate
education has easily imposed this biologic materialism. The
ground had long been ready. The German is particularly at-
tracted to inculeated doctrine because it alone can make up for
the lack of personal, independent discipline which is characteristic
of him on the intellectual and moral plane. He loves anything
that can be recited as a creed simultaneously admitted by every-
body, and as a stereotyped phrase easy to make use of on all
occasions. Young Germans therefore learned for their Abitur
examination the six races allowed by Guenther in the same way
as they learned Grammar, and did not dream of doubting the
former any more than they doubted the latter. And when the
German mind reproached nations as lively, as attached to their
soil, to their tradition, to their supple and varied human culture,
such as England and France, contenting themselves with a miser-
able and artificial intellectualism, while it reproached them with
the crime against life (and Dr. Stahmer was the echo thereof)—
the German mind created for itself, as a result of the course and
facile instructions it claimed to inflict upon all, an intellectualism
different to ours in its danger and artificiality. The aim of these
so-called ethics of Life was a practice and a doctrine of pure col-
lective, social pseudo-scientific, biological—materialistic opportun-
ism. This aim was the sterilizations, the physiological experiences
in the camps, and 15,000,000 persons dead. The reflection of the '
old French thinker flashes irresistibly through our minds at this
result: “Science without conscience is but ruin of the soul”’—Neo-
Machiavellism, of which Goering gave an example in his state-
ment, took root.

I read lately in a final pleading somewhere that right in itself
does not exist, and that the search for the boundaries between
right and wrong is determined by historical and national stand-
ards (Dr. Nelte). Hitler had already said: ‘“That which is right
is that which is profitable to the nation” and Frank paraphrased
thus the testimony of his Defense Counsel, “What is profitable
for the people is right. The common interest has priority over the
individual interests”. While reading this, I think of the answer
which would have been given by the absolutist Bossuet, who knew
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how to determine the human measure. (The Defense Counsel
compared French absolutism with Nazism: Here is the answer).
“Polities sacrifice the individual to the common weal, and this
is right to a certain degree. It is good that one man die for
the people. By that Caiphas understood that an innocent per-
son could be sentenced to the supreme penalty under the pre-
text of the common weal, which is never allowed, for, on the
contrary, the innocent blood cries for revenge against those
who shed it.”

We are aware of what could be the result of the Nazi pre-
cepts. The witness Roser related the words of this young Ger-
man soldier, who, after having described the mass murders in a
ghetto, concluded: “Ah, my dear Friend, it was horrible, but
* % * ap order is an order”. The Tribunal will find at the end
of document F-655 which is in one of the Document Books sub-
mitted by the French Delegation, Kramer’s terrible reflection.
Before being Commandant of the Bergen-Belsen concentration
camp, Kramer commanded the Natzwiller camp in Alsace, where
he himself asphyxiated eighty persons by gas, the proof of which
has been given. To the question: “What would you have done
if all of them had not been dead?”, he answered: “I should have
tried again to asphyxiate them by injecting a second dose of gas
into the room. I felt no emotion at all while accomplishing these
acts, for I had received the order to execute the eighty internees
in the way I explained to you. After all I have been trained thot
way.” What a terrible charge against the system! Before being
assassin by order, this man had been a bookkeeper at Augsburg.
How many peaceful accountants trained in that way are left in
the Germany of today? And now “the innocent blood cries for
vengeance.” :

CONCLUSION

You know the crime! You know why and by what means it
was perpetrated! The heinous crime without precedent is that
of the National Socialist “State-Party’”, but the defendants in
their capacity of chiefs of the National Socialist Party and the
great State officials, have all accepted major respomnsibilities in
the conception and perpetration of this crime. Their participa-
tion in the crime of the “State-Party” is their personal error
which is covered by no immunity whatsoever! And the proof of
it has been given for all time.

They must be punished; you are also aware of the dangers to
which the world is exposed by their crime, the miseries, the mis-
fortunes it spread among mankind.

You must hit hard, without pity! Let your verdict be just, that
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is sufficient! To be sure, there are shades in their guilt. Doeg
it follow that the penalties themselves must be carried, if even
‘the least guilty as we think deserves the death-penalty? To-
morrow, whence this international trial will be closed and these
principal war criminals sentenced, we shall go back to our own
countries where, before our own Tribunals we shall perhaps have
to prosecute those who merely executed the orders of the Na-
tional Socialist State, those who were only executioners.

But how could we then demand the death-penalty for another
Kramer, for another Hess, for the camp commandants who have
on their conscience millions of human creatures by order, if today
we hesitate to claim the supreme penalty against those who were
the instruments of the criminal State, the State which issued the
orders.

Moreover the fate of these men lies entirely with your con-
science! This is beyond our competence, our task is finished.
Now, it is for you in the silence of your deliberations to listen
to the innocent blood erying for justice.
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CLOSING ARGUMENT FOR UNION OF SOVIET
SOCIALIST REPUBLICS

by
LT. GEN. R. A. RUDENKO, CHIEF PROSECUTOR

My Lord, your Honors:

We are summing up the results of the legal proceedings against
the major German war criminals.

During nine months, all the aspects of the case and all the evi-
.dence, presented to the Tribunal by the Prosecution and by the
Defense, have been subjected to the most meticulous and detailed
examination. Not a single point of the deeds with which the
defendants have been accused, has been left without verification,
not a single significant circumstance has been overlooked during
the investigation of the present case.

For the first time in the history of mankind, criminals against
humanity are being held responsible for their ‘crimes before an
International Criminal Tribunal; for the first time, nations are
trying those who had inundated vast expanses of the earth with
blood, who had annihilated millions of innocent people, destroyed
cultural treasures, who had made a system of massacres, tortures,
extermination of aged people, women and children, who had made
a wild claim to the mastery of the world and hurled it into an
abyss of unheard-of calamities.

Indeed, this trial is the first of its kind in the history of justice.
A Tribunal sits in judgment, a Tribunal created by the peace-
loving and freedom-loving countries, who represent the will of
and who defend the interests of the whole progress-loving man-
kind, for mankind does not wish the recurrence of calamities,
which will not permit a gang of criminals to carry out with im-
Punity their preparations for the enslavement of nations and the
extermination of peoples, prior to putting their heinous plans
into effect.

Mankind calls the criminals to account; and on the behalf of
mankind we, the prosecutors, accuse at this trial. And how piti-
ful are the efforts to dispute the right of mankind to judge the
enemies of mankind, how vain the attempts to deprive nations
of the right to punish those who made the enslavement and the
Cxtermination of peoples their aim, and who for many years
strove to realize this criminal aim by criminal methods.
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The present trial is being conducted in such a manner that the
defendants who are accused of the most heinous crimes, are given
all the possibilities for a defense, all the necessary legal guaran-
tees. In their own country, the defendants who stood at the head
of the Government, destroyed all legal forms of justice, and dis-
carded all the principles of legal proceedings accepted by ecivi-
lized mankind. They themselves are being tried by the Inter-
national Court in accordance with all legal guarantees and they
are assured of all their defense rights.

We are now summing up the results of the legal proceedings,
we are drawing conclusions from the evidence examined before
the Court; we are considering all the data upon which the accu-
sation is based.

We ask: Were the charges put against the defendants proved
before the Court; has their guilt been established? To this ques-
tion, there is only one answer: the legal proceedings fully con-
firmed the charges.

We incriminate the defendants only of those facts which have
been fully established and proved to the Court beyond all doubt,
whilst all the monstrous crimes have indeed been proved, crimes
which were prepared over a period of many years by a band of
wild criminals, who seized power in Germany, and who perpe-
trated these crimes during many years, having no regard for the
principles of law or the most elementary standards of human
morality. )

These crimes have been proved; the defendants’ testimonies
and the arguments of the defense have been powerless to contend
the charges; they ecannot be contended because it is impossible
to contend the truth, and truth is the lasting result of this trial,
the unfailing issue of our long and stubborn efforts.

All the elements of the charges have been proved. It has been
proved that there existed a common pldn or conspiracy for the
preparation of aggressive wars, in violation of international law,
the planned enslavement and the extermination of peoples, in
which the defendants took part. There can be no doubt as to
the existence of such a plan or conspiracy just as there is no
doubt about the leading part played in it by the defendants. This
point of the accusation is confirmed by all the data brought in
during the legal proceeding, by irrefutable documents, by the
testimonies of witnesses and of the defendants themselves.

All the activity of the defendants was directed towards the prep-
aration and the initiation of aggressive wars. All their so-called
“jdeological work” consisted in the cultivation of beastly instincts,
in the instillation of the absurd idea of racial superiority in the
conscience of the German people and in the practical realization of
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the plans for extermination and enslavement of the peoples of “in-
ferior” races, who were supposed to serve as a fertiliser for the
growth of the “master race”. Their “ideological work” consisted
in calling to murder, to plunder, to the destruction of culture, and
the extermination of human beings.

The defendants prepared these crimes long in advance and then
committed them, attacking other countries, seizing foreign ter-
ritories, exterminating people. When was this plan or conspiracy
conceived? Of course, it is hardly possible to give an exact date,
day and hour, on which the defendants conspired to commit their

crimes.

We cannot and shall not establish our conclusions and assertions
on guesses and suppositions, but it must be considered as estab-
lished beyond doubt that from the moment when the Fascists
seized power in Germany they started the realization of their aims
and utilized this power for the preparation of aggressive war.
Indeed, immediately, after their seizure of power the Fascists
began to carry out a huge program of rearmament and recon-
version of economy for war purposes.

All the activity of the defendants was directed towards the
preparation of Germany for war. This rearmament and recon-
version of economy for war purposes is an irrefutable fact; it has
been proved by documents and admitted by the defendants them-
selves. :

We may ask, what was this war for which the defendants be-
gan to prepare immediately after the seizure of power? Could
this be a defensive war? But nobody intended attacking Ger-
many ; nobody had such an idea, and in my opinion such an idea
could not have even existed. As Germany was not preparing for
a defensive war and inasmuch as the very fact that she did pre-
pare for war is established it is evident that she was preparing
for a war of aggression. That is the logic of the facts and such
are the facts themselves. Germany initiated and waged the war
which she had been preparing, and the events of 1937-1939 were
that for what she had been preparing in 1933.

Hence we may conclude: The plan or the conspiracy existed
at least since 1938, i.e., from the moment when the Fascists seized
the power and used it for their own criminal purposes. These
are the facts which are confirmed by the words of the defendants
themselves uttered at a time when they did not suppose that they
ever would be defendants in this dock.

It is enough to mention the addresses of Schacht, Krupp and
others in which they describe how the Fascist Government was
breparing for war and how all the fields of political and economic
life were subordinated to this one purpose.

744400—47—15
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I consider fully proved the charges against the defendants tq
the effect that in 1933 when the Hitlerites seized the power in
Germany they created a plan or conspiracy including the perpe.-
tration of crimes against peace, war crimes and crimes against
humanity. The legal proceedings have fully proved the crimeg
against peace perpetrated by the defendants which consists in
planning, preparing, initiating and waging aggressive wars, in
violation of international treaties, agreements and assurances.

The facts here speak for themselves; wars which involved in-
numerable vietims and destructions; wars, the aggressive nature
of which has been undoubtedly established. The guilt of the de-
fendants in having committed crimes against peace has been fully
proved. The charge of perpetrating war crimes, in waging war
by methods contrary to the laws and customs of war, have been
fully proved. Neither the defendants themselves, nor their coun-
sel, could contest the very facts of their having committed these
crimes. -

All that they could say to this was that the defendants them-
selves had not committed these atrocities, the extermination of
people, “murder vans” and concentration camps; they had not
destroyed the Jews with their own hands, and had not even known
about such particular facts. But that such facts existed the de-
fendants themselves do not deny. The defendants admit these
facts. This is indeed fruitless method of defense! Certainly,
the defendants occupying high leading posts in Hitler’s Germany
were in no need of shooting, hanging, smothering, freezing live
people themselves, by way of experiment. Their subordinates
did that according to their instructions; henchmen did, so to say,
the dirty work whilst the defendants only had to give orders
which were unwaveringly obeyed. Therefore, the attempts of the
defendants to deny their connection with the henchmen, to sep-
arate themselves from them, were hopeless. This connection is
evident and indisputable. If the Commandant of Auschwitz,
Rudolph Hess, pulled out the golden teeth of the dead, we may
say that the Reichsminister, Walter Funk, opened special safes in
the cellars of the Reichsbank to keep these golden teeth,

If the subordinates of Kaltenbrunner exterminated people in
“murder vans’’, the vans themselves were built at the works of
Sauer, Daimler and Wenz, which were subordinated to the de-
fendant Speer. If the prisoners of war were destroyed by pro-
fessional henchmen of the unit “Toten Kopf” (Death Head Unit)
and by the guards of the camp, the orders to exterminate were
signed by Fieldmarshal of the German Army, Keitel. That is to
say, the defendants appointed the terms of extermination, the
date and issued the orders to create a special technique of mut-
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der, explained the reasons for the right of the master races to
exterminate “inferior races.”

For every murder, for every drop of innocent blood shed by °
Hitler’s henchmen the defendants are responsible, for between
them-and the direct perpetrators of the erimes, murder, torture,
there is a difference only in rank and scope of action; these were
direct henchmen, and these are the principal henchmen, the chiefs
of the henchmen, henchmen of a higher grade. They are far more
- dangerous than those trained in the spirit of hatred towards
humanity and wild fanaticism, whom they now repudiate in order
to save themselves.

The criminality of the defendants in the perpetration of war
crimes, has been fully proved; that they initiated a system of
exterminating war prisoners, peaceful inhabitants, women, old
men and children; it is their fault, that wherever the German sol-
dier stepped, there lay heaps of murdered and tortured people,
ruins and places left barren by fire, land desecrated and soaked
with blood. The crimes committed against humanity have been
completely proved. We cannot omit the erimes committed by the
defendants in Germany during their domination: the extermina-
tion of all those who expressed their discontent in any way with
the Nazi regime; slave labor and extermination of people in con-
centration camps, mass extermination of Jews, and the same
slave labor and extermination of people in the occupied terri-
tories. All this has been proved and the charges are irrefutable:
What means of defense have the counsels used? What kind of
proofs and arguments could they give to refute the charges?

The arguments of the defendants may be divided into two
main groups. First, a number of witnesses summoned by the
defense counsel. These witnesses had to extenuate the guilt of
the defendants with their evidence, to diminish the part taken
by them in committing the ecrimes, rehabilitating them by all
means. .

These witnesses themselves were in most cases defendants in
other trials.

How can we speak about the objectivity and authenticity of
the evidence given by the witnesses of the defense, if the inno-
cence of the defendant Funk should be confirmed by his deputy
and accomplice, a member of the SS since 1931, Heller, bearing
the rank of Gruppenfuehrer SS; if the criminal Rainer, member
of the Fascist Party since 1930, and Gauleiter of Salzburg, and
then of Kaernten was summoned to give evidence on behalf of
Seyss-Inquart?

Those so-called witnesses, such as for instance Buehler—the
right hand of the defendant Frank and accomplice to all his
crimes, or Bohle, one of the principal leaders of the spying activi-
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ties of the Hitlerites abroad and chief of the foreigm section of
the Fascist Party, came here in order to commit a perjury to try
to protect their former “bosses” and to save their own lives.

Nevertheless most of the “witnesses” for the defense during
the cross-examination, became witnesses for the Prosecution,
They were themselves convicted by the “mute witnesses”—docu-
ments mostly German; they themselves were forced to expose
those whom they had intended to protect.

Another means used by the defense consisted of the legal argu.
ments and considerations.

Some Legal Aspects of the Trial

The accusation in the present trial is based on an enormous
quantity of irrefutable facts and strongly established on the prin-
ciples of' law and justice. Therefore, already in the opening
speeches for the Prosecution, so much attention had been paid
to the legal aspect of the responsibility of the defendants.

In the speeches of the defense a number of legal questions were
again raised:

a. Of the importance of the principle “Nulla crimen sine lege.”

b. Of the importance of the order.

¢. Of the responsibility of the State and individuals.

d. Of the concept of conspiracy.

In this connection I consider it necessary to return again to
some legal questions in order to answer to the attempts of the de-
fense to confuse the simple and clear statements and to transform
legal argument into a kind of smoke-screen in an effort to con-
ceal from the Tribunal the gruesome reality of the Fascist crimes.

A. PRINCIPLE “NULLA CRIMEN SINE LEGE”

The defense attempted to deny the accusation by proving that
at the time when the defendants were perpetrating the offenses
incriminating them, the latter had not been foreseen by the exist-
ing laws to be crimes, and therefore the defendants bear no crim-
inal responsibility for them. /

I could simply refer to the principle “Nulla Crimen Sine Lege”,
as the Charter of International Military Tribunal, which is an
immutable law, and which provides that this Tribunal “shall have
the power to trv and punish persons, who, acting in the interest
of European Axis countries, whether as individuals or as mem-
bers of organization” committed any of the crimes enumerated
in Article 6 of the Charter.

Therefore from the legal point of view, sentence can be pro-
nounced and carried out without requiring the deeds incriminat-
ing to the defendants to have been foreseen by the criminal law
at the time of their perpetration. Nevertheless, it is without
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doubt that the deeds of the defendants at the time when they were
peing committed were criminal acts from the point of view of the
existing eriminal law.

The principles of criminal law contained in the Charter of
International Military Tribunal are the expression of the prin-
ciples contained in a number of international agreements enume-
rated in my opening statement of 8 February 1946 and in the
criminal law of all civilized countries.

The law of all civilized countries imposes criminal responsibil-
ity for murder, torture, violence, plunder, and so on. The fact
that those crimes have been initiated by the defendants on a
scale surpassing human imagination and bearing the marks of
unheard of sadistic cruelty, does not of course exclude, but on
the contrary, increases many times the responsibility of the de-
fendants.

If the defendants had committed the crimes on the territory
and in respect of the citizens of any country, according to the
Declaration of the Heads of the Governments of USSR, Great
Britain and United States of America, published on 2 November
1943, and in full agreement with the universally accepted prin-
ciples of eriminal law, they would have been tried in that country
and according to its laws.

This Declaration set forth that ‘“the German officers, soldiers
and members of the Nazi Party who were responsible for the
above-mentioned cruelties, murders and executions, or who volun-
tarily took part in those, would be deported to the countries where
those gruesome crimes had been committed, in order to be tried
and punished according to the law of those liberated countries
and free governments which would be established there.”

Nevertheless, the defendants are war criminals “whose offenses
have no particular geographical location” (Article 1 of the Agree-
ment of the Four Powers of the 8 August 1945), and, therefore,
the International Military Tribunal, acting in accordance with the
Charter, is competent to try their crimes. The Counsel for the
" defendant Hess took the liberty to assert that there can be no
doubt that the crimes against peace, as they are stated in Article
6, Paragraph 2, of the Charter, do not exist.

It is not recessary to make any reference here to the inter-
national agreements.

They are charged with deeds which civilized humanity long
ago recognized as criminal.

B. EXECUTION OF AN ORDER

Some of the defendanis in their statements before the Tribuna:l
attempted to present themselves as poor dwarfs, blind and obedi-
ent executors of another’s will—the will of Hitler.
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In the search for a legal basis for this attitude, the Defense
Counsel Jahrreiss spoke at length about Hitler’'s order. In the
opinion of Counsel Jahrreiss Hitler’s order was quite different
from the order of any other leader; Hitler’'s order was an act
“legally immutable”. Therefore, Counsel Jahrreiss asserts that:
“Whatever the Charter understands by the orders which it re-
jects, as a factor excluding eriminal responsibility, is it possible
to take the same attitude towards an order of Hitler? Could this
order be considered as an order in the meaning of the Charter?”’

The right to interpret law is an irrefutable right of all lawyers,
including the Defense Counsels. Nevertheless, it is uncompre-
hensible what logical or other methods were guiding his assertion
that the provisions of the Charter specially elaborated for the
trial of major war criminals of the Fascist Germany, did not in-
deed aim at the very conditions of the activity of these criminals,

What orders then, issued by whom and in what country, are
contemplated by the Charter of the Tribunal?

It is, on the contrary, indisputable that the authors of the Char-
ter were fully aware of the specific conditions existing in Hitler-
ite Germany, were thoroughly familiar, by means of the material
of the Kharkov and other trials, with the attempts of the de-
fendants to hide themselves behind Hitler’s orders, and it is for
this very reason that they made a special provision to the effect
that the execution of an obviously eriminal order does not free
from criminal responsibility.

C. RESPONSIBILITY OF COUNTRIES AND INDIVIDUALS

We think that the very authors of this attempt to hide a large
group of ministers, Gauleiters and war commanders behind Hit-
ler’s back, became to a certain extent, doubtful of the convincing
power of such a defensive maneuver, and a new line of defense
was set up to assist this maneuver.

“If the German Reich began an attack in spite of the still-
existent non-aggression pact’—said the counsel Jahrreiss, “then
Germany committed an international offense and must answer for
it according to the principles of international law * * * the
Reich alone, but not an individual person.”

We cannot, in the first place, omit to notice that the above point
of view is not exactly new: even before the beginning of the offi-
cial defense at this trial, certain unofficial defenders of war crim-
inals willingly propagated the version to the effect that it was
the German government and the German nation, who were to
bear responsibility for the criminal aggression and war erimes
and not individual persons.

When the subject of international law, i.e. a state, violates the
principles of international law, this entails certain consequences
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of an international character, but in no case does it entail the
criminal responsibility of the state. Any action on the part of
the state in the sphere of international relations is committed by
physical persons, by officials and by the agents of that state. In
carrying out such acts, these individuals may be guilty of the
most varied offenses in violation of either the common or the
criminal law. In the latter case, i.e. when their individual crim-
inal responsibility is involved, they bear this responsibility in
appropriate cases, in conformity with the laws and before the
courts of their own country, as well as—if such is the case—in
conformity with the laws and before the courts of a foreign
state. -

In the present case, not only did the Hitlerite State violate
prineciples of international law, resulting in measures taken
against the states, but also some individuals, in committing these
acts, have personally committed criminal offenses, for which they
bear the criminal responsibility in accordance with the Charter
before the International Military Tribunal.

Concerning the Concept of Conspiracy

The defense counsels are unanimous in trying, by different ways
and versions, to dispute the charges of criminal conspiracy made
against the defendants. Extracting from various sources one-
sided and selected definitions of the conspiracy, the counsels have
tried to prove that Goering, Hess, Ribbentrop and others cannot
be considered as accomplices of the conspiracy. I should like to
quote here several arguments proving the groundlessness of the
statements of the defense. A

The conspiracy implies the existence of a criminal society
created and acting to achieve common criminal purposes. Such
a society doubtlessly existed. It stands to reason that in this case
the threads and levers uniting the members of this conspiratory
criminal society are very complicated, as the conspirators had
seized the government of a country.

In any criminal society, and particularly in a numerous society
with .many ramifications, single accomplices commit criminal
acts comprised by the general plan of the conspiracy, but they
can practically remain unknown to'a number of the members of
this society. Nevertheless, as these crimes result from a single
criminal plan, common to the whole .society, the accomplices who
have not personally committed these separate criminal actions
and were not practically informed of them, bear the responsibility
for them.

In this special case the existence of the conspiracy is not pre-
cluded by the circumstance that, for instance, Schirach could be
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unaware of some -of the measures taken by the slave trader
Sauckel or the“pogrom maker” Streicher. Neither is the exist-
- ence of the conspiracy precluded by the differences of opinion
among individual accomplices of the conspiracy concerning par-
ticular questions such as the intrigues of Goering against Bor-
mann ete. Such dissensions may take place in any band of rob-
bers or thieves, but.the gang does not cease to exist on account
of this.

In nearly every society there exists a certain hierarchy among
its members. Very often the head of a eriminal band usurps
the unlimited power over the other members of the band, even
the very right of life and death. However it seems that it never
occurred to any lawyer in the world to deny the existence of a
criminal society only because its accomplices were not alike and
one of them had power over the others.

It is at any rate strange to deny the existence of the conspiracy
in the present case on account of the indisputable fact that great
personal power was concentrated in the hands of the ring leader
—Hitler. In the same way the existence of the conspiracy does
not preclude, but on the contrary it implies, a definite distribu-
tion of the parts played by the accomplices of the criminal group,
when achieving the common aim (one coordinates the entire crim-
inal activity, the other is in charge of the questions of ideological
training, the third one prepares the army, the fourth organizes
the work of the war industry, the fifth carries on the diplomatic
preparations, ete.) Therefore, the Fascist conspiracy does not
cease being a conspiracy, but is a conspiracy which presents
special danger, because the whole machinery of the state and
enormous resources of men and material are in the hands of the
conspirators. In the hands of the international criminals, in the
hands of Goering, Keitel and other defendants, the enormous
forces of people become an instrument of very great crimes.

This is the reason why these special traits that distinguish the
conspirators of Fascist Germany from any other gang lend it a
special dangerous character without changing the legal character
of the conspiracy.

Thus I complete the analysis of the legal arguments of the de-
fense, which were examined in detail by my honorable colleagues.
Asg you have seen, your Honors, the arguments of the defense were
found to be inconsistent and incapable of refuting the charges.

Now I shall consider the question concerning the guilt of in-
dividual defendants.
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Individual Responsibility

GOERING

In Hitlerite Germany the defendant Goering was next in im-
portance to Hitler himself. He was his first successor. He took
upon himself extensive powers, and seized the most responsible
posts.

He was the President of the Cabinet of Ministers for the De-
fense of the Reich, he was the Fuehrer for the direction of Ger-
man economy—the Plenipotentiary General for the Four Year
Plan and the Commander-in-Chief of the Airforce. The main
point is that this extensive field was utilized by him and all his
forces were dedicated to the organization and the realization of
the crimes which are set out in the Indictment.

As we already know, the essential element of this conspiracy
consisted in the submission of Europe prior to world supremacy
of the Hitlerite Germany, regardless of any methods, however in-
human and criminal. To achieve this aim, a way had to be
cleared, as Hitler declared already in February 1988 at a con-
ference with the prominent German industrialists, and the Par-
liament system must be destroyed. Goering took upon himself
this task. He exterminated ruthlessly the political opponents of
Fascism, and for this purpose carried out mass arrests of the
members of political parties unfavourable to the Naziism.

He organized concentration camps, where he interned without
trial all people who disagreed with Fascism. He created the
Gestapo, which from the day of its birth established a bloody re-
gime of terror. He demanded of all the officials in the camps and
the Gestapo to hesitate before nothing—and savage punishments
of the people, mutilations and massacres, became—under his di-
rection—the elementary working methods.

It is he, Goering, who declared: “Each bullet fired from the
pistol of a policeman, is my bullet, and if anyone ecalls it murder,
this means that I have committed murder”’ (from Goering’s book
“Rebirth of a Nation”—published by him in 1934 ; 2324-PS, USA
233).

He thus cleared the way for Fascism, and paved the way for
the unhampered progress and the realization of the Fascist con-
spiracy. Goering was tireless in his efforts to annihilate every-
body and everything which hampered the consolidation of this
conspiracy. And Hitler praised him for this. For example, on
13.7.1934 he declared to the Reichstag that Goering: “* * *
}Nith his iron fist smashed the attack against the National Social-
Ist state before it could take force”. (8442-PS, USA 576 ) All
this terroristic activity of Goering’s was calculated to clear the
way for the realization of the fundamental idea of the Fascist
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conspiracy, i.e. the conquest of Europe, and to achieve world
supremacy of the Hitlerite Germany.

The legal proceedings have proved Goering’s guilt in the plan-
ning and the preparation of aggressive wars by the Hitlerite Ger-
many. Numerous documents have been presented to the Tri-
bunal, testifying to the active part played by Goering in the initi-
ation of aggressive wars. I shall remind you of Goering’s declara-
tion in 1935 at a conference of the Luftwaffe officers. At that con-
ference he declared that it is his intention “to create the Luft-
waffe which shall strike the enemy as an avenging blow. Even
before the attack, the enemy must feel that his cause is lost”,
and this intention, as we khow, he put into effect, preparing for
war from day to day (8441-PS, USA 437).

At the conference of the leaders of German air industry, on
8 July 1988, Goering hints that war is near, and that, if Germany
come victorious out of it, she will be the most powerful stateé in
the world, dominating the world market and she will become rich.
To obtain this objective “We must be prepared to take risks”.
Such was the slogan which Goering threw on that occasion.
(R-140, USA 160) '

On 14.10.1988, not long before he presented demands to Czecho-
slovakia Goering declares that he has began carrying out a vast
program in comparison with which previous undertakings were
insignificant. (1301-PS, USA 123) “In the shortest possible
time, the Luftwaffe must be increased fivefold ; the Navy must be
rearmed at a much greater speed, and the Army must be rearmed
much more extensively * * * especially as regards the heavy
artillery and the heavy tanks. At the same time, the production
of war materials and explosives must be intensified.

The active participation of Goering in the preparation for ag-
gression against the USSR has been established beyond all doubt.
(447-PS, USA 135) The Tribunal will find proof of Goering’s
active participation as early as November 1940 in the develop-
ment of a plan for the attack against the USSR, in the record of
the conference of 29 April 1941 on the organization of the eco-
nomic staff “Oldenbourg”, in the record of the conference which
took place on 23 February 1941 at the house of General Thomas,
as well as in the testimony of Goering himself during the session
of 21 March 1946. .

It was Goering who, together with Rosenberg, Keitel and Bor-
mann, at the conference with Hitler on 16.7.1941, gave concrete
form to the plans for the dismemberment of the Soviet Union, the
enslavement of its peoples and the plundering of its riches.
(L-221, USA 817) The plan to “level Leningrad to the ground
and hand it over to the Finns” was conceived with his participa-
tion. It was he who recommended that hangman of Koch for the
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post of Reichskommissar for the Ukraine, as a “personality with
great initiative and good training”.

Therefore, it can be considered that the guilt of Goering in the
planning and the preparation of aggressive wars by the Hitlerite
Germany has been fully established, and for this he must bear re-
sponsibility.

My colleagues have already drawn the attention of the Tri-
punal to the criminal treatment of the prisoners of war. I shall
only remind the Tribunal of the testimony given by the witness
Moris Lamp during the evening session of 25.1.1946, concerning
the executions of Soviet, British, French and other officers in the
Mauthausen camp, the extermination camps of Auschwitz and
Majdanek, the Notes of People’s Commissar for Foreign Affairs
of USSR, Molotov, of 24.11.1941 and 27.6.1942, presented to the
Court, concerning the monstrous treatment inflicted by the Ger-
man military authorities on the Soviet war-prisoners, for which
Goering is personally greatly responsible. I shall also remind
about the depositions of the witness Halder on 81.10.1945 which
described the conference at Hitler’s office on the non-application
of the Hague covention with respect to the treatment of Russian
war-prisoners and the order issued from Hitler’s headquarters on
12.5.1941 concerning the treatment of captured Russian command-
ing officers and political workers. (884—PS) All these facts of
crimes, established beyond doubt before the Court, have no need
for further clarification, as the Defense was unable to advance
in their statements any arguments refuting them.

In the “12 Commandments for the behaviour of the Germans in
the East” of 1 June 1941, the sixth commandment reads as fol-
lows (USSR-89):

“You must clearly understand that for a whole century you
are the representatives of great Germany and the standard-
bearers of National Socialism in new Europe. You must,
therefore, with full conscience of your worth, carry out the
most ruthless and most cruel measures which shall be requested
of you by the State.”

The initiation of the systematic persecution and extermination
of the Jewish population, is connected with the name of Goering.
It was he who signed the misanthropic Nurnberg decrees, the de-
crees for the expropriation of Jewish property for the imposing
on the Jews of the penalty of one billion and other decrees; such
activity was in full keeping with the whole world of Goering’s
cannibalistic conception of the world.

At the'trial Goering denied that he was an adherent of the
racial theory whilst in 1985, he made a speech before the Reichs-
tag in the defense of the Nurnberg racial provocators. On that
Occasion, he loudly declared (3458-PS, USA 588):
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“x % % God has created races. He did not will equality
and for this reason we reject energetically every attempt to
pervert the idea of the purity of race * * *7”

Numerous documents presented to the Court by the Prosecu-
tion, expose the criminal actions of Goering in respect to other
nations. Goering’s order issued on 19 October 1939 demonstrates
clearly the attitude of the defendant towards the Polish people,
the Polish State. (EC-410, USA 298) In an otrder relating to
the economic policy in the East, issued on 23 May 1941, just before
the attack on the USSR, Goering writes as follows on the attitude
towards the Russians (EC-126, USA 316; USSR-93; USSR-36;
USSR-60):

“Germany is not interested in maintaining the productivity
in this territory. She is supplying food only to the troops sta-
tioned there * * *,  The population in those regions, and
especially the urban population, is doomed to starvation. It
will be necessary to deport this population to Siberia.”

In his capacity as Plenipotentiary for the Four Year Plan, Goer-
ing is responsible for the plunder and the spoliation of state prop-
erty and personal property of the citizens, carried out by the Nazis
on occupied-territories of the USSR, in Czechoslovakia, Poland,
Jugoslavia, and other countries. It was indeed Goering who
headed the activity of the Nazi conspirators directed towards
the economic plunder of the occupied territories of the USSR.
(USSR-98; USSE-36; USSE-60)

A conference in connection with the elaboration of economic
measures according to case Barbarossa took place on 29 April
1941, prior to the treacherous attack against the USSR. As a
result of this conference, there was created the economic staff of
special purpose “Oldenbourg” which was subordinated to Goer-
ing. The creation of special economic inspectorates and units in
the largest centers of the USSR was planned ; they were to handle
important tasks for the utilization and the plunder of Soviet in-
dustry and agriculture. (1157-PS, USA 141)

The file of the district agricultural fuehrer contained instruec-
tions to agricultural fuehrers, who were given full freedom in the
choice of methods for the fulfillment of their criminal aims. The
demand for ruthless treatments of the Soviet peoples, and, in the
first place, of the Russians, the Ukrainians and the Byelorussians,
were put forward. (USSR-89)

The report of the USSR Extraordinary State Commission on
the crimes committed by the Hitlerites in Kiev, in the region of
Stalino and other places; states that these criminal plans of the
defendant Goering and his accomplices were for the greater part
realized. (USSR-2; USSR-9)
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To secure the necessary manpower for the German war industry
and agriculture, and at the same time for the purpose of physical
extermination and the economic weakening of the enslaved peoples,
the defendant Goering and his accomplices in the Nazi conspiracy,
utilized the .labour of foreign workers.

- The utilization of forced labour had been planned by the Nazis
even before the war. It is sufficient to remind you of the confer-
ence at Hitler’s office, which took place on 23 May 1939, and in
which the defendant Goering also took part. (L-79, USA 27)

At the conferences of 7 November 1941 and in his order issued
on 10 January 1942, Goering demanded of all the departments
subordinated to him, the securing of necessary manpower for the
German industry, at the expense of the population of the occu-
pied Soviet territories. (USSR-10; USSR-886; USSRE-379)

On 6.8.42 Goering held a conference with the Reichskommis-
‘sars for the occupied territories and the representatives of mili-
tary command. (USSR-170) Addressing himself to the partici-
pants in this conference, Goering said:

“You are being sent there not to work for the Welfare of the
peoples entrusted to you, but for the purpose of squeezing out
all that is available * * *, You must be like hounds, where
there is still something left. 1 intend to plunder and to do it
efficiently.”

These intentions were carried out. Goering plundered; the
Reichsministers plundered, and Reichskommissars for the occu-
pied territories plundered; the representatives of military com-
mand plundered, beginning with generals and ending with ordi-
nary soldiers.

Such was the activity of the defendant Goermg There is not
a single measure executed by the Fascist party, not a single step
taken by the Hitlerite Government, in which Goering did not par-
ticipate. He participated actively in all the crimes of the Fascist
gang and for all his deeds he must be duly punished.

HESS

The defendant Hess occupied a leading position among the Nazi
conspirators from the very beginning of the Nazi empire.

It was Hess who had been the leader of the Fascist organiza-
tion, of the University of Munich. It was he who had participated
in the Munich Putsch. It was he, who, together with Hitler had
worked at the Bible of Fascism, “Mein Kampf”, carrying out the
duties of Hitler’s private secretary. It was he who had been
president of the Central Political Commission of the Fascist Party,
and it was he who had carried into effect the bestial policy of the
Fascist cutthroats as “Deputy-Fuehrer” after the seizure of power.
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It was indeed Hess to whom, according to Hitler’s decree of 21
April 1983, “the full right was given to take decisions on behalf
of Hitler on all questions concerning the leadership of the party.”
(8196-PS) After this, Hess continued to take over one new post
after the other in Hitler’s government. After 1 December 1933
he was Reichsminister “without portfolio” to secure close collab-
oration of the party and shock troops with the civil authorities
(1395-PS, GB 252); on 4 February 1938 he was appointed mem-
ber of the secret council (8189-PS, GB 249); on 30 August 1939,
member of the Cabinet for the defense of the Reich (2018-PS,
GB 250), and on 1 September 1939 Hitler declared Hess as suc-
cessor of Goering. Hess was also appointed Obergruppenfuehrer
SS and SA.

By the Decree of 27 July 1934 Hitler obliged all leaders of all
the departments and ministries of Germany to present projects of
laws to Hess for preliminary sanction. (D-138, USA }03; D-139,
USA 404) Hess had to select and nominate leadership corps of
the Fagcist cadres. This is testified to by Hitler’s decree of 24
September 1935 and by other documents submitted to the Tribunal
by the Prosecution. (4180-PS)

We must take special notice of the active part played by Hess in
planning and carrying out aggressive wars. All the aggressive
actions of Hitler’s Germany had been planned and prepared with
the direct assistance of Hess and the party machinery of the Nazi
was subjected to him. Already on 12th October 1936 in his
speeches made in Bavaria, Hess appealed to the German ‘“‘to use
a little less fat, a little less pork, fewer eggs * * *77 “We
know”, said Hess, “that the foreign currency that is saved in this
way, goes for armament. And the slogan of the day is ‘Cannons
instead of butter.”” (M-104, GB 260) Hess spoke about this on
the eve of his flight to England on 1st May 1941, speaking at the
Messerschmitt factory when he made an appeal for the continua-
tion of an aggressive war. (M-105, GB 261) Together with Hit-
ler, Goering and other leaders of the Nazi conspiracy, Hess signed
the decrees concerning the annexation of other territories seized
by the Germans.

The misanthropic Nurnberg laws, for the publishing of which
the defendant is also responsible, contain a special provision
authorizing Frick and Hess to issue the necessary decrees to carry
these laws into effect. Hess signed the law on the “protection of
race and honour”, the decree of 14 September 1935 depriving the
Jews of their right to be employed at public offices (3179-PS),
and also the decree of 20 May 1938 extending the Nurnberg laws
to Austria. The question of the part played by Hess in organizing
a network for spies and terroristic groups abroad, in creating SD
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(Security Service) and recruitment of SS units has been suffi-
ciently elucidated at this trial.

The very position occupied by Hess in the Fascist Party and
Hitler’s Government shows the active leading participation of the
defendant in the preparation and realization of the common
criminal plan of the Fascist conspirators, consequently an enor-
mous share of the guilt and responsibility for the crimes against
peace and for the war crimes and the crimes against humanity.

. Your Honours, in order to evaluate more correctly the impor-
tance of the criminal activity of the defendant Hess as one of the
notorious leaders of the Nazi Party and Hitler’'s Government, I
shall remind you of the article in the newspaper “National Zei-
tung” of 27 April 1941, dedicated to Hess (M-102, GB 254):

“Many years ago, it was before the beginning of the war—
Rudolf Hess was called “the-conscience of the Party”. If we
inquire why this honorable name was given to the Fuehrer’s
deputy, it is not difficult to answer this question: There is not
an event in our public life that is not connected with the name
of the deputy Fuehrer. He is so versatile and singular in his
work and in his field of activity, that they cannot be described
in a few words * * * Many measures carried out by the
Government, especially in the field of war economy and in the
party were realized entirely by the deputy Fuehrer.

Hess refused to give explanations to the Tribunal. His Coun-
sel Seidl declared with false pathos that Hess considered the
present Tribunal incompetent to judge the German war criminals
¥ % % and immediately afterwards without a pause he pre-

sented proofs in defense of Hess.

Hess even tried to declare himself insane to avoid the merited
punishment. But when Hess convinced himself that such a ma-
neuvre would not help, he was obliged to tell the Tribunal that he
had simulated loss of memory, that it had been a trick of his and
he had to admit that he bore full responsibility for all that he
had done and signed together with the others.

Thus this clumsy attempt of Hess to avoid the responsibility
was fully exposed at the trial and Hess must suffer punishment
to the full extent, for his participation in the eommon plan or
conspiracy for committing crimes against peace, war crimes and
the most heavy crimes against the world and against humanity,
committed by him together with the other defendants.

BORMANN

The name of Martin Bormann is closely connected with the
setting up of Hitler’s regime. He was one of those who com-
mitted the most outrageous crimes, aiming at the annihilation of
hundreds of thousands of people.
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Together with the defendant Rosenberg, Bormann carried on
a propaganda of racial theories and persecutions of Jews with
cruel perseverance. Numerous instructions were issued by him
aiming at the discrimination of Jews in Hitlerite Germany, which
afterward had such a fatal effect and resulted in the annihilation
of Jews. By this activity of his, he won the confidence of Hitler,
he was “authorized to represent the party in the field of govern-
ment activity” (regulations and orders of the party chancellery v.
IT p. 228) and he did represent it. Thus, as chief of the party.
chancellery, he directly participated in the annihilation of Jews,
Gypsies, Russians, Ukrainians, Poles and Czechoslovaks.

NSDAP under his leadership became a police organization, in
close contact with the German secret police and SS. Bormann not
only knew of all the aggressive plans of Hitler’s Government, but
also took an active part in realizing them. He made full use of
the entire party machinery of NSDAP to realize the aggressive
plans of Hitler’s Government, and appointed the party Gauleiters
as Plenipotentiaries for the Reich defense in the regions of their
activity. The NSDAP party machinery and Bormann personally,
took an active part in all measures of the German military and
civil authorities for the inhuman exploitation of war prisoners.
This is proved by the murderous instructions and directions issued
by Bormann.

The materials of the Prosecution and the legal proceedings have
now established the scope of the mass annihilation caused by the
bestial ill-treatment of the prisoners-of-war. The party ma-
chinery and the defendant Bormann, personally took a direct part
in the measures of Hitler’s government connected with the de-
portation of the population of the occupied territories for slave
labor. The secret deportation of Ukrainian girls to Germany for
forced Germanization, was carried out with Bormann’s approval.
By Hitler’s order of 18th October 1944, Bormann and Himmler
were entrusted with the leadership of the “Volkssturm” consist-
ing of all men from 16-60 years of age, capable of wearing weap-
ons. (3018-PS)

On the eve of the collapse of Hitler’s Germany, Bormann headed
the underground  organization “Wehrwolf” for divertionist and
subversive activity behind allied lines.

Bormann took a direct part in plundering historical treasures
and treasures of culture and art in the occupied territories.
(1800-PS, USA 690) 1In 1943 he made a suggestion to intensify
the economic plunder in the occupied territories. (061-PS, USA
692)

Such are the crimes of the defendant Bormann, Hitler’s closest
collaborator, who shares the full responsibility for the numerous
crimes of Hitler’s government and of the Nazi party.

216



RIBBENTROP

Joachim von Ribbentrop‘was not only one of the principal insti-
gators and leaders of the foreign policy of Hitlerite Germany, but
‘he was also one of the most active participants in the criminal
conspiracy.

Having officially entered the Nazi Party in 1932, the defendant
however, contributed to the seizure of power by the Nazis, before
this actually oceurred, and he became shortly the official adviser
of the Party, inasmuch as he was the “collaborator of the Fuehrer
on matters of foreign policy.” (2829-PS, USA 5) Ribbentrop’s
promotion is indissolubly connected with the development of the
Nazi conspirators’ activity which was directed against the inter-
ests of peace.

In his testimony, Ribbentrop declared: “He (Hitler) knew that
I was his loyal collaborator”. That is why on 4 February 1938,
Hitler made the convinced and faithful nazi-Ribbentrop, the offi-
cial leader of foreign policy, a post which was one of the most
important levers for the realization of the entire Nazi conspiracy.

However, Ribbentrop did not limit his activities to the field of
foreign policy. As member of the Hitlerite Government, the Reich
Defense Council and of the Secret Council, he participated in the
solution of all the innumerable problems connected with the prep-
aration of aggressive wars. That is why he, Ribbentrop, although
he was Minister for Foreign Affairs, took part in the solution and
realization of problems, but faintly relevant to foreign policy,
such as the utilization of manpower in wartime, the organization
of the concentration camps, and so forth. In this connection, it
should be noted that Ribbentrop signed a special, large-scale agree-
ment with Himmler on the organization of 2 common intelligence
service. (USSR-120)

Ribbentrop became Reich Foreign Minister precisely at the out-
set of the realization of the plans of aggression, which visualised
the submission of Europe to Germany. This coincidence is no
accident, Ribbentrop was considered, not without reason, as the
most adequate person for the realization of this criminal conspir-
acy, he was preferred even to such an expert in matters of foreign
provocation as Rosenberg, upon which the latter made an official
complaint, not without some reason. And Hitler was not mis-
taken in his choice, for Ribbentrop fully justified his confidence.

As early as 12 February 1938, a week after his nomination, Rib-
bentrop—together with. Hitler and the defendant Papen, who for
a long time prior to this date had been directing the diversionist
activity of the Nazi agencies in Austria, participated in a confer-
ence at the Obersalzberg.

At this ‘meeting he addressed an ultimatum punctuated by
threats, to the Austrian Chancellor Schuschnigg and the latter’s
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Foreign Minister Schmidt, demanding their agreement to sacri-
ficing the independence of Austria, and this object was attained.

As Minister, Ribbentrop was present at the conference of 28
May 1938, during which a decision was made for the execution of
plan “Gruen”—the plan for aggression against Czechoslovakia.
In conformity to the Nazi tactics of weakening their future victim
by striking at the home front, Ribbentrop constantly kept a close
contact with and gave material assistance first to the German
Sudeten party, and then to the Slovak nationalists, with the object
of attaining an internal split and fratricidal war in Czechoslo-
vakia.

Having seized. Czechoslovakia, the Nazi conspirators, and Rib-
bentrop amongst them, began to make preparations for and to
realize the next aggressive act, which had already been outlined by
them in their criminal plan against peace—the attack on Poland.
Being compelled—Dbecause of the recently realized annexation of
Austria and Czechoslovakia, to conceal temporarily the further
intentions of Germany, Ribbentrop personally, and through the
agency of his diplomats, endeavoured to allay the vigilance of the
European states, by making hypocritical declarations to the effect
that Germany had no further territorial demands. On 26 January
1939, in Warsaw, the Foreign Minister of Fascist Germany, Rib-
bentrop declared: “that the consolidation of friendly relations be-
tween Germany and Poland on the basis of existing agreements,
constituted the most important factor of Germany’s foreign pol-
icy”. (2530-PS, GB 36) A very short time elapsed, and Poland
experienced the value of these assurances of Ribbentrop. ,

I will not dwell here on the perfidious part played by the de-
fendant Ribbentrop in the German aggression against Denmark,
Norway, Belgium, Holland and Luxembourg, for my colleagues
have already dealt with this matter convincingly enough
* * *

The defendant Ribbentrop personally participated in the com-
mission of aggression against Jugoslavia and Greece. Reverting
to his favourite method of giving false guarantees in order to con-
ceal the future aggression, defendant Ribbentrop assured Jugo-
slavia in April, 1938, that after the Anschluss Germany’s fron-
tiers with Jugoslavia were considered as final and unalterable.
At that time manifold preparations for aggression were being car-
ried out with the assistance of the defendant Ribbentrop. On 12
and 13 August 1939 at the conference of Hitler and Ribbentrop
with Ciano at Salzburg an agreement was reached concerning the
liquidation of the neutrals one after the other.

With the direct and immediate assistance of the defendant Rib-
bentrop the Nazi conspirators planned, prepared and carried out
the treacherous attack on the USSR on the 22nd of June 1941.
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The defendant Ribbentrop himself admitted here, in the Court
room that at the end of August and the beginning of September
1940, i.e. at the time when the elaborate plans of the plan “Bar-
barossa” was being carried out as it is evident from the deposi-
tions of General Warlimont, General Mueller and Fieldmarshal
Paulus the defendant Keitel was discussing with him the question
of attacking USSR. (446-PS, USA 381; 447-PS, USA 185; USSR
263; USSR 149; USSR 156) The activity of the defendant and
the ministry directed by him, played a primary part in the or-
ganization of war against the USSR with the participation of
Finland.

Already after the beginning of the aggression of Germany
against the Soviet Union the defendant Ribbentrop continued to
apply his effort to attract new accomplices to Germany’s side.
Thus in a telegram to the German Ambassador in Tokio of 10th
July 1941 he said: “I beg you to try all means at your disposal to
influence Matsuoka in order to make Japan start war against
Russia as soon as possible. The sooner—the better. The final aim
should be that Japan and we shake hands on the Siberian railway
before winter comes on.” (2896-PS, USA 155)

As it has been established at this trial Ribbentrop together
with the other defendants was preparing the policy of ex-
termination and plunder, planned by the Hitlerites and then ap-
plied it in the temporarily occupied territories of Soviet Union.
The defendant, Rosenberg who was elaborating the plans of ex-
ploitation of the occupied territories in Eastern Europe, held a
conference on this question with OKW, the Ministry of Economics,
Ministry of the Interior. In his “Report about preparatory work
on the Eastern-European question” he wrote: “As a result of the
negotiations with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the latter ap-
pointed General Consul Mr. Braeutigam as their representative to
Rosenberg.” (1089-PS, USA 146)

Thus it is indisputable that Ribbentrop not only knew about the
preparation for the military attack on USSR, but that he, to-
gether with the other conspirators, had planned beforehand the
colonization of the territory of the Soviet Union, the enslave-
ment and extermination of the Soviet citizens. The defendant
was compelled to admit that he had known the notes of the Public
Commissar of Foreign Affairs V. M. Molotov concerning the
atrocities of the Hitlerites in the temporarily occupied territories
of the Soviet Union. He, as well as the other conspirators, had
also known the other declarations of the Chiefs of the Allied
Governments concerning the responsibility imposed upon the Nazi
Government for committing the monstrous atrocities in the oc-
cupied countries. .

Ribbentrop, as the witness for the defense the former Secre-
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tary of State at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs confirmed, had
been one of the initiators and was intended to be nominated hon-
orary member of the International Anti-Jewish Congress which
the Germans supposed to convene in July 1944 in Cracow. Rib-
bentrop himself admitted at the Trial that he had negotiated with
the Governments of European countries about the banishment
of the Jews. According to the record of Ribbentrop’s conversa-
tion with Horty “The Minister of Foreign Affairs declared to
Horty that the Jews should be either exterminated or sent to con-
centration camps. There could be no other decision”. This suffi-
ciently confirms the fact that Ribbentrop was aware of the exist-
ence of the concentration camps though he tried hard to prove
the contrary.

Ribbentrop lent his support to other Nazi leaders and above
all, to the defendant Sauckel, in deporting the inhabitants of the
occupied territories for forced labor in Germany.

Besides, defendant Ribbentrop, by carrying out, the common
plan of conspiracy including the destruction of the national cul-
ture of the peoples of the occupied territories, took a most active
part in plundering treasures of culture, which are the common
property of all nations. In order to carry out this task, and on
Ribbentrop’s instructions, a “Battalion of Special Service” had
been created at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, which, during the
whole war, followed the advance units, requisitioned and deported
to Germany all kinds of treasures of culture from the occupied
territories in the Hast, according to the directives of Ribbentrop.

Thus the defendant Ribbentrop took part in the seizure of
power by the Nazis, played a leading role in planning, preparing
and waging aggressive plundering wars; together with the other
congpirators, he participated, according to the Fascist plans in the
leadership, when committing most heavy crimes against the
nations, whose territories had been temporarily occupied by the
Hitlerite invaders.

The Military Group

Several of the defendants in the dock at this major War Crim-
inals Trial may be said to form a military group. If we do not in-
clude Goering who represents a peculiar figure, uniting in one per-
son—vpolitician, -administrator, and soldier, there remains Keitel,
Jodl, Doenitz and Raeder. In the course of these proceedings not
only have all the counts of the indictment against them been sus-
tained, but as a result, even more incriminating evidence has been
brought to light.

The documentary evidence, the testimony given by the wit-
nesses, including those applied for the Defense, could not but tip
the scales in favor of the Prosecution.
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The counsel for the defense tried to convince the Tribunal that
their clients had become involved in this sinister tragedy by a
whim of fate in spite of themselves.

The defendants themselves—Keitel, Jodl, Doenitz and Raeder
here in court, try to appear in the role of noble simpletons. We
must do the defense justice: it did its best to aid them in this at-
tempt. We have heard a great deal about the soldier’s honor,
military discipline, fidelity to duty and oath of allegiance—all
making obligatory, therefore, the fulfillment of Hitler’s orders,
including those which aroused their doubts and direct protest.
Such a view of their position completely distorts the actual state
of affairs. Before passing to the question of the guilt of Keitel,
Jodl, Doenitz and Raeder, I deem it necessary to put the following
four questions, and to answer them:

1 Did these defendants know that Hitlerite Germany, in vio-
lation of its international obligations had prepared a series
of aggressive and predatory wars?

2 Did they take an active part in planning, preparing, un-
leashing and waging of these wars?

3 Are they guilty of cynically trampling down the laws and
customs of warfare?

4 Are they responsible for the atrocities and extermination of
the peaceful population, for the sinking of passenger and hos-
pital ships, for the towns and villages destroyed by the Hit-
lerite Reich military machine?

It seems to me that after this investigation which has so care-
fully gone into all the details of this case, unless one remains
blind to the facts, it is impossible to give other than an affirmative
answer to these questions. :

The documentary evidence submitted to the Tribunal has fully
proved that the military group of ecriminals is guilty of the
heaviest crimes and that they have actively participated in the
planning and execution of the common criminal conspiracy. )

The fact that these crimes were committed by men in uniform
not only does not serve to mitigate their responsibility, but, on
the contrary, only heightens it.

How can they try to acquit themselves by referring to “a sol-
dier’s duty”, “an officer’s honor’’, and the “obligation of fulfilling
orders”. Since when has “soldier’s duty” and “officer’s honor”
become compatible with shooting without trial and branding as
prisoners, extermination of women, children and aged people.

The only true and correct explanation of the amazing fact that
these generals and admirals were committing what in substance
were capital ecrimes, lies in the fact that they were generals and
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admirals of Hitler’s making. These are men of special metal.
They are Fascists in uniform, bound body and soul to the Nazi
regime.

This is the only reason why Hitler gathered these men about
him and collaborated with them for so long a period of time.
This is the only way to explain why they collaborated with Hitler
in committing such crimes unprecedented in history. They fitted
and understood one another to perfection.

KEITEL

It is only natural that in speaking of the military group I would
begin with defendant Keitel. Keitel held the leading post in
Hitler’s military machine from the very first years of its concep-
tion. Keitel’s counsel admits that the decree (of February 4th
1938) gave Keitel the wonder titie for his position—“Chief of the
OKW?”. Further he goes on to say: “* * * the factual significance
of Keitel’s activities was immense. It was a monstrous, ex-
tremely ungrateful job and its miserly remuneration was a bril-
liant position in the immediate proximity to the head of the
state.”

In the light of subsequent events it may be taken for granted
that the primary stage of all the future wars of aggression in-
cluded everything connected with the secret rearmament of Ger-
many after the Versailles treaty. It is difficult to minimize the
significance of all that was done at the time by Colonel Keitel in
the Committee of Experts which painstakingly and consecutively
sought and found means of circumventing or violating the treaty.
It was none other than Colone! Keitel in particular who gave
instructions to the effect that in Geneva it was possible to say
what one pleased but care must be taken not to leave anything
behind on paper. This cynical statement fully tallies with the
role played by Keitel in the subsequent preparation and execution
of aggressive wars.

During the negotiations between Hitler and Schuschnigg the
living reminder of Germany’s preparedness to resort to arms
was the person of Keitel (C-102, USA 74). Keitel issued orders
for troops to cross over into Czechoslovakia at the time when
President Hacha was so treacherously called to Berlin “for con-
tinuing negotiations.”

It was the OKW and no other organization which was fully pre-
pared through the ABWEHR’S department to provoke an inci-
dent with Czechoslovakia in order to justify the invasion by the
German hordes, ready to fall upon Czechoslovakia. (388-PS,
USA 26) -

In his strictly confidential memorandum Keitel demanded that

222



Hess and Himmler advise the OKW in advance of all measures
taken by party organizations or police which were not included
in the case Green “Fall Green”. The declarations alleging that
after the seizure of Czechoslovakia Germany had no .more terri-
torial aspirations in Europe were downright lies. This was but
a link in the chain of aggressive wars.

T wish to emphasize the leading role of the OKW in the prepara-
tion and earrying out of aggression. The directive regarding the
waging of war and invasion of Poland is known to us as Keitel’s
and Hitler’s directive of 10 May 1939. It was forwarded to the
command of the Air Forces, Navy and Land Forces. How is it
possible after this to maintain that the OKW was not the driving
power behind the armed forces of the Fascist Reich? If we once
more peruse the documents pertaining to German aggression
against Norway, Denmark, Belgium, Holland, Luxembourg, Yugo-
slavia and Greece we again come across the name of Keitel. He
appears as a participant of the most important events as author
of secret orders addressed to Raeder, Goering and the General
Staff. (448-PS, GB 118) We find the initials of Keitel and Jodl
entered in their own hand on the secret directive signed by Hitler
regarding the “Operation Marita”.

Much has been said here of the “Plan Barbarossa” and its
authors. At present it is important to stress that this document
took shape in the depths of the OKW at its initiative and that .
the planned methods of a treacherous attack on the USSR were
also the work of the OKW. The significance of a military special-
ists visa on a document is clear to everybody. Some of the de-
fendants attempted to portray the attack on the USSR as pre-
ventive war. This contention is to such a degree unconvincing
and contradictory to the irrefutable evidence presented in court
(German documents) that I see no need for occupying the Tribu-
nal’s time.

Keitel’s defense counsel stated that the defense of this defend-
.ant is based on the point of view that Keitel—“is fighting not for
his head but to save his face.” I wish to aid the Tribunal in seeing
the true face of Keitel. For this I shall have to remind you of a
number of Keitel’s directives which may well lay claim to being
among the foremost of all the infamous documents pointing to the
barbarity of the German military clique, its baseness and extreme
scorn for all conceptions of rules and customs of warfare.

Let us consider the documents dealing with the shooting of
Political Officers. Keitel, the soldier, as he likes to call himself,
ignoring his oath, shamelessly lied to the representatives of the
American Prosecution at his preliminary investigation by avow-
ing that to begin with this order was in the nature of a counter
reprisal and that the political officers were separated from the
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other prisoners of war at the request of the prisoners themselves.
At the trial he was unmasked. Exhibit No. RF (v) -351, 884-PS
proved that this directive had been issued before the war had
broken out. We also submitted a document under Exhibit No.
USSR-62 (the text of a letter of German Prisoners of War). This
document makes it clear that even before the attack on the USSR
the army in the field had been instructed to absolutely exterminate
Soviet women in military service as well as political officers.

And what can be said of the following statement dreadful in
its unlimited cynicism: “Human life in these countries concerned
us absolutely of no account * * * g ferrifying influence can be
achieved only through unheard of brutality.” (EF 271; R-98;
389-PS)

And what can be said of the directive of 13 May 1941 in-
troducing court martial in the Barbarossa region? And of the
order of 16 September 1941 calling for the execution of 80-100
communists for each German killed? (C-50, USA 554)

What could Keitel say about the document known as “Nacht
und Nebel”? (L-90, USA 503)

These are sanguinary documents. No ohe can compute how
many thousands of prisoners of war—soldiers and officers of the
Red Army had been killed and tortured in the camps of Fascist
Germany. You remember how on 21 January 1946 at the eve-
ning session witness Lamp testified that for the amusement of
Himmler the shooting of 50 Soviet officers was organized in the
Mauthausen camp. You remember witness Blaha testifying that
in the spring of 1944, 94 Soviet senior military officers were tor-
tured and then killed for refusing to give military information.
(USSR-52)

I wish to mention the testimony of SS man Paul Waldman re-
garding the slaughter of 840 Russian prisoners of war. You re-
member the testimony of witness Kivelsh regarding the endless
chain of torture and suffering to which Russians, taken prisoner
by the Germans, were subjected to.

It is impossible to pass by Keitel’'s directive calling for the
branding of Soviet prisoners of war. One cannot forget the
Keitel directive of the 16 December 1942. It is entitled ‘“measure
to be taken against bands”. Under the word “bands” defendant
Keitel understood any resistance movement and demanded that
his troops revert to harsh methods, stopping at nothing even in
regards to women and children. (USSR-16; USSE-343)

The Soviet Prosecution submitted the testimony Lecourt under
Exhibit No. USSR-162. Lecourt states that he shot and burned
Soviet citizens, razing their houses. He alone had shot over
1,200 persons and for this achievement he was promoted to the
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rank of Obergefreiter and awarded the medal for service in the
East. He acted in accordance with the directives of Keitel.

Keitel’s directive instituting court martials in the “Barbarossa”
region freed such persons of all responsibility. Keitel’s hands are
stained with the blood of the vietims of Lecourt and his like.
It was in carrying out Keitel’s directive stating that life in the
Eastern regions was of no value, that the soldiers and officers
of Hitlerite Germany committed their atrocities. (C-50, USA
554)

Exhibit number USSR-51 submitted by the prosecution shows
how, on the 28 August 1941, attacking German troops drove a
group of women, children and old men before their formations.
In the village of Kolpino the Fascists shot the peasants who had
been forced into digging trenches and bridges for them.

In Yugoslavia mass shootings of hostages became a daily fea-
ture with the military command and military administration.
(USSR-261; USSR-391; USSR-392) In a secret report dated
15-2-1940 submitted to Goering the OKW justifies the practice
of taking hostages.

I wish to conclude with document USSR-336 (EC-338), which
your honors, of course, remember. In this document Admiral
Canaris informs Keitel of the unbridled cruelty in the prisoner-
of-war camps, of the hunger, and mass shootings of Soviet pris-
oners of war. Even the out and out Fascist spy Canaris, fearing
eventual responsibility could not ignore such unbridled cruelty
and flagrant violation of accepted laws and customs of warfare.
You will remember Keitel’s notation on this report: “I approve
of and back these measures”.

On April 7, 1946, during the cross examination, I put the fol-
lowing question to Keitel: “You, Defendant Keitel, known as
Fieldmarshal, repeatedly referred to yourself as a soldier before
this Tribunal, and you, by your sanguinary notation, approved
of and sanctioned the murder in cold blood of thousands of sol-
diers who had fallen prisoner. Do you confirm this?” Keitel
was forced to admit this fact.

This one resolution alone unveils the true and real face of
Fieldmarshal Keitel. The highly involved arguments of the de-
fense cannot absolve Keitel of his responsibility for the blood-
shed and innumerable human lives torn short by the hand of the
Fascist military machine in carrying out orders and directives
signed by his hand.

JODL

The defendant Alfred Jodl bears equal responsibilify together
with defendant Keitel as his assistant and as closest military ad-
viser of Hitler’s. All that is connected with preparation and
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execution of the aggressive plans of Hitlerite Germany is in-
separably linked with the name of Jodl as well as with that of
‘Keitel. There is no need to repeat anew all those aggressive acts
of Hitler’s Germany which ‘are already facts of common knowl-
edge, each of which had been planned and executed with the
direct participation of defendant Jodl.

As the representative of the Union of Soviet Socialist Repub-
lies, I should like to emphasize once more that the criminal plan
of the perfidious attack on the Soviet Union, coded by the Hitler’s
gang under the name of the ill-fated conqueror Frederick Bar-
baross, is signed not only by Hitler and Keitel but by Jodl as
well. But this is more than a mere signature.

As early as the summer of 1940 in Reichenhall, Jodl held the
first conference of his staff-officers, at which the question of the
possibility of an attack by Hitler Germany on Soviet Russia was
discussed. (USSR-263) It was no one else but defendant Jodl
who even before the attack against the USSR actually was car-
ried out issued his well-known “Instructions on the use of prop-
aganda in the region of ‘Barbarossa’”’” In these instructions it
is unequivocally stated that “as yet propaganda aimed at the
partition of the Soviet Union should not be carried on.” (C-26)
Thus, defendant Jodl knew beforehand of the actual aims of Ger-
many’s attack on the USSR, knew of the piratical and predatory
nature of the war which called for the dismembering of the
Soviet Union.

It was Jodl who took part in the preparation and organiza-
tion of the provocative incident on the Czechoslovak border with
the aim of justifying this aggressive act of Hitler Germany
against this peace loving nation. It was Jodl who signed the
order of the 28 September 1938 regarding the uses of the so-called
Heinlein Corps in case the ‘“Case Green” was realized. (3061-PS,
USA 126) How full of mockery sound the defendant Jodl’s words
of “soldier’s honor” after reading his order on the destruction
of Leningrad, Moscow and other cities of the Soviet Union.
(C-123; USSR-114) It was this very same Jodl who with inim-
itable cynicism declared at a conference with Hitler on the 1 De-
cember 1941 that German troops could with impunity ‘“hang,
hang by the feet and quarter’” Soviet patriots.

As the closest military adviser of Hitler’s, having personally
participated in the preparation and execution of all the san-
guinary aggressive plans of Hitlerites Germany, defendant Jodl
has been justly included in the ranks of the major German War
Criminals.
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DOENITZ AND RAEDER

My British colleague has proved the guilt of defendants Carl
Doenitz and Erich Raeder so convincingly and thoroughly that I
see no need to dwell especially on these Grossadmirals of Hitlerite
‘Germany, who have disgraced their admirals’ uniforms with such

~infamous crimes. ' )

In the course of his cross-examination Doenitz told the Soviet
Prosecutor that he was unaware of the reasons for which Hitler
nominated him as his successor. I don’t think that Doenitz was
quite sincere in making this statement. One has but to refer to
the transcripts of the sessions beginning with the 8th May, in
order to understand without his acknowledging it, why he be-
come Hitler’s successor, when the Hitlerite Reich went to the
bottom. The important point is not the fact that an Admiral was
needed at a moment like this, but the fact that only the Nazi
Grossadmiral Doenitz, in the opinion of Hitler who was about to
fade from the picture, could do anything to save the sinking
ship.

Under Hitler, Doenitz commanded the submarine weapon of
the German Reich. We know the role which the German U-
boats played in this war. In this connection it is worthy of
emphasis that Doenitz was proud of being the author of the so-
called “wolf-pack tactics’’. Soviet people have not forgotten how
Doenitz’s submarines sunk in the Baltic and Black Seas hospital
ships and steamers evacuating peaceful citizens—women and
children.

The last head of the Hitlerite government should be one of the
first to pay for all those crimes which led to the trial of the major
war criminals before the International Military Tribunal.

The name of Raeder is linked with the sacrilegious directive
for the destruction of Leningrad.

At the trial Raeder tried to play the part of an “honest soldier”.
But the mere fact that it was he, together with Hitler and Keitel,
who conspired to “wipe Leningrad off the face of the earth” and
to exterminate more than three million population of that great
city, whose very name is indissolubly connected with the develop-
ment of the culture and history of mankind, makes Raeder one
of the major war criminals.

Raeder took part in working out all the most important plans of
aggression of German Fascism. This participant in the criminal
Fascist conspiracy must therefore bear punishment together with
his associates.

227



KALTENBRUNNER

The defendant Ernst Kaltenbrunner was considered by Himm-
ler to be the most deserving successor to that henchman, Hey-
drich, executed by Czech patriots. On 30 January 1943, he
was appointed Head of the Reich Main Security Office and Chief
of the SD.

Numerous documents, and especially orders signed by Kalten-
brunner, for the mass deportation of people into concentration
camps, the testimonies of his subordinates, including the deposi-
tions of Walter Schellenberg, the former Chief of the Interior,
Security Sérvice, fully convict Kaltenbrunner of heinous crimes.

At the session of 12 April 1946 in the course of Kaltenbrunner’s
examination the testimonies of Johann Kandutor, ex-prisoner of
Mauthausen, were read into the record. In his depositions,
Kandutor describes as. follows Kaltenbrunner’s pasttime during
one of his visits to the camp: “Laughing, Kaltenbrunner entered
the gas chambers; then the prisoners were led from the barracks
to the execution and all the three methods of execution were
demonstrated—hanging, shooting into the nape and asphyxiation
by gas.” I shall not dwell upon the numerous proofs which are
available, as they have been sufficiently clarified before the
Tribunal.

There is only one point of the accusation against Kaltenbrunner,
on which I deem it necessary to dwell. Together with other
RSHA organizations, Kaltenbrunner took over from Heydrich
five “Einsatzgruppen”. The citizens of the Soviet Union re-
member well these eriminal organizations of the German Fascism,
headed by Kaltenbrunner. The “Einsatzgruppe A” reached the
approaches to Leningrad. It created the “Fort of Death #9”
near Kaunas, the secret points for mass extermination of human
beings in Panarai; it carried out the executions by shooting in the
woods of Salaspinsk and Bikerneksk near Riga; it erected gallows
in the parks of one of Leningrad’s suburbs, the Pushkino. (USSR-
7; USSR-41; USSR-39)

The Einsatzgruppe B” settled down in the vicinity of Smolensk.
It burnt alive the peasants of Byelorussia; it shot down the vic-
tims of the awful Pinsk “action’; it drowned thousands of Bye-
lorussian women and children in the Mosyr marshes; it operated
with murder vans in Minsk; it liquidated the ghetto in the Upper
Gardens district of Smolensk. (USSR-23; USSR-14; USSR-48)
The “Einsatzgruppe C”’ was quartered in Kiev. This group car-
ried out the mass “action” in Baby Yar near Kiev, an execution
unmatched for its cruelty, when 100,000 Soviet citizens perished
on a single day. (USSR-14; USSR-9) The “Einsatzgruppe D”
operated in the southern regions of the temporarily occupied ter-
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ritories of the Soviet Union. This group was the first to ex-
periment with the murder vans on the Soviet citizens in the dis-
trict of Stavropol and in Krasnodar. (USSR-14; USSR-1; USSE-
42) :

And when Kaltenbrunner’s fate will be decided, all these human
beings, asphyxiated in the “murder vans’” near Stavropol, buried
alive in the graves near Kiev and Riga, burnt alive in the Bye-
lorussian villages, cannot be forgotten. All these innocent victims
are on his dirty conscience. The successor of a hangman, Kalten-
brunner was a hangman himself, and he had the charge of the
most horrible aspeet in the common criminal plan of the Hitlerite

gang.
ROSENBERG

I shall now summarize the evidence pertaining to the guilt and
the responsibility of the defendant Rosenberg.

In spite of Rosenberg’s efforts to minimize his role and im-
portance, in spite of his efforts to juggle with historical facts and
events, he cannot deny that he was the ideologist of the Nazi
party, that already a quarter of a century ago, he laid the
“theoretical” foundations of the Fascist Hitlerite State, and that
during this whole period he corrupted morally millions of Ger-
mans, preparing them “ideologically” for the monstrous crimes
committed by the Hitlerites, crimes unprecedented in history, and
which are the subject of this trial.

When, at the trial, Rosenberg was asked: “Were you not one
of Hitler’s closest collaborators”?, he did not even speak—he
shouted in reply: “that is not true, I never was”. But however
hard Rosenberg tried to renounce his “Fuehrer”, he has not suc-
ceeded in washing away the stigma of “one of the oldest.and the
most faithful of Hitler’'s comrades-in-arms” (8559-PS, USA
600). For twenty-five years, Rosenberg, acting first as Hitler’s
collaborator and afterwards under his direction, worked out and
assisted in the realization of the fantastic plans for world suprem-
acy, having chosen for the justification of these criminal plans, the
misanthropic theory of racism. The fact that Rosenberg utilized
for his purposes the refuse of science and borrowed some of his
theories from Karl Luger and Paul Lagarde, Count Gobino and
Liapouch, Oswald Spengler and Arthur Meller, cannot influence
the solution of the question on Rosenberg’s responsibility and
guilt. "

The important fact is that Rosenberg, having assembled all
these excrements of science, raised the racial theories to a degree
of racial fanaticism, and educated in this spirit the members of
the Nazi Party and the German youth. And when the repre-
sentatives of the “master race” elaborated and committed acts of

229



aggression, when the German oppressors enslaved and exter-
minated nations and peoples, when the factories of death were
created at Majdanek and Auschwitz, Rosenberg’s share in all
these crimes was great. All this was the outcome of the Fascist
racial ideology, the essence of which consists in the idea that
the “aryan”, “north-germanic” race is a “master race”, and that
all other races and nations belong to “lower strata”.

Rosenberg’s counsel said: “the Tribunal must judge crimes and
not theories”. In Rosenberg’s case such an argument is clearly
unconvincing. For Rosenberg, not only confessed the Fascist
racial theory, but he knowingly propagated it and instilled it
into the conscience of the German people, this theory which be-
came a direct menace to the existence of the democratic Euro-
pean states. The person who carries mierobes must be isolated,
but the person who willingly disseminates microbes, must be
tried.

Rosenberg’s criminal activity was not limited to the ideological
preparation for aggression and to the propagation of misan-
thropic theories. His activity had many facets.

The ceriminal activity of the foreign-policy department of the
NSDAP has already been sufficiently clarified at this process,
this department which for many years was subordinated to the
defendant Rosenberg, was in charge of the half-legal Nazi agen-
cies abroad. The participation of this organization in the for-
eign policy measures undertaken by the Hitlerite Germany and
in the initiation of aggressive wars, is very great.

One of the documents submitted by Neurath’s Counsel and ac-
cepted by the Tribunal, reads as follows:

“* * * ot one time there existed in Berlin three sorts of min-
istries for foreign affairs; Rosenberg’s ministry, Ribbentrop’s
ministry, and the official ministry on the Wilhelmstrasse.”

And finally, Rosenberg’s letter to Hitler of 6.2.88 stressed his real
influence on the foreign policy of Hitlerite Germany and his
“merits” in this field, when he applied for a membership in the
Secret Cabinet Council. (USSR-117)

I see no necessity to give an analysis of the entire criminal ac-
tivity of Rosenberg, and I only intend to dwell very shortly on
his activity as “Fuehrer’s plenipotentiary” and, later, as the Reich
Minister for the Occupied Eastern Territories. In these capaci-
ties, Rosenberg exercised his talents most actively, as a partici-
pant in criminal conspiracy.

Rosenberg declares that he was against war with the USSR
and that he learned from Hitler about the preparations for an
attack against the USSR, only when all the orders to military
¢hannels had already been given, and that he never really had
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any influence on the foreign policy of the Hitlerite Germany. I
affirm, Your Honors, that all these declarations of Rosenberg
are false. It is a commonly known fact that the plan for a Ger-
man crusade against Soviet Russia is indeed the starting point
of the National-Socialists foreign policy, as set out in the 1921
New-Year publication of the newspaper “Voelkischer Beobachter”
and that the author of this policy is Alfred Rosenberg. It was
Rosenberg, who inspired by Ludendorf and Rechberg, propagated
—together with Hitler—a foreign policy directed towards the
creation of an antisemitie, antibolshevik and antibritish Conti-
nental Europe. Rosenberg’s speeches, setting out plans for the
“exchange” of the Polish corridor against the Ukraine, his “diplo-
matic” journeys into certain countries after the seizure of power
by the Fascists, his clumsy efforts to realize the foreign policy
programme of the Nazis—were disclosed in detail in the press.

The submitted documents give a clear picture of Rosenberg’s
feverish activity in Apri]l 1941—during the period immediately
preceding the attack of Germany on the USSR—whén he was
nominated ‘“Fuehrer’s plenipotentiary for the supreme control
of the dquestions connected with the Eastern-European terri-
tories”. (865—PS, USA 148) On 7 April 1941, two weeks prior
to his nomination, Rosenberg sent to Hitler his proposals for the
division of the Soviet Union into Reichskommissariats and for
the nomination of Fascist .governors for the occupied territories.
Byelorussia and the Ukraine, Minsk and Kiev, Rostov and Thbilisi,
Leningrad and Moscow were all enumerated in Rosenberg’s pro-
posals. For the post of the Reichskommissar of Moscow, Rosen-
berg recommended the notorious Erich Koch.,

We have heard about Rosenberg’s meetings with Brauchitsch
and Raeder and of his conferences with Funk, General Thomas,
state secretary Backe and others, on the questions of economical
exploitation of the eastern territories, and about his negotiations
with Ribbentrop, the SS Chief of Staff, the Chief of the German
intelligence service, Admiral Canaris. Already six weeks prior
to the attack on the USSR, he worked out directives for all the
Reichskommissars of the occupied eastern territories, in which he
provided for a “Reichskommissariat Russia” and the “Reichs-
kommissariat Caucasus”, while the Byelorussian republic was to
form a part of the Reichskommissariat Ostland”. (1030-PS,
USA 144) Rosenberg’s attempt to affirm that he did not share in
the aggressive, predatory aims of the war against the USSR, and
that, in his capacity of Minister for the occupied Eastern terri-
tories, he all but loaded with benefits the population of these ter-
ritories. And this he dares to affirm, when the directive to the
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Reichskommissar of the Baltic countries and Byelorussia, de-
seribed his aims as follows:

“ % % * the creation of a Gérman protectorate for the purpose
of subsequent inclusion of these regions in the Greater German
Reich: by means of the germanization of elements—suitable
from the racial point of view, of the colonization by the repre-
sentatives of the German race and of the extermination of the
undesired elements.”

And this is said in addition to the following recommendations
made in another of Rosenberg’s directives on the subject of the
civil administration in the occupied Eastern territories (EC-347,
USA 320): .

“Our main task * * * is the furthering of the Reich’s in-
terests. The regulations of the Hague Convention regarding
land warfare are not valid, as we can consider that the USSR
has been destroyed * * * For this reason, all measures -
which the German administration deem necessary and con-
venient are admissable.”

Rosenberg was too hasty in his assertion that the USSR was
destroyed, let the cat out of the bag, and gave away his secret .
plans. But this document is also an irrefutable proof, invalidat-
ing all the attempts of the defendant to throw off his shoulders
the burden of responsibility for the monstrous crime perpetrated
by the German-fascist aggressors throughout the occupied terri-
tories of the USSR, to the shoulders of individual officials and
policemen, of Koch and Himmler.

It was Rosenberg who permitted the repudiation of the Hague
Convention and the utilization of all measures which might seem
“convenient”. When Koch, for his “convenience” exterminated
the population of the entire Zuman district, he was acting in the
spirit of his directive of Rosenberg. Rosenberg described here
his dissentions with Koch; he alleged that he has followed human-
itarian policy and even imported agricultural machinery. Even
if Rosenberg did indeed, from time to time, object to Koch’s
actions, it was only because he was afraid of premature publicity,
because he was afraid that Koch’s unparalleled ill-treatment of
the Ukrainian people would only strengthen the resistance move-
ment. Rosenberg was influenced by fear and not by any humani-
tarian considerations. Rosenberg’s true policy is set out in
numerous documents which have now become known to the world’s
public opinion and which are in the files of the Tribunal.

In an “official note for the Fuehrer” dated 16.3.1942, Rosen-
berg set out the aims of the German policy in the occupied terri-
tories of the USSR and, first of all, in the Ukraine * * * “the
utilization of minerals, the creation of a German colony in certain
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regions, no artificial intellectual development of the population,
but its preservation as a source of manpower.” (045-PS)

In his report on the reorganization of the Caucasus, Rosenberg
wrote that (USSR-58): “The problem of the East consists in the
transplanting of the Baltic nations to the soil of German culture
and in the preparation for the large-scale expansion of the Ger-
‘man frontiers. The task of the Ukraine is to secure th¢ neces-
sary food supplies for Germany and Europe, and the raw ma-
terials for the continent. The problem of the Caucasus is primar-
ily a political problem and it will lead to the expansion of con-
tinental Europe, headed by Germany, from the Caucasus isthmus
to the near East.”

And finally I would like to point out that it was Rosenberg who
made the following statement, at a conference of the German.
Labor Front, on the policy of the occupied USSR territories
(USSR-170): “It is obvious, that if we are to subjugate these
peoples, arbitrary justice and tyranny will be the most suitable
form of government.” The defense affirms that Rosenberg and

_his “Einsatzstab” were not concerned with the plunder of cultural
treasures, but with their preservation. This statement is also
quite false. Numerous documents read into the record at this
trial, have proved that as early as April 1941, i.e. more than two
months prior to the attack on the USSR, Rosenberg was organiz-
ing special units and staffs and was elaborating plans for the re-
moval of the cultural treasures of the Soviet Union.

On 16 October 1941 Rosenberg wrote to Hitler as follows
(USSRE-375) : “1 have now given an order to a similar operative
staff of my organization to carry out in the occupied Eastern ter-
ritories the work already accomplished in the West. * * * Hav-
ing before our eyes the whole picture, we can satisfy all the just
wishes and demands of the Greater German Reich. On this basis
I would also be willing to take upon myself to guarantee that all
the treasures of art from the Lintz and other museums which can
be utilized for your personal plans are really used for this pur-
pose.

On 17 October 1944, Rosenberg wrote to Lammers that for the
transport of goods “listed” by his organization, it was necessary
to use 1,418,000 railroad cars, whilst 427,000 further tons were
transported by water (327-PS, USA 338). In this same letter,

_Rosenberg mentioned that among the confiscated goods removed
to Germany there was 9,000 cars with agricultural and other ma-
chinery. And after this, he dares to speak about some machines
which he has allegedly imported into the Ukraine! And finally,
I shall speak about the ridiculous theory of the so-called Rosen-
berg’s “noble anti-semitism”. It is absurd to argue with Rosen-
berg’s counsel, who affirms that there exists such a thing as
744400—47—17 .

233



“noble anti-semitism”, and all the more absurd it is to argue with
Rosenberg. In my statement to the Tribunal, I threw light upon
the fascist propaganda contained in the defense speeches. Now,
I would like to recall to the Tribunal the text of two of Rosen-
berg’s documents.

In his directive of 29 April 1941, he wrote (1024-PS, USA
278): *‘The general solution of the Jewish problem must at the
present moment be carried out by methods of a temporary charac-
ter. Slave labor for Jews, the creation of Ghettos, ete., must be
the solution of this problem.”

Even more cynical and frank is the statement made by Rosen-
berg in November 1942, when he, in his capacity of Minister for
the Occupied Eastern Territories, addressed a conference of the
German labor front (USSR-170)

“We must not be satisfied”, said Rosenberg, “with the de-
portation of Jews to another country and with the creation here
or there of a large Jewish ghetto; no, our object must always
remain the same. The Jewish problem in Europe and in Ger-
many will be solved only when there are no more Jews left on
the European continent.”

And the operations “Kotbus”, the extermination of Jews in the
Baltic towns, in the Ukraine and Byelorussia—all these were car-
ried out in conformity with Rosenberg’s theories and with his
agreement. (R-135, USA 289.) 1In 1937 Rosenberg received the
German national prize. Commenting on this event, the Fasc1st
press wrote as follows (8559-PS, USA 600):

“Alfred Rosenberg has brilliantly succeeded with his books in
building up the scientific and the spiritual foundations of, and
in consolidating and strengthening the philosophy of the Na-
tional-Socialism. Only future generations will be able to appre-
ciate fully the profound influence of this man on the philosoph-
ical foundations of the National-Socialist state.”

But the future became the present. And I am sure that the
Tribunal will be able to appreciate duly not only the influence
exercised by Rosenberg on the ‘“philosophical foundations of the
National-Socialist state”, but also his active participation in all
the crimes against peace and humanity perpetrated by the
Hitlerites.

FRANK

A lawyer by training the defendant Hans Frank was one of
those who liked to speak about reviewing the “ancient German”
law for Germans about “Principles of Justice”, for the “select”
about the “right of the chosen people” to annihilate nations and
countries.
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In 1939, he was the very man, who had been corrupting the
German legal conception for a long time, to whom Hitler en-
trusted the fate of subjugated Poland. Frank arrived in Poland
to realize practically the program of enslavement and extermina-
tion of the people on the territory of a country possessing a
history which had lasted for ages and original high culture.

I should like to remind the Tribunal of some of Frank’s views
expressed during the first months of his stay in Poland, taken
from his so-called “diary”. It is hardly worth while to discuss
with the defense counsel the probative value of this document.

Frank himself declared to the magistrate that ‘“this document
was of historical importance” and to the question “whether all
his statements contained in the diary were true”, he replied “they
fully correspond to what I know.”

On 19th January 1940, Frank declared with cynical frankness
at the conference of the department leaders (USSR-223) “On
15th September 1939, I was entrusted with the task of governing
the conquered eastern territories and received the special order
to ruin this territory ruthlessly as a war territory and a war
trophy and to turn it into a heap of rubble from a point of view
of the social, economic, cultural and: political structure.”

On 31 October 1939, in the presence of Goebbels at a conference
uniting the leading officials of the Government-General, he de-
clared: “A perfectly accurate differentiation must be made be-
tween the German people—the master-race—and the Poles.”

He then remembered the Polish culture which Frank, as defense
counsel Dr. Seidl said here, took so great care of. He stated:
“The Poles can be allowed only those possibilities for educating
themselves which would prove the hopelessness of the destiny of
their nation. Alone, bad films or films demonstrating the might
and greatness of the Germans can be taken into consideration for
the purpose”. (USSR-223)

One of Frank’s first instructions was the order to shoot hos- °
tages. Later on similar orders were to be counted by the hun-
dred and the thousand until they finally culminated in the edition
of “regulations” dated 2 October 1943. (USSR-335)

On 10 November 1989 Frank was informed that the day of
Polish independence was approaching and that posters were to be
hung up on certain houses to remind the Poles of their national
holiday. The following entry then appeared in Frank’s “Diary”:
“The Governor-General decrees that one inhabitant of the male
sex is to be taken from every house on which a poster of this kind
is hung up and is to be shot. The Pole must feel that we do not
intend building a lawful state for him.” The short extract we
are quoting from the speech Frank made at the conference of the
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department-chiefs of the “Government General” characterizes this
Hitlerite “lawyer” far better than lengthy excerpts taken from
his parade speeches which we were obliged to listen to here.
(USSR-335; USSR-223)

The criminal activity of Frank in Poland is so very manifold,
that there is no possibility, in a short speech, to reconstruct to the -
Tribunal the innumerable proofs of Frank’s guilt which have been
submitted in this court room and which are evidently still fresh
in the memory of the judges. But from Frank’s criminal activi-
* ties in Poland we must segregate the predominant trait which is
Frank’s activity as the murderer of millions of people. Of course,
he looted, he was Goering’s Plenipotentiary for the ¥our Year
plan and he looted, so to say, “be it merely in this capacity”.

He sent over 2 million Poles to Germany for forced labor. The
attempt of the defense to represent Frank as ‘“‘the enemy of
coercive methods of recruitment” can be based only on the as-
sumption that nobody excepting counsel had studied Frank’s
diaries. For Frank never can escape documents such as the min-
utes of the meeting of the department leaders dated 12 April
1940, or the notes of Gauleiter Sauckel of the 18 August 1942, or
the transcript of the meeting with Buehler, Krueger and others
of the 21 April. (USSR-223)

But he sent people to forced labor in order to wring them dry
in the interest of the Reich before sending them to their doom.
The regime set up by Hans Frank throughout Poland during all
the stages of the temporary.German domination in this country
was a regime for the inhuman destruction of millions of people
by means of varied, but equally criminal, methods.

It is not merely incidental that the German-Fascist assassins
who annihilated 11 thousand Polish prisoners of war in Katyn
forest should refer to the regime which Frank instituted in
Poland as an example of his own activities (as the Tribunal has
been able to ascertain not so very long ago in this courtroom from
the evidence presented by the former deputy to the mayor of
Smolensk—Prof. Basilevski).

I consider it to be particularly important, at this point, to em-
phasize the conception Frank had of the relations with the Polish
population after the war:

“I insistently draw your attention”, said Frank, “to the fact
that, should peace be concluded, nothing would change in our
treatment. This peace will signify that we, as a world power,
will conduct more firmly than hitherto our general line of policy.
This peace would signify that we will have to carry out coloniza-
tion on a grandiose scale, but the principle will not have changed.”
(USSR-223)
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This was stated in 1940 when Frank was contemplating the
first mass murder of the Polish “intelligentsia”, the so-called
“AB” action.

In 1944, at the meeting of the agricultural leaders. at Zako-
pane Frank said: “If we win the war, then in my opinion we could
.make mince-meat of the Poles and Ukrainians and of all those
who are idling around the Government-General. If only we
keep them in subordination during war-time. Come what may.”
(USSR-223)

It was not Frank’s fault, that as early as in 1944, dreaming
to make “mince-meat” of Poles and Ukrainians he was compelled
to add: “If we win the war”. At this time he couldn’t be as em-
phatic in his utterings as on 2nd August 1943, when at the re-
ception of the Party speakers in the Royal Palace in Cracow he
spoke about the exterminated Polish Jews: “Here we started out
with 3,500,000 Jews, now but a few workers remain from this
number. All the others, we shall some day say, emigrated.”
(USSR-223)

Frank himself as well as his counsel tried.to affirm that the
defendant had known nothing about what was going on at the
concentration camps of the General Government. However, in
this very “Secret report” addressed to Hitler by Frank, which
the defense counsel tried to utilize on behalf of Frank we may
find a confirmation of the fact that Frank was well informed
about what was happening in the camps. It is said there: “Most
of the Polish intellectuals are not susceptible to the influence of
‘the news from Katyn and in answer quote similar atrocities in
Auschwitz”.

Then Frank cites a highly characteristic passage describing the
reaction of the Polish workers to the provoking communications
of the Germans about Katyn: “There are concentration camps
in Auschwitz and Maidanek where mass murder of the Poles was
carried out along chain-production lines”, and further “Today,
unfortunately, the Polish public opinion and not only the intel-
lectuals, compare Katyn to the mass death rate in the German
concentration camps, as well as to the shooting of men, women
and even of children, and old people when carrymg out collective
punishment in the distriets.”

After the “secret report” addressed to Hitler there was no
other “new course” on Frank’s part. On the contrary Frank pub-
lished his regulation of 2nd October 1943, which the defendant
himself termed as “dreadful”, when questioned by his counsel.
After his “regulation” had been carried into effect many thou-
sands of innocent people became hig vietims. The number of
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éxecutions increased steadily till it amounted to 200 persons exe-
cuted at a time in Warsaw.

The same thing happened in the streets of all the Polish towns,
where the so-called “police courts” carried out executions, as it
is said in the text.of the regulation itself, immediately following
the verdiet. The people doomed to die were brought to the place
of execution wearing paper clothing, with their lips glued to-
gether with sticking-plaster, their mouth stuffed with plaster,
bled white in prison. At the state conference held in Cracow
on 16th December 1943, where ¥rank stated with great satisfac-
tion that the executions had “favourable consequences”, an-
other question was simultaneously discussed. In the records of
this conference it is said: “We must discuss the question whether
it is possible to arrange special places of execution, as it has been
established that the Polish population gathers at accessible places
of execution to collect the earth saturated with blood into vessels
which they place in Churches”. (USSR-223)

The defense counsel tried to speak here about interminable dis-
sensions of Frank with the police; he had allegedly disagreed with
their action. Let us see what kind of dissensions these were. The
first “sonder-action” carried ‘out in Poland, namely the AB oper-
ation—a physical extermination of several thousands of Polish
intellectuals—had not been initiated by the police, but had been
initiated by Frank himself. According to the Decree of Hitler
of 2nd May 1942, the director of the police was subordinated to
the Governor-General. When some dissensions between Frank
and the chief of the police did arise, it was Krueger who had to
leave his post of police chief, whereas Frank remained Governor-
General of Poland. As for the Obergruppenfuehrer Koppe who
took the place of Krueger, who else was it but Frank who ex-
pressed his thanks to him on 16th December 1943 for shooting fhe
hostages, “his gratitude for his fruitful work” and noted with
satisfaction “a great specialist is at the head of the police at the
Government-General”. It is incomprehensible about what dis-
sensions concerning the policy Counsel Seidl was talking about.

His counsel even tried to represent Frank as ‘““‘a singularly
peaceful antisemite”’, who entertaining a negative attitude to-
wards the Jewish people never initiated massacres of the Jews or
even instigated same. It is incomprehensible in this case how the
following words of Frank could be interpreted by the counsel:
(USSR-228) “The Jews are a race that should be exterminated.
Wherever we catch even one he shall be done away with”.

_ Or his declaration at the government sitting of 12th August
1942, when he said: “That 1,2 million Jews have been condemned
by us to starvation is quite comprehensible. It stands to reason
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that if these Jews do not die of starvation, this will lead to pre-
éipitated active ‘measures directed against the Jews”.

The criminal activity of the henchman of the Polish nation
led to the extermination of millions of people.

“You see how the state organs are working, you see that they
don’t hesitate before anything and stand up people by the dozen
against the wall”. This is the manner in which Frank himself at
a conference of the Standartenfuehrers held the 18 March 1942
characterized the bloody regime of terror set up throughout
Poland.

“T did not hesitate to declare that.for one German killed up to
a hundred Poles would be shot”—these words were pronounced
by Frank on the 15 January 1944 at a meeting of the political
leaders of the NSDAP. (USSRE-223)

“Had I gone to the Fuehrer and told him: ‘My Fuehrer, I am
reporting to you that I have exterminated another 150,000 Poles’,
he would have said: ‘Perfect, if it was indispensable’ ”—stated on
the 18 March 1944 while making a speech at the Reichshof, that
very same Frank who now tries to convince the Tribunal that he
had some “differences of opinion on matters of principle” with
Hitler and Himmler. (USSE-223.)

~ The declarations that Frank made during the first months of
his stay in Poland were a veritable program of murder which were
perpetrated by the defendant methodically, ruthlessly, and ac-
cording to plan. Frank, of course, was fully aware of the fact
that should war not bring vietory with it, he would have to carry
the full responsibility for the crimes committed in Poland as well
as for his participation in the Fascist conspiracy.

As early as 1943 Frank spoke about this at a meeting with his
accomplices. We must give credit where it is due—as a lawyer
‘he was much more correct in his depiction and formulation of the
concepts of a criminal conspiracy than certain lawyers at this
trial who, basing themselves on outmoded understandings, en-
deavour to dispute the foundation for a conspiracy put forward
by the prosecution.

- It was at this government meeting held in the presence of the
police on the 25 Jahuary 1943 that the Governor-General of that
time declared to “Himmler’s hyenas” (USSR-223): “I would like
to emphasize one point: we must not squirm when we hear of
17,000 people being shot.: These shot people are also victims of
war. Let us remember that all of us assembled here, figure on the
list of criminals of Mr. Roosevelt. I have the honor of being
number one. We have become, so to say, accomplices on a world
history scale. It is exactly for this reason that we have to keep

~, together and must share the same general ideas and it would be
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simply funny if we started to wash our dirty linen in public by
bickering about methods”.

This appeal to murder is very far from the “interminable quar-
rels with the police” which defendant Frank spoke about here.
The defendant made a mistake about one thing: he was incorrect
in defining his place in the dock. But he was not mistaken about
the fundamentals: he took his place in the dock as a “criminal on
a world history scale”.

FRICK

The history of the development of the Nazi movement in Ger-
many and the numerous crimes of the Hitlerites are indissolubly
connected with the name of the defendant Wilhelm Frick.

As Minister of the Interior of the Hitlerite government, Frick
participated in the issuing of numerous laws, decrees and other
acts directed towards the destruction of democracy in Germany,
the persecution of the church, the discrimination against the Jews,
etc. In this capacity, the defendant Frick contributed most
actively to the creation in Germany of the Hitlerite totalitarian
state. During the period of many years, the German secret state
police (Gestapo) which was to acquire a gruesome fame, was sub-
ordinated to the defendant Frick. The order concerning the ex-
termination of aged people and of the insane was issued in 1940
by no other than the defendant Frick.

In his capacity of Minister of the Interior of Hitlerite Germany,
as the witness Gisevius testified to this court, Frick was fully
cognizant of the vast system of concentration camps spread .
throughout the Reich, as well as of the existence in these camps
of an inhuman regime. The part played by the defendant Frick
in the preparation and the realization of the Hitlerite govern-
ment’s aggressive plans was considerable. He was a member
of the State Defense Council as well as Plenipotentiary for Gen-
eral Administration.

All the documents, by which the Hitlerite conspirators legalized
the incorporation by Germany of the seized territories, were
signed, among others, by the defendant Frick. In his capacity of
Protector of Bohemia and Moravia, the defendant Frick bears
personal responsibility for all the crimes committed on that terri-
tory by the Hitlerites.

After the felonious attack of Hitlerite Germany upon the Soviet
Union, the defendant Frick’s Ministry of the Interior participated
most actively in the setting up of the administration in the seized
territories of the USSR. The machinery of the German occupa-
tional authorities in the East was manned mainly by officials of
the Ministry of the Interior.

There is no need to dwell again upon the part played by this
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machinery, which was created with the most active cooperation of
the defendant Frick, in the extermination, the driving into slavery,
and the other inhuman actions carried out against the civilian
population of the occupied territories.

Frick bears full and direct responsibility for all these crimes
‘inasmuch as he was an active participant of the Nazi conspiracy.

STREICHER

Notwithstanding the fact that during the war years, the defend-
ant Julius Streicher did not formally hold functions directly con-
nected with the perpetration of murders and mass executions, it is
hard to overestimate the crimes committed by this man. Together
with Himmler, Kaltenbrunner, Pohl, and those who conceived,
constructed and switched into action the gas chambers and “gas-
wagons”; together with those who personally committed mass
“getions”, STREICHER must bear responsibility for the most
cruel crimes of German Fascism.

The enflaming of national and racial dissension, the cultivation
of depraved cruelty and the calling to murder—all this was not
only the party function of this man, but also the source of his in-
come. And it is not by accident, that in his greeting to Streicher
dated April 1937, and which is already known to the Tribunal,
‘Himmler expressed his high esteem for the merits of “Der Stuer-
mer” and of its publisher. One can consider Streicher as the
actual “spiritual father” of those who quartered the children of
Treblinka. Had it not been for the Stuermer and its publisher,
German Fascism would not have been able to educate at such
short notice those mass cadres of murderers who personally put
into effect the criminal plans of Hitler and his gang by murdering
over 6 million European Jews. Over a period of many years,
Streicher spiritually corrupted the children and youth of Ger-
many. The so-called “children’s editions” of the Stuermer have
been submitted to the Tribunal.

And therefore, together with Baldur von Schirach, Streicher
must bear responsibility for the selection of Jewish children from
the Lvov ghetto, for target practice by the morally depraved
“Hitler-Jugend”. It is not by accident, that von Schirach held
in so high an esteem Streicher’s “historical merits”. The fanatical
“Nurnberg laws” were only the “beginning of the struggle” for
this “judeophobe” (as he called himself) who was also the organ-
izer of the first Jewish pogroms. As the Tribunal can recall, after
these laws were issued, Streicher called for the physical exter-
mination of the Jews in Europe and"he wrote “This problem will
only be solved when world jewery is exterminated”.

I will not dwell again, either, on the shameless and mendacic;us
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“ritual numbers” of the Stuermer, which were to incite the SS
men towards the killing of millions of guiltless persons and to
justify any atrocity directed against the Jews. These proofs of
Streicher’s guilt, which were among others submitted to the
Tribunal, are of common knowledge and not subjected to any
doubt. In 1939 he anticipated Maidanek and Treblinka and wrote
that “perhaps graves alone” will testify to the previous existence
of Jews in Europe. (D-810, GB 332)

In 1943, when the gas chambers of Treblinka and Auschwitz
were already engulfing millions of victims, the Stuermer pub-
lished articles inciting to the liquidation of the ghetto, articles
which were full of lies and maliciousness and finally the Stuermer
could state with sadistical satisfaction that “The Jews of Europe
have disappeared”.

Streicher lied all his life. He attempted to lie, here in Court.
I do not know whether he believed he would be able to deceive any-
body by these lies, or whether he lied from habit or out of fear. .
But it seems to me that it must be apparent, even to the defendant
himself, that his last lie will not deceive anybody and will not
bring him salvation.

SCHACHT

In carrying out a vast and complicated task the defendant,
Hjalmar Schacht played an eminent part in the preparation and
the realization of the criminal plans of the Nazi conspirators.

Schacht’s defense position is extremely simple. If he is to be |
believed, purely patriotic motives drew him to Hitlerisrn. He was
against aggressive wars but for the rearmament of Germany in
order to maintain peace. He was for the return of Germany’s
colonies in view of establishing economic stability in Europe.
Having come to the conviction that the policy of the Nazi gov-
ernment was directed towards an excessive armament and thereby
bore the menace of another world war, Schacht went over to the °
opposition. He sabotaged the measures taken by the Hitlerite
government and as a result he was persecuted as a participant in
the plot against Hitler.

Defendant Schacht strives now to depict the enthusiastic let-
ters, full of expressions of loyalty which he addressed to Hitler,
as a method of camouflaging his real oppositional feelings towards
the Hitlerite regime. Actually, Schacht’s connection with the
Nazi movement begins as early as 1930. Schacht was drawn to
National Socialism and both Hitler and Goering sought Schacht’s
support. Indeed the latter, with his vast connections in Ger-
many’s industrial and financial spheres, could, like nobody else,
render invaluable services to the Nazi movement. And this he
did. As early as August 29, 1932, in a letter to Hitler, Schacht
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assured the latter of his loyalty. These were not mere words,
for more than anybody Defendant Schacht played a decisive part
in Hitler’s advent to power. It was he, Schacht, who organized
the demand formulated by the German industrialists for Hitler
to be named Reich Chancellor. As early as 1932 he, Schacht, de-
clared to von Papen who was then Reich Chancellor of Germany:
“Hand over your post to Hitler”. It was again Schacht who, in
1933, on the eve of the Reichstag elections called the conference
of industrialists which created an election fund of several million
marks for the Nazi Party. (D-203, USA 767)

Hitler’s closest follower, Goebbels, characterizes thus the part
played by Schacht and his importance in the creation of Nazi
Germany. On the 21st of November 1932, he wrote down in his
diary: “In a talk with Dr. Schacht, I came to the conviction that
he fully shares our point of view. He is one of the few who fully
agrees with the position of the Fuehrer.” (2409-PS, USA 262)

In his spring fair speech at Leipzig, on the 4th of March 1935,
the defendant Schacht depicted himself and his part in the Nazi
state: “I can assure you all that I do and all that I say is in full
agreement with the Fuehrer, and that I will do and say nothing
that would not be approved by the Fuehrer. That is why it is the
Fuehrer and not I who is the bearer of ‘economic reason.”

As Schacht expected, Hitler appreciated his merits at their full
value. After his advent to power in 1933 Hitler immediately
nominated Schacht to the post of President of the Reichsbank
and then to the Ministry of Economy, and finally to the post of
Plenipotentiary General on matters of War Economy.

The prosecution and the proceedings have proved the extraor-
dinary part played by Schacht in the preparation of Germany’s
armaments and consequently in the launching of aggressive wars.
The former war minister, von Blomberg, testified that in 1937 the
development plans of the armed forces were close to completion
?.nd that Schacht was informed of these plans and of their financ-

Ing. (Interrogation I, USA 838)

'Schacht was one of the most consistent partisans of the Nazi’s
criminal plans. In a talk with the United States Ambassador
Fuller on the 23rd of September 1936, Schacht stated that: “Ger-
many absolutely needs colonies. If it is possible, we will acquire
them by means of negotiations. If not, we will seize them.”

Speaking in Vienna in March 1938, Schacht declared: “Thank

- God, this could not prevent the great German people from con-
tinuing on its course, because Adolf Hitler unified German will
and German thought. He strengthened it with reinforced armed
forces and in the end he gave an outer shape to the inner unity
~ of Germany and Austria.”
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Defendant Schacht was entrusted with extraordinary powers in
the sphere of war economy. Over a period of many years Schacht
cumulated the functions of Reichsbank President, Minister of
Economy, and Plenipotentiary General of War Economy. Be it
only as a result of these positions, the defendant Schacht played
an enormous and decisive part in the creation and resurrection
of Nazi Germany’s war economy and armed forces. This activity
of the defendant Schacht is clearly described in the numerous
laudatory letters which he received from Hitler.

The defendant Schacht and no other was the creator of the ad-
venturous method of issuing so-called ‘“Mefo bills”, by which
twelve millions of Reichsmarks were signed, aside from the bud-
get assignations, to German economy for rearmament purposes.

As was already stated above, the defendant Schacht attempted,
at various periods of his activity to stress his alleged ever-in-
creasing dissension with the Nazi regime. In reality, Schacht was
carrying out a double game. On one hand, he shielded himself
from the responsibility for the criminal pelicy of the Nazi gov-
ernment by flirting with persons who actually did strive to-over-
throw the Nazi regime, and on the other, he remained loyal to
this regime. It was only in 1943, when the downfall of Nazi Ger-
many became apparent £o such a hard-boiled politician as Schacht,
that he established connection with oppositional circles. How-
ever, true to himself, he took precautions for any event and he
did not actually do anything personally to overthrow the Nazi
regime, and that is why he was spared by Hitler.

That is the portrait of the defendant Schacht, and that is the
part played by him in Hitler’s conspiracy and war crimes. It is
the part of the creator of Nazi Germany’s war economy and of
an instigator of the Second World War launched by the criminal
Nazi government.

FUNK

Walter Funk became a Nazi long before his official admission
in 1931 into the membership of the NSDAP, and he remained a
Nazi up to the end. His economic knowledge, his experience as
a journalist, his extensive connections with the leaders of the
German industry, trade and finance were put by him at the serv-
ice of the Hitlerite conspirators.

An artiele published in the newspaper “Das Reich” on 13 Au-
gust 1940, under the heading “Walter Funk—pioneer of the Na-
tional Socialist thought”, read as follows (USSR-450) “Walter
- Funk was true to his principles because he was, is, and always
will be a true National Socialist, a champion, devoting all his Iabor
to the victory of the Fuehrer’s ideals”. What was meant by
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Fuehrer’s ideals, we already know only too well. Funk devoted
io these “ideals” 15 years of his life.

Funk declared that he had nothing in common with the SS, but
it was he, Funk, who transformed the caves of the Reichsbank
into depositories for the treasures, plundered by the SS men in
the Fastern and other occupied territories. Funk personally gave
orders, after his negotiations with Himmler, to take into the

" Reichsbank the golden tooth plates, the glass rims, and other
valuables belonging: to the victims of numerous concentration
camps, tortured to death.

The Gruppenfuehrer SS Heiler was Funk’s deputy. Under
Funk’s direction operated Ohlendorf, this murderer, who has the
death of 90,000 persons on his conscience.

Funk, supplementing Schacht’s measures, put the whole of
Germany’s economy at the service of the aggressive Hitlerite
plans, and later on the economy of the territories Germans occu-
pied as well. Already in May 1939, Funk, together with his Dep-
uty, Landfried, elaborated plans for the financing of the war and
the utilization of the economic resources of Germany and annexed
Czechoslovakia for war purposes. On 23 June 1939, Funk takes
part in the conference of the Reich Defense Council, which elab-
orated detailed plans for the reconversion of all national economy
to a war footing. (3787-PS, USA 782)

Already at that epoch, Funk was not only informed of Ger-
many’s impending attack on Poland, was not only cooperating in
the realization of this aggressive plan, but was also preparing
economically new wars, the seizure of new territories. Such
were “Fuehrer’s great political aims” which were set out by Funk
a few months later in his article entitled “Economic and Finan-
cial mobilization”.

I shall mention one more document. On 25 August 1939, Funk
wrote to Hitler (699-PS, GB 49): “Feldmarshal Goering told me
that my Fuehrer yesterday evening approved the main points of
the measures conceived by me for the financing of the war, stabil-
ization of prices, fixation of wages, and the organization of sub-
- scription to obligatory donations; this news made me happy”.

A long time before the treacherous attack of Germany against
the USSR, Funk participated in the elaboration of plans for the
spoliation of the riches of the Soviet Union. Funk attached his
collaborators to Rosenberg’s ministry and to the Economic Staff
OST—this predatory organization. Funk’s agents took part also
in the plunder of Czechoslovakia, Jugoslavia, and other occupied
countries. Funk was the president of the “Continental Oil” Com-
bany, which was created for the exploitation by Germans of the
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oil fields in the oceupied Eastern territories, and especially, the
oil fields of Grosny and Baku.

Funk was in full agreement with the predatory aims of the war
launched by Germany against the USSR. He made a speech on 17
December 1941 in Prague, to the effect that the east is the future
German colony. Funk participated at the conference which took
place on 6.8.1942 at Goering’s office, for the discussion of the
most effective measures for the economic plunder of the oceupied
territories of the USSR, Poland, Czechoslovakia, Jugoslavia,
France, Norway, and other countries. At this conference, as
well as at the conference of the “Central Planning Board”, Funk
participated in the elaboration of plans for the deportation to
slavery of millions of people from the occupied territories.

Such are the fundamental stages of the criminal activity of the
Hitlerite conspirator, Defendant Funk—Hitler’s personal adviser
on the economic questions since 1931, Reich Minister and Pleni-
potentiary General for Economic questions, President of the
Reichsbank, and member of the Reich Defense Council, during
the period of the preparations and the realization of the criminal
plan (conspiracy). )

The guilt of Funk, this active participant of Fascist conspiracy
for the realization of crimes against individuals, in war crimes and
crimes against humanity—this guilt has been fully proved and he
must bear the responsibility for the evil deeds perpetrated by him.

SCHIRACH

Since 1931 and until the end of the war, the defendant Baldur
von Schirach was at the head of the Nazi youth.

After the publication of 1st December 1936 of a decree con-
cerning the Hitlerite youth, von Schirach was—in his capacity of
the Reich leader of youth—directly subordinated to Hitler. In
his depositions before the Court, the defendant Schirach, in his
efforts to avoid the responsibility for the education of the German
youth in the spirit of National Socialist ideas, made frequent
references to the fact that “Hitlerjugend” was a youth organiza-
tion independent of the Nazi Party and the Hitlerite government.

For the purposes of his defense, the defendant Schirach deemed
it possible and relevant to refer to the great Goethe, whose words
“the youth itself educates young people” were utilized by Schirach
with open eynicism. Goethe was, of course, right when he said
that “the youth itself educates the young people”. But he meant
the healthy, full value, joyful youth, and not youth corrupted with
the obscurantism of the Hitlerism, described clearly by the words
of Hitler addressed to Rauschning (USSR-3878): “We shall edu-
cate youth before which the whole world shall tremble—rough,
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exaecting, cruel youth. That is what I want. Our youth must be
1n the possession of all these qualities.” It must be without pity
pefore suffering. It must be without weakness or softness. 1
want to see a glint of the wild animal in its eye.” And the de-
fendant Schirach instilled systematically the ideas of Hitlerism
-in the conscience of German youth and educated the German
youth in the spirit of Hitler's wishes, modelling them after the
image of the grown-up leaders of the Hitlerite band.

During cross-examination, the defendant Schirach was, at the
end, forced to admit that the German youth was brought up in
the spirit of National Socialist ideas, that members of the SA,
officers of the German armed forces, and the SS, participated in
its education, and that intense preparation of the youth for war
was being carried out in Germany. For this purpose, special
agreements were made between the Reich leaders of “Hitler-
jugend” and the OKW, as represented by the defendant Keitel and
the Reichsfuehrer Himmler, which made provisions for the edu-
cation of youth in the spirit of aggressive militarism and appro-
priate enlistment and the preparation of youth for the German
armed forces and the SS units. '

The part taken by the defendant von Schirach and his partici-
pation in the common conspiracy, in war crimes, and crimes
against humanity -are best of all characterized by the behavior
of the German youth brought up in “Hitlerjugend” during the
war.

The Soviet prosecution has presented to the Tribunal under
USSR-6, in conformity with Article 21 of the Charter, a report
of the Extraordinary State Commission about the crimes of the
Germans on the territory of Lwow region. This report records
the declaration of the French citizen, Ida Wasseaux about the
inhuman execution by the members of the “Hitlerjugend” of
young children, of whom they made targets for shooting. In her
written deposition of 18 May 1946, and also in her answer to the
questionnaire of Counsel for the defendant Schirach, Ida Was-
seaux confirmed this declaration in full. (USSR-455)

Conclusive testimony about the actions of the members of the
“Hitlerjugend” in the cadre of the German armed forces were
given by 'a German soldier, war-prisoner, Hertom Knitel, himself
a former member of the ‘“Hitlerjugend” since 1936 and who at
the age of 18 was recruited into the German army in 1942. De-
seribing his participation in numerous crimes, Hert Knitel, de-
clared (USSR-454): “In the locality of Lishaisk, our company
set on fire in June 1943 a house with all the people who were in
it. * * * A]] those tried to jump out of the house, we shot
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down excepting one old woman whom we did not shoot down,
as she lost her mind before our very eyes. * * *”

For all these crimes, the defendant von Schirach bears full re-
sponsibility together with Hert Knitel and thousands of others,
Schirach himself did not, of course, shoot, did not set on fire but
he armed the German youth, morally corrupted it, and prepared
it for the realization of any atrocity. But the activity during the
war of the “Hitlerjugend” and the defendant Schirach was not -
limited to these crimes only.

The “Hitlerjugend” took an active part in the preparation of
the war of aggression by the creation of fifth columns in Poland
and Yugoslavia; the official reports of the Polish and the Yugo-
slav Governments testify to this fact.” The Organization “Hitler-
jugend” took an active part in the execution of all the measures
undertaken by the Ministry for Occupied Eastern Territories, and
this is shown by the report of the defendant Rosenberg, presented
to the Tribunal; it participated also in the deportation for slavery
from the occupied territories of children between the ages of 10
and 14, which fact is proved by a document presented to the Tri-
bunal under 1031-PS. ’

In his capacity of Reich Deputy and Gauleiter of Vienna,
Schirach directed personally the eviction of 60,000 Jews from
Vienna, and who afterwards were exterminated in the concentra-
tion camps of Poland. The documents presented by the Prosecu-
tion—weekly reports addressed to Schirach—prove the fact that
he was informed of all the numerous crimes perpetrated by the
German armed forces and the occupation authorities in the East,
and, in particular, about the tragic fate of the tens of thousands
of Jews deported from Vienna.

In 1940, the defendant Schirach sent a telegram to Bormann in
which he demanded the destruction from the air of one of the cul-
tural towns of Great Britain, in answer to the murder of Hey-
drich, that butcher of Bohemia and Moravia. This telegram is
in itself a sufficiently vivid and convineing description of the
moral aspect of von Schirach.

Faithful to the Hitlerite clique, right to the end, aware of all
its criminal deeds in which he himself took an active part—the
defendant von Schirach is one of the most sinister figures of the .
third Reich.

SAUCKEL

I have already indicated in my Opening Statement that the
action of deporting civilians—men, women, and children for forced
labor into Germany—was one of the most important in the chain
of heinous crimes committed by the German-Fascist usurpers.
The decisive role in this sinister crime was enacted by the de-
fendant Fritz Sauckel.
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During cross-examination in this court-room defendant Sauckel
could not help but admit that during the war about 10 million en-
glaved laborers originating from both occupied territories and
from the ranks of prisoners of war, were utilized in German in-
dustrial undertakings and also partly for German agricultural
labor. Whilst admitting the deportation to Germany and the
utilization for the war industry of Hitlerite Germany of millions
of workers from the occupied territories, Sauckel denied the
criminal character of this action, affirming that the recruiting of
labor was allegedly carried out on a voluntary basis. This asser-
tion is not only a lie but a slander against the millions of honest
patriots of the Soviet Union, of Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia,
Poland, France and Holland who, devoted ‘to their country, were
forcibly sent for labor into Hitlerite Germany.

The attempts of defendant Sauckel to depiet his part of pleni-
potentiary general for the utilization of manpower as merely con-
sisting of coordinating and controlling other government labor
organizations are futile. As the plenipotentiary general for labor
employment, Sauckel was invested by Hitler with supreme and
all-encompassing powers, and was, in his activity, directly and
personally subordinate to Goering.

And Sauckel extensively used these full powers in order to de-

port to Germany labor from occupied territories.
- There is no need to refer to the extensive documentary evidence
presented to the Tribunal and which irrefutably establishes the
criminal character of the methods of mass deportation into slav-
ery of the population of occupied territories as well as the role of
the defendant Sauckel in organizing these crimes. How far
these crimes extended is shown in the operation carried out.by
the German military and civil authorities, and ciphered under the
name “Seno” which provided for the forced deportation of
Ukrainian girls' destined by Hitler for Germanisation. (031-PS,
USA 171; USSR-365; 025-PS, USA 698) The defendant Sauckel
has tried to assure the Tribunal that he had strictly complied
with the demands of the Geneva and Hague Conventions concern-
ing utilization of labor of prisoners of war. However his own in-
structions fully expose his lies.

The defendant Sauckel had planned beforehand the forced
utilization of Soviet war prisoners for the war industry in Ger-
many and never made any difference between them and the ci-
V'.ilian labor forces. The inhuman conditions under which the-for-
elgn workers and prisoners of war deported for slavery lived
are testified to by the numerous documents submitted as evidence.
The defendant Sauckel himself was obliged to admit that foreign
workers were kept in camps behind barbed wire and were obliged
to. wear special identifying badges.

744400—47—18

249



The witness Dr. Wilhelm Eger summoned to the Tribunal by
counsel for the defense was obliged to give an awful picture of
the conditions under which the enslaved workers at Krupp’s
work lived. After all this, the deposition of the other witness
Fritz Wishofer seems ridiculous because trying to excuse Sauckel,
he manifestly overdid it by informing the Tribunal that he al-
legedly saw foreign workers walking and enjoying themselves in
the Prater in Vienna.

The defendant Sauckel showed great activity in committing
all these crimes. In April 1943, he personally visited the towns
of Rowno, Kiev, Dniepropetrovsk, Saporozhie, Simferopol, Minsk,
Riga and, in June of the same year, Prague, Cracow and again
Kiev, Saporozhie, and Melitopol in order to force the deportation
of labor. And it was as a result.of his journey to the Ukraine in
1943 that Sauckel expressed his gratitude for the successful mo-
bilization of labor forces, to the Reichskommissar of the Ukraine
Koch, known for the drastically cruel measures which he applied
with regard to the Ukrainian population.

And it is not mere chance that the criminal activity of Sauckel
was so highly appreciated in Hitlerite Germany. On 6th August
1942 the defendant Goering declared at the conference of the
Reichskommissars for the occupied territories: -

“I do not wish to praise Gauleiter Sauckel. He does not
need it. But what he has done in this short time in order to
gather workers rapidly and to have them brought to our enter-
prises is a unique achievement. I must tell everybody, gentle-
men, that if each of you applied but the tenth part of the en-
ergy which Gauleiter Sauckel applied in his sphere, it would be
easy indeed to fulfil the tasks imposed upon you. * * *”

In the article published in the Reichsarbeitsblatt for 1944 and
dedicated to the 50th anniversary of Sauckel it was said:

“True to his political task, he pursues his responsible course
with unyielding consistency and steadfastness, with a fanatical
belief. As one of the most faithful adherents of Hitler, he
gathers his creative and spiritual strength from the Fuehrer’s
trust in him.”

When estimating the eriminal activity of Sauckel, Your Honors
will surely consider the tears shed by the millions of people who
languished in German slavery, of the thousands.of people tor-
tured in inhuman conditions in the workers’ camps—they will
congsider this and will judge accordingly.
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SEYSS-INQUART

The defendant Artur Seyss-Inquart was appointed by Hitler
Chief of the civil administration in Southern Poland at the begin-
ning of September 1939 and, since 12 October of the same year,
Deputy Governor General of Poland. He held this post till May
1940.

Over a period of seven months Seyss-Inquart personally, under
the leadership of Frank and jointly with him, established a regime
of terror in Poland, and took an active part in elaborating and
realizing the plans for the extermination of many thousands of
people, for the economic plunder and enslavement of the people of
the Polish state. On 17 November, 1939, Seyss-Inquart addressed
the chiefs of the administration and departments of the Warsaw
Government. He mentioned among other things, that when the
German administration acted in the General Government “its
leading principle must be the interests of the German Reich. By
means of a severe and unrelenting administration this region
must be utilized for German economy, and in order not to show
any unnecessary charity, one must remember how the Polish race
usurped the German territory.” Two days later Seyss-Inquart
instructed the Lublin Governor Brigadenfuehrer Schmidt on the
same question in the following way: “The resources and the in-
habitants of this country must serve Germany, and they may
prosper only within these limits. The development of inde-
pendent political thinking cannot be permitted. Perhaps the Vis-
tula will have an even greater significance for the fate of Germany
than the Rhein.”

The report on the official journey of Seyss-Inquart establishes
that the governor of Warsaw Fischer informed the defendant
that all valuables of the Warsaw bank in gold, precious metals,
and bills of exchange were transferred to the Reichsbank, while
the Polish inhabitants were obliged to leave their deposits in the
banks; that he was informed that the German administration was
employing forced labor; that the Lublin Governor Schmidt de-
clared in the presence of Seyss-Inquart: “This territory with
its strongly marked swampy nature could serve as a region for
the Jews, where conditions could be created to shoot every tenth
Jew.” 1 draw the attention of the Tribunal to the fact that it was
exactly at Maidanek near Lublin that the Hitlerite henchmen
created an enormous death concern in which they exterminated
about one million and a half human beings.

It is also known that Seyss-Inquart, as Frank’s deputy, fulfilled
on his behalf so-called “special tasks”. On 8th December 1939,
Seyss-Inquart participated in a conference on the following sub-
jects: the appointment of Frank as authorized Plenipotentiary
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for the 4 Year Plan and the tasks of the Governor General “ig
obtain from the economy of the Government-General all that is
best and useful for the Reich”; on the numerous trains of Jewsg
and Poles which had arrived since the 1st of December from the
re-annexed territories, and that these transportations would con-
tinue—according to Obergruppenfuehrer SS Krueger—till the
middle of December; the issue of supplementary order extending
labour recruitment to persons of the age of 14 to 18 years.

On 21st April 1940 the defendant took part in the conference at
which measures for forced deportation of Polish workers to Ger-
many were elaborated. (USSR-223). On 16 May 1940 the de-
fendant participated in the elaboration of the AB operation,
which was nothing but a plan of wilful mass extermination of the
Polish intelligensia.

In connection with the appointment of Seyss-Inquart as Reichs-
kommissar for the Netherlands, Frank and his worthy deputy
exchanged farewell speeches:

“I am exceedingly glad”, said Frank, “to assure you that the
memory of your work in the Government General will live for-
ever when the future world Reich of the German nation will be
created. * * *¥7

“I have”, Seyss-Inquart replied, “learned much here above all
about the initiative and firm leadership of the kind I saw in my
friend, Dr. Frank.

“All my thoughts are connected with the East. In the East
we have a Naticnal-Socialist mission, in the West we have func-
tions.”

The function of Seyss-Inquart in the West, as the functions of
other Reich ministers and Kommissars in all territories occupied
by the Germans, are well known. It was the function of hench-
man and plunderer,

My colleagues have given the details about the criminal part
played by Seyss-Inquart when annexing Austria and realizing
other aggressive plans of the Hitlerite conspiracy; they have
clearly shown how Seyss-Inquart applied in the Netherlands the
sanguinary experiment, learned by him whilst collaborating with
Frank in Poland. For this reason I may fully support the charges
against’ Seyss-Inquart as they are formulated in the Indictment.

YON PAPEN

As early as 1932, while still Reichschancellor of the German
republic, the defendant Franz von Papen actively contributed to
the development of the Fascist movement in Germany. Papen
rescinded the decree of his predecessor Bruening prohibiting the
activities of the SA storm units. It was he who overthrew the
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Braun-Severing social-democratic government in Prussia. These
measures strengthened greatly the position of the Fascists and
contributed to their accession to power. In this manner Papen
cleared the way for Hitler. Having secured the power for the
Nazis, Papen himself assumed the post of Vice-Chancellor in
Hitler’s cabinet. In this capacity von Papen participated in the
elaboration and the promulgation of a series of legislative acts
which aimed at the consolidation of German Fascism. And later
on, during the course of many years, and until the collapse of
Hitlerite Germany, von Papen remained true to his Fascist friends
and participated to the utmost of his abilities in the realization
of the criminal conspiracy.

The defendant von Papen is attempting now to explain away
his role in the development of the Nazi movement and in Hitler’s
rise to power by the political situation of the country which,
according to him, made Hitler’s accession to power unavoidable.
The real motives which guided von Papen are that actually he
‘himself . was a convinced Fascist devoted to Hitler.

~Speaking at Essen on the 2 November 1933, during the election
campaign Papen declared:

“From the time that destiny called upon me to become the
pioneer of the national reawakening and rebirth of our Father-
land, I strove with all my might to support the work of the
National-Socialist movement and all of its leaders. Just as I
pronounced myself, when I became chancellor, for paving the way
for the young shock movement of liberation, just as on the 30th
January I was chosen by a merciful providence to transfer the
power to the hands of our Chancellor and Fuehrer, so today 1
felt it incumbent upon me to tell the German nation and all those
who have kept their trust in me; merciful God has blessed Ger-
many by giving her, in the days of deep distress, a leader with
the reliable intuition of a statesman, who will lead het through
all misfortunes and weaknesses, through all crisis and dangers to
a happy future.”

The International Military Tribunal will appreciate to the full
the criminal activity of the Defendant von Papen, who played a
decisive part in the seizure of power by Hitler and, in doing so,
contributed to the creation of the dark powers of Nazism who
brought sanguinary wars on the world and caused innumerable
calamities. :

SPEER

Long before the Nazi came to power the architect, Albert Speer,
Was a personal friend of the architect’s draftsman, Hitler and
remained one till the end. Not only common professional interests
but political interests brought them together. Speer began his
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career in 1932 with the reconstruction of the “Brown House”, the
- headquarters of NSDAP in Berlin, and 10 years later he was at
the head of all the military constructions and war production in
Fascist Germany. Starting with the construction of the Reichs
“Parteitag”, Speer ended by setting up the “Atlantic Wall”. Speer
held an important post in the government and military machinery
of Hitler’s Germany and played a direct and active part in plan-
ning and bringing into effect the criminal conspiracy.

What is Speer’s “line of defense” at the trial? Speer presents
his case in the following way: he was pressed upon by Hitler to
take on the post of minister; he was a close friend of Hitler’s,
but he knew nothing about his plans; he was a member of the
Nazi Party for 14 years, but he stood far from politics and had
never even read “Mein Kampf”. It is true that upon being given
the lie Speer confessed that he had lied during his preliminary
interrogation. Speer lied when he denied that he had never be-
longed to the SA, and then to the SS. The Tribunal possesses the
original file of the SS man Albert Speer, who belonged to the per-
sonal staff of the SS Reichsfuehrer SS Himmler. (8568-PS, USA
575)

Speer held also a rather high rank in the Nazi party. In the
party chancellery he was delegate for all technical problems, he
headed the chief technical administration of the party, he directed
the union of German National Socialist technicians, he was pleni-
potentiary on the Staff of Rudolf Hess, and a leader of one of the
major German Labor Front organizations.

After all this, can Speer’s declaration that he was a political
specialist be taken into consideration? In reality, as a close col-
laborator of Hitler, Hess, Ley, and Goering, he directed the Ger-
man technique not only as Reichsminister, but also as a Nazi
political leader.

Upon succeeding to Todt, Speer, as he expressed himself in hi§
speech before the Gauleiters, devoted himself completely to the
solution of war problems. (1485-PS) By means of the pitiless
exploitations of the population in the occupied territories and of
the prisoners of war of the allied countries, at the expense of the
health and lives of hundreds of thousands of people, Speer in-
creased the production of armament and ammunition for the Ger-
man army. By plundering the raw materials and other resources
of the occupied territories, Speer increased the war potential of
Hitler’s Germany. His powers grew with every month of the
war. By Hitler’s decree of 2 September 1943, Speer became
plenipotentiary and responsible for the supply of raw materials,
for the direction and production of war industry. He was even
commissioned to regulate the turnover of commodities and by
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Hitler's decree of August 24, 1944, Speer was practically made
dictator of all German authorities in Germany as well as in the
oceupied territories whose activity was in any way connected with
the strengthening of German military power. _And when the
TFascist flyers bombed peaceful towns and villages, killing women,
old nien, and children, when the German artillery shelled Lenin-
grad w‘ith heavy artillery, when the Hitlerlite pirates sank hos-
" pital ships, when the “V” bombs destroyed towns in England, all
this was as a result of Speer’s activity. Under his leadership, the
production of gas and of other means of chemical warfare was
widely increased. The defendant himself, when interrogated by
Justice Jackson at the trial, confessed three factories were turn-
ing out products for chemical warfare and that they were work-
ing at full speed till November 1944,

Speer not only knew of the methods used by Sauckel for deport-
ing to slave labor the populations of the occupied territories, but
he himself took part, together with Sauckel, in conferences with
Hitler and on the “Central Planning Board”, where decisions
~ were taken to deport millions of people to Germany from the occu-

pied territories. (7292-PS, USA 225)

Speer kept up a close contact with Himmler; he received from
Himmler prisoners for work in war factories; branches of con-
centration ecamps were organized in many factories subordinated
to Speer; in recognition of Himmler’s services Speer supplied the
SS with experienced specialist and with supplementary war equip-
ment,.

‘Speer has said a lot here about his having sharply criticized
Hitler’s environment, that he had allegedly had very serious dis-
sensions with Hitler, and that in his letter to Hitler he had written
about the uselessness of continuing the war. When the representa-
tive of the Soviet Prosecution asked Speer which of the persons
close to Hitler he had criticized and in what connection,~the de-
fendant answered: “I shall not tell you”. It is quite evident that
Speer not only did not want, but could not tell it, for the simple.
reason that he had never criticized anyone who was close to Hit-
ler. Moreover, he could not criticize them as he was a convinced
Nazi himself and belonged to this close environment. As to the so-
called “serious dissensions”, they began as Speer admitted, when
it became clear to him that Germany had lost the war. Speer’s let-
ters to Hitler are dated March 1945. At that time Speer could,
Without great risk, depict Germany’s hopeless condition. It was
apparent to everyone and was no longer a subject of discussion.
And it was not by accident that Hitler appointed precisely Speer,
on 80 March 1945, to direct measures for the total destruction
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of the industrial enterprises, by obliging all Party, State, and
military offices to rerder him extensive help.

That is the true picture of the defendant Speer and the real
part played by him in the crimes committed by Hitler’s gang.

YON NEURATH

Constantine von Neurath’s part in the consolidation of the
Nazi conspirators, power and in the preparation and realization of
aggressive plans is a remarkable one.

Over a period of many years, every time that traces had to
be covered up, that acts of aggression were to be veiled by diplo-
matic manipulations, Neurath, Nazi diplomat and SS general,
came to the help of the Hitlerites, bringing them his longstanding
experience of world affairs.

I will recall the official evaluation of Neurath’s activity; as
it appeared in all the newspapers of Fascist Germany on the 2nd
of February 1943 (USSR-485): “The departure from the Gen--
eva disarmament conference on the 14th October 1983, the return
of the Saar territory, and the proclamation and denunciation of
the Locarno Treaty will rank among the most outstanding polit-
ical events since the coming to power of the Nazi regime. In
these, Baron von Neurath played a decisive part and his name will
always be connected with them.”

In his capacity of Reich protector of Bohemia and Moravia,
Neurath was to the Nazi conspirators those so-called “firm and re-
liable hands” of which General Frederici wrote in his memoran-
dum, and which were to turn the Czechoslovak republic into an
“indissoluble part of Germany”. In order to attain that object,
Neurath established the notorious ‘“new order”, the nature of
which is now known to all and sundry.

Neurath attempted to assert, here, that all the atrocities were
committed by the police and Gestapo, upon Himmler’s direct

“order, and that he knew nothing of them. It is quite understand-
able that Neurath should say so, but one can hardly agree with
him. Interrogated on the 7 March 1946, Karl Frank testified that
Neurath received regularly the reports of the Chief of Security
Police, as well as those of Frank himself, regarding the “most im-
portant events in the Protectorate pertaining to the Security Po-
lice”. He stated also that it was possible for Neurath to issue
directives to the Gestapo, and that he did indeed do so; while, as
far as the SD was concerned, his rights were still more vast de-
pending in no way upon the consent of the Main Reich Security
Office (USSE-494).

I wish also to recall to your memory, paragraphs 11, 13, and
14 of the order issued on 1 September 1939 by the Reich Defense
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Council which prove that the Reichsfuehrer SS and Chief of the
German Police carried out administrative measures in Bohemia
and Moravia with the knowledge of the Reich Protector, and that
the German Security Police organs in the Protectorate were
obliged to inform the Reich Protector, as well as the offices sub-
ordinated to him, and keep them aware of all major events.

If T add that, on 5 May 1939, the defendant Neurath appointed
an SD Fuehrer and Plenipotentiary of the Security Police to the
post of political case reporter in his cabinet; if we recall the testi-
mony of Richard Wienert, the former Premier of Bohemia and
Moravia under Neurath, which has been read before the Court, to
the effect that the Gestapo carried out arrests on orders of the
Reich. Protector, we can hardly have any doubt but that Neurath
gave his sanction to the mass arrests, summary executions, and
other inhuman acts, committed by the Gestapo and police in
Czechoslovakia.

I will pass on to the events of the 17 November 1939, when 9
students were shot without trial, while over a thousand were
hurled into concentration camps and all the Czech high schools
and universities were closed for three years. Neurath said that
he heard of these acts of terror post factum. But we have submit-
ted to the Tribunal a report on the shooting and arrests of the
students which bears Neurath’s signature. Neurath then seeks
-another loop-hole; he declares that Frank signed this report in
his, Neurath’s name, and to be more convincing he even-adds, that
later he heard from 4dn official that Frank often misused his name
‘in documents. Are Neurath’s statements to be credited? One has
only to analyze briefly the actual facts in order to answer this
question in the negative. Neurath says that Frank misused his
name. What did Neurath do in answer to this? Did he demand
Frank’s resignation or his punishment for fraud? No. Did he,
perhaps, report this forgery officially, to somebody? Neither.
On the contrary, he continued to collaborate with Frank as be-
fore. Neurath says that he heard of Frank’s misuses from an
official. Who is that official? What is his name? Why wasn't
any application made to call him to the witness stand or, at least,

“to secure his written testimony? This is simply because nobody
Spoke to Neurath of Frank having forged his signature on the
documents, and nobody could have done so for fhere was no
forgery. .

‘But on the contrary, the Tribunal has evidence which confirms
the fact that the report of 17 November 1939 was signed by
Neurath and that the terroristical measures mentioned therein
were actually sanctioned by Neurath. I am speaking of two state-
ments of Karl Frank, who directly participated in these bloody
events. During his interrogation on 26 November 1945, Karl
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Frank testified (USSR-60): ‘“This document was dated 17 No-
vember 1989 and was signed by von Neurath, who did not protest
either against the shooting of the 9 students or against the de-
portation of numerous students to the concentration camps.”

I quote Karl Frank’s second testimony on this matter, dated 7
March 1946 (USSR-494) : “By countersigning the official reports
which informed him of the shooting of the students, the Reich
Protector von Neurath, sanctioned this action. I informed von
Neurath in detail of the course of the investigation and he signed -
the report. Had he not agreed and had he demanded a modifica-
tion of the penalty, or its mitigation, and he had a right to do so,
I would have been obliged to give in to his opinion”.

In August 1939, in connection with the “special decree” by
which he proclaimed Bohemia and Moravia to be an ‘“integral
part of the Greater German Reich”, Neurath issued a so-called
“warning”. Therein he stipulated that “not only single persons, :
but the entire Czech population would be responsible for all acts
of sabotage”. Thereby he established the principle of collective
responsibility and introduced the hostage system. The events of
17 November 1939, considered in the light of this directive of
Neurath, supply more irrefutable proof against the defendant.
(USSR-490)

Starting from 1 September 1939, some 8,000 Czechs were ar-
rested as hostages in Bohemia and Moravia! The majority were
sent to concentration camps; many were executed, or died of
hunger and torture. On this subject you have heard, Your
Honors, the testimonies of Weinert, Kreitchi, and Gavelka. There
is no doubt that these terror acts against the Czech intellectuals
were carried out in conformity with Neurath’s” so-called
“warning”.

I do not need to relate in detail all the events which occurred at
Lidice, and later in the village of Lejaki, as they are already well
known. Were not the German occupants acting in accordance
with Neurath’s “warning”, did they not conform themselves to
his principle that the entire Czech population, and not the indi-
vidual personsy must bear the responsibility?

It was Neurath who initiated mass terror against the Czecho-
slovak population in August 1939. He has on his hands the blood
of many thousands of women and men, children and old people,
murdered and tortured to death, and I see no difference between
Baron von Neurath and the other ringleaders of the criminal Nazi
regime. :
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FRITZSCHE

The defendant Hans Fritzsche’s part in conspiracy, the war

crimes, and the crimes against humanity is certainly greater than
it might appear at a first glance.
" The criminal activity of Fritzsche, who was Goebbels’ closest
assistant, carried out systematically day after day, was a very
important link in the general plan or conspiracy and it contributed
singularly to the creation of the conditions, under which the
numerous crimes of the Nazis were conceived and cultivated, All
the attempts made by the defendant himself and his counsel in
order to minimize his importance and the part he played in the
perpetration of these crimes have clearly failed.

In “Mein Kampf”, Hitler describes the very special part attrib-
uted in Nazi Germany to mendacious propaganda. He writes:
“The problem of the resurrection of German might can be defined
not as to ‘How we will make weapons’ but ‘How we will create the
spirit which will make our people capable of bearing weapons’. If
this spirit invades the people, will power shall discover thousands
of ways, and each of them will lead to weapons”. (Quote from
pages 365-366 of “Mein Kampf”, 64th ed. 1933.)
 Neither is it an accident that at the 1936 Congress of the Nazi
Party in Nurnberg, the following slogans were proclaimed:

“Propaganda helped us to come to power”.
“Propaganda will help us to keep power”.
“Propaganda will help us to conquer the world”.

© Owing to his position, the defendant Fritzsche was certainly
one of the notorious propagandists and also one of the best in-
formed persons in Nazi Germany. Besides, he enjoyed Goebbels’
particular confidence.

As we know, from 1938 to 1942, Fritzsche was head of one of
the key departments of the Propaganda Ministry, that of the
German press. And ever since 1942 and until the defeat of Nazi
Germany, he was head of the German radio.

Having grown up as far as journalism is concerned, in the re-
actionary press of Hugenberg, Fritzsche, who was a member of
the Nazi Party since 1933, in his capacity of Government spokes- .
man, played with his personal propaganda an important part in
the dissemination of Nazism throughout Germany, in the political
and moral depravation of the German people. This was testified
to, in detail, by witnesses.such as former Fieldmarshal Ferdinand
Schoerner and former vice-admiral Hans Voss ( USSR—472)
USSR-471)

The defendant Fritzsche’s broadcasts, taken down by the BBC,
and submitted to the Tribunal as document 3064-PS and USSR
Exhibit 496 fully confirm these charges of the Prosecution.
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German propaganda in general, and the defendant Fritzsche
in particular, made good use of provocational methods, lies and
slanderous statements, and this was especially the case when
Nazi Germany’s acts of aggression had to be justified. For did
not Hitler himself write in “Mein Kampf” that, page 302: “With
the help of an able and continuous application of propaganda,
one can even picture to the people, heaven as being hell, and on
the contrary, the most sorrowful life can be pictured as heaven.”
Fritzsche turned out to be the best man to carry out this dirty
work. In his declaration to the Tribunal, on the 7 January 1946,
Fritzsche gave a-detailed description of the provocative methods
applied on such a vast scale by German propaganda and by him,
personally, in connection with the aects of aggression against
Austria, the Sudetenland, Bohemia and Moravia, Poland and
Jugoslavia.

On 9 April and 2 May 1940, Fritzsche broadcast mendacious ex-
planations of the reasons which led to the oceupation of N orway
by Germany. He declared: ‘“Nobody was wounded, not one
house was destroyed, life and work continued unhindered as be-
fore.” Meanwhile, the official report presented by the Norwegian
Government states: “The German attack against Norway on 9
April 1940, brought war to Norway for the first fime in 126 years.
For 2 months war was fought throughout the country, causing
destruction. Over 40 thousand houses were damaged or destroyed
and about 1000 civilians were killed.”

German propaganda and Fritzsche, personally, spread insolent
slander in connection with the sinking of the British passenger
steamer “Athenia”. .

But German propaganda was particularly active on the occasion
of Nazi Germany’s felonious attack upon the Soviet Union.

The defendant Fritzsche has attempted to assert that he first
heard of the attack upon the Soviet Union when he was called on
22 June 1941 at 5 a.m. to a press conference held by Foreign Min-
ister von Ribbentrop. As far as the aggressive purposes of this
%ttack were concerned, he allegedly only had knowledge of them,
as a result of his personal observations, in 1942. However, those
statements are disavowed by such documentary evidence as the
report of defendant Rosenberg. (1089-PS, USA 146) This docu-
ment establishes the fact that a long time prior to the attack upon
the USSR, Fritzsche knew of the appropriate measures which
were being taken and that in his capacity of representative of the
Propaganda Ministry, he participated in the working out by the
Ministry for Occupied Eastern Territories of propaganda meas-
ures in the East.

In answer to the questions put to him by the Soviet Prosecution
during his cross-examination, Fritzsche stated that he would not
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have gone along with Hitler had he had knowledge of the Nazi
government’s criminal orders of which he heard for the first time
here in Court. And here again, Fritzsche has -told the Inter-
national Military Tribunal a lie. He was compelled to admit that -
e had knowledge of the criminal Nazi orders regarding the ex-
termination of Jews and the shooting of Soviet commissars as
early as 1942. And yet he continued thereafter to remain at h1s
post and to spread mendacious propaganda.

In his broadcasts on 16 June and 1 July 1944, Fritzsche made
a great case of the utilization of new weapons, doing his best to
whip up the army and the people to further senseless resistance
(USSR-496).

And even on the eve of the crash of Nazi Germany, specifically
" on 7 April 1945, Fritzsche broadcast an appeal to the German
people to continue to resist the allied armies and to participate
in the Werwolf-movement.

Thus, the defendant Fritzsche remained true to the last to the
criminal Nazi regime. He gave his entire self to the task of real-
izing the Nazi conspiracy and of perpetrating all the crimes
which were conceived and carried out in view of putting that con-
spiracy into effect.

" As an active participant of all the Nazi crimes, he must bear
the fullest responsibility for them.

Your Honours, All the defendants have passed before you—
men without honour or conscience; men, who hurled the world
into an abyss of misery and suffering and brought enormous
calamities upon their own people.

Political adventurers, who stopped before no evil deed in order
to achieve their criminal designs; cheap demagogues, who con-
cealed their predatory plans behind a veil of mendacious ideas;
henchmen, who murdered millions of innocent people, these
men joined in a gang of comspirators, seizing power and trans-
forming the German state machinery into an instrument of their
crimes.

Now, the hour of reckomng has come. For the past nine
months, we have been observing the former rulers of Fascist
Germany. In the dock, before this Court, they have suddenly
become meek and humble. Some of them, even, actually con-
demned Hitler. But they blame Hitler, not for the launching of
a war, not for the extermination of peoples, and.the plundering of
states; the only thing they cannot forgive him is Defeat. To-
gether with Hitler, they were ready to exterminate millions of
human beings, to enslave the elite of mankind in order to achieve
their criminal aim of world domination.

But History judged otherwise; victory did not follow upon
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the steps of Crime. Victory came to the freedom-loving nations,
Truth triumphed, and we are proud to say that the justice which
is meted out by the International Military Tribunal will be the
justice of the right cause of peace-loving nations.

The defense spoke about humaneness. We know that the con-
cepts of civilization and humaneness, democracy and humane-
ness, peace and humaneness are inseparable. But we, the de-
faders of civilization, democracy and peace—we categorically
reject insensible humaneness which is considerate of the mur-
derers and indifferent to their victims. Counsel for Kaltenbrun-
ner also spoke here of love for one’s fellow-men. Connected with
Kaltenbrunner’s name and actions, all mention of love for one’s
. fellow man sounds like blasphemy.

My Lord, Your Honours, My statement concludes the case for
the Prosecution. Speaking here on_behalf of the peoples of the
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, I consider all the charges
against the defendants as fully proven.

And in the name of the sincere love of mankind which inspires
the peoples who consented to the greatest sacrifices in order to
save the world, freedom, and culture, in memory of the millions
of innocent human beings slaughtered by a gang of murderers,
who are now before the Court of a progressive mankind, in the
name of the happiness and the peaceful labor of future genera-
tions, I appeal to the Tribunal to sentence all the defendants,
without exception, to the supreme penalty. Such a verdict will be
greeted with satisfaction by all of progressive mankind.
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CLOSING STATEMENT FOR THE UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA ON THE INDICTED ORGANIZATIONS

(Reigh Cabinet; Political Leadership Corps; S.S.; S.D.; Gestapo; S.A.)
by
THOMAS J. DODD

Executive Trial Counsel
For Mr. Justice Robert H. Jackson

MR. PRESIDENT:

Since the 20th day of November 1945, this International Mili-
tary Tribunal has been in almost continual session. In these many
months, a record of more than 15,000 pages has been compiled.
‘Over 300,000 affidavits have been submitted, about 3,000 docu-
ments have been offered, and oral testimony has been heard from
some 200 witnesses.

This great mass of evidence, oral and written, almost exclu-
sively of German origin, has established beyond question the com-
- mission of the crimes of criminal conspiracy, aggressive war, mass
murder, slave labor, racial and religious persecutions, and brutal
mistreatment of miilions of innocent people. The four prosecuting
powers have indicted and held responsible for these frightful
crimes as individuals the twenty-two defendants named in the
Indictment. '

But the four prosecuting powers recognizing that the twenty-
two individual defendants could not by themselves alone accom-
plish the execution of these enormous crimes have also named in
the Indietment the Nazi organizations, as the principal media, by
and through which these transgressions were effected. These or-
ganizations—some Nazi-created, some Nazi-perverted—were the
agencies upon which the defendants relied and through which
they operated for the accomplishment of their criminal purposes
over the complacent people of Germany and over the conquered
peoples -of Europe. )

The named organizations fall into two classes. In the first
class are those which are peculiarly Nazi creations, having no
counterpart outside the Nazi regime and which had no intrin-
sically legitimate purpose. This group includes the Politische
- Leiter, the SA, and the SS. In the second class are those which
existed in one form or another before the Nazi regime but which
."were corrupted by the Nazis. This group includes the Reich
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Cabinet, the High Command and General Staff, and the Gestapo.
As to this second class, it is not our contention that the Institu-
tions themselves were basically criminal, but rather that they
became criminal under Nazi domination. Although, by its very
nature as a secret political police system, the Gestapo was the
most easily adapted to criminal purposes and became the most
effective of all instruments of Nazi criminality.

It would be a mistake to consider these organizations named in
the Indictment as isolated, independently functioning aggrega-
tions of persons, each pursuing separaté tasks and objectives.
They were all a part of, and essential to, the police state planned
by Hitler and perfected by his clique into the most absolute tyr-
anny of modern times. That police state was the political Frank-
enstein of our era, which brought terror and fear to Germany
and spread horror and death throughout the world. The Leader-
ship Corps of the Nazi Party was its body, the Reich Cabinet its
head, its powerful arms were the Gestapo and the SA, and when
it strode over Europe its legs were the armed forces and the SS.
It was Hitler and his cohorts who created this police-statemonster,
and it brought Germany to shame and the nations of Europe
to ruin. . .

It would likewise be erroneous to view the structure of this
police system as something casual or its growth and development
as normal political phenomena. For it was planned from the
earliest days by the conspirators. The Nazi “old fighters” had a
design for despotism. They built the SA at the outset as a private
band of strong-arm men to wield the club against the political
opponent and the whip against the Jew. They established the SS
as the dread guard of the Fuehrer and of themselves. When
they seized power they abolished police protection and substituted
police persecution as the mission of the Gestapo. They wiped out
all semblance of free government and set themselves up in the
Reich Cabinet with plenary powers. They depraved the highest
traditions of military ethics and substituted ‘“willing tools” for
ranking men at arms. They obliterated all other political parties
and fastened on the German people a political straight jacket in
the form of the Leadership Corps.

Deprive the Nazi conspirators of these organizations and they
could never have accomplished their criminal aims. Take away
the SA and they would have lost the mastery of the streets; take
away the SS and they would have had no concentration camp
system; take away the Gestapo and they would have had no
means of illegal arrest and unlimited detention; take away the
Reich Cabinet and they would have had no subservient law-mak-
ing body; take away the truckling military men and they could
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not have secretly planned their attacks or ultimately waged
their wars.

The provisions of the Charter empowering the Tribunal to
declare a group or organization criminal, and the functions of
the Tribunal under those provisions, have been dealt with in the
legal arguments and memoranda previously submitted to the
Tribunal by the Chief Prosecutors. At that time,' in response
to the request of the Tribunal, Mr. Justice Jackson stated the
grounds which, in our view, warrant declaring a group or
organization criminal.

Before now undertaking to summarize the evidence, it may be
well to restate those tests:

1. It must be a “group” or “organization” within the meaning
of Article IX of the Charter, i.e., it must be an aggregation of
persons, associated in some identifiable relationship, having a
collective general purpose, or pursuing a common plan of action.

2. Membership in the organization must have been basically
voluntary, i.e.,, the membership of the organization as a whole,
irrespective of particular cases of compulsion against individuals
or groups of individuals within the organization, must not have
been due to legal compulsion,

8. It must have participated directly and effectively in the
accomplishment of the criminal aims of the conspiracy, and it
must have committed crimes against the peace or war crimes or
crimes against humanity, as charged in the Indietment., ~
" 4. The criminal aims or methods of the organization must
have been of such character that its membership in general may
properly be charged with knowledge of them.

5. Under the Charter the Prosecution must also establish that
at least one of the defendants in the dock who is a member of
the organization is guilty of some act on the basis of which the
organization may also be declared criminal.

These are the tests of eriminality which the American Prosecu- ,
tion has conceded must be met with respect to each organization
before a declaration of criminality as to that organization is war-

. ranted. My distinguished colleague, Sir David Maxwell-Fyfe,
has discussed in his address the evidence against most of the
organizations; and the Russian and French Prosecutors will re-
view specific crimes committed by these groups. I shall not dis-
cuss the High Command since it is to be the subject of a special

" argument by a member of the American staff. I shall, with the

consent of the Tribunal, address my remarks to the general propo-
sition of whether the Prosecution has sustained the burden of
broving by competent evidence that each of the named organiza-
tions is eriminal under all of the principles stated.

T44400—47—19
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. Each of the Five Organizations is a "Group" or "Organization” as these

Terms are Used in the Charter.

The evidence clearly establishes that the five organizations in
question are groups or organizations as we interpret these terms
in the Charter, that is, each is an aggregation of persons, associ-.
ated in an identifiable relationship having a collective general pur-
pose.

That the Politische Leiter were an identifiable aggregate, had
a common purpose, and functioned as a group, is clear. Ample
evidence as to the structure and functions of the Leadership
Corps of the Party is to be found in Nazi publications—the
Organization Book of the NSDAP,2 “der Hoheitstrager,” the
official magazine of the Leadership Corps,® in the chart of the-
Leadership Corps,* and a chart of the Party itself.> This group
some 600,000 strong had special uniforms, carried special mem-
bership cards and enjoyed countless special privileges.* The term
“Politische Leiter” is not one we have invented for the purpose
of giving an appearance of cohesion to a number of unrelated in-
dividuals performing similar, but uncoordinated, functions in the
Party. The Organization Book of the Party itself deals with all
these Party workers as a unit under the designation “Politische
Leiter.”” It shows the hierarchical structure in which they were
organized and the manner in which directives were passed down
automatically through the chain of command to the lowest level
and were carried into effect by all members of the group. It shows
further that in the functioning of this corps, the Leadership
principle reached perfection. All Party workers were bound by
identical oaths to unconditional obedience to the Fuehrer and to
all leaders appointed by him.®? At each level, regular and frequent
conferences were held and the higher and lower levels met to-
gether periodically for discussions of policy.” The Leadership
Corps constituted a perfect pyramid in which every stone at every
level was necessary to maintain the whole structure. It had one
single, common purpose—the maintenance of the organization and
ideology of the Nazi Party.

The Indictment defines the “Reichsregierung” (Reich Cabinet)
as consisting of three classes of persons: (1) members of the
ordinary cabinet after January 30, 1933; (2) members of the
Council of Ministers for the Defense of the Reich; and (3) mem-
bers of the Secret Cabinet Council. These three classes together -
make up the group of 48 members which we are prosecuting under. -
the designation “Reichsregierung.” Each of these, taken by itself,
constitutes an identifiable aggregate working toward a common
end. The ordinary cabinet of any government is as clear an
example of a group as could be found. The ordinary cabinet of the

"Nazi Reich did not differ in that respect from similar institutions
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in other governments. It met frequently as a cabinet in the early
days of the Nazi regime,*® and when meetings thereafter became
uncommon, it continued to function as a group in passing on de-
crees and laws through the procedure of circulating drafts of pro-
posed enactments to all its members.”* An example of this pro-
cedure is before the Tribunal in the form of 2 memorandum from
ﬂpe Defendant Frick to the Chief of the Reichs Chancellory.!t?
The same cohesion and unified funection is found in the Counecil of
Ministers for the Defense of the Reich, which was established in
1939. Like the ordinary cabinet, its members consulted together
in actual meetings as shown by the minutes of such meetings in
September, October, and November 1939.12 And, like the ordinary
cabinet, it also functioned by using the circulation’ procedure, a
typical instance of which is the letter from Dr. Lammets, Septem-
ber 17, 1939, to members of the Council of Ministers for the De-
fense of the Reich.’®* The Secret Cabinet Council, an advisory
body on foreign policy, consisting of eight members, was an identi-
fiable unified aggregation as appears from the decree which
created it.»* The inclusion of these three classes under the single
designation “Reichsregierung” is not an attempt to create an arti-
ficial relationship among three separate and independent entities.
Actually, the three were collectively as much a group as each was
independently, for the Council of Ministers for the Defense of the
Reich and the Secret Cabinet Council were really committees
formed out of the ordinary cabinet. The decrees creating these
two committees's demonstrate that the entire personnel was com-
posed of individuals who were in the ordinary cabinet. Not only
in personnel, but in action, functions, and purpose as well, the
ordinary cabinet and its committees were unified. Members of
the ordinary cabinet who were not members of these committees
were, nevertheless, present at meetings of the Council of Ministers,
as shown by minutes “of such meetings!® and, under the circulation

> Procedure, received drafts of decrees prepared by the Council of
Ministers.)” This aggregation—the cabinet and the committees

formed of some of its members—had a single collective purpose,
that of governing the Reich in such a fashion as to carry out the
schemes of the Nazi conspirators.

The SA, which was created in 1920, is one of the simplest ex-
amples of the type of group or association contemplated by the
provisions of the Charter. It was defined by a German Law®® as
a component of the Party, having its own legal personality, and
it was characterized by the Nazi Party Organization Book*® as
a distinet entity. It had an identifiable membership from 1,500,-
000 to 2,000,000 members, bound together by common standards,
wearing a common and distinetive uniform, having common aims
and objectives, and carrying on common activities. The general
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purpose of the SA, to which the whole membership was devoted,
was stated in the Organization Book of the Party, “to be the
bearer of National Socialists armed will*® and, according to the
same Party manual, a member had to withdraw if he no longer
agreed with the SA views or was not in a position to fulfill com-
pletely the duties imposed upon him as a member of the SA.=
Like the SA, the SS was beyond question a unified organiza-
tion. It was established by German law?? as a component of the
Party having its own legal personality. It was described in the
Organization Book of the Party®® as a ‘“homogeneous firmly
welded fighting force * * * bound by ideological oaths.” It
had a clearly identifiable membership which rose to about 600,000
toward the end of the war, composed of persons who met the same
basic uniform standards of race ideology.** Despite its many
functions and activities, and its numerous departments and offices
and branches, it was an integrated and unified organization and it
was, according to Himmler’s tirade to the SS Gruppenfuehrers on
October 4, 1943,% “One bloc, one body, one organization.” It had
of course its own uniform and enjoyed special privileges while
pursuing the general purposes of the Nazi conspirators running
all the way from neighborhood bullying through political, raeial,
and religious barbarities to the waging of wars of aggression,
and the most violent and revolting crimes against humanity.
From its earliest days, the Nazis always regarded that portion °
of the police forces called the “Gestapo” or Secret State Police,
as a separate group, a clearly identifiable aggregate performing a
common function. The very purpose of Goering’s decree of April
26, 1933,% establishing the Gestapo in Prussia was to create in
that province a single body of secret political police, separated
tfrom the other Prussian police forces, an independent force hav-
ing its own particular task, on which he could entirely rely. The
same motives led to the establishment of similar identifiable
groups of secret political police in other German provinces. The
steps by which these groups were all consolidated into a single
secret political police force for the whole Reich are fully detailed
in the decrees and laws which have been cited to the Tribunal.?’
When the. RSHA, the Reich Main Security Office, was created in
1939 the Gestapo was not dispersed, but became a distinet depart-
ment of that central office, as shown by the Chart of RSHA in-
troduced in evidence,”® and by the testimony of the witnesses
Ohlendorf?® and Schellenberg.®® They easily estimated the num-
ber of persons in the Gestapo at from 30,000 to 40,000.
Throughout these proceedings, the Gestapo and the SD have
been considered together due to the fact that the criminal enter-
prises with which each is chargeable were supported, to a greater
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or lesser degree, by both. The Indictment charges the Gestapo
with eriminality as a separate and independent group or organ-
ization. The Indictment includes the SD by special reference as a
part of the S8, since it originated as part of the SS and always
retained its character as a Party organization as distinguished
from the Gestapo which was a State organization. The SD, of
course, had its own organization, an independent headquarters
with posts established throughout the Reich and in occupied ter-
ritories and with agents in every country abroad.®* It had a mem-
bership of from 3,000 to 4,000 professionals assisted by thousands
of honorary informers, known as V-men, and by spies in other
lands,®? but we do not include honorary informers who were not
members of the SS. In 1939, the main offices of the SD and the
Gestapo were consolidated in the RSHA,* but the SD at all times
preserved its independent identity.

Surely the prosecution has met the requirements of group
proof as tq these organizations, not only by the standards which
it has imposed upon itself but as well by every ordinary rule of
> reason and experience.

fl. Membership in Each of the Five Organizations was Voluntary.

Membership in the Leadership Corps was indisputably volun-
" tary. No one was compelled to join the NSDAP much less to
"become one of the leaders of the Nazi Party.** We do not doubt
that many joined the Leadership Corps for business, social or
other selfish reasons. These are the commonplace motives for
cheap political prestige but they cannot and do not amount to
legal compulsion. -

No one was drafted into the Reich Cabinet. Moreover, some of
its members resigned when they found themselves in conflict with
its aims and objectives. Schlegelberger left because of the in-
fringement of the independence of the judiciary;3 Schmitt re-
signed because he was convinced that Hitler’s course was the way
to war; ¢ Eltz von Ruebenach resigned because of Hitler’s poli-
cies against the Christian Churches.’” A place in the Cabinet cir-
cle with its titles and tinsel was the high ambition of most of the
Nazis. Competition for these places was fierce and any present
effort to fend off a declaration of criminality against this group
with a pretense of membership by force is ludicrous.

‘So free of compulsion was membership in the SA that the Party
Organization Book, as late as 1943, urged SA men to withdraw
from the organization if they felt they were unable to agree with
the aims and ideology and to fulfill all the duties imposed upon
them.’®* Party members were not forced into the SA lists. The
controls and the disciplines imposed on SA members within the
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framework of the organization have nothing to do with the vol-
untary character of the membership itself. The willing submis-
sion of the SA man to the SA command is not the same thing as
compulsory and involuntary entry into the organization.

Applicants for the SS not only were volunteers but in addition
they had to meet the strictest standards of selection, as is illus-
trated in the SS Soldiers Manual,®® and by Himmler’s insistence
on free and voluntary applications for membership as set out in
his letter of 1943 to Kaltenbrunner.¢® The SS characterized itself
as an elite and select corps, advertised that it carefully weeded
out every applicant who did not conform to its racial, biological,
and-ideological standards, and made it plain to everyone that un-
usual qualifications were required for membership. Such in fact
was Himmler’s boast to the Wehrmacht, “Should I succeed in
selecting from the German people for the organization as many
as possible who possess this desired blood and in teaching them
military discipline and in the understanding of the value of blood
and the entire ideology resulting from it, then it would be possible
actually to create such an elite organization as should successfully
hold its own in all cases of emergency.” 2 The “elite” were re-
quired to establish Nordic descent, in the case of an officer
applicant as far back as the year 1750 and for regular applicants
to the year 1800.*> In addition unusuval physical standards of
height and odd requirements of Nordic appearance were set up
and the political and ideological background of every “elite’” can-
didate was carefully scrutinized. It is highly significant that we
have proof of insistence on these racial and ideological qualifica-
tions as late as 1948, even in the Waffen SS.#* It has been argued
that because some men were conscripted into the Waffen SS in the
last desperate stages of the war, the organization as a whole was
not a voluntary one. Those who were actually forced into divi-
sions of the Waffen SS may have an adequate defense in subse-
quent hearings, but we ingist that compulsion born of a frantic
effort to stave off defeat in the closing hours of the war does not
change the essentially voluntary aspect of the membership as a
whole. Whatever pressures may have been exerted to expand
the membership of this organization, it orlglnated and remained
basically voluntary and selective.

The SD as a part of the SS was composed of SS men with spe—
c1la1 qualifications. The deeds of this organization best explain the .
nature of these qualifications for the record in this case is replete
with horrible tales of their doings. The SD man was simply a
surcharged SS man. If the membership of the SS was basically
and fundamentally voluntary, then it follows automatically that
the SD membership was likewise voluntary.
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The Gestapo was at all times a State organization, a branch
of the government similar in all usual respects to other branches
of the government. In considering the voluntary character of its
_membership, all other considerations are secondary to this basic
determination of the Gestapo as an agency of State. If member-
ship in the Gestapo was compulsory, membership in the Order
Police, and in the Department of Safety, and in the Department
of Finance must have been compulsory. When the Gestapo was
created, following the seizure of power, it is true that many
members of the previously existing political police system of the
various Laender were transferred to it. But they were under no
legal compulsion to join. As the Gestapo affiant Losse stated, “If
they had refused, they would have had to reckon with a dismissal
from the service without pension so that unemployment would
have threatened them.” ** The witness Schellenberg stated that
new members of the Gestapo were taken on a voluntary basis.+
Any one of them could have resigned and sought employment in
other branches of the Government or in positions disassociated
from Government service. To become a member of the Secret
State Police, a person applied for a position just as in any other
branch of Government. The witness Hoffman, in testifying be-
fore the Commission, stated that he applied for a job in three
branches of the Government of which the Gestapo was one.*®
The Gestapo accepted his application and in that way he be-
came a member of the organization. There was nothing to pre-
vent a Gestapo official from resigning his position if the aims and
activities and methods of the organization became repugnant to
him. The witness Tesmer testified before the Commission that if
an officer refused to carry out a criminal order he probably
would be removed from his employment.t” Even after the war
began, when all Governmental officials were more or less frozen
in their positions, members of the Gestapo were able to resign.
The witness Tesmer himself resigned from the Gestapo during the
war,*® and the witness Straub testified that a person could resign
his position in the Gestapo at the risk of going to the front in
active military service.*?. Surely this was not compulsion in any
legal sense. The sacrifices which members of the political police
might face upon resignation, such as loss of seniority and forfeit-
ure of pension rights may have seemed decisive to those who
remained in the Gestapo, but such considerations could under no
circumstances be construed as legal compulsion justifying con-
tinued membership in an organization of such notorious crim-
inality. There may be particular instances where some members
of the army secret field police were later transferred from the
military to the Gestapo. In such instances, these individuals
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may have gained on the basis of military orders a personal
defense to the crimes committed by the Gestapo during the period
of their membership. But such special instances justifiable in
subsequent proceedings, can in no way affect the basic character
of the Gestapo as a single department of the Government with
no greater degree of compulsion to join and no greater legal re-
straint from resigning than any other department of the State.

It takes character to stand up against great evil—this has al-
ways been. so. It may be necessary for a man to brave some
humiliation and some sacrifice, in order to refuse to do the evil
bidding of an evil master. But responsibility for the crimes of
these organizations should not be evaded by the application of a
dry, technical or meaningless concept.of compulsion.

1. The Criminal Activities of the Five Organizations.

From the establishment of the Nazi Party in 1920, until the
conclusion of the war in 1945, these organizations were used by
the conspirators for the execution of their schemes and each com-
mitted one or more of the crimes described in Article VI of the
Charter and participated in the general conspiracy. The Lead-
ership Corps was the first of the organizations to appear on the
stage. The next step was the creation in 1920 of a semi-military
organization, the SA, to secure by violence a predominant place
for the Party in the political scene. Out of this group, the more
select and fanatical SS was formed in 1925, to replace the SA
while the latter was banned, and then to join with it in laying
the groundwork for the revolution. Upon the seizure of power
in 1933, the next organization, the Reich Cabinet, took its place
in the conspiracy. With the Government in their hands, the con-
spirators hastened to suppress all potential opposition, and to
that end they created the Gestapo and the SD. Internal security
having been guaranteed, they then obtained for promotion of
their plans of aggrandizement the last of their implements in
the form of the military.

Each of these was necessary to the successful execution of the
conspiracy—the Leadership Corps to direct and control the Party
through which political power had to be seized; the SA and SS.to
oppose political opponents by violence and, after 1933, to fasten
the Nazis’ control on Germany by extra-legal activities; the
Cabinet to devise and enact the laws needed to insure continuance
of the regime; the Gestapo and the SD to detect and suppress in-
ternal opposition, and some servile soldiery to prepare and carry
out the expansion of the regime through aggressive war.

Each of the organizations continued to play a necessary and
vital part at all times throughout the conspiracy. The program
of the Nazi regime stemmed from the Nazi Party. As Hitler said
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in 1983.5° “It is not the State which gives orders to us, it is we who
give orders to the State,” and again in 1938 Hitler stated’* “Na-
tional Socialism possesses Germany entirely and completely since,

"the day when, five years ago, I left the house in Wilhelmplatz as
. Reich Chancellor * * * The greatest guaranty of the National

Socialist revolution lies in the complete domination of the Reich
and all of its institutions and organizations, intexnally and.ex-
ternally, by the National Socialist Party.” It was the Leadership
Corps that formulated the policy of that Party. It was the Leader-
ship Corps that held the Party together. It was the Ieadership
Corps, through its descending hierarchy of fuehrers, down to the
Blockleiter who controlled forty households, that kept a firm grip
upon the entire populace. Every crime charged in the indictment
was a crime committed by a regime controlled by the Party, and
it was the Leadership Corps which controlled the Party and made

_ it function.

While the Party, through the Political Leaders, gave orders to
the State, it was the Reich Cabinet—the law-making, executive
and administrative representative of the State—that transformed
those orders into laws. Just as the Leadership Corps made the
Party function, so the Cabinet made the State function. Every
crime which we have proved was a crime of the Nazi State, and

_the Reich Cabinet was the highest agency for political control and
. direction within the Nazi State.

But policy and laws are not enough. They must be put into
effect and carried into operation. The four other organizations
were the executive agencies of the Party and the State. When it
was a question of enforcing laws, of detecting, apprehending, im-
prisoning and eliminating opponents or potential opponents, the
SD, the Gestapo, the SS and the machinery of concentration camps

. came into play. The close relationship between the SD and the

Gestapo and the importance of the former in selection of Nazi
officials is disclosed by the defense affidavit of Karl Weiss who

. gverred that all political police officials were screened by the SD
. before being accepted into the Gestapo.’? And the SD violated

the integrity of German elections by reporting how the people .
voted in secret ballots.® When the policy called for war, the para-
military organizations like the SA and SS laid the foundation, and

.top militarists prepared the plans for a powerful German army.
- When it became a question of exterminating the population of
~conquered territories, of deporting them for slave labor and of

. confiscating their property, the OKW and the SS had to plan joint

,?perations and, in collaboration with the Gestapo, to carry them
into effect. Thus, the Party planned, the Cabinet legislated, and

‘the SS, SA, Gestapo and the military leaders executed. The man-
:Ber in which this was done can be illustrated by taking up a num-
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ber of the principal crimes alleged in the Indictment and showing
how the five organizations participated in the commission of each
¢« crime.

The basic program for aggression is to be found in the Nazi
Party program of twenty-five points proclaimed by Hitler in 19260
and declared unalterable.’* It included demands for the unifiea-
tion of all Germans in Greater Germany, for the abrogation .of
«the treaties of Versailles and St. Germain, for land and colonies
and for the creation of a national army. As the Party Manual
shows,®® this platform was the table of commandments, and from
it was drawn the dogma for every Political Leader. All mem-
bers of the Leadership Corps bound themselves to follow these
precepts and to spread this doctrine.

As early as April 1933, the Cabinet, by resolution, created
the Reich Defense Council, a body of cabinet members whose
funection was to prepare the nation for war.?® In October 1938,
the Cabinet proclaimed Germany’s withdrawal from the League
of Nations and the Disarmament Conference.’” A year and a half
later, in March 1935, it reestablished the Wehrmacht and pro-
vided for compulsory military service.’® Its war planning meas-
ures were carried further by its enactment in May 1935 of a
secret unpublished Reich Defense.Law, providing for the appoint-
ment of a plenipotentiary-general for war economy with sweep-
ing powers, and its decision that the plenipotentiary should begin
his work at once, even in peacetime.?® In February 1938, on the
eve of the seizure of Austria, a second component of the Reich
Cabinet, the Secret Cabinet Council, was created to advise Hitler
in conducting foreign policy.®® And it was the defendant von
Neurath, the President of that council who took diplomatic steps
to justify and excuse this aggressive action.®® After the seizure
had been accomplished, it was the Cabinet which provided for the
reunion of Austria with the Reich.®* Six months later, in Sep-
tember 1938, by another secret and wholly unpublished law,% the
Cabinet provided for a three-man college of plenipotentiaries
whose function® was to have prepared at all times complete plans
and ready measures for the sudden and not-to-be-declared war.
In November 1938, it was a Cabinet law which provided for the
integration of the Sudetenland with Germany,* and in March
1939 for the incorporation of Memel into Germany.®® The Tri-
bunal will remember the dramatic meeting of the Reich Defense
Council held in June of 1939 where preparations were completed
for the coming war and detailed plans were approved siich as
using prigsoners of war and concentration ecamp inmates for war
production, eompulsory work for women in war time, and the
bringing of hundreds of thousands of workers from the Protec-
torate to be housed together in hutments.®” In August 1939, on
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the eve of the attack on Poland, the Ministerial Council for the
Defense of the Reich, the third component of the Reich Cabinet,
was created out of members of the Cabinet to act as a smaller
working group in the exercise of legislative and executive war-
time powers. Thereafter, it was this component of the Reich
Cabinet, rather than the ordinary cabinet, which enacted most
of the legislation for carrying on the war, but with the knowledge
and participation of the entire membership of the ordinary

Cabinet.

While the Cabinet was thus preparing the legal and administra-
tive framework for aggression, the other organizations were ac-
tively engaged in related preparations to the same end. An-
aggressive militaristic psychology on the part of the people and
the building up of a powerful army were essential to prepare the
nation for war. To the attainment of these ends the SA assidu-
ously devoted itself. First in 1933 by engaging in an intensive
propaganda campaign demanding colonies, Lebensraum, the abro-
gation of the Treaty of Versailles, falsely attributing aggressive
designs to Germany’s neighbors and generally spreading the now
well-known party bromides.® Almost simultaneously, it orgah-
. ized a training program for German youth in the technique of
modern war, at first, in dark secrecy but finally in the open when
it felt itself sufficiently prepared and was sure of no outside inter-
ference.®® But the SA did not confine itself to mere preparations.
When the first aggressive action, that against Austria was taken,
units of the SA marched through the streets of Vienna and
seized the principal government buildings,”™ and in the plans for
the seizure of the Sudetenland, the SA formed a part of the Hen-
lein Free Corps and furnished it with supplies and equipment.”

The activities of the SS were similar to the SA and even more
wide-spread.” Like the SA, it served as a para-military organ-
ization in the years preceding 1938. Like the SA, it participated
in the aggression against Austria and in the conspiracy to under-
mine Czechoslovakia, through the Henlein Free Corps. Its activi-
ties are distinguishable from those of the SA in these matters
only because it played the more important part.” Its professional
combat forces joined with the army in marching into the Sudet-
enland and Bohemia-Moravia, and in the invasion of Poland.™
One of its main departments, the Volksdeutsche Mittlestelle, was
a center for fifth column activities.”s” The SD of the Reichs-
fuehrer SS operated a network of spies throughout the world and
its agents were spying in the United States before Germany de-
clared war upon America.”® The largest branch of the SS, the
Waffen SS, was created and developed for the sole purpose of
carrying on the war and participated, as an SS army, in all
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phases of the war in the East and in the West.”” Its shameful
record of war atrocities needs no amplification here. The Gestapo
and SD were likewise involved in the commission of crimes
against the peace. The very incident that served as an excuse
for the invasion of Poland, and thus set off the entire war, was
executed by the Gestapo and the SD. I refer to the simulated
Polish attack on the radio station at Gleiwitz, where concentra-
tion camp prisoners were dressed in Polish uniforms, murdered
and left as evidence of a Polish raid, so as to afford Hitler a
justification for the attack upon Poland.”® Of course the pro-
fessional military clique planned and participated in all aggres-
sions from the militarization of the Rhineland in 1936 to the
attack on Soviet Russia in 1941.7

The waging of these wars of aggression was possible for Ger-
many only by the utilization of millions of enslaved workers, and
the slave labor program was possible only with the assistance of
these organizations. Sauckel was the master slaver but he needed
a million party whips to enforce his merciless dictates. The SS,
the Gestapo and the SD at his bidding drove the foreign serfs
within the Reich borders under the lash of deceit, of kidnapping,
of heart-breaking*family separations, of arson, of torture and of
murder.t0 52 & The Leadership Corps in cooperation with the
Nazi labor front and with industrial management were Sauckel’s
receiving agents for these unfortunate ones.8? At the Reich level
and at the Gau level members of the Leadership Corps helped
arrange for the conditions of bedding, feeding and restraining
these wretched humans giving them less attention and less decent
concern than primitive man often gave to his brutes.®* The Gau-
leiters functioning as Reich Defense Commissars, at the order of
Speer and Sauckel, and under the most revolting conditions of
conveyance shunted the slaves from receiving depots to armament
industries®® where like stanchioned beasts they were submitted
to sub-human indignities and worked to death. Medical care and
even the most simple medical supplies were refused them. Denied
even the social advantages of the barnyard they struggled under
less than good stable standards.’® With a crassness unknown to
ordinary domestic animal care directives providing for the abor-
tion of female laborers were distributed to Gauleiters and Kreis-
leiters and their staffs.f” Their keepers were of the Gestapo and
the SD and the cell blocks of the concentration camp awaited any
who chafed under the cruelty.®® Urged on by Speer, the Gau-
leiters utilized prisoners of war for slave labor purposes® and
Rosenberg’s minions in the Eastern territories under the spur of
Sauckel’s demands gleaned new millions for thralldom.’® The
army harnessed thousands for the construction of military forti-
fications and for military production,”* and Keitel carried out
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Hitler’s orders by hitching honorable soldier-war-prisoners to
machines that made materials for war.* The greedy Goering
" sought war prisoner slave